
FOR THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE REDCLIFF TOWN COUNCIL 
MONDAY, NOVEMBER 25, 2013 – 7:00 P.M. 

REDCLIFF TOWN COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM RECOMMENDATION 

 
1. GENERAL 
  
 A) Call to Order 

 
 B) Adoption of Agenda *        Adoption 
 
 C) Accounts Payable *        For Information 
 

D)  
3. 2. DELEGATION 
 

 A) Redcliff Curling Club *        For Discussion 
 

.  
3. MINUTES 
  
 A) Council meeting held November 12, 2013 *     For Adoption 
 
 B) Special Council meeting held November 16, 2013 *    For Adoption  
 
 C) Special Council meeting held November 18, 2013 *    For Adoption 
 
 D) Special Council meeting held November 18, 2013 *    For Adoption 
  
 E) Redcliff Planning Board meeting held November 19, 2013 *  For Information 
 
 F) Municipal Planning Commission meeting held November 20, 2013 * For Information 
 
 
4. BYLAWS 
 

  A) Bylaw 1758/2013, being the Temporary Borrowing Bylaw *   2nd/3rd Reading 
 

  B) Bylaw No. 1759/2013 Rates, Fees and Charges Bylaw *   1st Reading 
 

 C) Bylaw No. 1761/2013 Water Rates Bylaw *     1st Reading 
 
 D) Bylaw No. 1762/2013 Sewer Rates Bylaw *     1st Reading 
 
 E) Bylaw No. 1763/2013 Garbage Rates and Collection Bylaw *  1st Reading 
 
 F) Bylaw No. 1760/2013 to amend Bylaw 1698/2011 being the *  1st Reading 
  Land Use Bylaw 
 
 
 
 

1



 

5. POLICIES 
 
 A) Policy 58, Display of Flags *        For Approval 
  
 B) Policy 122, Volunteer Firefighter Residency Policy *    For Approval 
 
 
6. CORRESPONDENCE 
 
 A) Economic Development Alliance of Southeast Alberta *   For Information 
  Re:  Monthly Economic Summary October 2013 
  
 
7. OTHER 
 
 A) Municipal Manager Report to Council *     For Information 
 
 B) Council Report *        For Information 
 
 C) Draft South Saskatchewan Regional Plan 2014 - 2024*   For Information 
 
 D) Alberta Wetland Policy *        For Information 
 
 
8. ADJOURN 
 

2



ACCOUNTS PAYABLE NOVEMBER 7, 2013 - NOVEMBER 14, 2013 

COUNCIL MEETING NOVEMBER 25, 2013 

74032 AB MAINTENANCE ENFORCEMENT GARNISHMENT OF WAGES $226.00  
74033 CARVER CONSTRUCTION PROJECT #99 RAW WATER PUMP STATION $125,069.51  
74034 CANADIAN ARENA PRODUCTS PROJECT#118 OUTDOOR RINK, PROJECT#109 ARENA UPGRADE $57,473.55  
74035 CENTRAL SHARPENING 77" BLADE FOR UNIT#101 ZAMBONI $367.50  
74036 CIBC SUPPLEMENTAL PENSION TO OCTOBER 19, 2013 $2,163.68  
74037 CIBC VISA APEGGA MEMBERSHIP K.MINHAS, POSTAGE, INK, PAPER, ETC $2,885.52  
74038 CANADIAN PACIFIC RAILWAY OCTOBER FLASHER CONTRACT $666.74  
74039 C.U.P.E. UNION DUES TO OCTOBER 19, 2013 $1,800.32  
74040 DAN JANE VENTURES OCTOBER PROPANE  $398.32  
74041 EPCOR ENERGY SERVICES OCTOBER ELECTRIC UTILITY LANDFILL $125.34  
74042 GARLAND, JAMIE REIMBURSE FOR IMPACT DRILL, PLIERS, HAMMERS, ETC $509.62  
74043 GENIVAR CONSULTANTS PROJECT #108 TOBOGGAN HILL, INDUSTRIAL DR. SE  $385.62  
74044 HARV'S JANITORIAL SERVICES OCTOBER JANITORIAL SERVICES $3,386.25  
74045 HAZELAAR, ROBERT 2013 TRAVEL EXPENSES $622.88  
74046 LETHBRIDGE MOBILE SHREDDING OCTOBER SHREDDING SERVICES $46.20  
74047 PARK ENTERPRISES SEPTEMBER PERMITS $2,972.66  
74048 PC CORP SEPTEMBER INFORMATION SYSTEM SUPPORT & BACK UP MANAGER $1,804.69  
74049 PITNEY WORKS NOVEMBER FOLDER STUFFER CONTRACT $145.77  
74050 PROVINCIAL TREASURER - LAPP LAPP CONTRIBUTIONS TO NOVEMBER 2, 2013 $16,680.19  
74051 PETROLEUM TANK MANAGEMENT PROJECT #114 LANDFILL USED OIL STORAGE TANK $50.00  
74052 REDCLIFF PUBLIC LIBRARY 2013 FINAL INSTALLMENT $47,750.00  
74053 PUROLATOR FREIGHT OF PARTS UNIT#101 ZAMBONI, UNIT#141 PUMPER $60.11  
74054 RECEIVER GENERAL STATUTORY DEDUCTIONS REGULAR PAY TO NOVEMBER 2, 2013 $21,106.41  
74055 TELUS COMMUNICATION  NOVEMBER CELL PHONE, TELEPHONE, RADIO & PAGER SERVICE $1,396.39  
74056 TELUS MOBILITY NOVEMBER CELL PHONE, TELEPHONE, RADIO & PAGER SERVICE $464.07  
74057 MIKES ROADHOUSE OCTOBER MEALS ON WHEELS $1,105.65  
74058 TOWN OF REDCLIFF REGULAR PAY TO NOVEMBER 2, 2013 $59,486.72  
74059 TRANSIT PAVING PROJECT#57 3RD ST SE, PROJECT #29 BROADWAY AVE E, ETC $373,172.03  
74060 WE CARE HOME HEALTH CARE SEPTEMBER HOME HEALTH CARE $168.00  
74061 2013 AUMA CONVENTION AUMA CONVENTION REGISTRATIONS $4,961.25  
74062 A & B STEEL 3" SQUARE TUBING $169.60  
74063 ACTION PARTS IMPACT WRENCHES, PLIERS, RATCHET, ETC $1,030.98  
74064 BATTERY DIRECT BATTERIES FOR UNIT#110 BACKHOE, EMERGENCY LIGHTING  $487.04  
74065 BENCHMARK ASSESSMENT NOVEMBER 2013 - JANUARY 2014 ASSESSMENT FEES $14,812.09  
74066 BROVAC  LIFT STATION MAINTENANCE $1,008.00  
74067 CITY OF MEDICINE HAT OCTOBER UTILITIES & SEWAGE OUTLAY $81,637.97  
74068 CROZIER, CATHY TRAVEL ADVANCE - AUMA CONVENTION $450.00  
74069 DIAMOND MUNICIPAL SOLUTIONS MANAGEMENT REPORTER & UTILITY BILLING TRAINING $627.90  
74070 DUNLOP STERLING BEARNINGS, WHEEL SEALS FOR UNIT#144 LOADER $396.14  
74071 ESRI CANADA ARC GIS & PUBLISHER ANNUAL LICENSE 2014 $3,417.25  
74072 FARMLAND SUPPLY CENTER HYDRAULIC HOSE, WRAP, ZIP TIES UNIT#128 GARBAGE TRUCK $116.73  
74073 FINNING OIL & FUEL FILTERS, SPERATOR, OIL ANALYSIS, ENGINE OIL $709.97  
74074 GAS CITY HYDRO VAC CURB STOP REPAIRS  $1,575.00  
74075 GVN STRUCTURES  INSTALL ICE DAMS & CANOPIES  $3,507.00  
74076 INDUSTRIAL MACHINE BOARD BRUSH, SPREADER CLOTH, SQUEEGE UNIT#101 ZAMBONI $290.36  
74077 JACOB'S WELDNG REPAIR BUCKET UNIT#134 LOADER LANDFILL $189.00  
74078 KEYWAY SECURITY CHANGE COMBINATION ON VAULT, KEYS FOR VAULT DOOR $150.15  
74079 MEDICINE HAT CO-OP ADHESIVE FOR PARK BENCHES AND GARBAGE CANS $28.17  
74080 SUNCOR ENERGY DYED DIESEL FOR LANDFILL, DIESEL & FUEL FOR PS  $20,778.19  
74081 PHOENIX FENCE VINYL FENCE SLATS FOR LANDFILL $220.31  
74082 PRIME PRINTING FOLDING BROCHURES  $114.45  
74083 REIMER, ERNIE TRAVEL ADVANCE - AUMA CONVENTION $300.00  
74084 CNH CAPITAL (ROCKY MOUNTAIN) HYDRAULIC HOSE UNIT#110 LOADER $135.67  
74085 ROSENAU TRANSPORT FREIGHT OF EMPTY CHLORINE CYLINDERS $165.93  
74086 SANATEC ENVIRONMENTAL PUMP SEPTIC TANK LANDFILL $136.50  
74087 ST. JOHN AMBULANCE BABYSITTER COURSE INSTRUCTION $450.00  
74088 SUPERIOR TRUCK EQUIPMENT BEARINGS UNIT#128 GARBAGE TRUCK $81.30  
74089 TELUS COMMUNICATION  NOVEMBER CELL PHONE, TELEPHONE, RADIO & PAGER SERVICE $38.04  
74090 STUBBINS, CHRISTINA REFUND HUNTER EDUCATION COURSE FEE $224.70  
74091 KEN HAUCK TOWING TOW UNIT#128 GARBAGE TRUCK $210.00  
74092 ESTATE OF BEACH, HOWARD WILL REFUND CREDIT ON RECEIVABLES ACCOUNT $11.97  
74093 TOWN OF REDCLIFF COUNCIL ORIENTATION REFRESHMENTS, HALLOWEEN TREATS, ETC $271.30  
74094 TRICO LIGHTING PRODUCTS LAMPS FOR LIBRARY $204.44  
74095 WESTERN CANADA WELDING TORCH OXYGEN ACETYLENE KIT, WELDING GLOVES, OXYGEN $374.52  
74096 WOLSELEY MECHANICAL GROUP SEWER SNAKE $292.02  
74097 WOOD, DALE CANADIAN FIREARMS SAFETY COURSE INSTRUCTOR FEES $1,615.00  
74098 W.R. MEADOWS ROAD REPAIR PATCH $881.27  
74099 ZEP SALES & SERVICE TRUCK WASH, SOAP, ETC $1,425.36  
74100 SOLBERG, ERIC TRAVEL ADVANCE - AUMA CONVENTION $400.00  
  TOTAL CHEQUES:  69 AMOUNT OF CHEQUES: $866,385.31  
 

3



4



Income

Membership Dues 18,335.00$          Based on 104 members

Bonspiels 8,100.00$            

Rentals 550.00$                

Bar Sales 24,211.63$          

Raffles & 50/50 8,000.00$            

Sponsorship 2,900.00$            
Wind Up 1,259.30$            

Casino 18,000.00$          

TOTAL 81,355.93$          

Expenses

Advertising 374.39$                

Utilities 22,000.00$          

Insurance/Security 10,000.00$          

Maintenance & Supplies 26,501.38$          

Bar Purchases 10,200.00$          

Bar Supplies, Food & Beverage 1,200.00$            

Bonspiels 6,002.43$            

License & Tax 244.67$                

Office Supplies 500.89$                

Property Taxes 510.00$                

Wind-Up Expense 1,225.54$            

Raffles & 50/50 2,548.72$            

Miscellaneous Expenses 1,801.98$            

TOTAL 82,732.77$          

Loss (1,376.84)$           

Redcliff Curling Club

Budget for 2013-2014 Season

5



Income 2010 2011 2012 2013 AVERAGE 4 AVER 3

Membership Dues 23,975.00$          20,824.00$          17,240.00$          21,450.00$          18,335.00$          18,335.00$          

Bonspiels 9,923.00$            9,670.00$            7,460.00$            7,170.00$            8,555.75$            8,100.00$            

Rentals 650.00$                850.00$                600.00$                200.00$                575.00$                550.00$                

Bar Sales 20,644.05$          13,940.97$          13,013.47$          45,680.46$          23,319.74$          24,211.63$          

Raffles & 50/50 3,638.35$            3,340.00$            4,255.50$            5,228.60$            4,115.61$            8,000.00$            

Sponsorship 3,200.00$            2,800.00$            3,450.00$            2,450.00$            2,975.00$            2,900.00$            

Wind Up 1,377.50$            945.00$                1,150.00$            1,682.90$            1,288.85$            1,259.30$            

Casino 18,021.87$          17,904.55$          21,407.66$          -$                      14,333.52$          18,000.00$          

TOTAL 81,429.77$          70,274.52$          68,576.63$          83,861.96$          73,498.47$          81,355.93$          

Expenses

Advertising 522.25$                333.68$                483.99$                305.49$                411.35$                374.39$                

Utilities 16,576.12$          17,040.53$          21,571.41$          19,693.71$          18,720.44$          22,000.00$          

Insurance/Security 4,977.50$            6,298.50$            6,298.50$            6,083.50$            5,914.50$            10,000.00$          

Maintenance & Supplies 19,662.05$          27,723.07$          18,100.94$          18,680.13$          21,041.55$          26,501.38$          

Bar Purchases 12,708.15$          7,831.54$            6,716.14$            14,920.68$          10,544.13$          9,822.79$            

Bar Supplies, Food & Beverage 2,826.22$            2,240.30$            238.81$                -$                      1,326.33$            1,200.00$            

Bonspiels 7,829.15$            7,516.09$            5,428.68$            5,062.52$            6,459.11$            6,002.43$            

Licence & Tax 242.00$                292.00$                200.00$                242.00$                244.00$                244.67$                

Office Supplies 397.26$                838.18$                387.68$                276.82$                474.99$                500.89$                

Property Taxes 510.00$                510.00$                510.00$                510.00$                510.00$                510.00$                

Wind-Up Expense 907.52$                1,962.99$            926.70$                786.92$                1,146.03$            1,225.54$            

Raffles & 50/50 2,521.59$            4,766.45$            -$                      2,879.70$            2,541.94$            2,548.72$            

Miscellaneous Expenses 2,368.35$            1,235.60$            1,801.98$            1,801.98$            

TOTAL 69,679.81$          77,353.33$          63,231.20$          70,677.07$          71,136.34$          82,732.77$          

6



REDCLIFF COMMUNITY CURLING CLUB 
Income Statement 

For the Period Ending November 13, 2013 

 
 

Income   
Membership Dues 
Bonspiels: 

                                       
 

                                      $18510.00 
                                              $0.00 

Rentals  $200.00 
Bar Sales  $650.25 
Raffles & 50/50  $870.00 
Sponsorship  $1200.00 
Wind-Up   $0.00 
   
 
Total Income 

  
$21430.25 

 

 
 
 
Expenses 

  

Advertising  $000 
Utilities  $6135.54 
Insurance/Security  $6331.0 
Maintenance & Supplies  $150.00 
Bar Purchases  $156.86 
Bonspiels  $0.00 
Licence & Tax  $15.54 
Office Supplies  $7.56 
Property Taxes  $0.00 
Wind-Up Expense  $0.00 
Raffles & 50/50           $0.00 
Miscellaneous Expense  $0.00 
 
Total Expenses 
 
 

  
$12796.50 

 
 

 

 

7



Council Meeting Minutes – November 12, 2013         Page 
 

  

8139 

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE REDCLIFF TOWN COUNCIL 
TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 12, 2013 7:00 P.M. 

 
 
PRESENT: Mayor  E. Reimer 
 Councillors  C. Brown, C. Crozier, D. Kilpatrick, 
    L. Leipert, J. Steinke 
 
 Acting Municipal Manager  R. Osmond (Left at 8:55 p.m.; returned at 9:10 p.m.) 
 Manager of Legislative &  S. Simon (Left at 8:40 p.m.; returned at 9:10 p.m.) 
  Land Services  
 Acting Director of Finance &  M. Davies (Left at 8:40 p.m.; returned at 8:55 p.m.) 
  Administration 
 Manager of Engineering  K. Minhas 
 
ABSENT: Councillor  E. Solberg 
  
  
 
 

1. GENERAL 
 

Call to Order A)  Mayor Reimer called the regular meeting to order at 
7:00 p.m.  
 

Adoption of Agenda B) Councillor Leipert moved the Agenda be adopted as 
presented. – Carried Unanimously. 
 

Accounts Payable  C)  Councillor Crozier moved the following 100 general 
vouchers in the amount of $1,462,174.25 be received for 
information. – Carried Unanimously. 

 
ACCOUNTS PAYABLE OCTOBER 24 - NOVEMBER 1, 2013 

COUNCIL MEETING NOVEMBER 12, 2013 

73785 
- 
73931 VOID PRINTER ERROR $0.00  
73932 ALBERTA HOTEL & LODGING ASSOC 2014 ONLINE CAMPGROUND DIRECTORY LISTING $204.75  
73933 ALTA-WIDE BUILDERS SUPPLIES FOAM INSULATION FOR UTILITY SERVICE $243.52  
73934 ALBERTA MUNICIPAL DATA SHARING 2013 ANNUAL MEMBERSHIP FEE  $200.00  
73935 AMSC INSURANCE SERVICES LTD. NOVEMBER EMPLOYEE HEALTH BENEFITS $12,494.86  
73936 AMEC EARTH & ENVIRONMENTAL PROJECT #100 - RAW WATER SUPPLY PIPELINE UPGRADE $1,972.79  
73937 ATRON REFRIGERATION ARENA START UP & INSPECTIONS $5,992.35  
73938 BRANDT TRACTOR LTD. HEATER TEMPERATURE CONTROL KNOB UNIT#102 GRADER $7.50  
73939 CAPITAL GLASS LTD. WINDSHIELD UNIT#107 3/4 TON TRUCK - FIRE DEPARTMENT $252.00  

73940 DELL, KRISTIN 
BUDGET TRAINING ON FMW & EXCEL SPREADSHEET - 
C.RIDEOUT $87.50  

73941 DUNLOP STERLING WESTERN STAR 
WINDOW CRANK, HEATER SWITCH, WIPERS UNIT#94 GARBAGE 
TRUCK $80.71  

73942 FORTY MILE GAS CO-OP LTD. SEPTEMBER GAS UTILITY - LANDFILL $71.11  
73943 FOUNTAIN TIRE REPAIR FLAT TIRE UNIT#128 GARBAGE TRUCK $55.37  
73944 FOX ENERGY SYSTEMS INC. MARKING PAINT, ROAD SIGNS $1,344.74  
73945 GAR-TECH ELECTRICAL OVERLAOD RELAY PUMP#3 - WTP, DISCONNECT PUMP - POOL $498.23  
73946 GIRL GUIDES OF CANADA 2013 CANADA DAY ACTIVITIES $150.00  
73947 GRADWELL, RAYMOND TRAVEL ADVANCE AEMA SUMMIT NOVEMBER 3-5 $500.00  
73948 GREYHOUND COURIER EXPRESS FREIGHT OF PARTS UNIT#142 COMPACTOR - LANDFILL $25.19  
73949 LACELLE, ROSS REIMBURSE DRIVER'S MEDICAL & LICENSE $121.30  
73950 LOGOS INC. JACKETS  $331.80  
73951 SHAW CABLE NOVEMBER INTERNET SERVICES $375.54  

73952 MPE ENGINEERING LTD. 
PROJECT #21 WTP, PROJECT #99 PUMP, PROJECT#100 WATER 
SUPPLY $42,174.31  

73953 OVERHEAD DOOR REPAIR DOOR - PS $106.05  
73954 PARK ENTERPRISES LTD. JULY PERMITS $300.62  
73955 PC CORP INC. JULY & AUGUST BACK UP MANAGER $1,405.69  

8



Council Meeting Minutes – November 12, 2013         Page 
 

  

8140 

73956 SUNCOR ENERGY PRODUCTS DYED DIESEL - LANDFILL $9,020.28  
73957 PRIME PRINTING ENVELOPES $978.60  
73958 THE PRINTER ELECTION BALLOTS $273.00  
73959 PROVINCIAL TREASURER - LAPP LAPP CONTRIBUTIONS REGULAR PAY TO OCTOBER 19, 2013 $17,041.88  
73960 REDCLIFF BAKERY MPC LUNCH OCTOBER 16, 2013 $68.25  
73961 RECEIVER GENERAL STATUTORY DEDUCTIONS REGULAR PAY TO OCTOBER 19, 2013 $23,763.48  
73962 RECEIVER GENERAL  RCMP POLICING COSTS TO JUNE 30, 2013, 2012/13 RECONCILIATION $487,287.82  
73963 ROCKY MOUNTAIN PHOENIX SCBA (SELF CONTAINED BREATHING APPARATUS) $21,583.80  

73964 RODEO FORD SALES LIMITED 
TEMPERATURE BLEND DOOR ACTUATOR UNIT#137 FORD 
TRUCK $421.23  

73965 ROSENAU TRANSPORT LTD FREIGHT OF PARTS UNIT#128 GARBAGE TRUCK, FENCE SLATS $106.72  
73966 SCHEFFER ANDREW LTD. AUGUST PLANNING SERVICES $1,254.75  
73967 SIMSON MAXWELL CHARGE AIR ELBOW, HOSE CLIPS UNIT#117 BOMAG LANDFILL $430.58  
73968 TELUS COMMUNICATION INC. OCTOBER CELL PHONE, TELEPHONE, RADIO & PAGER SERVICE $18.88  
73969 TELUS MOBILITY OCTOBER CELL PHONE, TELEPHONE, RADIO & PAGER SERVICE $75.41  
73970 HIRSCH SIGNS & SILKSCREENING ELECTION SIGNS $128.74  
73971 TRIPLE R EXPRESS FREIGHT OF PARTS UNIT#134 LOADER - LANDFILL $35.70  

73972 DOMINION PRECAST LTD 
PARK BENCHES, TRASH RECEPTACLES, BENCH MOUNTING 
HARDWARE $10,452.75  

73973 THORN, CHRISTA REFUND UTILITY CREDIT $93.73  
73974 STRINGAM DENECKY LLP REFUND LETTER OF COMPLIANCE FEE $60.00  

73975 TOWN OF REDCLIFF 
GIFT D.WOLANSKI, PRINTS & MEMORY CARD INVESTIGATION, 
ETC $274.65  

73976 TOWN OF REDCLIFF REGULAR PAY TO OCTOBER 19, 2013 $65,674.63  
73977 TOWN OF REDCLIFF - LANDFILL SEPTEMBER LANDFILL TONNAGE $5,628.15  

73978 TRANSIT PAVING INC 
PROJ#57 3RD ST SE, PROJ#110 OLD TRANSCANADA 
HWY,PROJ#125,ETC $685,336.79  

73979 WOOD, DALE HUNTER EDUCATION INSTRUCTOR FEES $2,470.00  
73980 XEROX CANADA LTD. SEPTEMBER COPIER FEES WC7655 AND PRO 232 $187.01  
73981 AB MAINTENANCE ENFORCEMENT GARNISHMENT OF WAGES $137.60  
73982 ACKLANDS - GRAINGER INC GLOVES, REPAIR HAMMER DRILL, DEFIBULATOR BATTERY, ETC $1,080.01  

73983 ACTION PARTS 
BATTERY CHARGER, BATTERY ACID NEUTRALIZER, COURTESY 
LAMP $1,008.50  

73984 AMSC INSURANCE SERVICES LTD. SEPTEMBER EMPLOYEE HEALTH SPENDING ACTIVITY  $129.17  
73985 ANDERSON, VINCE SOUTHERN AB FIRE CONFERENCE TRAVEL EXPENSES  $540.66  
73986 AUMA MUNICIPAL MANAGER JOB POSTING $288.75  
73987 BIG EAGLE SERVICES LEACHATE EVACUATION - LANDFILL $1,383.38  
73988 THE BOLT SUPPLY HOUSE LTD. CUTOFF WHEELS, GRINDER, GRINDING WHEELS $153.40  
73989 DIAMOND MUNICIPAL SOLUTIONS 2014 COPPER SUPPORT PLAN, ENHANCEMENTS $13,465.31  
73990 DUNLOP STERLING  12 VOLT BATTERIES $283.47  
73991 DURAGLAS COMPOSITES GRAVELINERS, BASES $3,438.75  

73992 FOUNTAIN TIRE 
REPAIR FLAT TIRES U#94 GARBAGE TRUCK, UNIT#119 
INTERNATIONAL $101.89  

73993 FOX ENERGY SYSTEMS INC. BALL DIAMOND SIGN, SUMMER & WINTER GLOVES $117.25  

73994 GARLAND, JAMIE 
REIMBURSE SHOP VAC, HAMMER 
DRILL,SOCKETS,SCREWDRIVERS,ETC  $839.72  

73995 GRADWELL, RAYMOND SOUTHERN AB FIRE CONFERENCE TRAVEL EXPENSES  $258.36  
73996 HAUCK, PAT 2013 ELECTION REMUNERATION $200.00  
73997 INLAND CONCRETE WASHED DE-ICING SAND $6,706.52  
73998 JACOB'S WELDNG LTD. REPAIR WINDSCREENS AND PIPING - LANDFILL $2,504.25  
73999 JOE JOHNSON EQUIPMENT FILTERS UNIT#145 MT6 TRACTOR $436.31  
74000 LUTZ, VIC 2013 ELECTION REMUNERATION $1,450.00  
74001 CFMY-FM RADIO ADVERTISING REDCLIFF DAYS $420.00  
74002 PALMER, VAL 2013 ELECTION REMUNERATION $555.00  

74003 PUROLATOR 
FREIGHT OF PARTS UNIT#128 GARBAGE TRUCK, SEWAGE 
FLOW METER $90.30  

74004 RESOURCE ALLOCATION CONCEPTS  2013/14 FMW ANNUAL MAINTENANCE  $3,218.25  
74005 RECEIVER GENERAL STATUTORY DEDUCTIONS NOVEMBER COUNCIL PAY $629.52  
74006 ROCKY MOUNTAIN PHOENIX PRIMER SWITCH UNIT#141 FORD PUMPER TRUCK $43.05  
74007 ROSENAU TRANSPORT LTD FREIGHT OF CHLORINE CYLINDERS - WTP $323.66  

74008 SANDAU, TROY 
TRAVEL ADVANCE WATER DISTRIBUTION SYSTEMS, WATER 
WEEK $300.00  

74009 SCHAFFER, DARRELL REIMBURSE COFFEE SUPPLIES $73.00  
74010 SIMON, SHANON 2013 ELECTION REMUNERATION & SUPPLIES $871.39  
74011 SOUTH COUNTRY GLASS FRONT DOOR MAINTENANCE - LIBRARY $149.63  

74012 SUMMIT MOTORS LTD 
AIR SPRING UNIT#128 GARBAGE TRUCK, FILTERS UNIT#119 
INTL,ETC $407.16  

74013 REDCLIFF LADIES FASTBALL REFUND KEP DEPOSIT $125.00  
74014 MUNICIPAL WORLD INC MUNICIPAL MANAGER JOB POSTING $446.25  

74015 HACH SALES AND SERVICE CANADA 
NEW CIRCUIT BOARD & INSTALLATION FOR CHLORINE 
ANALYZER $1,060.50  

74016 SCHNELL, GLEN REFUND UTILITY CREDIT $54.88  
9



Council Meeting Minutes – November 12, 2013         Page 
 

  

8141 

74017 GREYLINE INSTRUMENTS INC. PORTABLE SEWAGE FLOW METER, PIPE MOUNTING BAND $3,643.50  
74018 CAMPBELL, STEPHEN REFUND UTILITY CREDIT $14.66  
74019 WYATT, MONTY REFUND UTILITY CREDIT $1,000.00  
74020 MACK, MICHELLE REFUND UTILITY CREDIT $17.82  
74021 SC COMPUTING INC. REFUND UTILITY CREDIT $133.27  
74022 MICHAUD, PAUL REFUND UTILITY CREDIT $18.00  
74023 LUTZ, PEGGY 2013 ELECTION REMUNERATION $400.00  
74024 GROSE, LONA 2013 ELECTION REMUNERATION $400.00  
74025 TURNER, MELINDA 2013 ELECTION REMUNERATION $325.00  
74026 MCNEIL, CHRISTINA 2013 ELECTION REMUNERATION $200.00  
74027 TOWN OF REDCLIFF NOVEMBER COUNCIL PAY $7,757.20  
74028 TRICO LIGHTING PRODUCTS LIGHTING - TOWN HALL $104.74  
74029 WILLIS, HAZEL 2013 ELECTION REMUNERATION $325.00  
74030 WOLSELEY MECHANICAL GROUP TEMPERATURE CONTROL CARTRIDGE - ARENA $696.41  
74031 WOOD, DALE CANADIAN FIREARMS SAFETY INSTRUCTOR FEES $2,185.00  

 
TOTAL CHEQUES: 100 AMOUNT OF CHEQUES: $1,462,174.25  

 
 
 2. MINUTES 

 
Council meeting held October 28, 2013 A)  Councillor Steinke moved the minutes of the Council 

meeting held October 28, 2013 be adopted as amended. 
– Carried Unanimously. 
 

Council Organizational meeting held 
October 28, 2013 

B)  Councillor Crozier moved the minutes of the Council 
Organizational meeting held October 28, 2013 be 
adopted as presented. - Carried Unanimously. 
 

Redcliff Public Library Board meeting 
held September 24, 2013 

C)  Councillor Steinke moved the minutes of the Redcliff 
Public Library Board meeting held September 24, 2013 
be received for information. – Carried Unanimously. 
 
 

 3. BYLAWS 

Bylaw 1758/2013, being the Temporary 
Borrowing Bylaw 

A) Councillor Leipert moved Bylaw 1758/2013, being the 
Temporary Borrowing Bylaw be given first reading.  – 
Carried Unanimously. 
 
 

 4. STAFF RECOMMENDATIONS 

Permit Services Contract 
Re: Park Enterprises  
 

A)  Councillor Steinke moved that Administration be 
authorized to sign an extension to the existing 
agreement with Park Enterprises until December 31, 
2014 allowing for administration to properly prepare a 
detailed plan related to regaining accreditation for the 
Town of Redcliff in the building discipline and include 
said plans in the 2015 budget discussions. - Carried. 
 

Volunteer Fire Fighters Residency 
Requirement 

B)  Councillor Crozier moved to repeal the current 
residency requirement and that henceforth members of 
the Town of Redcliff Volunteer Fire Department will be at 
the discretion of Administration.  Further that 
Administration develop a policy to permanently establish 
this requirement. - Defeated 
 
Councillor Kilpatrick moved to  repeal the current 

10



Council Meeting Minutes – November 12, 2013         Page 
 

  

8142 

residency requirement and that henceforth members of 
the Town of Redcliff Volunteer Fire Department must 
reside or be employed in a permanent position within the 
corporate limits of the Town of Redcliff.  Further that 
Administration develop a policy to permanently establish 
this requirement. - Carried. 
   

Pat’s Off-Road Transport Bulk Water 
Station Agreement 

C)  Councillor Steinke moved that Administration be 
authorized to extend the Development Agreement with 
Pat’s Off-Road Transport for a Bulk Water Station on Lot 
7, Block 1, Plan 7911064 for a term of three (3) years. -  
Carried. 
 
 

 5. CORRESPONDENCE 

Alberta Municipal Affairs 
Re: Status on Ministerial Directives  
 

A)  Councillor Crozier moved correspondence dated 
October 28, 2013 from Alberta Municipal Affairs 
regarding status on Ministerial Directives be received for 
information. – Carried Unanimously. 
 

Alberta Transportation  
Re:  Municipal Grant Payment 
 

B)  Councillor Leipert moved correspondence dated 
October 24, 2013 from Alberta Transportation regarding 
Municipal Grant Payment for the year 2013 of 
$284,000.00 for Federal Gas Tax Fund and $335,280.00 
for Basic Municipal Transportation Grant for a total of 
$619,280.00 be received for information. – Carried 
Unanimously. 
 
 

 6. OTHER 

Redcliff/Cypress Regional Landfill 
Graphs to October 31, 2013 
 

A)  Councillor Crozier moved the Redcliff/Cypress 
Regional Landfill Graphs to October 31, 2013 be 
received for information. – Carried Unanimously. 
 

Major Capital Project Update B)  Councillor Steinke moved the Major Capital Project 
Update be received for information. - Carried 
Unanimously. 
 

Letter to Minister of Municipal Affairs on 
progress of Directives update 

C)  Councillor Brown moved the Letter to the Minister of 
Municipal Affairs on progress of Directives update be 
received for information. – Carried Unanimously. 
 

Council Photos D)  Councillor Brown moved to authorize Administration 
to arrange for professional individual and group photos 
be taken of Council members. – Carried. 
 

Letter to City of Medicine Hat Council  
Re: initiating discussion regarding 
public transportation, community 
recycling program, and sanitary sewage 
outlay 

E)  Councillor Crozier moved that a letter be sent to the 
City of Medicine Hat Council requesting consideration for 
initiating discussion regarding public transportation, 
community recycling program, and sanitary sewage 
outlay. - Carried Unanimously. 
 
 11



Council Meeting Minutes – November 12, 2013         Page 
 

  

8143 

 7. RECESS 

Recess Mayor Reimer called a recess at 8:10 p.m. 
 
Mayor Reimer reconvened the meeting at 8:16 p.m. 
 
 

 8. IN CAMERA 

In Camera Councillor Kilpatrick moved to meet In Camera to 
discuss one (1) Legal and two (2) labour matters at 8:16 
p.m. – Carried Unanimously. 
 
L. Leipert left at 8:22 p.m., returned at 8:50 p.m. 
S. Simon and M. Davies Left at 8:40 p.m. 
R. Osmond left at 8:55 p.m. 
M. Davies returned at 8:55 p.m. 
S. Simon and R. Osmond returned at 9:10 p.m. 
 

Return to Open Session Councillor Steinke moved to return to Open Session at 
9:10 p.m. – Carried Unanimously. 
 

Municipal Manager Hiring Councillor Brown moved to cease interviews to hire a 
Municipal Manager.  Further that Administration contact 
L. Niven, Recruitment Consultant to proceed with the 
next steps for hiring. – Carried Unanimously. 
 
 

 11. ADJOURNMENT 
 

Adjournment Councillor Kilpatrick moved to adjourn the meeting at 
9:11 p.m. – Carried Unanimously. 
 

  
 
 
 

 Mayor 
  

 
 
 

 Manager of Legislative and Land Services 
 

12



Special Council Meeting Minutes – November 16, 2013         Page   8144 
 
 

 

 

MINUTES OF THE SPECIAL MEETING OF THE REDCLIFF TOWN COUNCIL 
SATURDAY, NOVEMBER 16, 2013 @ 8:30 a.m. 

 
PRESENT: Mayor   E. Reimer 
 Councillors   C. Brown, C. Crozier, D. Kilpatrick,  
     L. Leipert, J. Steinke, 
     E. Solberg (arrived at 8:35 a.m)  
 
 Acting Municipal Manager    R. Osmond 
 Acting Director of Finance  
  and Administration   M. Davies 
 Manager of Engineering   K. Minhas (left 9:47 pm) 
 Director of Public Services   D. Schaffer  
  
 
 

 1. GENERAL 
 

Call to Order A)  Mayor Reimer called the special meeting to order at 8:30 
a.m.    
 

Adoption of Agenda B)  Councillor Brown moved the Agenda be adopted as 
presented. – Carried Unanimously. 
 

 2. NEW BUSINESS 
 

Draft 2014 Budget Review A)   
 

Preliminary Discussion i) R. Osmond gave some opening remarks about general 
concepts including the documentation prepared and the 
balancing number Council was looking for during the 
discussions. 
 
Councillor Solberg arrived at 8:35 a.m. 
 
R. Osmond also gave a brief introduction regarding the 
public aspects of the meeting, question and answer periods 
and the requirement to go “in camera” to discuss any land, 
legal, or labour issues. 
 

Multiyear Capital Infrastructure Plan 
(MYCIP) 

ii) K. Minhas and D. Schaffer presented the proposed 
MYCIP document and the 2013 Capital Budget to Council. 
 
There were several questions from the public about the 
MYCIP document and the 2013 Capital Budget. 
 
 

Engineering Operating Budget 
 

iii) K. Minhas presented the proposed Engineering 
department operating budget to Council 
 
D. Schaffer left at 9:42 a.m. and returned at 9:44 a.m. 
 
Mayor Reimer called a recess at 9:47 a.m. 
 

13



Special Council Meeting Minutes – November 16, 2013         Page   8145 
 
 

 

 

Mayor Reimer reconvened the meeting at 10:02 a.m. 
 

Public Services Operating Budget iv) D. Schaffer presented the proposed Public Services 
department operating budget to Council. 
 
Councillor Kilpatrick left at 10:42 a.m. and returned at 10:44 
a.m. 
 
Councillor Brown left at 11:29 a.m. and returned at 11:33 
a.m. 
 
Councillor Steinke left at 12:01 p.m. and returned at 12:03 
p.m. 
 

Question and Answer Session v) There were several questions from the public about the 
budget and presentations to this point. 
 
 

 
 
Recess for Lunch 

3.   RECESS 
 
Mayor Reimer called a recess at 12:11 p.m. for a lunch 
break. 
 
 

 4.   RECONVENE 
 
Mayor Reimer reconvened the meeting at 1:33 p.m. 
 

Draft 2014 Budget Review (continued) A) 

Public Services Operating Budget 
(continued) 

vi) D. Schaffer continued his presentation of the proposed 
Public Services department operating budget to Council. 
 
M. Davies left at 1:38 p.m. and returned at 1:39 p.m. 
 

In Camera 
 

Councillor Crozier moved to meet “in camera” to discuss a 
labour issue at 1:52 p.m. – Carried Unanimously. 
 

Return to Open Session Councillor Steinke moved to return to an open session at 
2:03 p.m. – Carried Unaimously. 
 
Councillor Solberg left at 2:16 p.m. and returned at 2:22 
p.m. 
 

Redcliff/Cypress Regional Landfill 
Operating Budget 

vii) D. Schaffer presented the proposed Redcliff/Cypress 
Regional Landfill operating budget to Council. 
 
 

In Camera 
 

Councillor Leipert moved to meet “in camera” to discuss a 
labour issue at 2:37 pm – Carried Unanimously. 
 

Return to Open Session Councillor Kilpatrick moved to return to an open session at 
2:43 pm – Carried Unanimously. 
 

14



Special Council Meeting Minutes – November 16, 2013         Page   8146 
 
 

 

 

 M. Davies left at 2:49 p.m. and returned at 2:54 p.m. 
 
Councillor Brown left at 3:07 p.m. and returned at 3:10 p.m. 
 
Mayor Reimer called a recess from 3:28 p.m. – 3:40 pm. 
 
 

Utility Rates viii) R. Osmond and M. Davies presented the proposed 
Utility Rates to Council. 
 
Councillor Kilpatrick left at 3:58 p.m. and returned at 3:59 
p.m. 

  
D. Schaffer left at 4:42 p.m. 
 

Finance & Administration Operating 
Budget 

ix) M. Davies presented the proposed Finance & 
Administration department operating budget to Council. 
 
 

Question and Answer Session x) None – no public present. 
 
 

 5. ADJOURNMENT 
 

Adjournment Councillor Kilpatrick moved adjournment of the Special 
Council meeting at 4:49 p.m. – Carried Unanimously. 

  
 
 
 

 Mayor 
 
 
 
 

 Manager of Legislative and Land Services 
 

15



Special Council Meeting Minutes – November 18, 2013         Page   8147 
 

  

 

MINUTES OF THE SPECIAL MEETING OF THE REDCLIFF TOWN COUNCIL 
MONDAY, NOVEMBER 18, 2013 @ 8:30 a.m. 

 
PRESENT: Mayor  E. Reimer 
 Councillors  D. Kilpatrick, L. Leipert, J. Steinke  
 
 Acting Municipal Manager  R. Osmond 
 Acting Director of Finance M. Davies 
  And Administration  
 Fire Chief  R. Gradwell (left 9:53 a.m.) 
 Bylaw Officer  B. McMillan (arrived 10:04 a.m., left 10:45 a.m.) 
 Director of Community Services C. Murray (arrived 10:50 a.m., left 11:40 a.m.) 
 Manager of Legislative  S. Simon (arrived 1:04, left 1:52) 
  And Land Services    
  
ABSENT:    C. Brown, C. Crozier, E. Solberg 
 
 

 1. GENERAL 
 

Call to Order A)  Mayor Reimer called the special meeting to order at 8:32 
a.m.    
 

Adoption of Agenda B)  Councillor Steinke moved the Agenda be adopted as 
presented. – Carried Unanimously. 
 

 2. NEW BUSINESS 
 

Draft 2014 Budget Review A)   
 

Fire Department Operating Budget i) R. Gradwell presented the proposed Fire department 
operating budget to Council. 
 
 

In Camera 
 

Councillor Steinke moved to meet “in camera” to discuss a 
labour issue at 8:37 a.m. – Carried. 
 

Return to Open Session Councillor Steinke moved to return to an open session at 
9:07 a.m. – Carried. 
 
R.Gradwell left at 9:53 a.m. 
 
Mayor Reimer called a recess at 9:53 a.m. 
 
Mayor Reimer reconvened the meeting at 10:04 a.m. 
 
B. McMillan arrived at 10:04 a.m. 
 

Bylaw Operating Budget ii) B. McMillan presented the proposed Bylaw department 
operating budget to Council. 
 
B. McMillan left at 10:45 a.m. 
 
C. Murray arrived at 10:50 a.m. 

16



Special Council Meeting Minutes – November 18, 2013         Page   8148 
 

  

 

 

Community Services Operating Budget 
 

iii) C. Murray presented the proposed Community Services 
department operating budget to Council. 
 
C. Murray left at 11:40 am. 
 

Question and Answer Session iv) None – no public present. 
 
 

 
 
Recess for Lunch 

3.   RECESS 
 
Mayor Reimer called a recess of the Special Council 
meeting at 11:40 am. for a lunch break.  
 
 

 4.   RECONVENE 
 
Mayor Reimer reconvened the special Council meeting at 
1:04 p.m. 
 
S.Simon arrived at 1:04 p.m. 
 

Draft 2014 Budget Review (continued) A) 

Legislative/Land/Development 
Operating Budgets 

v) S. Simon presented the proposed Legislative, Land and 
Development department operating budgets to Council. 
 
S. Simon left at 1:52 p.m. 
 

Finance and Administration Operating 
Budget (continued) 

vi) M. Davies continued his presentation of the proposed 
Finance and Administration department operating budget to 
Council. 
 
M. Davies left at 2:16 p.m. 
 

In Camera 
 

Councillor Steinke moved to meet “in camera” to discuss 
two labour issues at 2:16 p.m. – Carried Unanimously. 
 

Return to Open Session Councillor Steinke moved to return to an open session at 
2:43 p.m. – Carried. 
 

 M. Davies returned at 2:43 p.m. 
 
Mayor Reimer called a recess at 4:05 p.m.  
 
Mayor Reimer reconvened the meeting at 4:08 p.m. 
 

In Camera 
 

Councillor Kilpatrick moved to meet “in camera” to discuss 
a labour issue at 4:10 p.m. – Carried Unanimously. 
 

Return to Open Session Councillor Kilpatrick moved to return to an open session at 
4:13 p.m. – Carried Unanimously. 
 

17



Special Council Meeting Minutes – November 18, 2013         Page   8149 
 

  

 

 

Question and Answer Session vii) None – no public present. 
 
 

 5. ADJOURNMENT 
 

Adjournment Councillor Leipert moved adjournment of the Special 
Council meeting at 4:48 p.m. – Carried Unanimously. 

  
 
 
 

 Mayor 
 
 
 
 

 Manager of Legislative and Land Services 
 

18



Special Council Meeting Minutes – November 18, 2013         Page 
 

  

 

8150 

MINUTES OF THE SPECIAL MEETING OF THE REDCLIFF TOWN COUNCIL 
MONDAY, NOVEMBER 18, 2013 5:30 p.m. 

  
PRESENT: Mayor  E. Reimer  
 Councillors  C. Brown, C. Crozier, D. Kilpatrick 
    L. Leipert, E. Solberg, J. Steinke 
 
 Manager of Legislative and S. Simon 
  Land Services 
   
ABSENT: Councillor  C. Brown 
 Acting Municipal Manager R. Osmond 
 Acting Director of Finance and   M. Davies 
  Administration 
 
 
    
 

1. GENERAL 
 

Call to Order A)  Mayor Reimer called the special meeting to order at 
5;30 p.m.  
 

Adoption of Agenda B) Councillor Crozier moved the Agenda be adopted as 
presented. – Carried Unanimously. 
 
 

 2. IN CAMERA 

In Camera Councillor Kilpatrick moved to meet In Camera to 
discuss a labour matter at 5:30 p.m. – Carried 
Unanimously. 
 
S. Simon, left at 5:30 p.m., returned at 6:25 p.m. 
 

Return to Open Session Councillor L. Leipert moved to return to Open Session at 
6:25 p.m. – Carried Unanimously. 
 
Councillor Steinke moved to authorize the Mayor to 
extend an offer of employment to the selected candidate 
pending reference checks. – Carried Unanimously.  
 
 

 3. ADJOURNMENT 
 

Adjournment Councillor Steinke moved to adjourn the meeting at 6:29 
p.m. – Carried Unanimously. 
 

  
 

 Mayor 
  

 
 

 Manager of Legislative and Land Services 
 

19



REDCLIFF PLANNING BOARD MEETING 
TUESDAY, NOVEMBER 19, 2013 

TOWN OF REDCLIFF COUNCIL CHAMBERS AT 9:00 AM 
MINUTES 

 
 

PRESENT: Acting Municipal Manager  R. Osmond  
  Manager of Legislative & Land Services S. Simon 
  Manager of Engineering   K. Minhas 
  Planning Consultant    K. Snyder  
  Councillor    L. Leipert 
   
ABSENT: Executive Assistant     C. Cranston 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 

Acting Municipal Manager called the meeting to order at 9:03 a.m. 
 
 
2. ADOPTION OF AGENDA 
 Agenda was adopted as presented. 
 
 
3. PREVIOUS MINUTES 

Minutes of the September 17, 2013 were accepted as presented.   
 
 

4. NEW BUSINESS 
  
 A) Application for Land Use Bylaw Amendment * 

Lot 42, Block 91, Plan 9411418 (15 3 Street NW) 
Change Land Use from R-1 Residential to H Horticultural 
The Board reviewed the application for Land Use Bylaw Amendment from Jeff Stigter 
(Jamco Growers) for Lot 42, Block 91, Plan 9411418 (15 – 3 Street NW) to change the 
zoning from R-1 (Single Family Residential District) to H (Horticultural District).  The 
Manager of Legislative and Land Services noted the application was submitted with the 
incorrect title.  However, she has contacted the applicant and he will be submitting the 
correct title.   
 
The Planning Consultant questioned the process for processing Land Use Bylaw 
Amendment applications.  He expressed concern with the application being presented to 
Council without a Bylaw.  The Board had a lengthy discussion on process and the 
Redcliff Planning Boards role.   
 
The Board discussed and expressed concern with the applicant’s proposal to rezone 
only the middle parcel as the northern parcel has an existing greenhouse on it.  It was 
noted that the applicant intends to expand the greenhouse into the middle lot.   
 
Reference was made to the Municipal Development Plan.  The Board agreed that the 
proposal is inconsistent with the objectives of the Plan in that the proposal is creating an 
isolated horticultural parcel.   

20



Redcliff Planning Board Minutes – November 19, 2013                                               Page  
 
 

2 

The Board discussed the Municipal Development Plan and the Northend Transition area.  
The Planning Consultant suggested that a redevelopment plan be completed for the 
area as this would provide better guidance for the future development of the area.    
 
Consensus of the Board was to recommend to Council that the proposed amendment to 
the Land Use Bylaw be denied as presented.  The proposed amendment is inconsistent 
with the Municipal Development Plan (MDP) as it creates an isolated Horticultural parcel 
which is contrary to the objectives of the MDP.   
 
 
Note:  Subsequent to the meeting the applicant requested to amend his application to 

include Lot 41, Block 91, Plan 9411418.  He was unaware that Lot 41 was not 
already zoned horticultural.  The application will be returned to Redcliff Planning 
Board for further consideration.   

 
 

 B) Application for Land Use Bylaw Amendment 
Lot 3, Block 3, Plan 7911064 (221 Saskatchewan Drive NE) 
Change Land Use from H Horticultural to I-1 Light Industrial 
The Board reviewed the application for a Land Use Bylaw Amendment for Lot 3, Block 3, 
Plan 7911064 (221 Saskatcehwan Dr. NE) to change the zoning from H (Horticultural) to 
I-1 (Light Industrial).  Consensus of the Redcliff Planning Board was that they were in 
favor of the proposed amendment and had no concerns.   
 
 

 C) Draft South Saskatchewan Regional Plan 2014-2024  
K. Snyder provided a brief overview of the history of the draft South Saskatchewan 
Regional Plan.  He referenced the Municipal Government Act and the Land Stewardship 
Act.  He noted the Province’s intention to establish 7 new land use regions and a 
regional plan for each.  The first plan completed was the Lower Athabasca Region.  
They’re now working on the South Saskatchewan Regional Plan.  The South 
Saskatchewan Regional Plan encompasses Calgary and the area South.  He noted that 
there were previous workshops where input was sought approximately a year ago.  The 
draft South Saskatchewan Regional Plan 2014-2024 is the resulting document.  They 
are now looking for feedback on the proposed plan.   
 
K. Snyder commented that the document is very large and noted that some of the key 
issues are reintroducing regional planning in Alberta, protection and conservation and 
cumulated effects management.  He noted they are going to create large databases 
where all information will be tracked.  The concept being is that everyone’s information 
will be entered and thus better decision will be able to be made.   
 
K. Snyder indicated his concern is that it is creating the bases for centralized decision 
making.  They have the legislation and they have the plans, and it appears the structure 
is there to take away a lot of the land use decision making ability at the local level.   
 
K. Snyder indicated that all local plans will need to be amended to be consistent with the 
regional plans once they are adopted.   
 

21



Redcliff Planning Board Minutes – November 19, 2013                                               Page  
 
 

3 

K. Snyder commented that the draft plan is a difficult read and that there is a lot of 
information in it.  Further that it is difficult to identify which sections will have a positive or 
negative impact on Redcliff.  He also had some concerns about how any input will be 
received. 
 
K. Snyder referenced Redcliff’s previous concerns with being included in the same 
grouping as Calgary.  The needs of a large community will be different than that of a 
smaller community.   
 
The Board continued to discuss the document and concerns with the pending changes 
to decision making and that those most knowledgeable (those at the local level) will no 
longer be considered the experts. 
 
K. Snyder suggested that Council members attend the Public Information Sessions 
being held next week to familiarize themselves with the plan.  As well, it would be a good 
networking opportunity. 
 
It was noted that there is workbook available and the deadline to submit the workbook is 
January 15, 2014.  K. Snyder suggested that rather than complete the workbook that 5-
10 issues be identified specific to Redcliff and submit those comments in letter form.  
The Board was in agreement.   
 
The Board suggested the draft plan be forwarded to Council at their November 25 
Council meeting for information.  The workbook does not need to be included but may 
be accessed at www.landuse.aberta.ca.  Then at the Board’s December meeting they 
will review and identify the main issues.  A letter could then be drafted and submitted to 
the January 13 Council meeting for consideration to be submitted.   
 
 

 D) Alberta Wetlands Policy  
K. Snyder referenced the Alberta Wetland Policy and noted that changes are being 
driven by the province. Implementation of the changes is not expected until summer of 
2014.   
 
K. Snyder indicated the policy intends to provide better protection of wetlands and 
establishes higher compensation rates.  It also imposes a higher level of proving a need 
to remove a wetland and has more stringent criteria.  It appears that there will now be a 
requirement that more areas be retained as wetlands.  Part of the evaluation matrix is 
the assessment of the surrounding area.  In the decision making process the Province 
will be considering what wetlands are in the area as well as wanting to maintain areas 
which once may not have been included.   
 
With regard to the Town as regulator, the Town will now be required ask that a 
biophysical be completed by a qualified biologist and sent to province to review if there is 
a wet area.  The Town as a developer will need to be a step ahead and identify the wet 
areas there are and have them assessed by qualified people.   
 
The board continued to discuss the policy implications and what may be considered a 
wetland area in the Town.  
 

22

http://www.landuse.aberta.ca/


Redcliff Planning Board Minutes – November 19, 2013                                               Page  
 
 

4 

The Board suggested that the Draft Wetlands Policy be forwarded to Council for 
information.   
 
K. Snyder will keep the board apprised of any further information he receives.   

 
 

5. FUTURE/ONGOING PROJECT LISTING 
 
 A)  Subdivision Plan Lot 1, Block 8, Plan 0412179 (Future Protective Services Site) 

B)   I-XL Development 
C)   Engineering and Development Plan Review 
D)   River Terrace Area Structure Plan 
E)  Joint Area Structure Plan (ASP) with Cypress County 
 
 

6. ADJOURNMENT 
The meeting was adjourned at 11:39 p.m. 

 

23



 

 

MUNICIPAL PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING 
WEDNESDAY, NOVEMBER 20, 2013 – 12:30 PM 

TOWN OF REDCLIFF COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
 

MINUTES 
 

  
PRESENT: Members:  J. Beach, B. Duncan, B. Lowery 

 
Public Services Director  D. Schaffer 
Planning Consultant   K. Snyder 

  Development Officer:   B. Stehr 
   
ABSENT:      B. Vine 
    

  
1. CALL TO ORDER 
 

B. Duncan called the meeting to order at 12:34 p.m.   
 
 
2. ADOPTION OF AGENDA 
 
 J. Beach moved that the agenda be adopted as amended to remove item 6A: 
  Land Use Amendment Application  

 Lot 42, Block 91, Plan 9411418 (15 3 Street NW) from R1 - Single Family Residential 
District to H - Horticultural District. 

  - Carried. 
 
 
3. PREVIOUS MINUTES 
 

B. Lowery moved the minutes of the October 16, 2013 meeting be adopted as presented. – 
Carried. 

 
 
4. LIST OF DEVELOPMENT PERMITS ADVERTISED 
 
 The Commission reviewed the development permits advertised in the Cypress Courier/40 Mile 

Commentator October 15, October 22, and October 29 and were advised that no appeals have 
been received. 

 
 
5.  DEVELOPMENT PERMIT APPLICATIONS APPROVED BY DEVELOPMENT OFFICER 
 

A) Development Permit Application 13-DP-061 
Pure Power Rentals 
Lot 1-5, Block 19, Plan 5094AV (302 Mitchell Street N) 
Approved: Interior Renovations 

 
B) Development Permit Application 13-DP-062 

Michael Woods 
Lot 31-32, Block 17, Plan 1117V (422 3 Street SE) 
Approved: Permit to Stay  

24



Municipal Planning Commission Meeting – November 20, 2013    Page  
 

 

2 

 
 

C) Development Permit Application 13-DP-063 
Annette Ziegler 
Lot 48, Block 121, Plan 0714603 (216 4 Street NW) 
Approved: Accessory Building – Detached Garage 
 

D) Development Permit Application 13-CP-065 
Lorna Cripps 
Lot 1-2, Plan 43, Plan 1117V (237 1 Street SE) 
Approved: Permit to Stay 
 

E) Development Permit Application 13-DP-067 
Art’s Excavating  
Lot 1-2, Block 45, Plan 1117V (237 3 Street SE) 
Approved: Demolition of Single Family Dwelling 
 

F) Development Permit Application 13-DP-069 
James Mack 
Lot 21, Block 7, Plan 7410853 (405 7 Avenue SE) 
Approved: Home Occupation – Selling Homemade Cosmetics 
 

G) Development Permit Application 13-DP-070 
Nicole Miller 
Lot 25, Block A, Plan 0412564 (613 Jesmond Point SW) 
Approved: Hot Tub 
 

H) Development Permit Application 13-DP-072 
Clarice St. Germain 
Lot 33-34, Block 25, Plan 1117V (325 5 Street SE) 
Approved: Permit to Stay 
 

I) Development Permit Application 13-DP-073 
Lacey Homes 
Lot 45, Block 33, Plan 1213639 (316 4 Avenue SW) 
Approved: Single Family Dwelling 

 
6. FOR COMMENT 
 

A) Land Use Amendment Application  
Lot 3, Block 3, Plan 7911064 (221 Saskatchewan Drive NE) from H - Horticultural to I1 
– Light Industrial District 

 
The Development Officer referenced Development Permit Application 13-DP-014 which 
was approved by the Municipal Planning Commission. One of the conditions of approval 
was: 

The applicant apply for a Land Use Change to make Lot 3, Block 3, Plan 7911064 
(221 Saskatchewan Drive NE) and Lot 4, Block 3, Plan 7911064 (217 
Saskatchewan Drive NE) be of one consistent zone. 

 
 The Commission had no comment to proposed Land Use Amendment.  

25



Municipal Planning Commission Meeting – November 20, 2013    Page  
 

 

3 

 
 
7. ADJOURNMENT 
 
  D. Schaffer moved adjournment of the meeting at 12:38 p.m. – Carried. 

 
 

_____________________________                                                              
 Chairman 

 
 

_____________________________ 
  Secretary 

26



BYLAW NO.  1758/2013 
OF THE TOWN OF REDCLIFF 

IN THE PROVINCE OF ALBERTA 
 

A BY-LAW OF THE TOWN OF REDCLIFF TO PROVIDE FOR THE BORROWING OF FUNDS 
UNDER THE MUNICIPAL GOVERNMENT ACT. 
 
This Bylaw shall be known as the “Temporary Borrowing Bylaw 2014.” 
 
WHEREAS the amount of taxes estimated to be raised for the fiscal year commencing on 
January 1, 2014 by the Town of Redcliff (hereinafter called the "Municipality") for all purposes is 
the sum of six million seven hundred thirteen thousand eight hundred ($6,713,800.00) Dollars; 
 
AND WHEREAS the Council of the Municipality deems it necessary to borrow from time to time 
on a revolving basis during the year 2014 sum or sums not exceeding the maximum principal 
amount of One Million Dollars ($1,000,000.00) at any one time to meet the operating 
expenditures and sum or sums not exceeding the maximum principal amount of Twenty Five 
Thousand Dollars ($25,000.00) at any one time to meet the credit card expenditures of the 
Municipality incurred during the year 2014;  
 
AND WHEREAS after borrowing during the said year of the amount hereby authorized to be 
borrowed, the amount to be borrowed, together with the unpaid principal or other borrowings 
made for the purpose of financing operating expenditures, will not exceed the amount estimated 
to be raised in taxes as aforesaid during the said year; 
 
AND WHEREAS the borrowing hereby authorized will not cause the Municipality to exceed its 
debt limit. 
 
NOW THEREFORE THE MUNICIPAL CORPORATION OF REDCLIFF, IN COUNCIL 
ASSEMBLED, ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 
 
1. That the Council of the Municipality do borrow from time to time on a revolving basis 

during the year  2014  from Canadian Imperial Bank of commerce (the "Bank"), a sum or 
sums not exceeding the maximum principal amount of One million Dollars 
($1,000,000.00) at any one time which the Council deems necessary to expend to meet 
the operating expenditures and a sum or sums not exceeding the maximum principal 
amount of Twenty Five thousand Dollars ($25,000.00) at any one time which the Council 
deems necessary to expend to meet the credit card expenditures of the Municipality for 
other than school purposes incurred during the said year until such time as the taxes 
levied or to be levied therefor can be collected, and to pay or agree to pay interest on the 
sum so borrowed either in advance or at maturity, and in either case after maturity, at 
such rate as may be agreed upon from time to time between the Council and the Bank. 

 
2. That the sum or sums so borrowed may be evidenced and secured by a form of 

debt/security instrument executed by the Mayor and Director of Finance and 
Administration on behalf of the Municipality and the said Mayor and Director of Finance 
and Administration are hereby authorized and empowered to execute and give such 
form of debt/security instrument on behalf of the Municipality as may be required by the 
Bank and to determine and upon from time to time the rate of interest applicable to the 
amount of the sums borrowed hereunder remaining from time to time outstanding. 

 

27



Bylaw No. 1758/2013     Page  
 
 

2 

3. That the Council of the Municipality do hereby pledge to the said Bank as security for 
payment of the money borrowed hereunder, and interest, thereon, the whole of the 
unpaid taxes and penalties on taxes assessed and /or raised by the Municipality in years 
prior to the said year together with penalties thereon, and the whole of the taxes 
assessed or to be assessed and/or raised to be raised for the said year and penalties 
thereon, and the Municipality shall deposit in a special account with the said Bank all of 
the said taxes, penalties and other designated revenues as collected, as collateral 
security for the money to be borrowed hereunder and interest thereon and the same 
shall be applied as far as necessary in payment of moneys borrowed hereunder and 
interest thereon, but the said Bank shall not be restricted to the said taxes, penalties and 
other designated revenues for the payment of the money borrowed as aforesaid or be 
bound to wait for repayment of such money and interest until such taxes, penalties and 
other designated revenues can be collected, or be required to see that the said taxes, 
penalties and other designated revenues are deposited as aforesaid. 

 
4. That nothing herein contained shall waive, prejudicially affect or exclude any right, power 

benefit or security by statute, common law or otherwise given to or implied in favour of 
the said Bank. 

 
5. Bylaw No. 1731/2012 is hereby repealed upon Bylaw 1758/2013 coming in effect on 

January 1, 2014. 
 
 
Read a first time this 12th  day of November 2013.   
 
 
Read a second time this __________ day of __________,, 2013. 
 
 
Read a third time this __________ day of __________,, 2013. 
 
 
 
SIGNED AND PASSED THIS _________ DAY OF ______________, 2013. 
 
 
 
 
  ___________________________________  
 Mayor 
 
 
 
 ___________________________________ 
 Manager of Legislative and Land Services 

28



TOWN OF REDCLIFF 
BYLAW NO. 1759/2013 

 
A BYLAW OF THE TOWN OF REDCLIFF TO ESTABLISH FEES, RATES AND CHARGES 
FOR GOODS AND SERVICES PROVIDED BY OR ON BEHALF OF THE TOWN OF 
REDCLIFF. 
 
WHEREAS under the Municipal Government Act, a Municipal Council has broad authority to 
govern including authority to pass bylaws, respecting rates, fees and charges levied for goods 
and services provided by or on behalf of the Municipality; 
 
AND WHEREAS the Council for the Town of Redcliff deems it desirable to establish fees, rates 
and charges for the various licenses, permits goods and other municipal services and facilities 
in a bylaw. 
 
 
NOW THEREFORE THE MUNICIPAL CORPORATION OF THE TOWN OF REDCLIFF IN 
COUNCIL DULY ASSEMBLED ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 
TITLE 
 
1. This Bylaw may be cited as the Town of Redcliff Fees, Rates and Charges Bylaw. 
 
 
INTERPRETATION 
 
2. In this Bylaw, unless the context otherwise requires; 

 
(a) “Council” means the Council for the Town. 

 
(b) “Municipal Manager” means the Chief Administrative Officer for the Town; 

 
(c) “Town” means the Municipal Corporation of the Town of Redcliff; 

 
 
RATES, FEES AND CHARGES 
 
3. The rates, fees and charges for municipal licenses, permits, goods and services are 

hereby established as identified in Schedule “A” which is attached to and forming a part 
of this bylaw and any applicable taxes shall be added to these rates at the point of sale.   

 
4. All references made in any other Bylaw, Policy or Resolution of Council to the “Rates 

Policy” shall now be referred to this Fees, Rates and Charges Bylaw. 
 

5. Prices in this Bylaw do not include GST, unless otherwise noted, which is additional if 
applicable and will be added by the Town of Redcliff when costs are paid. 

 
6. That in the event that a rate is required for a good or service not identified in this bylaw. 

Council authorizes the Municipal Manager to establish a temporary rate, fee or charge 
until such a time as this bylaw is amended.  

29



Page 2 of Bylaw No. 1752   1759/2013 
 

 
7. That at the discretion of the Municipal Manager rates charged to bona fide non-profit 

community organizations may be modified.  Or when such an organization’s planned 
activity generates significant interest, activity or participation in the Town, the Municipal 
Manager may waive the fees. 
 

8. That if any provision of this bylaw is deemed invalid, then such provision shall be 
severed and the remaining bylaw shall be maintained 
 

9. This Bylaw shall take effect on January 1, 2014 . 
 

10. Bylaw No 1752/2013 is hereby repealed at the end of the day December 31, 2013. 
 

 
 
READ a first time this ____ day of ____________, 2013. 
 
 
READ a second time this ____ day of ____________, 2013.  
 
 
READ a third time this ____ day of ____________, 2013.  
 
 
 
PASSED and SIGNED this _____ day of _______________, 2013. 
 
 
 

_______________________________ 
MAYOR 

 
 
 

_______________________________ 
MANAGER OF LEGISLATIVE AND  
LAND SERVICES 

 
 

30



Page 3 of Bylaw No. 1752 1759/2013 
 

 

SCHEDULE “A” 

ADMINISTRATION 
 
STATIONARY TYPE SERVICES 
 
Photocopying 25¢ per copied side of any document. 
 
Faxing - sending of fax $1.00 per page of document sent 
- receiving of fax 25¢ per page of document received 
 
Detailed Map of Redcliff  $12.00 each 
 
Aerial Photograph of Redcliff 
- Small (15” X 21”) $20.00 each 
- Large (20” X 28”) $30.00 each 
 
Special sized maps  $8.00 per sq. ft. 
 
Specialized Scanning to CD-R (max 24” wide) $2.00 per page ($10.00 minimum) 
 
Books (e.g. Land Use Bylaw) $15.00 each 
 
CONSTRUCTION STANDARDS AND DESIGN GUIDELINE   
 
Construction Standards $35.00 each (GST included) 
 
Design Guidelines $25.00 each (GST included) 
 
Tender Documents $50.00 each (GST included) 
**Special pricing may be used for exceptionally large document packages 

 

SOUVENIR TYPE SERVICES 
 
Souvenirs and public relation type products, such as pins, hats, sweatshirts, t-shirts, mugs, pens, crests, 
flags, etc. or other such goods for sale shall be available for sale at a price determined as follows: 
 

Unit price plus 10%   
 
Example: If the Unit Cost is $27.55, the sale price is $27.55 + $2.75 = $30.30  

 
Any Redcliff based club or non-profit organization may purchase pins for public relations purposes at a 
cost of $1.00 each.  If the club or non-profit organizations wishes to purchase pins for resale they may do 
so at cost.   
 
The Municipal Manager and /or Council may distribute pins as required for public relations purposes.  
  

31



Page 4 of Bylaw No. 1752 1759/2013 
 

 

ENCROACHMENT PERMIT 
 
Encroachment Permit  $100.00 
 
TAX CERTIFICATE / COMPLIANCE CERTIFICATE 
 
Tax Certificate $34.00 
 
Letter of Compliance $60.00 
 
ASSESSMENT COMPLAINT FEES 
 
PROPERTY COMPLAINT CATEGORY  FEE 

Residential Land with 3 or fewer dwelling units $30.00 

Farmland $30.00 

All other properties if assessed value is:  

Less than $500,000.00 $100.00 

Greater than $500,000.00 but less than $5,000,000.00 $200.00 

Greater than $5,000,000.00 but less than $10,000,000.00 $300.00 

Greater than $10,000,000.00 $500.00 
 
FIREWORKS IGNITION PERMIT 
 
Permit Fee  $50.00 (non-refundable) 
 
HIGH / WIDE LOAD MOVES PERMIT 
 
Permit Fee: $200.00 
 
LAND USE BYLAW AMENDMENT 
 
Application Fee $650.00  
 
SUBDIVISION 
 
Application Fee $350.00 plus $100.00 for every additional lot 
  created over and above the original lot 
 
Subdivision Extension: 1st request for extension No charge 
 2nd and subsequent requests for extension $175.00 
 
Endorsement Fee $100.00 per application 
 
 
  

32



Page 5 of Bylaw No. 1752 1759/2013 
 

 

DEVELOPMENT PERMIT FEES  
 
Residential 
    
Single Family Dwelling $100.00 
 
Multi-Family Dwelling $100.00 + $50.00/unit 
 
Accessory buildings 10 m2 – 35 m2    $65.00 
 
Accessory buildings greater than 35 m2 $100.00 
 
Additions $100.00 
 
Non-Residential 
 
Commercial/Industrial/Horticultural/Institutional Buildings $200.00 + 10¢ / m2 
 
Accessory Buildings / Additions (Less than 100 m2) $100.00 
 
Other (Including: Home Occupations, Decks, Driveways, Demolition, Signs, 
Hot Tubs, Relocated Buildings, Permit to Stay, Others as 
Determined by Development Authority) $65.00 
 
Discretionary Use – MPC – additional fee above regular application fee $75.00 
 
Special MPC – additional fee above application and regular MPC Fee $150.00  
 
 

*WORK STARTED BEFORE PERMIT ISSUANCE SUBJECT TO DOUBLE PERMIT FEES* 
 
Construction Damage Deposit 
 
Residential $1,000.00 
 
Commercial/Industrial/Horticultural $2,000.00 
Note:  A construction damage deposit is may to be taken for development permits 
Issued for principal buildings, accessory buildings, additions, excavations and/or 
Demolition projects 
 
Subdivision & Development Appeal Fee $100.00  
 
Boulevard Development Application Fee $65.00 
 
File Review (Environmental) Fee $75.00 

33



Page 6 of Bylaw No. 1752 1759/2013 
 

 

COMMUNITY SERVICES 
 
ELECTRONIC MESSAGE BOARD 
 
Setup fee $5.00 
 
User fee $5.00 per day 
 
Town of Redcliff Not-for-Profit Community groups may book the electronic message board for one 
message per month for a maximum time period of up to 5 consecutive days duration, at no cost for setup 
fee or user fee. Not-for-Profit Groups may book additional ads each month; however setup and user fees 
will apply to any additional ad(s). 
 
SWIMMING POOL 
 
General Admission (GST included) 
 
Age Day Pass 5 Pack Season Pass 
 
Tiny Tot (0-5 years) Free Free Free 
Child (6-12 years) $3.75 $15.00 $50.00 
Youth (13-17 years) $4.25 $17.00 $60.00 
Adult (18-55 years) $5.00 $20.00 $70.00 
Senior (56+ years) $4.50 $18.00 $63.00 
Family $10.75 $43.00 $134.00 
 
Age Day Pass 5 Pack Season Pass 
 
Tiny Tot (0-5 years) Free Free Free 
Child (6-12 years) $4.25 $17.00 $55.00 
Youth (13-17 years) $4.75 $19.00 $62.00 
Adult (18-55 years) $5.50 $22.00 $72.00 
Senior (56+ years) $5.00 $20.00 $65.00 
Family $12.00 $48.00 $145.00 
 
A family is considered to be parents and immediate children under 18 years of age.  It does not include 
Grandparents, Cousins, Aunts or Uncles etc. as they should obtain their own pass. 
 
LESSONS  (GST included) 
 
Red Cross Swim Level 1-10   $31.00 
 
Red Cross Pre-School to Swim Kids Levels 1-4      $32.00 
 
Red Cross Swim Kids Levels 5-10        $37.00 
 
Private lessons $20.00/hr. or $15.00/person for 2 – 3 people/hour 
 
Swim Club $20.00/hr. to cover cost of lifeguard on duty 
 
Private lessons $30.00/hr. or $35.00/person for 2 – 3 people/hour 

34



Page 7 of Bylaw No. 1752 1759/2013 
 

 

 
Swim Club $30.00/hr. to cover cost of lifeguard on duty 
 
 
The rate for other lesson programs such as Bronze Star, Bronze Medallion & Senior Resuscitation, 
Bronze Cross, Aqua Leaders, Etc. will be established by the Community Services Director on the basis 
of cost plus a 10% program administration. 
 
 
CANCELLATION / WITHDRAWAL 
 
5 Pack, or Season Passes No Refunds 
 
Withdrawal by Patron Prorated Refund less $10.00 Administration Fee  
 
Cancellation by Town Prorated Refund of Transfer 
 
 
RENTALS (GST included) 
 
1-29 people $75.00 / hour  
 
Extra charge for every additional 20 persons  $25.00 / hour 
 
Security Deposit  $75.00 Refundable 
 

ARENA (REC-TANGLE) 

 
ICE RENTALS May 1, 2012  May 1, 2013 
  April 30, 2013 April 30, 2014 
 
Youth (17 and under) $52.00 / hour $55.00 / hour 
 
Adult (non-prime time - before 4:00 p.m. – Monday-Friday) $70.00/ hour  $74.00 / hour 
 
Adult (prime time – weekends and after 4:00 p.m. weekdays) $88.00/ hour $93.00 / hour 
 
Public Skating  Free * Free * 
 
 
ICE RENTALS May 1, 2013  May 1, 2014 
  April 30, 2014 April 30, 2015 
 
Youth (17 and under) $55.00 / hour $60.00 / hour 
 
Adult (non-prime time - before 4:00 p.m. – Monday-Friday) $74.00/ hour  $80.00 / hour 
 
Adult (prime time – weekends and after 4:00 p.m. weekdays) $93.00/ hour $100.00 / hour 
 
Public Skating  Free * Free * 
 
 

35



Page 8 of Bylaw No. 1752 1759/2013 
 

 

MEETING ROOMS 

ARENA 
 
Large Room (Full Day) $75.00 
Security Deposit (Refundable) $150.00 
 
Large Room (Hourly) $25.00 
Security Deposit (Refundable) $50.00 
 
Entire Building (No Ice, Full Day) $350.00 
Security Deposit (Refundable) $300.00 
 
Local Non-profit Community Groups (Backup Facility, Hours Used)  $30.00 
 
*Refer to separate policy for Redcliff Skating Club and Redcliff Minor Hockey Association. 
 
 
SENIOR DROP IN CENTRE 
 
Refer to separate policy on this facility. 
 
TOWN HALL  
 
Downstairs Conference Room (Daily) $15.00 
 (Weekly) $50.00 

BALL DIAMONDS 
 
Diamonds (Per Hour, Minimum 1.5 Hours) $4.50 
 
Lights (Per Hour) $3.00 
 
Tournaments (Per Diamond) Day $80.00 
 Weekend $120.00 
 
Equipment & Maintenance Fee (Annual for Each Team in League) $5.00 
 
BALL DIAMONDS CONCESSION 
 
Non-Profit groups Rental Rate (Per Day) No Rental Fee 
 Refundable Damage Deposit $100.00 
 Insurance Coverage Required (Must Provide Proof) $2 million 
 
Profit groups Rental Rate (Per Day) $50.00 
 Refundable Damage Deposit $100.00 
 Insurance Coverage Required (Must Provide Proof) $2 million 
 

CAMPGROUND (GST INCLUDED) 
 
Tent $20.00 per day 
 

36



Page 9 of Bylaw No. 1752 1759/2013 
 

 

Camper, Trailer, Recreational Vehicles $25.00 per day 

LIONS PARK KITCHEN COMPLEX 

 
Not for Profit Groups Rental Rate (Per Day) No Rental Fee 
 Refundable Damage Deposit $100.00 
Not for Profit Groups Rental Rate (Per Day) $25.00 
 Refundable Damage Deposit $100.00 
 
 
For Profit Groups  Rental Rate (Per Day) $50.00 
 Refundable Damage Deposit $100.00 
 

ALL FACILITIES KEY/COMBINATION LOCK DEPOSITS 

 
Refundable Key Deposit $125.00 
 

PITCHING MACHINE  

 
Redcliff Teams (Ladies & Little League)  $5.00 
 
All other groups $20.00 
Refundable Security Deposit $20.00 
  

PORTABLE SOUND SYSTEM 

 
Daily Rental No Charge 
Security Deposit $100.00 
 

PORTABLE STAGE 

 
Daily Rental No Charge 
Security Deposit $500.00 
 
MEALS ON WHEELS 
 
Billed Cost per Meal  $5.50 
 
 
HOME CARE SERVICE PROVIDER SUBSIDY – (Effective May 1, 2013 – April 30, 2014) 
 

COST  1 PERSON / YEAR * 2 PEOPLE / YEAR * 

$15.00 Less than $20.700 Less than $32,600 

37



Page 10 of Bylaw No. 1752 1759/2013 
 

 

$18.00 $20,701 – $25,100 $32,601 – $40,800 

No Subsidy Over $25,000. Over $40,800 
 

 
 
HOME CARE SERVICE PROVIDER SUBSIDY – (Effective May 1, 2014) 
 

COST  1 PERSON / YEAR * 2 PEOPLE / YEAR * 

$15.00 Less than $21,400 Less than $33,700 

$18.00 $21,401 – $25,800 $33,701 – $41,900 

No Subsidy Over $25,800. Over $41,901 
 

 
 
 
*  Net Family Income 

PUBLIC SERVICES 
 
CEMETERY 
 
Plot  $450.00 
Cremation Plot $150.00 
Columbarium Niche $800.00  
Opening and Closing  $450.00 
Placing Urn $200.00 
Columbarium Opening and Closing $200.00 
Saturday Burial  $340.00 (Additional) 
Holiday Burial      $340.00 (Additional) 
After Hours Burial * $150.00 (Additional) 
Children up to 6 years Opening and Closing $150.00 
Setup of Tent  $50.00 
  
* After hours shall be any time after regular closing time for Public Services Department 
  
Note:  Graveliners are mandatory, and will be provided by the Town of Redcliff at cost as outlined in 

Cemetery Bylaw. 
 
EQUIPMENT 
 
Equipment for Custom Work Rate per hour (Includes Operator) 
 

38



Page 11 of Bylaw No. 1752 1759/2013 
 

 

Backhoe $90.00  
Excavator $125.00  
Excavator with hammer $170.00  
3 Ton Truck $80.00  
Tandem Truck $95.00  
Grader $125.00  
Sweeper $90.00 
Sewer truck  $100.00 
½ Ton truck $45.00 
  
Riding Mowers  $50.00 
  
Custom Services $35.00 plus cost 
Skid Steer Loader  $75.00  
Small Equipment (mowers, pumps, etc.) $50.00 
  
Laborer $45.00 
 
 
LANDFILL (effective January 1, 2013) 
 
General Fees  
 
Up to 250 kg’s (550 lbs.) $7.00 
 
Over 250 kg’s $31.00/1,000 kg’s 
Over 250 kg’s $34.00/1,000 kg’s 
 
 
Town of Redcliff & Cypress County * $15.50/ 1,000 kg’s 
Town of Redcliff & Cypress County * $17.00/ 1,000 kg’s 
 
 
Special Waste requiring Class 2 site $39.50 / 1,000 kg’s 
Special Waste requiring Class 2 site $42.50 / 1,000 kg’s 
 
 
Special Materials Disposal Fee ** At Cost 
 
Clean Fill *** No Charge 
 
Minimum Flat Rates (apply during Power Outages) 
 
Less than 1 (one) Ton vehicle $7.00(current minimum) 
 
1 Ton vehicle $41.00 
1 Ton vehicle $45.00 
 
 
Over 1 Ton vehicle $46.00 
Over 1 Ton vehicle $50.00 
 
 

39



Page 12 of Bylaw No. 1752 1759/2013 
 

 

Contract Haulers 
  
Semi-Trailers $400.00 
 
Front End Dumps $120.00 
 
Roll off Containers $60.00 
 
Other Rates 
 
Surcharge for inadequately restrained loads $20.00  
 
Refrigeration and Air Conditioning Equipment $50.00 per unit 
without confirmation of ozone depleting substances removed 
 
* Garbage hauled on behalf of Cypress County will be charged at the rate for Cypress County, 
conditional to the bins being easily identifiable as Cypress County bins with their location.   Billing for 
tonnage will be billed directly to Cypress County and not through the carrier. 
 
** Based on approved equipment and manpower rates and any costs of materials and/or parts required 
to provide the extra handling, treatment or burial of wastes of an extraordinary nature. 
 
*** Clean fill material must be suitable for cover material at the Landfill and will be accepted at the 
discretion of the Landfill Operator.  The material must be free of concrete, asphalt, organics, liquids, 
hydrocarbons, or any hazardous material identified in the Alberta Waste Control Regulation. 
 
WATER AND SEWER SERVICE INSTALLATIONS 
 
BASE RATES 
 
Water Service Only 

 1” 1½” 2” 
Material Costs $1,150.00   $1,775.00 $2,400.00   
Labour  $1,900.00  $1,900.00  $1,900.00   
TOTAL $3,050.00   $3,675.00   $4,300.00   
 
 
4 Inch Sanitary Service Only  

 4” 
Material Costs $350.00     
Labour $1,900.00   
TOTAL $2,250.00  
 
 
Water and 4 Inch Sanitary Service Installed Simultaneously  

 1” 1½” 2” 
Material Costs $1,475.00   $2,125.00   $2,775.00   
Labour $2,275.00   $2,275.00   $2,275.00   
TOTAL $3,750.00   $4,400.00   $5,050.00   
 
 

40



Page 13 of Bylaw No. 1752 1759/2013 
 

 

Oversized Water and Sewer Services 
The fee for the installation of any oversized water and sewer service will be determined at the time of 
request by the Public Services Department. 
 
Storm Sewer Service 
The fee for the installation of any storm sewer service will be established at the time of request and 
determined by the Public Services Department. 
 
Residential/Commercial 
Other costs; such as asphalt replacement, concrete replacement, or day lighting services to be 
determined at the time of request by the Public Services Department. 
 
 
 
* NOTE 
1. Rates are for installation of services during normal construction season.  Costs for installing services 

during winter conditions will be established at the time of request and determined by the Public 
Services Department.   
 

2. Material and labour costs for water and sewer service installations exceeding the sizes stipulated 
herein (whereas such service has been approved by Council) shall be based on actual costs plus 
10%. 

 
 
SANITARY SEWER CONNECTION FEE 
 
An additional sanitary sewer connection fee is to be charged to the following properties for installation of 
sanitary sewer main on a portion of 4th Street NE.  No local improvement bylaw was undertaken as a 
result of property owners not wanting the cost allocated to their property taxes as a local improvement 
tax.   
 

 Lot 44, Block 107, Plan 8210827     $2,941.04 
 Lot 45, Block 107, Plan 8210827     $2,789.44 
 Lot 41, Block 108, Plan 8210827     $2,248.68 
 Lots 17-20, Block 108, Plan 1117V     $3,032.00 
 Lots 11-16, Block 108, Plan 1117V     $4,548.00 

 

FIRE DEPARTMENT 
 
Inspection Services  
 
Regular Program Inspections (Original and Follow-up) No Charge 
(Scheduled per QMP) 
 
Non-Regular Program Inspections (Original and Follow-up) $30.00 
(Daycares occupancy, loans, etc.) 
 
Third and subsequent Inspections $50.00 
(When required by Inspector) 
 

41



Page 14 of Bylaw No. 1752 1759/2013 
 

 

Cypress County  
 
As per current fire agreement between Town of Redcliff and Cypress County 
 
Equipment and Material Fees 
 
Pumper Unit (includes 3 men) $400.00/ hour* 
Rescue Unit (includes 2 men) $400.00/ hour* 
Prairie Fire Truck (4x4 Ton with 2 men) $400.00/ hour* 
Firefighters At Cost* 
Materials Used Replacement Cost 
Special Equipment Cost plus 10% 
Administration Fee $25.00 
 
Documentation Requests 
 
Fire reports $25.00 each 
Photographs $10.00 per print 
Inspection report $25.00 each 

42



BYLAW NO.  1730/2012  1761/2013 
OF THE TOWN OF REDCLIFF 

IN THE PROVINCE OF ALBERTA 
 

 
A BYLAW OF THE TOWN OF REDCLIFF to provide for the levying, collecting of charges and rates 
for water service. 
 
AND WHEREAS the Municipal Government Act authorizes a Council to pass Bylaws respecting 
public utilities, 
 
NOW THEREFORE THE MUNICIPAL COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF REDCLIFF IN THE PROVINCE 
OF ALBERTA IN COUNCIL ASSEMBLED ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 
 
 
TITLE 
 
1. This Bylaw shall be known and may be cited as the "Water Rates Bylaw" of the Town of 

Redcliff and comes into force on the 1st day of January,  20134. 
 
 
INTERPRETATION AND DEFINITIONS 
 
2. In this Bylaw: 
 

a) “BULK WATER STATION” shall mean the site located within the Town of Redcliff 
where bulk purchases of water may be obtained from a metered facility. 

 
b) "COUNCIL" shall mean The Municipal Council of the Town of Redcliff. 

 
c)  “DUE DATE” shall mean the date shown on the billing that all rates, fees, and 

charges are due and payable. 
 
d) "M3" shall mean the measure of volume of one cubic meter. 

 
e) "MULTI-UNIT BUILDING" shall mean a building which has more than one (1) self-

contained business, residence or combination of both. 
 
f) “PORTABLE HYDRANT METER” shall mean a water meter that attaches to a fire 

hydrant for the purpose of allowing bulk purchases of water. 
 

g) “SATISFACTORY CREDIT HISTORY” shall mean a customer who has not been on 
the shutoff list and has paid their utility billings on time for the previous twelve (12) 
months. 

 
h) "TENANT" shall mean anyone other than the owner of a property. 

 
i) "TOWN" shall mean the Municipal Corporation of the Town of Redcliff. 

 
j) "WATER VALVE ENCUMBRANCE" shall mean the device used to seal a water valve 

that has been tampered with on a continuing basis. 
 
 

43



Bylaw No.  1730/2012 1761/2013       Page 2  
 
 

TREATED WATER RATES WITHIN TOWN LIMITS 
 
3. Every person, firm or corporation being the registered owner, occupant or purchaser entitled to 

possession of property within The Town Limits which is served directly or indirectly by a 
service connection to the Town water Distribution system, shall require a water meter and 
shall pay to the Town the following water rates, payable monthly or bi-monthly at the discretion 
of the Council: 

Residential 

 Monthly Rate Bi-Monthly Rate 

Admin Component $ 3.80 $ 7.60 

Capital Component $ 26.25 $ 52.50 

Total $ 30.05 $ 60.10 

 
Non-Residential 

 Monthly Rate Bi-Monthly Rate 

Admin Component $ 3.80 $ 7.60 

Capital Component $ 35.58 $ 71.16 

Total $ 39.38 $ 78.76 

 
Greenhouse 

 Monthly Rate Bi-Monthly Rate 

Admin Component $ 3.80 $ 7.60 

Capital Component $ 133.64 $ 267.28 

Total $ 137.44 $ 274.88 

 
 

 
Monthly 

Minimum 
Rate 

Monthly Minimum 
Consumption 

Bi-Monthly 
Minimum 

Rate 

Bi-Monthly Minimum 
Consumption 

  
 Metric   M3 Imperial 

Gal. 
 
 Metric   M3 Imperial 

Gal. 

Residential $ 40.70 20.0 4,400 $ 81.40 40.0 8,800 

Non-Residential $ 41.65 22.5 5,000 $ 83.30 45.0 10,000 

44



Bylaw No.  1730/2012 1761/2013       Page 3  
 
 

 
4 Any water consumed in excess of the designated monthly or bi-monthly minimum volume shall 

be charged to the customer at the rate of $ 0.65 $ 0.85 per M3.or $ 2.96 per 1,000 gallons. 
 
3.2 In addition a surcharge of $.10 per M3 or $.45 per 1,000 gallons shall be charged to the 

customer after each of three increments of 22.5 M3 or 5,000 gallons over and above 22.5 M3 
or 5,000 gallons monthly or 45.0 M3 or 10,000 gallons bi-monthly. 

  
(a) The rate for water consumed on a separate metered garden water service shall be 

$0.65 per M3 or $ 2.96 per 1,000 gallons and shall be payable monthly or bi-monthly at 
the discretion of the Council. 

 
5 Owners of Multi-unit buildings shall receive one (1) water service from the Town of Redcliff to 

service the entire building. The owners of a Multi-unit building shall receive one water  meter to 
service the entire building, additional meters may be purchased at the cost of the owner.  The 
owners of the Multi-unit building shall be charged the minimum monthly or bi-monthly rate as 
designated per unit in the building.  

 
3.4 Building(s) presently without meters, customers shall be charged a flat rate of $ 61.05 per 

month or $ 122.10 bi-monthly for each self-contained residential unit or  62.82 per month or $ 
125.64 bi-monthly for each self-contained non-residential unit. 

 
TREATED WATER RATES OUTSIDE TOWN LIMITS 
 
6. Customers outside the Town limits, who are serviced with treated water from the Town, the 

following rates shall apply: shall pay the rates outlined in 3.  
 
 

 
Monthly 

Minimum 
Rate 

 
Monthly 

Minimum 
Consumption 

 
 

 
Bi-Monthly 
Minimum 

Rate 

 
Bi-Monthly 
Minimum 

Consumption 

 
 

 
 

 
Metric 

 
Imperial 

 
 

 
Metric 

 
Imperial 

 
$ 54.46  

 
13.5 M3 

 
3000 gal 

 
$ 108.92  

 
27 M3 

 
6,000 gal 

 
7 Any water consumed in excess of the designated monthly volume shall be charged to the 

customer at the rate of $ 3.03 $ 3.25 per M3. or $ 13.77 per 1,000 gallons.   
  
4.2 In addition a surcharge of $.10 per M3 or $.45 per 1,000 gallons after each of three increments 

of 13.5 M3 or 3,000 gallons over and above the allotted minimum allowed per month, shall be 
charged to the customer. 

 
 

UNTREATED WATER RATES WITHIN TOWN LIMITS 
 
8. Customers within the Town limits who are serviced with untreated water from the Town, the 

following rates shall apply: shall pay the rates outlined in 3. 
 

45



Bylaw No.  1730/2012 1761/2013       Page 4  
 
 

Monthly 
Minimum 

Rate 

Monthly 
Minimum 

Consumption 

 
 

Bi-Monthly 
Minimum 

Rate 

Bi-Monthly 
Minimum 

Consumption 

 
 

 
 

 
Metric 

 
Imperial 

 
 

 
Metric 

 
Imperial 

 
$ 54.46  

 
13.5 M3 

 
3000 gal 

 
$ 108.92  

 
27 M3 

 
6,000 gal 

 
9 Any water consumed in excess of the designated monthly volume shall be charged to the 

customer at the rate of $ 2.44 $ 2.50 per M3. or $ 11.09 per 1,000 gallons. 
 
5.2 In addition a surcharge of $.10 per M3 or $.45 per 1,000 gallons after each of three increments 

of 13.5 M3 or 3,000 gallons over and above the allotted minimum allowed, shall be charged to 
the customer. 

 
BULK WATER 
 
10. For customers utilizing the Bulk Water Station the following rates shall apply:  

 
a) Minimum Monthly Fee of $ 39.81 $ 39.38, plus the cost of water consumed shall be 

charged to the customer at the rate of $ 3.03 $ 3.00 per M3 and will be billed on a bi-
monthly basis. The Town reserves the right to refuse and/or disconnect a Bulk Water 
Station service without notice. 

 
11. Notwithstanding subsections 3, 3.1 and 3.2, Council may direct a person, firm or corporation 

being the registered owner, occupant or purchaser entitled to possession of property within the 
Town Limits which is served directly or indirectly by a service connection to the Town water 
Distribution system, to pay to the Town the following bulk water rates, payable monthly or bi-
monthly at the discretion of the Council: 

 
a) Minimum Monthly Fee of $ 39.81 $ 39.38, plus the cost of water consumed shall be 

charged to the customer at the rate of $ 3.03 $ 3.00 per M3 and will be billed on a bi-
monthly basis. The Town reserves the right to suspend or reduce a bulk water service 
on twenty four (24) hours written notice.  Suspension or reduction of said bulk water 
service shall be determined by the Public Services Director as he deems necessary to 
ensure the adequate supply and delivery of domestic water to the Town of Redcliff 
users.  Failure to abide by any suspension or reduction shall result in termination of 
service without notice. 

 
12. For customers utilizing the Portable Hydrant Meter the following rates shall apply: 

 
a) Minimum Monthly Fee of $ 39.81 $ 39.38, plus the cost of water consumed shall be 

charged to the customer at the rate of $ 3.03 $ 3.00 per M3 and will be billed on a bi-
monthly basis.  A security deposit of $2,000.00 is required and will be refunded upon 
the Portable Hydrant Meter being returned to the Town undamaged.   The Town 
reserves the right to refuse rental of the Portable Hydrant Meter.   

 
 
 
 

46



Bylaw No.  1730/2012 1761/2013       Page 5  
 
 

MISCELLANEOUS RATES 
 
13. The charge for a service call (i.e. water turned on\off) made by the Town during regular work 

hours shall be: 
 

1. Delinquent accounts - shut off - $40.00 $50.00 
2. Delinquent accounts turn on after hours - Effective Call Out Labour Rate 
3. Meter removal for freeze out - $20.00 $30.00 
4. Meter reinstallation - $20.00 $30.00 
5. Frost damaged meter replacement - $20.00 $40.00 plus cost of meter  
  (Approximately $150.00 to $600.00) 

6. Garden service installation and removal - $25.00 $30.00 
7. Service call shut off/on - $6.00 $15.00 
8. Meter Testing - $25.00 $50.00 
9. Installation of remote - $6.00 
10. Temporary Service (during construction only) - $30.00 $40.00 
11. Replace damaged read out - $20.00 $30.00 plus cost  

 (*GST not included in above rates) 
 
14. Any such service requested after regular hours shall be billed to the customer requesting the 

service call, at the effective call-out labour rate applicable. 
 
15. The charge for activating a water valve that has a water service encumbrance attached shall 

pay the sum of $100.00 plus GST for the service call made by the Town to unseal the water 
service encumbrance. 

 
16. Owners or occupants requiring water service from the Town of Redcliff are required to pay a 

sign on fee of $5.00. 
 
 
TEMPORARY WATER SERVICE 
 
17. A temporary water service is available to building contractors to provide them with a limited 

water supply required for construction activities such as concrete work, stuccoing, drywalling, 
and masonry.  The cost for this service is outlined in Section 7. 

 
18. A temporary water service is available for a maximum of sixty (60) days or until: 
 

a) the contractor request the water meter from the Town; or  
 

b) the Town determines that the plumbing is completed to the stage where a water meter 
can be installed, or 

 
c) the temporary water service is being used for something other than what is intended. 

 
19. The Town reserves the right to refuse and/or disconnect a temporary water service without 

further notice. 
 
20. Upon termination of the temporary water service, the owner will be required to make 

application for a standard water service. 

47



Bylaw No.  1730/2012 1761/2013       Page 6  
 
 

DEPOSIT 
 
21. All tenants receiving water service from the Town shall deposit the sum of $100.00 $150.00 

with the Town to be held in trust.  Such deposit shall be paid interest at the rate of zero (0%) 
per cent. 

 
22. The deposit fee shall be returned to the tenant when: 
 

a) The tenant terminates their utility account with the Town and does not enter into an 
account for utility services to another property as a tenant within the Town’s service 
area.  The Town shall read the meter and determine the final billing and the balance of 
any unpaid Town utilities shall be deducted from the deposit fee.  

 
b) Upon application, when a residential tenant or non-residential tenant maintains a 

Satisfactory Credit History for 12 consecutive months. 
 
23. Owners of a single family dwelling wishing to have utility services continue upon the renter 

signing off may complete Schedule 'A' which will have billing revert to the owner from the date 
the renter signs off. 

 
 
PENALTIES 
 
24. In the event a utility invoice: 
 

a) remains unpaid on the 21st day following the due date, there shall be  
added thereto by way of penalty, an amount which shall be two and one  
half percent (21/2 %) of the unpaid current utility invoice.  The said penalty shall be 
added to and shall form part of the unpaid utility invoice. 

 
b) remains unpaid on the 31st day following the due date the Town of Redcliff shall issue a 

water service disconnection notice which shall notify the user that the water service 
may be disconnected on the date specified in the water disconnection notice; however 
the date of disconnection shall not be less than 10 days after the mailing date of the 
water disconnection notice. 

 
25. Water service charges in default including penalties shall constitute a debt owing to the Town 

which may be recovered: 
 

a) By action in a court of competent jurisdiction, or 
 
b) By distress and sale of goods and chattels of the person owing such rates and charges 

wherever they may be found in the municipality, or 
 
c) Where the occupant is the owner or purchaser of a building or lot or part of a lot, the 

sum payable by him for such rates or charges are a preferential lien and charge on the 
building or lot or part of a lot and on the personal property of the debtor and may be 
levied and collected in like manner as municipal rates and taxes recoverable, or 

 
d) Where the occupant is a person other than the owner or purchaser of the building or lot 

48



Bylaw No.  1730/2012 1761/2013       Page 7  
 
 

or part of a lot, the sum payable by the occupant for such rates or charges is a debt 
due by him and shall be a preferential lien and charge on his personal property and 
may be levied and collected with costs by distress. 

 
 
OTHER 
 
26. No person, firm, or corporation within the Town limits which is served directly or indirectly by a 

water main or service by the Town shall obtain a supply of water from any other source without 
the express written consent of the Council. 

 
27. Unless specifically authorized by the Council, only one (1) water service connection shall be 

permitted for any legal parcel. 
 

a) In the event there are any outstanding issues relating to any unresolved utility or 
property related matter, administration may at their discretion withhold the installation 
of any service connection to a parcel and refer the matter to Council for consideration. 

 
28. Errors or omission relating to utility billing may be adjusted to a maximum of six (6) bi-monthly 

billings. 
 
29. This Bylaw shall become effective on the first day of January 20134. 
 
 

REPEAL 
 
30. Bylaw Number 1705/2011 1730/2012 is hereby repealed effective end of day December 31, 
2013 January 1, 2013.  
 
 
 
 
READ a first time this ____ day of ____________, 2013. 
 
READ a second time this ____ day of ____________, 2013. 
 
READ a third time this ____ day of ____________, 2013. 
 
PASSED and SIGNED this _____ day of _______________ 2013. 
 
 
 

___________________________________________ 
MAYOR 

 
____________________________________________ 
MANAGER OF LEGISLATIVE AND LAND SERVICES 

49



Bylaw No.  1730/2012 1761/2013       Page 8  
 
 

  
SCHEDULE 'A' 

 
 
TOWN OF REDCLIFF    

 DATE:______________ 
Utilities Department 
 
 
With reference to tenants vacating property or properties as listed below under the ownership of 
the undersigned, the utilities will automatically be transferred into the property owner’s name. 
 
This letter shall serve as the permission for the Town of Redcliff to sign on utilities in the 
property owners name during vacant periods, without any further notice to the owner. 
 
This procedure is to ensure that the owner is not charged a sign on fee every time the property 
becomes vacant. 
 
PLEASE NOTE: FAILURE TO NOTIFY OUR OFFICE THAT THE LISTED PROPERTY 

OR PROPERTIES HAVE BEEN SOLD WILL RESULT IN YOUR BEING 
RESPONSIBLE FOR ANY UTILITIES CONSUMED DURING VACANT 
PERIODS. 

 
Service Address(es) 1.______________________________ 
 

2.______________________________ 
 

3.______________________________ 
 
Mailing Address:  _______________________________ 

(Owner name) 
 

 _______________________________ 
(Address) 

 
 _______________________________ 

(City / Town) 
 

 _______________________________ 
(Postal Code) 

 
 
Telephone Numbers: ___________ (residence)  ____________ (business) 
 
 

________________________________ 
(OWNERS SIGNATURE) 

50



 BYLAW NO.  1729/2012 1762/2013 
 OF THE TOWN OF REDCLIFF 
 IN THE PROVINCE OF ALBERTA 
 
A BYLAW OF THE TOWN OF REDCLIFF TO PROVIDE FOR THE LEVYING AND 
COLLECTING OF CHARGES AND RATES FOR SEWER SERVICE. 
 
PURSUANT to the provisions of Section 7 of the Municipal Government Act, RSA 2000 Chapter 
M-26.1, the Municipal Council of the Town of Redcliff, duly assembled enacts as follows: 
 
1 This Bylaw shall be known as the "Sewer Rate Bylaw" of the Town of Redcliff. 
 
2 In this Bylaw the following terms shall be defined as follows: 
 

a) "Council" shall mean the Municipal Council of the Town of Redcliff. 
 

b) "DUE DATE" shall mean the date on the billing that all rates, fees, and charges are 
due and payable. 

 
c) "Multi-unit Building" shall mean a building which has more than one (1) self-

contained business, residence or combination of both. 
 

d) "Town" shall mean the Municipal Corporation of the Town of Redcliff. 
 
3 a) Every person, firm or corporation being the registered owner, occupant, or purchaser 

entitled to the possession of property within the Town limits which is serviced directly 
or indirectly by a service connection to the Town's sewage system shall pay to the 
Town the following sewer rates payable monthly or bi-monthly at the discretion of 
Council. 

 
MONTHLY      BI-MONTHLY 
Minimum Rate   Minimum Rate 
Residential  
$ 19.42     $ 38.84 

 
Non-Residential 
$ 23.36     $ 46.72 

 Monthly Bi-Monthly 

Admin Component $ 2.14 $ 4.28 

Capital Component $ 3.60 $ 7.20 

Operating Component $ 25.38 $ 50.76 

Total $ 31.12 $ 62.24 

 
 

b) An additional sewer charge on non-residential customers shall be levied, based on  
200% of the calculated water non-residential surcharge calculation for that billing 

51



Bylaw No.  1729/2012 1762/2013  Page   
 

2 

period.  
 

3.1 a) Exceptional consideration may be made by the Municipal Manager for a reduction in 
cases where it is clearly discernible that:  

 
  i) certain volumes of effluent are not discharged into the sewer system.  This 

reduction shall not exceed 75% of the sewer surcharge. If warranted further 
reductions may be approved by Redcliff Town Council.  Reductions, if warranted, 
shall be limited to the previous three (3) years from the date the written request 
for rebate is received. 

 
 ii) greenhouses are equipped with a bona fide irrigation recirculation system that is 

in ongoing use.  This reduction shall not exceed 90% of the sewer surcharge.  
This reduction is subject to random inspection completed by the Public Services 
Department to ensure that the irrigation recirculation system is in use.  
Reductions, if warranted, shall be from the date the written request for rebate is 
received. 

 
b) In both a) i) and ii), cconsideration for a reduction in the “additional sewer charge” 

shall be subject to clear indication to the Town of Redcliff that the non-residential 
customer has fully complied with all Town of Redcliff Bylaws or Policies relating to 
the disposal of both effluent and surface/roof drainage.  This approval and/or 
continuation thereof, may be subject to verification through an inspection, that the 
site fully complies with proper disposal of sanitary sewer and surface water.  For 
greenhouse applications, connection of surface/roof water must be directed into a 
Storm Sewer System directly via a service connection, or in the event of the site not 
being immediately adjacent to Storm Sewer Infrastructure, in a method acceptable to 
the Town of Redcliff.  

 
4 Owners or occupants requiring sewer service from the Town of Redcliff are required to 

pay a sign on fee of $5.00. 
 
5 a)  Unless specifically authorized by the Council, only one (1) sewer service connection 

shall be permitted for any legal parcel. 
 
 b)  In the event there are any outstanding issues relating to any unresolved utility or 

property related matter, administration may at their discretion withhold the installation 
of any service connection to a parcel and refer the matter to Council for 
consideration. 

 
 c)  Any multi-unit building with one service connection shall be charged the applicable 

minimum rate for each residential or non-residential unit. 
 
6 In the event a utility invoice: 

a) remains unpaid on the 21st day following the due date, there shall be added 
thereto by way of penalty, an amount which shall be two and one half percent (2 
½ %) of the unpaid current utility invoice.  The said penalty shall be added to and 
shall form part of the unpaid utility invoice 

 

52



Bylaw No.  1729/2012 1762/2013  Page   
 

3 

b) remains unpaid on the 31st day following the due date the Town of Redcliff shall 
issue a water service disconnection notice which shall notify the user that the 
water service may be disconnected on the date specified in the water 
disconnection notice; however the date of disconnection shall not be less than 10 
days after the mailing date of the water disconnection notice. 

 
c) Errors or omission relating to utility billing may be adjusted to a maximum of six 

(6) bi-monthly billings. 
 
7 Sewer charges in default shall constitute a debt owing to the Town and may be 

recovered: 
 
 a)  by action in any court of competent jurisdiction; or 
 
 b)  by distress and sale of goods and chattels of the person owing such rates or 

charges wherever they may be found in the municipality; or 
 
 c)  where the occupant is the owner or purchaser of a building, lot or part of a lot, the 

sum payable by him for such rates or charges are a preferential lien and charge 
on the building, lot or part of a lot and on the personal property of the debtor and 
may be levied and collected in like manner as municipal rates and taxes are 
recoverable; or 

 
 d)  where the occupant is a person other than the owner or purchaser of the 

building, lot or part of a lot the sum payable by the occupant for such rates or 
charges is a debt due by him and shall be a preferential lien and charge on his 
personal property and may be levied and collected with costs by distress. 

 
8 Should any clause of this Bylaw be declared invalid that clause shall be deleted but the 

remainder of the Bylaw shall be deemed to be held intact. 
 
9 Town of Redcliff Bylaw 1706/2011 1729/2012 is hereby repealed at the end of the day of 

December 31, 2013. 
 
10 This Bylaw shall be effective January 1, 20134. 
 
 
READ a first time this ____ day of ____________, 2013. 
 
 
READ a second time this ____ day of ____________, 2013. 
 
 
READ a third time this ____ day of ____________, 2013. 
 
 
 
PASSED and SIGNED this _____ day of _______________, 2013. 
 

53



Bylaw No.  1729/2012 1762/2013  Page   
 

4 

 
 
 
     __________________________________________ 

MAYOR 
 
 
 

___________________________________________ 
MANAGER OF LEGISLATIVE AND LAND SERVICES    

54



 BYLAW NO.  1728/2012 1763/2013 
 OF THE TOWN OF REDCLIFF 

IN THE PROVINCE OF ALBERTA 
 

 
BEING A BYLAW OF THE TOWN OF REDCLIFF IN THE PROVINCE OF ALBERTA TO 
PROVIDE FOR THE MAINTENANCE OF A SYSTEM FOR THE COLLECTION, REMOVAL 
AND DISPOSAL OF GARBAGE AND OTHER WASTE AND THE LEVYING OF RATES AND 
CHARGES THEREOF.  
 
WHEREAS, the Municipal Government Act being Chapter M-26 of the Revised Statutes of 
Alberta, 2000, and amendments thereto, provides for the passing of a Bylaw by a Municipal 
Council to establish rules and regulations for the collection and disposal of Garbage and refuse 
from the households, places of business and institutions within the Town; 
 
AND WHEREAS provision is made for a Council to establish rates for the collection, removal 
and disposal of Garbage. 
 
NOW THEREFORE, the Council of the Town of Redcliff, in the Province of Alberta, duly 
assembled, hereby enacts as follows: 
 
Title 
 
1 This Bylaw may be referred to as the "Garbage Rates and Collection Bylaw" of the 

Town of Redcliff, and come into force on the 1st day of January, 20134. 
 
 
Interpretation and Definitions 
 
2 For the purposes of this Bylaw: 
 

a) "Ashes" means the residue left after the combustion of any substance. 
 

b) "Authority" means the Redcliff/Cypress Waste Management Authority. 
 

c) "Automated Collection" means a method of collection of Garbage and Other 
Waste by which a specially equipped vehicle may mechanically pick up and 
empty a specifically designed Bin. 

 
d) "Bin" means a container used for the storage of Garbage and Other Waste, that 

being a metal container with hinged lids. All such containers utilized within the 
Town must be to the satisfaction of the Public Services Director. 

 
e) "Bylaw Enforcement Officer" means the Bylaw Enforcement Officer duly 

appointed by the Council of the Town. 
 
f) "Cart" means a container used for the storage of Garbage and Other Waste, that 

being a container with hinged lids and equipped with wheels for the purposes of 
transporting it to and from the curb of the Dwelling or Other Premises utilizing it. 

 
g) "Collector" means the Person or Persons appointed by the Town for the 

purpose of collecting Garbage and Other Waste. 
 

55



Bylaw No.  1707   1763/2013 Page  
   
 

2  

h) "Council" means the Municipal Council of the Town of Redcliff. 
 

i) "Due Date" shall mean the date on the billing that all rates, fees, and charges 
are due and payable. 

 
j) "Dwelling" means any Premises, including the land upon which Premises are 

located, used or intended to be used for residential purposes within the Town. 
 

k) "Dwelling Unit " means a self contained unit provided with sleeping, washing, 
and cooking facilities, intended for residential use. 

 
l) "Garbage" means all table and kitchen refuse, all waste foods whether of animal 

or vegetable origin, grass clippings, and other like putrescible waste or 
decomposing matter and includes broken dishes, tins, or other refuse which the 
Owner or possessor thereof does not wish to retain or is not retained for any 
useful purpose, but does not include Prohibited Waste. 

 
m) "Highway" means any thoroughfare, street, road, trail, avenue, parkway, 

viaduct, Lane, alley, square, bridge, cross way, or other place, whether publicly 
or privately owned, any part of which the public is ordinarily entitled or permitted 
to use for the passage or parking of vehicles and includes: 

 
-  a sidewalk (including a boulevard portion thereof). 

 
-  a ditch lying adjacent to and parallel with the roadway. 

 
-  the area where a Highway right-of-way is contained between 

fences or between a fence and one side of the roadway, all of the 
land between the fence and the edge of the roadway, or as the 
case may be, 

 
but does not include: 

 
-  a place declared by the Lieutenant Governor in Council not to be a 

Highway. 
 

n) "Lane" means a public roadway which provides a secondary means of direct 
access to abutting lots. 

 
o) "Nuisance" means any act or deed, or omission, or thing, which is, or could 

reasonably be expected to be annoying, troublesome, destructive, harmful, 
inconvenient, unsanitary, unsightly, unsafe or injurious to another Person and/or 
his property. 

 
p) "Other Premises" means all premises other than Dwellings, including the land 

upon which the premises is located, which is used for other than residential 
purposes. 

 

56



Bylaw No.  1707   1763/2013 Page  
   
 

3  

q) "Other Waste" means non-putrescible waste or non-decomposing matter which 
the Owner or possessor thereof does not wish to retain or is not retained for any 
useful purpose, but does not include Prohibited Waste. 

 
r) "Owner" means the registered Owner or an occupant having control or apparent 

control of a Dwelling or Other Premises. 
 

s) "Person" shall mean a natural Person, body corporate, proprietor, association, 
society, or partnership. 

 
t) "Private Bin" means a container used for the storage of Garbage and Other 

Waste, that being a metal container with hinged lids and which is owned by a 
private individual or company who has a signed contract with the Town of 
Redcliff for pickup of the Bin . All such  containers utilized within the Town must 
be to the satisfaction of the Public Services Director. 

 
u)     "Prohibited Waste" means: 

 
(i) liquid wastes, dead animals or dead animal parts, petroleum products, 

industrial residue, discarded furniture, automobile parts, major 
appliances, sod, concrete, soil, inflammable waste, explosive waste; 

 
(ii) biological waste, hazardous waste, pathological waste and radioactive 

waste as defined pursuant to the Public Health Act and its regulations; 
and 

 
(iii) other materials, the collection of which are potentially dangerous to 

collection Personnel. 
 

v) "Public Services Director" means the Public Services Director, properly 
designated by the Council of the Town. 

 
w) "Town" means the Municipal Corporation of The Town of Redcliff. 

 
y) "Waste Collection Services" means the services provided pursuant to this 

Bylaw. 
 

3 For the purpose of this Bylaw the following classifications of refuse shall be used: 
 

a)  Garbage 
 

b) Other Waste 
 

c) Prohibited Waste 
 
4 For the purpose of this Bylaw the following classification of Premises shall be used: 
 

a)  Dwelling 
 

b) Other Premises 

57



Bylaw No.  1707   1763/2013 Page  
   
 

4  

 
Authorization of Management 
 
5 The Public Services Director is hereby authorized to do all things necessary in 

order to fulfil their responsibilities and duties under this Bylaw, including entering 
into administrative contracts with persons for the collection of Garbage and Other 
Waste. 

 
 
General Prohibitions and Requirements 
 
6 No Person shall: 
 

a) Interfere with the Town's collection and disposal of Garbage and Other Waste 
pursuant to this Bylaw. 

 
b) Impede or restrict access to the areas where a Bin is located permanently, or a 

Cart is to be placed temporarily for collection. 
 

c) Interfere with or disturb the contents of any Bin or Cart after it has been placed 
for collection.   

 
d) Relocate or alter in any way the placement of any Bin. 

 
e) Place refuse upon any Highway. 

 
7 The Owner of a Dwelling or a Other Premises shall be responsible to: 
 

a) Prevent the accumulation of Garbage or Other Waste at that Dwelling or Other 
Premises such that the accumulation creates a Nuisance. 

 
b) Dispose of all Garbage and Other Waste in such a manner as to not create a 

Nuisance. 
c) Dispose of in a proper manner at an approved site any Prohibited Waste for 

which the Town does not provide for the collection and disposal. 
 
8   Owners of Dwellings and Other Premises from which the Town is to collect Garbage or 

Other Waste, shall place any such Garbage or Other Waste in Bins and Carts as follows: 
 

a) For Owners of Dwellings by placing all Garbage or Other Waste for collection in a 
Bin or Cart provided by the Town.  

 
b) For Owners of Other Premises by placing all Garbage or Other Waste for 

collection in a Bin or Cart for collection either by the Town or by a licensed 
contractor that has the Authority of the Town to operate an Automated Collection 
refuse service within the Town. 

 
c) Cutting all shrubbery and tree clippings in lengths of not more than one (1) metre 

in length and place them in Bins or Carts provided. 
 

58



Bylaw No.  1707   1763/2013 Page  
   
 

5  

d) Depositing all Garbage in non-returnable plastic bags and placing them in Bins or 
Carts provided. 
 

e) Depositing all Other Waste directly into the Bins or Carts provided. 
 

9 No Owner shall place any Garbage or Other Waste for collection where the material or 
the method of its packaging may be hazardous to the Collector. 

 
10 No Owner or occupant of any Other Premises shall deposit any Garbage, Other Waste 

or any refuse in any Bin or Cart other than a Bin or Cart that has been provided 
exclusively for that particular Other Premises. 

 
11 No Person shall deposit any Garbage or Other Waste, the origin of which is from outside 

the Town in any Bin or Cart located within the Municipal boundaries of the Town. 
  
12 No Person shall deposit any Prohibited Waste in any Bin  or Cart. 
 
13 All Bins and Carts provided by the Town are and remain the property of the Town.  No 

Person shall at any time move, remove or locate any Bin or Cart, except at the directions 
of the Town, or in accordance with section 10 above. 

 
 
Duties of Collectors 

 
14 Collectors shall replace emptied Bins and Carts in approximately the same location 

where picked up. 
 
15  Collectors shall not pick, sort over, or remove any waste from the collection vehicle or 

the Bins or Carts except as directed by the Public Services Director. 
 
16 The Public Services Director shall schedule the collection of Garbage and Other Waste 

pursuant to this Bylaw.  Generally, such collection shall be once per week at a day and 
time determined by the Public Services Director. 

 
17   Except for where special arrangements have been made with the Public Services 

Director the Town shall not be responsible for the collection of refuse other than 
Garbage or Other Waste. 
 

18 Where a Dwelling or Other Premises is not served by a Lane or where other special 
conditions exist such as unimproved Lanes, or steep grades, that make collection 
impractical or hazardous, then the Town may: 

 
(a) determine that the collection location of a Bin is at some place other than a Lane; 

or 
 
 

(b) provide a Cart for the purpose of depositing Garbage and Other Waste.  Any 
such Cart shall be delivered to the front curb and placed by the Owner prior to 
8:00 a.m. on the Collection Day in a manner prescribed by the Public Services 
Director.  After the contents of the Cart have been removed by the Town, the 

59



Bylaw No.  1707   1763/2013 Page  
   
 

6  

Owner shall, prior to 8:00 p.m. on the Collection Day, return the Cart to the 
Dwelling or Other Premises. 

    
 
Transportation 
 
19 A Person shall not use or permit to be used any vehicle for the conveyance or storage of 

waste unless such vehicle is fitted with a suitable cover capable of preventing the 
dropping, spilling or blowing off of waste while it is being transported or stored.  

 
 
Collection of Garbage and Other Waste from Dwellings: 
 
20 Unless the Dwelling is otherwise exempt the Town shall collect Garbage and Other 

Waste from the Dwelling, and shall provide Garbage Bins, or Carts for all Dwellings. The 
Town shall assess collection levies for this collection in accordance with Section 29 
below.   

 
21 In situations where the Owner of a multi-unit Dwelling has made a written contractual 

arrangement with an approved contractor for the collection of Garbage and Other Waste, 
any such Owner may upon providing the Town with copies of contractual arrangements 
and upon the Town's consent, be exempt from the levies charged pursuant to Schedule 
"B" of this Bylaw until the final date of any contractual arrangement has expired. 

 
22 In situations where the Owner of a Dwelling carries on a Home Occupation use, as 

defined in the Town's Land Use Bylaw whether  or not the Owner has obtained an 
appropriate development permit, then if in the Public Services Director's opinion the 
waste and other refuse generated at the Dwelling is excessive then the Town may 
provide the Dwelling with a greater size and/or number of Bins or Carts, and shall 
assess collection levies for this collection at rates equal to those imposed under 
Schedule "A" upon Owners of Other Premises receiving similar services. 

 
23 Where a premises contains one or more Dwellings, and one or more Other Premises, 

the Owner of the Dwelling may apply for the exemption pursuant to Schedule "B".  The 
Public Services Director may, upon application by the Owner of the Dwelling, exempt the 
Dwelling from provision of Waste Collection Services as well as relevant rates.   

 
 
Collection of Garbage and Other Waste from Other Premises 
 
24 Unless the Other Premise is otherwise exempt the Town shall collect Garbage and 

Other Waste from the Other Premise, and shall provide Garbage Bins, or Carts for all 
Other Premise. The Town shall assess collection levies for this collection in accordance 
with Section 29 below.   

 
 
25 The Town may enter into additional contracts with Owners of Other Premises for the 

collection of the whole or part of their Garbage and Other Waste within the Town and the 
contract must be for a minimum of twelve (12) months in order for the Town to plan for 

60



Bylaw No.  1707   1763/2013 Page  
   
 

7  

orderly development of the system. The Town shall assess collection levies for this 
collection in accordance with Section 29 below 

 
8.2 Owners of Other Premises may select sizes of Bins and Carts at the applicable 

monthly pick-up rates as offered by the Town and enter into an agreement as per 
Schedule "C" of this Bylaw for collection services.  The selection of the size of Bin shall 
be for a minimum 12 month period commitment in order for the Town to plan for orderly 
development of the system. 

 
8.3 Owners of Other Premises shall pay consideration for such contracts, as set out in 

Schedule "A". 
 
26 In situations where the Owner of an Other Premises has made a written contractual 

arrangement with an approved contractor for the collection of Garbage and Other Waste, 
any such Owner may upon providing the Town with copies of contractual arrangements 
and upon the Town's consent, be exempt from the levies charged pursuant to Schedule 
"B" of this Bylaw until the final date of any contractual arrangement has expired. 

 
Burning 
 
27 No Person shall burn any waste unless such burning is in accordance with the Town of 

Redcliff Burning Bylaw, as amended, and Provincial and Federal laws. 
 
 
Other Considerations 
 
28 All Garbage and Other Waste placed for collection pursuant to the terms of this Bylaw 

becomes the property of the Town. 
 
 
Collection Levies and Rates 
 
29 Effective January 1,  20134, the Town shall levy on each Dwelling or Other Premises, 

such rates for Waste Collection Services, as set out in Schedule "A" of this Bylaw, 
unless that Dwelling or Other Premises is otherwise exempt.  The Owner is responsible 
for paying this levy when billed on a monthly or bi-monthly basis. 

 
30 In the event a utility invoice: 
 

a) remains unpaid on the 21st day following the due date, there shall be  
added thereto by way of penalty, an amount which shall be two and one  
half percent (2 ½ %) of the unpaid current utility invoice.  The said penalty shall 
be added to and shall form part of the unpaid utility invoice 

 
b) remains unpaid on the 31st day following the due date the Town of Redcliff shall 

issue a disconnection notice which shall notify the user that the service may be 
discontinued on the date specified in the disconnection notice; however that date 
shall not be less than 10 days after the mailing date of the disconnection notice. 

 

61



Bylaw No.  1707   1763/2013 Page  
   
 

8  

31 Waste Collection Services Charges rendered pursuant to section 29 in default shall 
constitute a debt owing to the Town which may be recovered. 
 
a)    By action in any court of competent jurisdiction, or 

 
b)    By distress and sale of goods and chattels of the Person owing such rates or 

charges wherever they may be found in the municipality, or 
 

c) Where the occupant is the Owner or purchaser of a building, a lot, or part of a lot, 
the sum payable by him for such rates or charges are a preferential lien and 
charge on the building or lot or part of a lot and on the personal property of the 
debtor and may be levied and collected in like manner as municipal rates and 
taxes are recoverable, or 

 
d) Where the occupant is a Person other than the Owner or purchaser of the 

building or lot, or part of a lot the sum payable by the occupant for such rates or 
charges is a debt due by him and shall be a preferential lien and charge on his 
personal property and may be levied and collected with costs by distress. 

 
32 Errors or omissions relating to utility billing may be adjusted to a maximum of six (6) bi-

monthly billings. 
 
 
Interpretation 
 
33 Nothing in this Bylaw shall be deemed to supersede or repeal the provisions of The 

Regulation of Burning Bylaw of the Town of Redcliff, as amended and the Nuisance 
Bylaw, as amended. 

 
34 Except as expressly provided herein, nothing in this Bylaw shall be deemed to 

supersede or contradict relevant Provincial or Federal laws including legislation, 
regulations, and permits granted there under and, where provisions of this Bylaw are 
inconsistent with the relevant Provincial and Federal laws, those provisions under this 
Bylaw shall be of no force and effect. 

 
35 If any provision of this Bylaw is declared or held to be invalid, that provision shall be 

deemed to be severed, and the remainder of the Bylaw shall remain in force and effect. 
 
 
Penalties: 
 
36 Any Person who contravenes any provision of this Bylaw is guilty of an offence and is 

liable upon summary conviction to a fine of: 
 

a) Not less than $50.00 and not more than $500.00 for a first offence; or 
 

b) Not less than $100.00 and not more than $1,000.00 for subsequent offenses; 
 
37 No Person found guilty of an offence pursuant to this Bylaw shall be liable to 

imprisonment. 

62



Bylaw No.  1707   1763/2013 Page  
   
 

9  

 
38 Any Person who contravenes any provision of this Bylaw is guilty of an offence and may 

be issued a Violation Tag in a form acceptable to the Town with a penalty amount of 
$50.00 for each offence.   

 
39 Prosecution under the Provincial Offences Procedures Act may be avoided if payment of 

the penalty is made to the Town as specified on the Violation Tag. 
 
40 For a continuing offence, each day may be considered a new offence, and a proceeding 

under the Provincial Offenses Procedure Act may be commenced and a Violation Tag 
may be issued for each day that the violation continues. 

 
 
41 Town of Redcliff Bylaw No. 1707/2011 1728/2012 is hereby repealed at the end of the 

day of December 31, 2013. 
 
42 This Bylaw shall be effective January 1, 20134. 
 
 
READ a first time this ____ day of ____________,  2013. 
 
 
READ a second time this ____ day of ____________,  2013. 
 
 
READ a third time this  ____ day of ____________, 2013. 
 
 
 
PASSED and SIGNED this _____ day of _______________,  2013. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 ___________________________________________ 
 MAYOR                        

 
 
 
     
 ____________________________________________                
 MANAGER OF LEGISLATIVE AND LAND SERVICES 
  

63



Bylaw No.  1707   1763/2013 Page  
   
 

10  

TOWN OF REDCLIFF 
 BYLAW  NO. ####/2013 
 SCHEDULE A - RATES 
 
As provided for under Section 29 the following levies shall be charged by the Town for the 
collection and disposal of Garbage and Other Waste in the Town. 
 
Dwellings 
 
For each Dwelling Unit within a property there shall be charged the following: 
 

$  9.07 per unit.  
 
$  7.55 per unit (8 units and over) 
 

 Monthly Bi-Monthly 

Admin Component $ 1.14 $ 2.28 

Capital Component $ 2.90 $ 5.80 

Operating Component $ 3.58 $ 7.16 

Total $ 7.62 $ 15.24 

 
 
Other Premises 
 
Other Premises shall be required to have separate Town OWNED Garbage Bins and or Carts to 
be for their use exclusively and shall be charged the following monthly rates for Garbage and 
Other Waste pick-up and disposal:  
 

Town OWNED Bins 
 

3 cubic yard Bin or Bins (each)  $ 60.39 per month 
 

1.5 cubic yard Bin or Bins (each)  $ 38.91 per month 
 

3 Cubic Yard Bins (each) Monthly Bi-Monthly 

Admin Component $ 1.14 $ 2.28 

Capital Component $ 2.90 $ 5.80 

Operating Component $ 62.39 $ 124.78 

Total $ 66.43 $ 132.86 

 

64



Bylaw No.  1707   1763/2013 Page  
   
 

11  

Existing 1.5 Cubic Yard Bins 
(each) (no longer available) 

Monthly Bi-Monthly 

Admin Component $ 1.14 $ 2.28 

Capital Component $ 2.90 $ 5.80 

Operating Component $ 46.80 $ 93.60 

Total $ 50.84 $ 101.68 

 
 
Sign On Fee 
 
Owners or occupants requiring garbage service from the Town of Redcliff are required to pay a 
sign on fee of $5.00. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

65



Bylaw No.  1707   1763/2013 Page  
   
 

12  

TOWN OF REDCLIFF 
BYLAW NO. ####/2013 

SCHEDULE "B" - APPLICATION FOR EXEMPTION 
 
 
Date:   _______________________________                                   
 
I\We                                                                                                        being the  
             (Applicant’s Name(s) - please print) 
                                                                                                                                            
 ( Owner, occupant, lessee, purchaser or authorized Person(s)) 
 
located at                                                                     hereby apply to be exempted from  

(Civic Address)  
 
Waste Collection Service Charges by the Town of Redcliff at the above Location effective 
____________________ 20__  . 
    
 
     (Note: Effective dates prior to the 15th of any month shall be prorated and charged 50% 

of the remaining period of any given month. Effective dates after the 15th of any month 
shall be prorated and charged 100% of the full monthly rate for any remaining period.) 

 
The Town may, at its discretion, upon seven (7) days written notice, cancel this application and 
charge rates provided for in the Garbage Bylaw as amended. 
 
This application is not transferable. 
 
Expiry Provision 
 
The application for extension shall automatically expire on                           , 20__  . 

(*Note: Expiry provision is to be used in conjunction with sections 21 and 26) 
 
 
 
______________________________________                                                
Signature (Applicant) 
 
 
 _____________________________________                                                  
Signature Public Services Director or designate 
(signifying Town’s acceptance) 

66



Bylaw No.  1707   1763/2013 Page  
   
 

13  

TOWN OF REDCLIFF 
BYLAW NO. ####/2013 

 SCHEDULE "C" - APPLICATION FOR ADDITIONAL BINS (Other Premises) 
 
I                                                                      do hereby apply to the Town of Redcliff to 
       (Applicant name - please print ) 
 
have the Town supply to my place of business,______________________________________                                                                

(Business name) 
 
being located at                                                    ,  the use of                 Bins of 

(Civic Address)                                        (number) 
 
the following size(s)           ,       to be used solely for the collection of Garbage 
 
and Other Waste originating from the above specified place of business. 
 
I hereby commit to paying charges as levied pursuant to the Garbage Bylaw for a minimum 
period of one twelve (12) months from the first billing period assessed by the Town. I 
understand that within this period I may request the Town to provide additional Bins at the rates 
specified in the Garbage Bylaw however at no time within the specified twelve (12) month period 
shall I have the option of having an alternative as to the herein applied for Bin size(s).  This 
being conditional to the Public Services Director approval. 
 
Application date: _____________________ , 20____. 
 
Effective date:     ____________________   , 20____. 
 
Utility Sign on Application Number _______________. 
 
 
 
________________________________________                                         
Signature (Applicant) 
 
 
 
________________________________________                                                                                
Signature (Public Services Director or Designate) 
(signifying Town’s acceptance) 
 
 

 

67



BYLAW NO. 1760/2013 
OF THE TOWN OF REDCLIFF 

IN THE PROVINCE OF ALBERTA 
 

 
A BYLAW OF THE TOWN OF REDCLIFF IN THE PROVINCE OF ALBERTA FOR THE 
PURPOSE OF AMENDING BYLAW 1698/2011 BEING THE REDCLIFF LAND USE BYLAW: 
 
WHEREAS the lands described as  
 
  Legal Description    Civic Address 
  Lot 3, Block 3, Plan 7911064   221 Saskatchewan Drive NE  
 
(herein referred to as "Subject Land A”, is presently designated H Horticultural District under the 
Town of Redcliff Land Use Bylaw;  
 
AND WHEREAS it is proposed that ‘Subject Land ‘A’ be designated I-1 Light Industrial District. 
‘Subject Land A’  is located as indicated on the following map. 

 

 
 

 

AND WHEREAS copies of this bylaw and related documents were made available for 
inspection by the Public at the Municipal Office as required by the Municipal Government Act 
R.S.A. 2000, Ch. M-26; 
 
AND WHEREAS a public hearing with respect to this bylaw was held in the Council Chambers 
at the Town of Redcliff on the ________ day of ____________, A.D. 20____. 
 
 
NOW THEREFORE THE MUNICIPAL COUNCIL OF THE TOWN OF REDCLIFF IN COUNCIL 
ASSEMBLED ENACTS AS FOLLOWS: 
 
1. This bylaw may be cited as the Town of Redcliff Land Use Amending Bylaw 1760/2013. 
 
 
 
 

68



Bylaw No. 1760/2013       Page  
 
 

2 

2. The land described as  
 
  Legal Description    Civic Address 
  Lot 3, Block 3, Plan 7911064   221 Saskatchewan Drive NE  

 
is hereby designated I-1 Light Industrial District  
 

3. This bylaw shall come into force on the date of final reading and signing thereof. 
 
 
READ a first time the ________ day of ________________, 2013. 
 
 
READ a second time the ________ day of ________________, _______. 
 
 
READ a third time the ________ day of ________________, _______. 
 
 
PASSED and SIGNED the ________ day of ________________, _______. 
 
 
 
 
     __________________________________________ 

MAYOR 
 
 
 

___________________________________________ 
MANAGER OF LEGISLATIVE AND LAND SERVICES    

 

69



70



71



72



73



74



75



Page 1  POLICY NO. 2013 2008-58 
 

Approved by Council – November 10, 2008 
 

Display of Flags 
 

BACKGROUND 

The Town of Redcliff has several locations for display of flags on flagpoles within the Town of 
Redcliff and a policy of orderly display of flags is needed.   
 
Flags are symbols that identify people belonging to a group.  The National Flag of Canada and 
the flags of the provinces and territories are symbols of honor and pride for all Canadians.  They 
should be treated with respect.   
 
The manner in which flags may be displayed in Canada is not governed by any legislation but by 
established practice.   
 
The rules applied by the federal government are not mandatory for individuals or organizations; 
they may serve as guidelines for all person who wish to display the Canadian Flag and other 
flags in Canada.    

POLICY  

 
In displaying the National Flag, the Town of Redcliff shall follow the protocol “Flag Etiquette in 
Canada” and “Rules for Flying the Flag” as established by the Government of Canada 
Department of Canadian Heritage. 
 
 
The Town of Redcliff shall follow the practice established by the federal government in 
displaying the National Flag.   
 
Where there is a single flag pole only the Canadian Flag shall be flown. 
 
Where there are two flag poles the Canadian and Town Flags shall be flown with the Canadian 
Flag on the left as you face the main entrance of the building. 
 
Where there are three flag poles the Canadian Flag shall be in the centre with the Town Flag on 
the left and Provincial Flag on the right as you face the main entrance to the building. 
 
Should the Town be requested to fly a flag, pennant or banner for some special organization for 
a specified length of time, this flag, pennant or banner shall be flown on the same pole as the 
Town of Redcliff Flag but shall be placed directly below the Town of Redcliff Flag. 
 
All flags shall be maintained in a good condition and shall be immediately replaced upon 
becoming torn or frayed. 
 
 
 
 

76



Page 2  POLICY NO. 2013 2008-58 
 
 
 
Half-masting  
 
Half-masting of the National Flag is a well established procedure whereby countries bestow an 
honour and express a collective sense of sorrow.  Given that such flags are recognized as 
paramount symbols of their nations, the act of half-masting is a dramatic visual statement that 
speaks to the sense of loss that is shared by all their citizens.  
 
When by public decree from Ottawa, or from the Provincial Capitals or from Municipal Council, in 
respect and to honor the death of a noted or respected person all flags shall be flown at half 
mast.  Dignitaries to be honored are established by the Rules for Half-masting the National Flag 
of Canada (see Appendix A attached) as established by the Government of Canada Department 
of Canadian Heritage.   
 
The Mayor and Municipal Manager shall have the discretion to authorize the lowering of the flags 
to half-mast on the occasion of a death of a Town Employee, a long term former Town 
employee, a Council Member, former Council Member, or other prominent persons.  Flags shall 
be lowered from the time of notification of the death until sunset the day of the funeral. 
 

77



Page 3  POLICY NO. 2013 2008-58 
 

Appendix A             DELETE APPENDIX A IN ITS ENTIRETY  

78



Page 4  POLICY NO. 2013 2008-58 
 

 

79



Page 5  POLICY NO. 2013 2008-58 
 

 

80



Page 6  POLICY NO. 2013 2008-58 
 

 

81



Page 7  POLICY NO. 2013 2008-58 
 

 

82



Page 8  POLICY NO. 2013 2008-58 
 

 

83



Page 1 POLICY NO. 122 (2013) 

 

Approved by Council –  

VOLUNTEER FIREFIGHTERS RESIDENCY POLICY 

BACKGROUND 

The 1996 job description for our volunteer fire fighters contained a requirement for all members 
of the Town of Redcliff Volunteer Fire Department to reside within the corporate limits of the 
Town of Redcliff.  It was determined that this requirement stemmed from an earlier policy 
decision by Council. 
 
On Nov 12, 2013 Council moved to establish this policy. 

POLICY 

Members of the Town of Redcliff Volunteer Fire Department must reside or be employed in a 
permanent position within the corporate limits of the Town of Redcliff. 
 

84



 

 

Monthly Economic Summary   

October 2013 

Overview 

 Scotiabank Economics forecasts global growth to increase by an average of 3.4% in 

2014, about ½ a percentage point better than the lackluster gain estimated at 2.8% for 

this year, and the 3.1% advance posted in 2012. Looking further down the road, 

worldwide output is expected to increase by an average of 3.6% in 2015. The 

strengthening in the pace of global economic activity is based on a lengthening list of 

growth-reinforcing factors; however the most important factor is the re-emergence of 

the United States as the growth leader in the high-income advanced world.  

 Canadian economic activity remains subdued, however a stronger recovery is expected 

to take hold in 2014 to 2015 as a strengthening U.S. and global growth underpins a 

revival in industrial production and capital spending. Following a 1.6% advance this year, 

Canadian GDP growth is forecast to average 2.2% in 2014 and 2.5% in 2015.  

 TD Economics states that, looking ahead the provincial economies, on balance, are likely 

to show improving real GDP growth profiles over the 2014 to 2015 period with 

economies in eastern Canada and British Columbia set to narrow the gap with the top 

performing prairies region.  

 Improved housing prices have been observed across most provinces; but the surge in 

resale activity was most pronounced in the provinces of B.C, Alberta, Saskatchewan, 

Manitoba and Ontario. Looking forward, Alberta is expected to show sustained strength 

in its retail sector, as households replace goods damaged in the flood and contribute 

towards reconstruction efforts. 

 The continuing momentum in China and throughout most emerging-market economies 

will help support global growth and keep most commodity prices at profitable levels. 

China’s real GDP is forecasted to expand by a better-than-expected and globe-leading 

7.7% this year. The improving performance was broadly based across the agricultural, 

services, and industrial sectors.  

 Economic confidence in the euro-area rose more than economists had forecast for 

October, adding to signs the single-currency bloc’s recovery is gaining momentum. The 

euro-area economy is in what the European Central Bank says is a “gradual” recovery 

after exiting a recession in the second quarter. The euro strengthened from a six-week 

85

http://www.bloomberg.com/quote/EUESEMU:IND
http://topics.bloomberg.com/european-central-bank/


low against the dollar after a report showed manufacturing in the currency bloc 

expanded for a fourth month in October.  

 According to the International Monetary Fund (IMF) emerging market and developing 

economies are projected to expand by about 5% in 2014, as fiscal policy has been 

forecast to stay broadly neutral and real interest rates to remain relatively low. 

Unemployment will remain unacceptably high in many advanced economies as well as 

in various emerging market economies, notably those in the Middle East and North 

Africa.  

 

Labour Force Survey (LFS) Report 

The LFS was released on November 8, 2013. Below is the summary for October 2013. 

Medicine Hat-Lethbridge: 

 The Medicine Hat-Lethbridge regions unemployment rate of 2.7% stands 0.5 percentage 

points lower than last month’s rate and 2.4% lower than October 2012. The region’s 

unemployment rate still remains the lowest in Alberta compared to the other regions 

within the province; Banff-Jasper Rocky Mountain House the closest in comparison at 

3.8%.  

 Camrose-Drumheller (4.2%), Banff-Jasper Rocky Mountain House (3.8%), Red Deer 

(4.9%), and Edmonton (5.2%) regions all experienced an increase in unemployment rate 

as a comparison with the October 2012 statistics. Calgary (4.7%), Athabasca- Grande 

Prairie Peace River (4.1%), and Wood-Buffalo Cold Lake (3.9%) regions were the only 

three regions alongside the Medicine Hat- Lethbridge region that experienced a 

decrease in unemployment rate.  

 The Medicine Hat –Lethbridge region’s workforce participation rate decreased by 2.9 

percentage points from October 2012 statistics. Athabasca-Grande Prairie Peace River 

and Wood Buffalo-Cold Lake regions also experienced drops in rates.  

 The population count of October 2013 stands at 228,600, which has increased by 5,500 

since this time last year. 

Alberta:  

 Alberta remains the leader in year-over-year employment growth at 3.5%, in 

comparison to all the other provinces.  

 The population has continually grown in the province, standing at 3,198,600 which has 

increased by 111,100 since October 2012.  

 The participation rate decreased slightly to 73.0% as compared to this time last year. 

Despite the 0.1% decrease the participation rate in Alberta is comparative to the other 

86



provinces, as the majority of the provinces experienced a decrease in participation rate 

as well.  

 The increase in employment comes primarily from part-time employment, which grew 

by 700 participants to 2,237,100 as compared to one month prior.  

 During the second quarter of 2013, Alberta welcomed 13, 791 net interprovincial 

migrants and 20,487 net international migrants. This shows the increasing interest in 

our prairie region.  

 Across all economic family units, Alberta families reported the highest median incomes 

of all provinces. Overall, the median income for all types of families was $80,271, 20% 

above the Canadian family median income.  At the highest incomes, 9.2% of Albertans 

were in the top 5% of Canadian income earners.  

 

Canada: 

 Employment experienced little change for the second consecutive month and the 

unemployment rate remained at 6.9% in October. 

 Compared with October 2012, employment increased by 1.2% or 214,000, with gains 

in full-time and part-time work. Over the same period, the number of hours worked 

rose by 1.4%. 

 Employment for youths aged 15 to 24 experienced minimal change for the third 

consecutive month. Over the past 12 months, however, youth employment 

increased 1.6%. As for their unemployment rate, it rose by 0.5 percentage points 

to 13.4% in October, the result of more youths looking for work. 

 For the second consecutive month, there was no notable employment change among 

people aged 25 to 54, and the employment level for this age group remained similar to 

that of October 2012. 

 There were 30,000 more people employed in accommodation and food services in 

October, bringing employment gains in the industry to 78,000 (+7.2%) since 

October 2012. Employment in health care and social assistance rose by 20,000, 

contributing to the year-over-year increase of 48,000. The number of employees in 

public administration increased by 19,000 in October. However, employment in the 

industry has been on a downward trend since February, declining by 5.2% 

or 52,000 over this eight-month period. Employment in business, building and other 

support services declined by 33,000 in October, bringing employment in this industry 

sector back to its level of 12 months earlier. 

87



 There were 47,000 more people working in the public sector in October, with most of 

the gains in health care and local public administration. On a year-over-year basis, the 

overall employment increase was primarily among private sector employees, up 1.8% 

(+205,000), as there was little overall growth in self-employment and public sector 

employment. 

 Provincially, employment increased in Quebec, Newfoundland and Labrador and in 

Prince Edward Island. At the same time, there were declines in Nova Scotia, Manitoba 

and New Brunswick. 

 

*Note to readers 

The Labour Force Survey (LFS) estimates are based on a sample and are therefore subject to 

sampling variability. As a result, monthly estimates will show more variability than trends 

observed over longer time periods. 

*Estimates for smaller geographic areas or industries also have more variability. 

The employment rate is the number of employed persons as a percentage of the population 15 

years of age and over. The rate for a particular group (for example, youth aged 15 to 24) is the 

number employed in that group as a percentage of the population for that group. 

The unemployment rate is the number unemployed as a percentage of the eligible  labour force 

(employed and unemployed). 

The participation rate is the number of employed and unemployed as a percentage of the 

population. 

 

Monthly Housing Statistics 

Medicine Hat: 

 For the month of October Medicine Hat saw a total of $20,566,604 in the value of units 

sold, which is a decrease as a comparison to September’s residential value of 

$35,191,696 units sold. However the non-residential sales for the month of October saw 

an increase of $2,314,279 over September’s value of $3,444,790 units sold.  

The number of active listings ending October 31, 2013 was substantially lower than the 

number of active listings at the end of September. This was a huge contributor to the 

lower value of residential sales this month.  

88



 Together with steady vacant land sales and slightly higher farm sales, the entire non-

residential sector sales in terms of value rose 38 per cent while sales numbers were 

even. 

 There were 179 new listings for the month of October 2013 which is 62 less new listings 

as compared to September’s total of 241. Year to date, as of October 31st there is  757 

listings. 

 The sales volume from the start of 2013 to October 31st was $334,854,836, which has 

increased by $26,325,673 from the start of 2013 to September 30, 2013. 

 The majority of the residential units sold were in the 150,000 to 299,999 price category.  

 In October, 55 single-family homes were sold in Medicine Hat with a combined value of 

$16.11 million. 

 The average price of a residential unit, including detached homes, rose to $270,600 

from $263,100 comparing this October to October 2012. 

 Six newly constructed homes were sold during the month of October representing 

about 12% of all detached residential sales. 

 In October the value of commercial and industrial property sales were up for the month, 

resulting in at nine properties worth a combined $2.37 million. This is an increase over 

which ten properties worth $1.37 million were sold in October 2012. 

 

 

Alberta: 

 Alberta’s economy continues to grow at a solid rate according to the Alberta Treasury 

Board and Finance. Household spending, construction and exports are playing a key role 

in the current market expansion. 

 Alberta’s rate of consumer price inflation edged lower in September to 1.3%, bringing 

the year‑to‑date reading to only 1.4%. Weak price increases are not confined to 

Alberta. Continued slack in the Canadian and US economies is contributing to tepid 

inflation in Alberta.  

 Alberta average resale home prices are climbing at a solid pace, accelerating to 7.8% 

year‑over‑year growth in September. The new housing price index is also growing at an 

accelerating rate, although at just over 3% the gains are still fairly moderate. 

 The sales‑to‑new listing ratio in September reached its highest level since June 2009 at  

0.69. Part of this increase is likely distorted by the floods, which temporarily reduced 

supply while increasing housing demand. The tightening in supply is also evidenced by 

the drop in unabsorbed dwellings in Alberta’s major urban markets, which have 

approached 2007 levels.  

89



 Building permits, which have risen 19.3% year‑to‑date through August, which point to 

further gains. Institutional, residential and commercial permits have all seen strong 

increases over this period. 

 

Canada: 

 
 According to the Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation (CMHC) housing starts 

were trending at 190,514 units in September compared to 188,471 units in August. 

 The stand-alone monthly seasonally adjusted annual rate (SAAR) was 193,588 units in 

September, up from 183,952 units in August. 

 The seasonally adjusted inventory of new and unabsorbed housing units declined 2.1 

percentage points, down from 17,757 units in August to 17,378 units in September, the 

lowest level registered since January 2013. However on an unadjusted basis, the 

inventory of new and unabsorbed housing units was 7.9% above year-ago levels in 

September.  

 In Canada’s urban centres, the SAAR of housing starts was 177,192 units in  

September 2013, an increase of 4.3% from the previous month. The SAAR of multi-

family starts in urban areas rose by 5.9% to 113,658 units in September, while urban 

single-detached starts saw a comparatively smaller rise of 1.4% to 63,534 units. In rural 

areas, the estimated SAAR of housing starts increased by 17.1% to 16,396 units in 

September from 13,999 units in August.  

 Over the first nine months of 2013, activity on the existing home market, as measured 

by Multiple Listing Service (MLS) sales and prices, has registered stronger monthly gains 

on an average month-over-month basis, when compared to the first nine months of 

2012. On the other hand, the growth rate of new listings has seen relatively modest 

year-to-date increase in 2013, and is below the average growth rate of sales this year. 

 

New Articles Referenced 

http://www.mhreb.ca/sites/50e4b068e7e1b41bc501c64a/content_entry51000974e7e1b41bc5027a12/

524b0b947d0cca0708004fdc/files/website_stat_rep_09_13.pdf  

http://www.mhreb.ca/sites/50e4b068e7e1b41bc501c64a/content_entry51000974e7e1b41bc5027a12/

5277ccd37d0ccae2270023b7/files/website_stat_rep_10_13.pdf   

http://www.cmhc-schl.gc.ca/odpub/esub/63830/63830_2013_M10.pdf  

90

http://www.mhreb.ca/sites/50e4b068e7e1b41bc501c64a/content_entry51000974e7e1b41bc5027a12/524b0b947d0cca0708004fdc/files/website_stat_rep_09_13.pdf
http://www.mhreb.ca/sites/50e4b068e7e1b41bc501c64a/content_entry51000974e7e1b41bc5027a12/524b0b947d0cca0708004fdc/files/website_stat_rep_09_13.pdf
http://www.mhreb.ca/sites/50e4b068e7e1b41bc501c64a/content_entry51000974e7e1b41bc5027a12/5277ccd37d0ccae2270023b7/files/website_stat_rep_10_13.pdf
http://www.mhreb.ca/sites/50e4b068e7e1b41bc501c64a/content_entry51000974e7e1b41bc5027a12/5277ccd37d0ccae2270023b7/files/website_stat_rep_10_13.pdf
http://www.cmhc-schl.gc.ca/odpub/esub/63830/63830_2013_M10.pdf


http://finance.alberta.ca/aboutalberta/economic_bulletins/2013/2013-1025-alberta-economic-

review.pdf  

http://finance.alberta.ca/aboutalberta/at-a-glance/2013/2013-1025-alberta-economy-indicators.pdf  

http://www.td.com/document/PDF/economics/qef/ProvincialForecast_October2013.pdf  

http://www.td.com/document/PDF/economics/finances/DollarsAndSense_October7_2013.pdf 

http://www.td.com/document/PDF/economics/comment/CanadianExistingHomeSales_Sep2013.pdf  

http://www.gbm.scotiabank.com/English/bns_econ/forecast.pdf  

http://www.bloomberg.com/news/2013-10-30/euro-area-economic-confidence-rose-to-97-8-in-

october.html  

http://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/weo/2013/02/pdf/text.pdf  

 http://www.finance.alberta.ca/aboutalberta/economic-trends/current-economic-trends.pdf  

http://medicinehatnews.com/news/local-news/2013/11/big-september-followed-by-hefty-decline-in-

october-real-estate-figures/  

http://www.statcan.gc.ca/tables-tableaux/sum-som/l01/cst01/lfss05f-eng.htm 

http://www.statcan.gc.ca/daily-quotidien/131108/dq131108a-eng.htm 

http://www.statcan.gc.ca/daily-quotidien/131108/t131108a003-eng.htm 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

91

http://finance.alberta.ca/aboutalberta/economic_bulletins/2013/2013-1025-alberta-economic-review.pdf
http://finance.alberta.ca/aboutalberta/economic_bulletins/2013/2013-1025-alberta-economic-review.pdf
http://finance.alberta.ca/aboutalberta/at-a-glance/2013/2013-1025-alberta-economy-indicators.pdf
http://www.td.com/document/PDF/economics/qef/ProvincialForecast_October2013.pdf
http://www.td.com/document/PDF/economics/finances/DollarsAndSense_October7_2013.pdf
http://www.td.com/document/PDF/economics/comment/CanadianExistingHomeSales_Sep2013.pdf
http://www.gbm.scotiabank.com/English/bns_econ/forecast.pdf
http://www.bloomberg.com/news/2013-10-30/euro-area-economic-confidence-rose-to-97-8-in-october.html
http://www.bloomberg.com/news/2013-10-30/euro-area-economic-confidence-rose-to-97-8-in-october.html
http://www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/weo/2013/02/pdf/text.pdf
http://www.finance.alberta.ca/aboutalberta/economic-trends/current-economic-trends.pdf
http://medicinehatnews.com/news/local-news/2013/11/big-september-followed-by-hefty-decline-in-october-real-estate-figures/
http://medicinehatnews.com/news/local-news/2013/11/big-september-followed-by-hefty-decline-in-october-real-estate-figures/
http://www.statcan.gc.ca/tables-tableaux/sum-som/l01/cst01/lfss05f-eng.htm
http://www.statcan.gc.ca/daily-quotidien/131108/dq131108a-eng.htm
http://www.statcan.gc.ca/daily-quotidien/131108/t131108a003-eng.htm


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

92



Manager’s Reports 
November 25th, 2013 

Council Orientation 

Redcliff’s first Council Orientation was held November 6th.  The session was conducted by 
senior management staff and review municipal operations from selected sections of the 
Municipal Government Act to key organizational contacts and current projects. 

2014 Budget 

In early November we held our Municipal Manager’s detailed review of individual department 

budgets which leads off a very busy month for budgets.  By the middle of the month we were 
presenting a draft budget to Council in public budget sessions.  It is our intention to bring a 
budget to Council in early December for preliminary approval by Council. 

Legislative & Land Services 

 Ongoing inquires re: land sales, development & subdivision.  Presently working on two land 
sales. 
 

 Ongoing enforcement issues of non-permitted development and older files. 
 

 Board Vacancies: Municipal Planning Commission (2), Subdivision and Development 
Appeal Board (1), Family & Community Services Board (2), Redcliff & District Recreation 
Services Board (1).  Members with appointments expiring this year have been notified and 
vacancies have been advertised.  Interested parties are asked to submit interest by 
November 29, 2013.  
 

 Attended the Physician Attraction & Retention Network Meeting held November 8, 2013. 
Next meeting scheduled for Friday February 7, 2014.  
 

 Stakeholder workshops and Public Information Sessions are scheduled in Medicine Hat on 
November 26, 2014 regarding the Draft South Saskatchewan Regional Plan. Information 
can be found at www.landuse.alberta.ca. 
 

 Preparing for the Open House for Recreational Vehicles scheduled for December 12, 2013. 
 

 Reviewing Insurance Schedules for 2014 renewal. 
  

Bylaw Enforcement 

Report to Council for the reporting period from july 15th to November 12th 

Total files this reporting period 120 (34 reported, 86 self-generated. 

TRAFFIC BYLAW:  40 files relating to this bylaw, 2 files complaint driven, the balance self-
generated. The majority of these files were related to boulevard, alley, and over parking on the 
street, and un-attached trailers (non RV).  Enforcement of RV parking on the streets that were 

93

https://remote.town.redcliff.ab.ca/owa/redir.aspx?C=skRzBrUzE0-BFYTbwByzeDnFF5XkutBI2SgKv51SEX-GeEWA69ukxlo1V35bTzJwQLDQAh7yORo.&URL=http%3a%2f%2fwww.landuse.alberta.ca


most affected by the heavy rainfall/flood, was somewhat relaxed as many of those households 
that owned RV’s were living in them until their houses were inhabitable once again. The number 
of RV over-parking complaints, and self-generated enforcement has  for the past camping 
season been the quietest. During contact with many RV owners over this past season, it seems 
as if they are aware that either change is coming, or change is necessary. This may be as a 
result of what has transpired with Med. Hat Land Use bylaw relating to RV parking, or simply a 
heightened awareness of the issues surrounding parking large RV trailers in unconventional 
ways. 

STREET BYLAW: 2 files resulting from electric cords on the sidewalk, and one reported incident 
of a Tree Removal service parking a heavy truck on the boulevard damaging the lawn. The 
company responsible was contacted and the damage repaired. 

DOG CONTROL BYLAW: 16 files were generated under the provisions of this Bylaw, 2 dogs 
were impounded then returned to owners once applicable fines and fees were collected. There 
was one call out on a Sunday evening relating to two large dogs that made the mistake of 
chasing a porcupine. Both dogs were apprehended and assistance given to the owner in 
removing the quills. There have been no dogs taken to the SPCA this year. All dogs impounded 
this year have been claimed by their owners with the exception of one dog which was adopted 
out. 

NOISE BYLAW: No calls or complaints received relating to this bylaw. 

BUSINESS LICENSE BYLAW: Enforcement under the provisions of this bylaw is ongoing as 
required. The required follow-up on the un-paid, and out of business licenses has been 
completed and the new issuance will start in January. 

NUISANCE AND UNSIGHTLY PREMISES BYLAW: This bylaw makes up for the most part of 
the files created during this enforcement period. The majority of these files related to un-
controlled vegetation growth, plus there were files relating to the accumulation of un-licensed 
and in-operable vehicles. These were remedied by way of notice thus avoiding remedy by way 
of Provincial Court Violation Ticket, or Remedial Order. 

HIGH WIDE LOAD PERMITS: To date there have been 53 permits issued, 3 were cancelled, 
with revenue collected totalling $11,000.00. 

MISC:  As noted in the Traffic bylaw portion of this report, the number of complaints, and 
incidents of RV parking issues has decreased this past season. I would attribute part of this to 
ongoing enforcement, but during the past camping season I have had, and taken to opportunity 
to speak to many of the RV owners and they too can sense an increased awareness of the 
issues surrounding the parking and storage of RV trailers in residential areas. This past summer 
has also been by far the most calls received for rattlesnake relocations during my tenure in 
bylaw enforcement; this may have been impacted somewhat by the flood situation that we 
experienced. 

94



Engineering  

 WATER TREATMENT PLANT, RAW WATER PUMP STATION AND PIPELINE 

UPGRADES: 

 

 Pump Station Upgrade:  

 Bi weekly project meeting happened on Oct 30, 2013 with both contractors Carver 
for RW pump station and L.W.Dennis for RW Pipeline 

 No flood damage invoices from Carver has been forwarded to Town yet. Carver is to 
submit flood related costs to MPE after discussion with their insurance. MPE has 
reiterated the importance for this settlement through insurance first.  

 Substantial completion certificate has been issued by MPE as of Oct 31, 2013 
 Deficiency inspection carried out by MPE and Town operation staff on Wednesday 

Nov 13, 2013 and a list of items not completed has been generated. 
 Pumping to treatment plant currently operational with new pumps. Just one pump is 

meeting the demand.  
 6” Treated water line charged up to provide water for pump shaft flushing after 

completing pressure testing since temporary flush water system was disconnected.  
 

 Rawwater pipe line and Water Treatment Plant :  

 L.W Dennis (Contractor) did not attend the meeting on Oct 30, 2013 but received 
information from MPE for the outstanding items later. 

 18” RW line completed with Pump Station tie-in and stub near Water Treatment Plant 
complete with air release and other accessories installation. 

 Pressure tested for 18” RW line completed and accepted. No disinfection required for 
this RW line. 

 Air release valve installed in the old 350mm AC line. 
 Treated water main 150mm (6”) flushing and pressure testing has been completed. 

L.W.Dennis is waiting to do the chlorination whenever possible. 
 Substantial completion of the work achieved on Oct 30, 2013 
 Perimeter fence installation at the pump station building has been completed.  
 Asphalt patching and restoration completed. 

 
 

 Water Treatment Plant Design: 

 Town has some concerned with the Water Treatment Plant design is not complete 
yet. 

 MPE confirmed that early January, a design review meeting will be scheduled to 
review the process drawings and preliminary architectural drawings.  

 MPE planned for WTP tender in May 2014 with the 12 months construction period 
after that. 

 Alberta Environment required the detailed plans to be submitted in Feb of this year 
but it did not happen. MPE has sent a letter for extension of documentation 
submission. 

95



 MPE mentioned that membranes fabrication process from Pall Corporation did not 
start yet and MPE will give a go ahead in January with the estimated delivery on 
Sept of 2014.  

 Clarification equipment will also be delivered same time. 
 

 2013 INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM: 

 Transit Paving has completed the majority of works on all 2013 infrastructure 
improvement Program except minor deficiencies.   

 Construction completion inspection expected next week.  
 

 EASTSIDE PHASE 1 PARKS & LANDSCAPE: 

 Grass Root landscape has completed the project and is under warranty. 
 Minor ditch regarding contractor has to do in order to allow ponding water to drain to 

storm system. 
 Park benches, garbage cans to be installed by Public Services 
 Gravel accesses to parks completed by Public Services. 

 
 

 OTHER MISCELLANEOUS: 

 Field construction management and inspections on 2013 Infrastructure Improvement 
Program with contractors meeting on day to day issues. 

 Transit paving did not complete the deficiencies work. 
 No construction completion inspection scheduled by Transit yet. Broadway Ave 

concern will be discussed with the contractor during inspection.  
 Broadway Ave smoothness will be mentioned to contractor. Investigation   
 Budget preparation and cost estimates for 2014 capital projects in progress. 
 MYCIP updating and meeting  
 Drawing preparation and sent to Alberta Transportation for drainage backup solution 

between service road and TransCanada Hwy across NIWA cranes yard.  
 Ditch regarding work completed by Town’s Public Services.  
 On-going map updates for Land Use Bylaw and Great Plains. 

Community Services 

RECREATION MASTERPLAN 
I will put together the scope of what to include in the Recreation Masterplan; then do a request 
for proposal which will then go to council for decision.  
  
FCSS & RECREATION BOARD MEETINGS 
Information was posted in the Commentator, on the website, Facebook and Twitter inviting 
residents to attend Recreation or Family and Community Support Services meetings. 
  
Events/Awareness Campaigns 
FAMILY VIOLENCE PREVENTION MONTH & CLOTHESLINE PROJECT IN REDCLIFF 
Redcliff FCSS is bringing the Kind Communities Alliance CLOTHESLINE PROJECT to the 
Town Office, Redcliff Library and Rec-Tangle this month.  The purpose is to increase 
awareness of the impact of violence and break the silence.  Survivors of domestic violence have 

96



written messages and illustrated t-shirts for display--we are symbolically “airing our dirty 
laundry” and letting people know that family violence happens in our community.  

  
Each color of shirt represents a different kind of violence. 

White -- Women who have been murdered as a result of sexual or domestic violence.  
Red, pink or orange -- Women who have been raped or sexually assaulted 
Yellow or beige -- Women who have been battered  
Blue or green -- Women survivors of incest or child sexual abuse 
Purple or lavender -- Women attacked because they are or were thought to be lesbian or 
black 
  

More information is available at www.clotheslineproject.org. 
  
FALL PREVENTION MONTH 
November is Seniors Fall Prevention Month.  Information in Commentator. 
  
CHOOSE WELL MENU PLANNER 
FREE reusable weekly menu planner are available from Community Services. Intent is to assist 
in planning healthy meals and reduce impulse buying. There are food, beverage and snack 
ideas on the back of the planner, as well as website addresses for further information 
  
RANDOM ACTS OF KINDNESS – November 1 
Sixty nine lapel pins and notebooks were given away to everyone who came to the Town Office 
on November 1.  Community Services delivered fresh fruit and home made muffins to all Meals 
on Wheels clients and residents at the Seniors Manor.  Parkside students, the Lions Club and 
the RCMP and the Youth Centre also participated. 
  
SLEEP SEMINAR - Community Services arranged for Dr. Jill Ravanello from Children’s Health 
and Behaviour Services (CHADS) to provide a free seminar for parents with children that have 
difficulty sleeping.  September program had 13 people and 10 in the October program.  20 
maximum for each session. 
  
HUNTERS EDUCATION 
September 28          - 25 registrants / 30 maximum 
  
BLENDED FAMILIES PROGRAM (6 weeks) 
October 16              - 5 families / 8 maximum 
  
FIREARMS SAFETY PROGRAM 
October 19              - 26 registrants / 30 maximum 
November 2            - 17 registrants / 30 maximum 
  
ST. JOHNS AMBULANCE BABYSITTING PROGRAM 
November 5                - 9 registrants / 12 maximum 
  
HALLOWEEN DANCE AT PARKSIDE 
Community Services provided decorations for Parkside student to use in their Haunted Hallway 
which was used to collect food bank donations.  Families also enjoyed music and fun in the 
gym.  Everyone was very pleased and surprised by the turn out for this function which was 
almost certainly increased due to the Community Services using social media to promote it. 
 

97

https://remote.town.redcliff.ab.ca/owa/redir.aspx?C=skRzBrUzE0-BFYTbwByzeDnFF5XkutBI2SgKv51SEX-GeEWA69ukxlo1V35bTzJwQLDQAh7yORo.&URL=http%3a%2f%2fwww.clotheslineproject.org


BOOKEO 
This low cost, online booking system was used at the Aquatic Centre on a trial basis during the 
summer and will now be used by Community Services for all program registrations and 
bookings.  Data is currently being collected for entry onto the system.  This will aid in gathering 
statistics and reporting and should improve efficiency. 
  
SKATE WITH SANTA 
The annual Skate with Santa will take place mid December.  
  
TOBOGGAN HILL 
If the toboggan hill is ready, Community Services will host a Family Toboggan Party and hot 
chocolate evening around Christmas or early in the new year, if there is snow. 
  
PROGRAM AND EVENT GUIDE 
Information is being prepared for the next guide which will cover January to April, 2014. 
Tai Chi and Zumba are among the program that will be offered. 
 

Finance  

Scheduled Items: 

Nov 18th  – Utility Bills Sent 

Dec 9th  – Penalty Date 

Social Media 

The Town of Redcliff has an expanding viewer base on Social Media. 

Facebook – 406 ‘likes’ (https://www.facebook.com/TheTownOfRedcliff) 

Twitter – 170 ‘followers’ (https://twitter.com/TownOfRedcliff) 
 
 

Public Services  

 
Water and Sewer Utilities 

Staff continued to work with commissioning of the new raw water pump house and raw water 
trunk line with all systems in operation and work fine to date. 

Fall fire hydrant inspections and maintenance have now all been completed. 

Regular scheduled sewer inspections for the sanitary sewer network were completed in late 
October. 

Municipal Works 

98

https://www.facebook.com/TheTownOfRedcliff
https://twitter.com/TownOfRedcliff


Staff completed a major drainage project that was creating issues for property owners on the 
north side of Highway Ave. SE. The Engineering Dept. assisted in co-ordinating the project with 
Alberta Transportation as work was performed within the highway right-of-way. 

Five interments were conducted at the cemetery during the month of October bringing the total 
to 23 interments to date for 2013. 

Staff installed water and sewer services for two vacant residential lots on 4th Ave. SW. 

Parks and Recreation 

The new outdoor rink at Margaret Wooding School has been completed and staff are currently 
working on installing ice at the facility. Pending weather conditions, the facility will be available 
for use by November 22. 

Installation of the new playground equipment at Rolling Mill Park and Aggie Mallard Park began 
during the week of November 12. Weather conditions have caused some delays in the projects, 
however, installations should be completed within the next week. 

The project involving installation of spectator protective netting at the Rec-Tangle was also 
completed in October. 

With the resignation of one of our Facility Operators earlier this month we are now in the 
process of filling two Facility Operator vacancies. 

Landfill 

The existing underground used oil storage tank is currently being removed and will be replaced 
with a smaller above ground storage tank. Work on the project began on November 20 and is 
expected to be completed before the end of the month. 

An intercom system that allows two way communication between customers and scale 
operators has been installed at the landfill. 

99



Councillor’s Reports 
November 25th, 2013 

 

Councillor Jim Steinke 
On October 30, 2013, I attended The Economic Outlook Summit. 
 
Dr. Jack Mintz spoke on the benefits of a Provincial sales tax and the reduction of personal income tax. 
 
Honourable Doug Horner spoke on Alberta today and planning for tomorrow. 
 
Trudy Parsons spoke on 'Making Peace in the War for talent' in the workplace. 
 
Earle Connor's topic was overcoming challenges to succeed, "Do the best you can with the time you have got". 
 
Breakout Session -Strategic Planning for Economic  Development. 
"This is something we need to work on" and EDA will help. 

 

There were no other reports for this period. 

100



Join the conversation
Draft South Saskatchewan Regional Plan consultations – 
November 5 to November 28

“The draft South Saskatchewan Regional Plan provides 
a long-term vision for southern Alberta and will help 
us manage cumulative effects of our activities on the 
landscape. Now, we want Albertans to help us finalize the 
regional plan. I look forward to continuing our conversation.”

– Diana McQueen, Stewardship Minister 

The Government of Alberta is looking for your feedback on  
the draft regional plan for southern Alberta. From  
November 5 through November 28, we will be in  
18 locations in southern Alberta, along with Edmonton,  
Red Deer and Drumheller, hosting stakeholder workshops 
and public information sessions. We ask that you RSVP for 
the stakeholder workshops to ssrp@stantec.com or call  
403-716-8325. Times are from 9:30 a.m. to 2:30 p.m.  
Public sessions run from 4:30 p.m. until 7:30 p.m. and  
you just have to show up. 

For a copy of the draft SSRP, to fill out the 
workbook and for more information go to  
www.landuse.alberta.ca 

Crowsnest Pass 
November 5 
Elks Hall 
2025 129th St. (Blairmore)

Taber 
November 5 
Heritage Inn 
4830 46 Ave., Highway 3

Claresholm 
November 6 
Claresholm Community Centre 
5940 59th Ave. West

Milk River 
November 6 
Heritage Hall 
213 Main St. 

Strathmore 
November 7 
Strathmore Centennial Civic Centre  
120 Brent Boulevard

Canmore 
November 7 
Radisson Hotel 
511 Bow Valley Trail

Edmonton 
November 12 
Ramada Conference Centre 
11834 Kingsway Ave.

Calgary 
November 13 
Glenmore Inn 
2720 Glenmore Trail SE

Lethbridge 
November 14 
Coast Lethbridge Hotel 
526 Mayor Magrath Drive South

Cardston  
November 19  
Cardston and District  
Seniors Centre  
260 First St. West

Foremost 
November 19 
Foremost Community Hall  
802 First  Ave. West  

Fort Macleod 
November 20 
Fort Macleod and District  
Community Hall  
307 25th St., Highway 3 West

Airdrie 
November 20  
Town and Country Centre 
#103 275 Jensen Drive NE 

Vulcan  
November 21 
Legion Hall 
240 Sinclair Road

Drumheller 
November 21 
Badlands Community Hall 
30 Veterans Way

Pincher Creek 
November 26 
Community Hall 
287 Canyon Drive

Medicine Hat 
November 26 
Medicine Hat Lodge 
1051 Ross Glen Drive SE

Draft South Saskatchewan Regional Plan

Brooks 
November 27 
Heritage Inn Hotel and  
Convention Centre 
1217 Second St. West

Okotoks 
November 27 
Foothills Centennial Centre 
#4 204 Community Way

Cochrane 
November 28 
The RancheHouse 
101 RancheHouse Road

Red Deer 
November 28 
Sheraton Red Deer Hotel 
3310 50th Ave.

101



Draft  
South Saskatchewan  
Regional Plan

2014 - 2024

102



103



i

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Table of Contents

INTRODUCTION ............................................................................................. 1 
 Background ............................................................................................... 1 
 Purpose ..................................................................................................... 1 
 Land-use Planning in Alberta .................................................................... 2 
 Informing Land-use Decisions ................................................................... 5 
 Plan Structure ............................................................................................ 6 
 Regulatory Details Plan: Part 1 General .................................................... 7

STRATEGIC PLAN ....................................................................................... 12 
The Region Today  ....................................................................................... 12 
 Economic Development ........................................................................... 13 
 Ecosystems and Environment ................................................................. 21 
 Environmental Management .................................................................... 27 
 Human Development ............................................................................... 31 
The Future of the Region ............................................................................ 35 
 Regional Vision ........................................................................................ 35 
 How We Will Achieve the Vision .............................................................. 37 
Strategic Directions for the Region ........................................................... 37 
	 Conserving	and	Maintaining	the	Benefits	of	Biodiversity ......................... 38 
 Advancing Conservation and Integrated Management of Crown Land ... 39 
 Supporting and Enabling Stewardship and Conservation for .................. 44  
  Private Lands 
 Advancing Watershed Management ....................................................... 45 
 Managing Air Quality through Continued Collaboration .......................... 48 
 Strengthening Communities .................................................................... 49 
 Providing Recreation and Tourism Opportunities .................................... 51 
 Inclusion of Aboriginal Peoples in Land-use Planning ............................. 56

IMPLEMENTATION PLAN ............................................................................ 57 
Strategies and Outcomes ........................................................................... 57 
Outcome 1: The region’s economy is growing and .................. 59  
	 	 	 diversified 
Outcome 2: Biodiversity and ecosystem function are  ............. 66 
   sustained with shared stewardship. 
Regulatory Details Plan: Part 2 Conserved Land ........................................ 71 
Regulatory Details Plan: Part 3 Conservation Areas ................................... 72 
Outcome 3:  Air quality is managed to support healthy ............ 75  
   ecosystems and human needs through  
   shared stewardship 
Regulatory Details Plan: Part 4 Air Quality .................................................. 78 
Outcome 4:  Watersheds are managed to support healthy ...... 81 
   ecosystems and human needs through shared  
   stewardship. 
Regulatory Details Plan: Part 5 Surface Water Quality ............................... 84 

104



ii

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Outcome 5: Community Development Needs Are ................... 91 
   Anticipated and Accommodated 
Outcome 6:  The quality of life of residents is enhanced .......... 96 
   through increased opportunities for recreation,  
   active living, and the preservation and promotion  
   of the region’s unique cultural and natural  
   heritage 
Regulatory Details Plan: Part 6 Recreation and Parks Areas ...................... 98 
Outcome 7: Aboriginal peoples are included in land-use  ..... 100 
   planning 
Monitoring, Evaluation and Reporting ......................................................... 102 
Regulatory Details Plan: Part 7 Monitoring and Reporting ........................ 104

Table 1:   Regional Outcomes and Supporting Indicators .. 105 
Table 2:   Regional Outcomes and Action Items ................ 107

Appendix A:  Longer Term Transportation Initiatives (for ........ 110 
   Consideration)

Appendix B: Overview of the Approved Water Management ..111  
   Plan for the South Saskatchewan River Basin

Appendix C:   Alberta’s Natural Sub-regions ............................ 113

Appendix D:  Overview of New Conservation Areas and ........ 114 
   Recreation and Parks Areas in the South  
   Saskatchewan Region

Appendix E:  Iconic Tourism Destinations: Kananaskis, ......... 116 
   Canadian Badlands and Southern Rockies

Appendix F:  Overview of Biodiversity Management ............... 118  
   Framework

Appendix G: Consolidation and Expansion of Public Land ..... 123  
   Use Zones in Green Area Public Land

Appendix H: Conversion of Grasslands – White Area ............ 127  
   Public Lands – Policy Guidelines

Appendix	I:		 Proposed	Reclassification	and	Consolidation .... 130  
   for Alberta Parks Sites in the South  
   Saskatchewan Regional Planning Area

Appendix J:   Overview of the South Saskatchewan ............... 131 
   Regional Trail System Plan

105



iii

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Schedule A: Air Quality Management Framework Limits ....... 132  
   and Triggers

Schedule B:  Surface Water Quality Management .................. 134  
   Framework Limits and Triggers

Schedule C:  SSRP Land Uses ............................................... 143

Schedule D:  South Saskatchewan Digital Map ...................... 157

ISBN: 978-1-4601-1293-9 (Printed Version) 
 978-1-4601-1294-6 (Online Version) 
 Printed October 2013

106



iv

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

107



1

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Introduction

Background
Alberta’s Land-use Framework (LUF), released in December 2008, sets out 
a new approach to managing our province’s land and natural resources to 
achieve Alberta’s long-term economic, environmental and social goals. The 
LUF establishes seven new land-use regions and calls for the development 
of a regional plan for each. The Alberta Land Stewardship Act supports the 
LUF and establishes the legal basis for the development of regional plans. 
Regional plans reconcile provincial policies and set explicit regional outcomes 
and objectives.

Regional planning is part of the Government of Alberta’s Integrated Resource 
Management System (IRMS). The IRMS supports responsible development 
of the province’s resources and realization of its desired outcomes. The 
system is founded on setting and managing to clear policies and cumulative 
outcomes (through regional plans), providing assurance and a monitoring 
and measurement system to measure the achievement of outcomes. The 
system	is	dynamic	and	adaptive	as	necessary	to	reflect	new	information	
and also collaborative – achieving desired outcomes requires working with 
stakeholders and partners.

Contributions from the South Saskatchewan Regional Advisory Council, 
aboriginal peoples, stakeholders, municipalities and the public have informed 
the development of the draft South Saskatchewan Regional Plan (SSRP). 
Development of the draft SSRP utilized input and feedback received through 
two phases of public consultation:

•	 input	on	the	region’s	issues;	and

•	 feedback	on	the	advice	from	the	South	Saskatchewan	Regional	Advisory	
Council.

Prior to approving the SSRP, the government will review and consider the 
feedback received during phase three consultations for the draft SSRP.

Purpose
The SSRP sets the stage for robust growth, vibrant communities and a 
healthy environment within the region over the next 50 years.

With	that	long-term	horizon	in	mind,	the	SSRP	identifies	strategic	directions	
for the region over the next 10 years. The regional plan will be assessed 
and,	if	necessary,	updated	every	five	years	to	maintain	its	relevance	and	
effectiveness while maintaining certainty, stability and commitment to 
regulatory intent. Any subsequent revisions to the plan require consultation 
with Albertans.

108



2

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

The SSRP:

•	 Establishes	a	long-term	vision	for	the	region;

•	 Aligns	provincial	policies	at	the	regional	level	to	balance	Alberta’s	
economic,	environmental	and	social	goals;

•	 Reflects	ongoing	commitment	to	engage	Albertans,	including	aboriginal	
peoples,	in	land-use	planning;

•	 Uses	a	cumulative	effects	management	approach	to	balance	economic	
development	opportunities	and	social	and	environmental	considerations;

•	 Sets	desired	economic,	environmental	and	social	outcomes	and	
objectives	for	the	region;

•	 Describes	the	strategies,	actions,	approaches	and	tools	required	to	
achieve	the	desired	outcomes	and	objectives;

•	 Establishes	monitoring,	evaluation	and	reporting	commitments	to	assess	
progress;	and

•	 Provides	guidance	to	provincial	and	local	decision-makers	regarding	 
land-use management for the region.

Through regional planning, as well as other initiatives, Alberta is shifting 
to	a	more	effective	and	efficient	management	system	that	considers	the	
cumulative effects of all activities and improves integration across the 
economic, environmental and social pillars. This system must adapt to  
place-based challenges and opportunities as well as allow decision-makers  
to see the bigger picture.

This direction is a foundation of the Land-use Framework, where the 
Government of Alberta is committed to manage the cumulative effects of 
development on air, water, land and biodiversity, and ensuring the value 
and	benefit	of	these	are	sustained	at	the	regional	level	and	contributes	
to provincial outcomes. Cumulative effects management focuses on 
achievement of outcomes, understanding the effects of multiple development 
pressures (existing and new), assessment of risk, and collaborative work 
with shared responsibility for action and improved integration of economic, 
environmental and social considerations.

Outcomes and objectives are established, along with the strategies and 
actions that will be used to achieve them. Integrated monitoring, evaluation 
and reporting systems are essential as they are used to assess progress in 
achieving outcomes and objectives.

Land-use Planning in Alberta
Planning and decision-making in Alberta are carried out under various 
provincial legislation and policies. These are applied by a range of  
decision-makers – including Government of Alberta departments, boards and 
agencies, and municipal governments – responsible for making decisions 
about activities in the region.

Elements of a Cumulative 
Effects Management System

Outcome-based: 
Driven by clearly defined 
outcomes for the desired quality 
or state of the environment now 
and in the future, while recognizing 
the economic, environmental and 
social implications of meeting 
those outcomes. Activities will be 
managed to achieve outcomes.

Place-based: 
Different regions may have 
different needs and outcomes.

Knowledge-based: 
The foundation of the system 
is a sound knowledge base 
and performance management 
regime, composed of information 
and evaluation to determine 
if outcomes are being met or 
management actions required.

Adaptive: 
The system can adapt to change 
when performance results are not 
achieving outcomes, or there is a 
risk of not achieving outcomes in 
the future or when circumstances 
change.

Shared stewardship: 
A collaborative process to inform 
development of outcomes and 
build commitment for the shared 
responsibility to achieve outcomes.

109



3

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

The SSRP applies to Crown and private lands in the region.

Private Lands

Planning on private lands is primarily governed by the Municipal Government 
Act (MGA) and instruments made under its authority such as the Subdivision 
and Development Regulation. Private landowners make decisions about how 
to use and manage their land consistent with existing provincial legislation 
and municipal bylaws. The SSRP does not change this or alter private 
property rights.

Municipal governments under Part 17, Planning and Development of the 
MGA, with few exceptions (such as Sections 618 and 619) are delegated with 
the responsibility and authority for local land-use planning and development 
on all lands within their boundaries. This includes the creation of municipal 
development plans, area structure plans and land-use bylaws. This delegated 
authority remains with municipalities. Municipal planning and development 
decisions will, however, have to be in alignment with the regional plan to 
achieve the regional outcomes established in the plan.

The SSRP, including sub-regional plans, does not rescind land title or 
freehold mineral rights. Any decisions that may affect private landowners or 
freehold owners will occur through existing legislation and processes, and 
private landowners and freehold owners remain entitled to due process. 
Private landowners and freehold owners may be entitled to compensation 
under those laws.

Freehold mineral rights underlie about 40 per cent of the region, mainly 
in the settled area. Freehold mineral rights are private property and are 
subject to the Land Titles Act, the Law of Property Act and common law. 
The Government of Alberta has the power to acquire freehold minerals by 
expropriation if it is of the opinion that any or any further exploration for the 
development of those minerals is not in the public interest (Section 8(1)
(b), Mines and Minerals Act). In cases where the Government of Alberta 
denies opportunity to develop freehold minerals, the owner of the freehold 
minerals can apply for compensation to the Land Compensation Board 
which determines the compensation payable under the Expropriation Act 
(that is, market value, damages attributable to disturbance, value of any 
special economic advantage, damages for injurious affection). The Alberta 
Land Stewardship Act treats freehold mineral and surface land title holders 
similarly. 

In	February	2013	the	Property	Rights	Advocate’s	office	was	opened	to	
provide Alberta landowners with accurate information on property rights and 
help them work through property rights processes.

110



4

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Crown Lands
Crown lands include lands that are administered as public lands under the 
Public Lands Act, parks under the provincial parks legislation and highways 
under the Highways Development and Protection Act. Crown lands are owned 
by	the	Crown	and	managed	for	the	benefit	of	all	Albertans.	The	Government	
of Alberta often allows individuals and businesses to use public lands through 
statutory consents that grant permission to do certain activities on public 
land – such as livestock grazing, timber harvesting, energy development 
or recreational use. In addition, the Government of Alberta grants statutory 
consents related to the use of, or impacts on, public resources (like water) 
to	allow	or	support	specific	development,	industrial	activity,	conservation	or	
other activities.

On public lands, direction under the SSRP will be delivered through existing 
legislation such as the Public Lands Act, the Forests Act and the provincial 
parks legislation and through existing tools such as integrated landscape 
management plans, access management plans and forest management 
planning.	These	further	define	access	to	and	use	of	provincial	Crown	land,	
and	focus	on	operational	activities	that	reflect	the	regional	priorities	and	
direction.

A Policy for Resource Management of the Eastern Slopes (Revised 1984) 
has been an enduring guidance tool for the Government of Alberta. The 
policy provides the foundation for the province’s Integrated Resource Plans 
at sub-regional and local levels within the eastern slopes and sets watershed 
management as the highest priority in the overall management of the eastern 
slopes. The natural resources are to be developed, managed and protected 
in a manner consistent with principles of conservation and environmental 
protection.

This regional plan incorporates the principles and directions of the Eastern 
Slopes Policy and replaces it in this region.

The following integrated resource plans will remain in effect and will be 
reviewed for their relevance and incorporated as appropriate under the 
implementation	strategies	in	the	SSRP	or	future	sub-regional	or	issue-specific	
plans developed within the region:

•	 Bow	Corridor	Local	Integrated	Resource	Plan

•	 Castle	River	Sub-regional	Integrated	Resource	Plan

•	 Crowsnest	Corridor	Local	Integrated	Resource	Plan

•	 Eden	Valley	Integrated	Resource	Plan

•	 Ghost	River	Sub-regional	Integrated	Resource	Plan

•	 Kananaskis	Country	Sub-regional	Integrated	Resource	Plan

•	 Poll	Haven	Integrated	Resource	Plan

•	 Livingstone	Porcupine	Hills	Sub-regional	Integrated	Resource	Plan

•	 Eastern	Irrigation	District	Integrated	Resource	Plan
111



5

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

These plans represent the Government of Alberta’s resource management 
policy	for	public	lands	and	resources	within	the	defined	area	and	are	intended	
to be a guide for decision-makers. Development decisions on Crown lands 
will have to be in alignment with the regional plan to achieve the regional 
outcomes established in the plan. 

Informing Land-use Decisions
The SSRP will be implemented by those who already make land-use 
decisions. Decision-makers are those having legal authority to grant some 
form of statutory consent, such as a development permit, a water licence 
or a project approval. Decision-makers include municipal governments 
and Government of Alberta departments, boards and agencies and other 
organizations. Local government bodies and decision-making bodies will be 
required to ensure their regulatory instruments comply with the SSRP. They 
must also use the regional plan to inform their policies.

The implementation of regional plans must follow the laws of Alberta. All 
decisions that implement regional plans will be made through existing laws. 
All rights to appeal, requirements for due process and rights to compensation 
enjoyed by landowners and rights holders under these laws are not changed 
by the SSRP.

Compliance with the regional plan does not remove each decision-maker’s 
duty (to the extent that it otherwise would apply) to ensure that its decision 
making complies with the constitution: for example, regarding consideration 
of impacts of its anticipated decision on the constitutionally protected rights of 
aboriginal peoples.

Aboriginal Peoples
Alberta recognizes that those First Nations that hold constitutionally protected 
rights are uniquely positioned to inform land-use planning. Consulting 
aboriginal communities on regional planning, particularly those aspects that 
have the potential to adversely impact their constitutionally protected rights, 
and reconciling interests are essential to achieving the regional vision. In 
accordance with applicable government policy as it may be from time to time, 
the Government of Alberta will continue to consult with aboriginal peoples 
when government decisions may adversely affect the continued exercise of 
their constitutionally protected rights, and the input from such consultations 
continues to be considered prior to the decision.

Other Jurisdictions and Regions
Coordination with other jurisdictions, such as the federal government, 
provinces and other Land-use Framework regions, will be required to ensure 
alignment of regional outcomes, and that objectives and strategies are 
achieved.

112



6

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Plan Structure
The SSRP has four key components:

•	 Introduction – includes the purpose of the regional plan, land-use 
planning and decision-making in Alberta, and how the regional plan will 
inform land-use decisions.

•	 Strategic Plan – includes the vision for the future of the region along with 
desired regional outcomes. It builds on existing policies and initiatives by 
establishing a set of strategic directions that help achieve the regional 
vision and outcomes.

•	 Implementation Plan – includes regional objectives, strategies and 
actions that will be undertaken to support achievement of the regional 
vision and outcomes and indicators to measure and evaluate progress.

•	 Regulatory Details Plan – enables achieving the strategic direction and 
strategies and actions.

113



7

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

 
Definitions 
1 In this regional plan,

 (a) “Act” means the Alberta Land Stewardship Act;

 (b “SSRP Digital Map” means the map attached as Schedule “D” to the  
  SSRP Implementation Plan; 

 (c) “SSRP Implementation Plan” means that portion of this regional plan   
	 	 identified	by	the	subtitle	“Implementation	Plan”	and	includes	the	Tables,	 
  Appendices and Schedules, but does not include those portions of the   
	 	 SSRP	Regulatory	Details	Plan	found	among	and	set	apart	from	the	 
  provisions of  the SSRP Implementation Plan;

	 (d)	 “SSRP	Introduction”	means	that	portion	of	this	regional	plan	identified	 
	 	 by	the	subtitle	“Introduction,”	but	does	not	include	those	portions	of	the 
	 	 SSRP	Regulatory	Details	Plan	found	among	and	set	apart	from	the	 
  provisions of the SSRP Introduction;

	 (e)	 “SSRP	Regulatory	Details	Plan”	means	those	portions	of	this	regional	plan	 
	 	 identified	by	the	following	subtitles:

  (i) “Regulatory Details Plan Part 1 General”,

  (ii) “Regulatory Details Plan Part 2 Conserved Lands”,

  (iii) “Regulatory Details Plan Part 3 Conservation Areas”,

  (iv) “Regulatory Details Plan Part 4 Air Quality”,

  (v) “Regulatory Details Plan Part 5 Surface Water Quality”, 

  (vi) “Regulatory Details Plan Part 6 Recreation and Tourism”, 

  (vii) “Regulatory Details Plan Part 7 Monitoring and Reporting”

	 (f)	 “SSRP	Strategic	Plan”	means	that	portion	of	this	regional	plan	identified	 
	 	 by	the	subtitle	“Strategic	Plan”;

	 (g)	 “planning	region”	means	the	South	Saskatchewan	Integrated	Planning	 
  Region.

Application of regional plan 
2(1) Subject to subsections (2) and (3), this regional plan applies to

	 (a)	 the	Crown,

 (b) decision-makers,

 (c) local government bodies, and

 (d) subject to section 15.1 of the Act, all other persons

in respect of land, activities, effects, the environment, species and thresholds in the 
planning region.

Regulatory Details Plan - Part 1 General

114



8

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

 
(2)	If,	in	the	opinion	of	the	Designated	Minister	responsible	for	the	following	
portions	of	this	regional	plan:

	 (i)	 “Regulatory	Details	Plan	Part	4	Air	Quality”,

	 (ii)	 “Regulatory	Details	Plan	Part	5	Surface	Water	Quality”,	

an	activity	or	proposed	activity	in	respect	of	land	in	another	planning	region	is	
directly	or	indirectly	contributing	to	the	exceedance	of	a	limit	or	trigger	within	the	
meaning	of	those	Parts,	the	Designated	Minister	may,	by	order,	declare	that	the	
relevant	Part	applies	to	one	or	more	of	the	following	entities	outside	the	planning	
region:

	 (a)	 the	Crown,

 (b)  a decision-maker or decision-makers,

	 (c)		a	local	government	body	or	local	government	bodies,	or

	 (d)		subject	to	section15.1	of	the	Act,	any	other	person	or	all	other	persons,	in	 
	 	 respect	of	the	activity	or	proposed	activity.

(3) Whether	or	not	a	statutory	consent	has	been	issued	for	the	activity	or	proposed	
activity,	if	the	Designated	Minister	issues	an	order	referred	to	in	subsection	(2),	the	
entity	or	entities	referred	to	in	the	order	shall,	in	respect	of	the	activity	or	proposed	
activity,	comply	with	the	provisions	of	the	relevant	Part	specified	in	the	order	until	
the earlier of

	 (a)	 the	time	specified	in	the	order,	

 (b) the order is repealed, or

	 (c)	 a	regional	plan	comes	into	force	with	respect	to	the	activity,	proposed	 
	 	 activity	or	entity.

SSRP Introduction not binding

3	The	provisions	of	the	SSRP	Introduction	are	not	intended	to	have	binding	legal	
effect,	and	are	statements	of	provincial	policy	to	inform	the	Crown,	decision-
makers, local government bodies and all other persons in respect of this regional 
plan and the planning region.

SSRP Strategic Plan not binding

4	Except	as	otherwise	provided	in	this	SSRP	Regulatory	Details	Plan,	the	
provisions of the SSRP Strategic Plan are not intended to have binding legal effect, 
and	are	statements	of	provincial	policy	to	inform	the	Crown,	decision-makers,	
local	government	bodies	and	all	other	persons	in	respect	of	the	following	activities	
in	the	planning	region:

	 (a)	 identifying	the	objectives	of	the	Province	of	Alberta;

 (b) planning for the future;

	 (c)	 managing	activities	to	meet	the	reasonably	foreseeable	needs	of	current	 
  and future generations of Albertans, including aboriginal peoples;

115



9

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

  
 (d) considering future proposals for land use and development;

	 (e)	 setting	priorities	in	the	co-ordination	of	decisions	by	decision-makers	and	 
  local government bodies; 

 (f) monitoring the cumulative effect of human endeavour and other events;

 (g) responding to the cumulative effect of human endeavour and other events;

	 (h)	 generally	in	respect	of	carrying	out	their	respective	powers,	duties	and	 
  responsibilities.

SSRP Implementation Plan not binding

5	Except	as	otherwise	provided	in	this	SSRP	Regulatory	Details	Plan,	the	
provisions of the SSRP Implementation Plan are not intended to have binding legal 
effect,	and	are	statements	of	provincial	policy	to	guide	the	Crown,	decision-makers	
and	local	government	bodies	in	respect	of	the	following	activities	in	the	planning	
region:

	 (a)	 managing	activities	to	meet	the	reasonably	foreseeable	needs	of	current	 
  and future generations of Albertans, including aboriginal peoples;

	 (b)	 enforcing	compliance	with	any	provision	of	this	Regulatory	Details	Plan	 
	 	 or	any	other	enactment;

	 (c)	 setting	priorities	in	the	co-ordination	of	decisions	by	decision-makers	and	 
  local government bodies;

 (d) monitoring the cumulative effect of  human endeavor and other events;

 (e) responding to the cumulative effect of human endeavour and other events;

	 (f)	 generally	in	respect	of	carrying	out	their	respective	powers,	duties,	and	 
  responsibilities.

SSRP Regulatory Details Plan binding on the Crown and others

6	The	SSRP	Regulatory	Details	Plan	is	enforceable	as	law,	and,	despite	the	location	
of	Parts	of	it	within	this	regional	plan,	the	provisions	of	the	SSRP	Regulatory	
Details Plan bind

	 (a)	 the	Crown,

 (b) decision-makers,

 (c) local government bodies, and

 (d) subject to section 15.1 of the Act, all other persons.

Functions and decisions based on regional plan

7(1) After the coming into force of this regional plan, a decision-maker shall, 
before	carrying	out	any	function	in	respect	of	the	decision-maker’s	powers,	duties	
and responsibilities in the planning region, consider the SSRP Strategic Plan and 
the SSRP Implementation Plan.

116



10

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

 
(2)	After	the	coming	into	force	of	this	regional	plan,	a	local	government	body	shall,	
before	carrying	out	any	function	in	respect	of	the	local	government	body’s	powers,	
duties and responsibilities in the planning region, consider the SSRP Strategic Plan 
and the SSRP Implementation Plan. 

(3)	Not	withstanding	subsections	(1)	and	(2),	a	decision-maker	or	local	government	
body	must	not	adjourn,	defer,	deny,	refuse,	or	reject	any	application,	proceeding	or	
decision-making	process	before	it	by	reason	only	of

	 (a)	 the	Crown’s	non-compliance	with	a	provision	of	either	the	SSRP	Strategic	 
  Plan or SSRP Implementation Plan, or

	 (b)	 the	incompletion	by	the	Crown	or	anybody	of	any	direction	or	 
  commitment made in a provision of either the SSRP Strategic Plan or  
  SSRP Implementation Plan.

(4)	A	statutory	consent	issued	after	the	coming	into	force	of	this	regional	plan	 
cannot	be	set	aside	or	amended	by	reason	only	of	a	replacement	or	 
amendment to this regional plan unless the replacement or amendment  
complies	with	section11	of	the	Act.

Delegated authorities

8	The	Designated	Minister	responsible	for	any	element	or	provision	of	this	
regional	plan	may,	by	order,	establish	delegated	authorities	and	the	delegation	to	
one	or	more	delegated	authorities	of	the	performance	of	any	of	the	Designated	
Minister’s	duties	or	functions	or	the	exercise	of	any	of	the	Designated	Minister’s	
powers	under	this	regional	plan	and	make	any	provision	with	respect	to	any	
such	delegation	that	is	made	with	respect	to	the	Labour	Statutes	Delegation	
in Schedule10 to the Government Organization Act	or	that	maybe	made	by	
regulations under section 2 of that Schedule.

Reporting requirements

9(1)	The	Designated	Minister	responsible	for	any	element	or	provision	of	this	
regional plan shall report on the matters  referred to in sections 15, 18, 22,  29(b) 
and	(c),	36(b)	and	(c),	46,	and	49

	 (a)	 not	less	than	once	within	the	first	4	years	following	the	coming	into	force	 
  of this regional plan, and

	 (b)	 not	less	than	once	within	the	next	following	5	years	after	the	expiry	of	the	 
  period referred to in clause (a).

(2)	A	report	referred	to	in	subsection	(1)	must	be	in	writing	and	be	publicly	
available	in	its	entirety	in	electronic	and	hard	copy	upon	request	by	a	person	and	
posted	on	the	Land	Use	Secretariat’s	website.

Compliance declaration

10(1)	For	the	purposes	of	section	20(2)	of	the	Act,	the	time	within	which	a	local	
government	body	must	comply	with	that	section	is	5	years.

(2)	For	the	purposes	of	section	21(2)	of	the	Act,	the	time	within	which	a	 
decision-making	body	must	comply	with	that	section	is	2	years.

117



11

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

 
Transitional provisions applicable to statutory consents

11(1)	This	regional	plan	applies	to	an	application	for	a	statutory	consent	whether	
the application is made before or after the date this regional plan comes into force.

(2)	If	at	the	time	this	regional	plan	comes	into	force,	a	statutory	consent	has	been	
issued	and	this	regional	plan	makes	the	activity	in	respect	of	which	the	statutory	
consent	was	issued	inconsistent	with	or	non-compliant	with	this	regional	plan,	the	
statutory	consent	continues	in	effect	despite	the	coming	into	force	of	this	regional	
plan.

(3)	For	greater	clarification,	an	inconsistent	or	non-compliant	activity	referred	to	in	
subsection	(2)	is	subject	to	lawful	directions	of	an	official	under	sections	31	and	38	
to	a	person	responsible	within	the	meaning	of	those	sections.

(4)	Subject	to	subsection	(5),	where	an	application	is	to	be	determined	after	the	
coming	into	force	of	this	regional	plan	in	respect	of	a	statutory	consent	that	a	
decision-maker	reasonably	believes	is	incidental	to	a	statutory	consent	referred	to	
in subsection (2), the decision-maker shall have due regard to the SSRP Strategic 
Plan, but the decision-maker shall render his or her decision in respect of the 
application	notwithstanding	the	provisions	of	the	SSRP	Implementation	Plan.

(5)	For	the	purposes	of	subsection	(4),	a	renewal	of	a	statutory	consent	shall	not	be	
interpreted	as	being	incidental	to	a	statutory	consent	referred	to	in	subsection	(2).

Coming into force

12	This	regional	plan	comes	into	force	on	April	1,	2014.	

118



12

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Strategic Plan

The Region Today 
The South Saskatchewan Region includes the South Saskatchewan River 
Basin, the Milk River Basin and the Alberta portion of the Cypress Hills. 
The region includes 15 municipal districts, one specialized municipality, two 
improvement	districts,	five	cities,	29	towns,	23	villages,	two	summer	villages	
and seven First Nations.  The South Saskatchewan Region covers  
83,764 km² or about 12.6 per cent of the total area of Alberta. About  
1.6 million people live in the region, or 45 per cent of the provincial 
population.

Most of the urban population lives in the region’s 
five	cities:	Calgary,	Airdrie,	Lethbridge,	Medicine	Hat	
and Brooks. The Calgary Census Metropolitan Area, 
with	a	population	of	1,214,839,	is	the	fifth	largest	
metropolitan area in Canada, with an increase of 
12.6 per cent from 2006 to 20111. 

1 Statistics Canada

South

Saskatchewan

Lower

Athabasca

Lower

Peace

Upper

Peace
Upper

Athabasca

North

Saskatchewan

Red

Deer

119



13

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Economic Development
The	South	Saskatchewan	Region	has	a	diversified	economy	which	
contributes to the vitality and prosperity of communities within the region. In 
addition to a strong agricultural, tourism and forestry economy, the region is 
fast becoming a major international centre for innovation in the development 
of energy and mineral resources and environmental technologies to support 
more environmentally responsible resource development. It is anticipated 
that local manufacturing and services will continue to expand in support 
of increasing natural gas (including shale gas and coal bed methane) and 
conventional oil development in the region. These trends will continue to 
stimulate development of larger and more diverse retail centres, and growing 
commercial and professional services and facilities.

The Government of Alberta is taking steps to secure Alberta’s economic 
future,	which	will	benefit	the	South	Saskatchewan	Region.	This	effort	is	
focused on education and entrepreneurship, which are the cornerstones of a 
dynamic economy, which Albertans build through knowledge, adaptability and 
an entrepreneurial spirit. Critical elements of this close the participation gap 
of under-represented groups in post-secondary institutions and increase high 
school graduation rates, as well as contribute to the conditions that increase 
business startups and the commercialization of technology.

Expanded	market	access	contributes	significantly	to	the	sustainability	of	the	
province’s export-driven technology. A key element is to develop new access 
(e.g. through pipelines and rail) to markets outside our traditional core trading 
partner, the United States.

Alberta has world-class infrastructure, a trained, skilled workforce, up-to-date 
technologies, legislated environmental protection, and social safety nets 
that makes the province a great place to live, work and raise a family. The 
Government of Alberta continues to create a policy and business climate that 
attracts	investment	and	promotes	diversification	of	the	economy	including	in	
the agriculture, agri-food, tourism and industry sectors.

Aboriginal peoples’ participation in the economy ranges from agriculture and 
energy (oil and gas, alternatives) to tourism, mines and minerals. Aboriginal 
people	have	contributed	significantly	in	the	formative	years,	both	as	
producers and in management, marketing and sales.

Agriculture
The agricultural industry is one of the main economic drivers in the South 
Saskatchewan Region, with farm cash receipts amounting to $4.5 billion in 
2011, or 43 per cent of the provincial total of $10.4 billion2. The region also 
accounted for approximately half of the province’s $12.2 billion revenue in 
2011 for sales in food and beverage manufacturing3. The economic success 

2 Alberta Agriculture and Rural Development 
3 Alberta Agriculture and Rural Development 

120



14

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

of the South Saskatchewan Region is driven in part by a combination of fertile 
grassland soils and irrigation development that has provided the necessary 
land base for crop production, livestock grazing, as well as land for the 
majority of Alberta’s cattle feedlot capacity. Agri-food industries in the region 
include	a	significant	beef	processing	sector,	and	processing	facilities	for	
poultry	and	dairy	products,	potatoes,	sugar	beets,	canola	and	cereals	(flour,	
feed and distilling).

Provincially, a competitive, self-reliant agriculture industry is ensured 
through policy development, advocacy, program and services provision, and 
collaboration with key partners that reinforce economic growth and build 
lasting prosperity in rural Alberta. There is renewed government effort to:

•	 enhance	research	and	innovation;

•	 maximize	opportunities	in	value-added	agricultural	products	and	services;

•	 develop	local,	national	and	international	markets;

•	 overcome	trade	barriers	to	expand	market	access;

•	 attract	investment;	and

•	 position	Alberta	as	the	preferred	global	supplier	of	agriculture	products	
and services.

Although the agriculture, agri-food and agri-product sectors are mainly 
focused on export markets, consumer demand for locally grown foods is 
increasing throughout Alberta. This increased demand partially stems from 
consumers who are increasingly considering factors such as human health 
and environmental impacts when purchasing food. As the demand for these 
locally grown food products continues to increase, opportunities for further 
diversification	of	the	agricultural	industry	may	arise.

The Federal-Provincial-Territorial agricultural policy framework (that is, 
Growing Forward 2) came into effect April 1, 2013, with various programs, 
projects	and	extension	services	to	support	the	achievement	of	a	profitable,	
sustainable, competitive, and innovative agriculture, agri-food and  
agri-products sector for the South Saskatchewan Region and Alberta as 
a	whole.	Through	cost	sharing	with	the	federal	government,	significant	
strategic investments will be made in agricultural research, innovation, 
entrepreneurship, commercialization and market development.

The Government of Alberta is also exploring environmentally responsive 
solutions and opportunities while ensuring the agriculture industry remains 
competitive and continues to enjoy social licence to operate. Working 
with all levels of government, the Government of Alberta is developing 
integrated environmental policy and continues to facilitate the adoption of 
beneficial	management	practices	that	protect	or	enhance	the	environment	
while meeting climate change, land use, air and water objectives. This 
is accomplished through supporting extension programs and services, 
research-based information, and innovative business tools.

121



15

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Almost 65 per cent of Canada’s irrigated land is located in the South 
Saskatchewan Region. Irrigation of productive soils in an area with higher 
temperatures and a longer growing season will continue to provide a 
significant	advantage	for	primary	production	and	value-added	opportunities.	
Beyond greatly increased crop yields, a reliable supply of quality water 
supplied through the region’s irrigation infrastructure, also supports food, feed 
and bio-industrial processing plants in the region. This, along with proximity 
to meat packing facilities for both domestic and export markets, explains why 
much	of	Alberta’s	cattle	finishing	industry	exist	in	the	South	Saskatchewan	
Region.

Although	irrigated	agriculture	represents	less	than	five	per	cent	of	Alberta’s	
cultivated	land	base,	areas	under	irrigation	are	highly	diversified;	growing	
more than 50 different crop types, and contributing between 18 to 20 per cent 
of the agricultural Gross Domestic Product for the province. As competing 
demands for water will only grow in the future, the irrigation districts, private 
irrigators and government agencies will continue to deliver advice, regulatory 
administration and strategic recommendations in order to facilitate the 
responsible management and use of water delivered through irrigation 
infrastructure to enhance productivity in this sector. Irrigation infrastructure 
also provides water to more than 50 towns and villages, and countless wildlife 
habitat and recreation facilities throughout the southern region.

Grazing	on	public	rangelands	has	significant	economic	importance	for	the	
province’s livestock industry. Within the South Saskatchewan Region there 
are a total of 2,515 public grazing dispositions that annually provide about 
925,000	Animal	Unit	Months	of	grazing.	This	grazing	provides	significant	
economic value and supports the operational sustainability of many of the 
livestock producers in the region.

Energy
Alberta is Canada’s largest producer of natural gas. In 2011, Alberta 
produced 71 per cent of Canada’s total natural gas production4. For the  
2011-12	fiscal	year,	natural	gas	and	byproduct	revenue	was	about	 
$1.3 billion, or approximately three per cent of revenues to the Government 
of Alberta5.	A	significant	amount	of	this	natural	gas	production	occurs	in	the	
region and nearly half of all Alberta’s natural gas wells are drilled there. The 
levels of employment in the region correlate directly with conventional oil and 
gas investment, as this region is host to a large share of the roughly 50,000 
full-time and part-time jobs in 2012 in conventional oil and gas extraction 
generated by the province’s natural gas and conventional oil industry.6 

4 Alberta Enterprise and Advanced Education, ‘Highlights of the Alberta Economy 2012’  Energy 
5 www.energy.alberta.ca/OurBusiness/Gas.asp Energy 
6 Statistic Canada tables no 383-0030 and 282-0061

122



16

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Conventional oil plays an important role in supporting the regional economy. 
For	the	fiscal	year	2011-2012,	conventional	oil	royalties	accounted	for	
approximately $2.2 billion in revenues to the Government of Alberta7, with 
much	of	the	conventional	oil	development	occurring	in	the	region.	Significant	
oil reserves remain in Alberta that can be unlocked using innovative 
extraction techniques, such as the horizontal drilling of wells, which includes 
the use of multistage fracturing technology.

Enhanced oil recovery (EOR) using gas injection (such as nitrogen, carbon 
dioxide and/or natural gas) provides the opportunity to recover more oil from 
certain mature pools and reduces the amount of water used for injection. 
EOR largely leverages existing infrastructure rather than creating new surface 
disturbance, thus also reducing the need for new energy development and 
the associated disturbance.

Shale-related resource development for oil, natural gas liquids and natural 
gas also makes use of new horizontal drilling and multistage fracturing 
technology. The potential for shale development is widespread through the 
region and is comprised of extensive conventional plays.

The Government of Alberta is continuing to explore development 
opportunities for our abundant coal deposits. Given the current and 
anticipated future global demand for coal, particularly from Asian markets, 
maintaining opportunities for responsible development of coal resources is 
important to the region and the province. The mountains and foothills in the 
western	part	of	the	region,	as	well	as	the	plains	in	the	east,	have	significant	
coal	fields	with	potential	for	development.

Mineral commodities being produced in the region include limestone and 
silica from the Front Ranges (primarily the Exshaw quarry and plant near 
Canmore) and sulphur. Most of the metallic mineral development potential 
will need to be extracted using in situ methods, including prospective uranium 
deposits in the south-southeastern part of the region. Other potential for 
mineral development include two magnetite deposits in the Crowsnest Pass 
area, with the main one being the Burmis magnetite project. The Alberta 
Geological	Survey	has	identified	lead,	zinc,	copper	and	silver	mineralization	
in the region along the Alberta-British Columbia border as a potential for 
development. In the Medicine Hat area, several companies are actively 
exploring	for	potash.	The	exploration	is	currently	focused	on	defining	the	
grade and extent of the potash deposit.

The region is also home to several major industrial facilities that produce 
a variety of petrochemical and chemical products, including ammonia, 
methanol,	ethylene	glycol,	alpha	olefins,	nitrogen/oxygen	and	ammonium	
nitrate.

7 Alberta Energy, Budget 2012-13

123



17

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Access to electricity facilitates long-term economic development in the 
province,	and	a	robust,	reliable	and	efficient	transmission	system	is	required.	
Transmission infrastructure is a public good that must be available in advance 
of need and be able to accommodate the addition of new generation to meet 
the demands of, and provide support for Alberta’s long-term growth. There 
are a number of transmission projects under development in southern Alberta 
with the most notable being the South Area Transmission Reinforcement 
and the Foothills Area Transmission Development. A number of these 
transmission projects are to connect current wind power projects to the power 
grid and to enable the continued development of wind energy in southern 
Alberta.

Renewable Energy
The region has a natural advantage for the development of renewable 
(wind, bioenergy, solar, hydro) energy sources. To enable integration of 
more renewable energy and reinforce the transmission system in the region, 
the Electric Statutes Amendment Act has set the framework for the Alberta 
Electric System Operator (AESO) to be responsible for the economic 
planning and the safe, reliable operation of the Alberta Interconnected 
Electric System (AIES). Provincial policy direction and programs related to 
renewable energy are provided through Alberta’s Climate Change Strategy, 
the Provincial Energy Strategy, the Bioenergy Infrastructure Development 
Program and the Nine-Point Bio-Energy Plan. The Government of Alberta 
also focuses on renewable and alternative energy research, supporting 
the development and delivery of alternative and renewable energy sources 
through Alberta Innovates – Energy and Environment Solutions.

As of April 2013, Alberta had a total of 16 wind farms with 1,087 megawatts 
of wind capacity connected to the transmission system8 – enough capacity to 
serve over 970,000 homes9. Of these wind farms, 14 are located in the South 
Saskatchewan Region with a total estimated capacity of 855 megawatts.10 As 
well, approximately 13 new wind projects are under development or planned 
for the region.11 

Bioenergy is any renewable energy or fuel derived from biological 
sources. Alberta has several potential bio-feedstocks including agricultural 
products (such as wheat or canola), forestry waste and livestock waste. 
This biomass often requires expensive management practices to reduce 
their	environmental	impact;	however,	a	suite	of	emerging	and	established	
technologies have the potential to convert this waste to renewable sources of 
energy, including renewable fuels.

8   Alberta Electrical System Operator Current Supply Demand Report, April 2013
9   Alberta Energy Wind Power Fact Sheet, August 2011
10 Alberta Electrical System Operator Current Supply Demand Report, April 2013
11 Alberta Electrical System Operator Project List, March 2013

124



18

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

In the South Saskatchewan Region, a 66 million-litre biodiesel facility has 
recently been constructed in Lethbridge and is currently in the process of 
being commissioned. Currently, the province’s standard requires an average 
of	two	per	cent	renewable	diesel	(that	is,	biodiesel)	in	diesel	fuel	and	five	per	
cent renewable alcohol (bioethanol) in gasoline sold in Alberta.

A 2.8 megawatt biogas facility is under construction in the County of 
Lethbridge and will be operational by the end of 2013. Once operational, 
the facility will create enough energy to power more than 2,500 homes. The 
capture	of	biogas	from	waste	water	treatment	facilities,	landfills	and	waste	
management lagoons is being used to help meet the energy requirements for 
the companies operating these facilities with excess energy being provided to 
the provincial energy grid.

Forestry
Forested lands in the Green Area make up 16 per cent of the South 
Saskatchewan Region. Of this, 48 per cent is actively managed for timber. 
The Government of Alberta allocates this production on public lands through 
timber permits, timber quotas and forest management agreements (FMAs). 
Under an FMA, forest companies have obligations for forest management 
planning keeping with the principles of sustainable forest management 
in considering a range of social, economic and environmental factors 
(watershed function, wildlife habitat). In addition, the Government of Alberta 
actively	monitors,	detects	and	manages	any	significant	forest	health	issues	
that threaten values provided by the forest including timber and ecological 
functions.

Forestry is an important industry within the region, supporting economic 
activity and providing employment opportunities for local residents. In 2011, 
Alberta’s shipments of forest products reached $4 billion, and exports were  
$2.1 billion12.	The	forest	industry	also	reduces	risks	to	our	forests	from	fires	
and pests, improves the health of our forests and maintains our watersheds 
through their forest management activities, including forest management 
planning, forest inventories, forest protection, timber extraction and 
reforestation. Within the South Saskatchewan Region there is one major 
FMA holder, two community timber programs and four coniferous timber 
quotas. There are also small manufacturing facilities in the region including 
sawmills, round-wood processing facilities, log home manufacturers and 
remanufacturing plants.

The continued economic viability and competitiveness of the forestry 
industry is a key economic driver in the region. Managing for a healthy forest 
is important in order to maintain ecosystem biodiversity and community 
stability over the long term. Forest management plans are developed using 
an integrated planning approach which incorporates watershed function, 

12 Alberta Enterprise and Advanced Education, ‘Highlights of the Alberta Economy 2012’

125



19

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

esthetics,	fisheries,	wildlife,	pest	risk	and	damage,	wildfire,	recreation	and	
grazing values. The long-term sustainability of a healthy forest is achieved 
with plans forecasting 200 years, or two harvest rotations. Also incorporated 
in	these	forest	management	plans	are	specific	management	objectives	and	
strategies to carry out the required reforestation activities following timber 
harvest.

The	Government	of	Alberta	also	actively	promotes	the	diversification	of	
the forest industry through implementation of the Alberta Forest Products 
Roadmap to 2020 which will ultimately identify opportunities to diversify the 
sector through new markets and products, including the bioenergy sector.

Transportation
Transportation systems are crucial to the movement of people and goods 
within and outside the South Saskatchewan Region to support the region’s 
continued social and economic development. A key aspect of land-use 
planning is to ensure there are opportunities for all modes of transportation. 
The timely development of transportation infrastructure will be needed to 
accommodate changes in economic activity, regional demographics, lifestyles 
and technologies.

The Government of Alberta is committed to providing a safe, innovative 
and sustainable world-class transportation system that supports Alberta’s 
economy and quality of life. For the South Saskatchewan Region, this means 
supplying the region with a transportation system that supports connecting 
Albertans to world-wide markets and enabling investment and job creation.

The Government of Alberta has three key transportation goals:13 

•	 ensure	that	Alberta’s	provincial	highway	network	connects	communities	
and	supports	economic	and	social	growth;

•	 that	Alberta	has	the	safest	road	system	in	Canada;	and

•	 that	Alberta	has	a	well-connected	road-rail-air-port	transportation	
system that supports economic opportunities and the quality of life in all 
communities.

The Government of Alberta has a long-standing interest in maximizing the 
efficiencies	of	land	development	throughout	Alberta.	Beginning	in	the	1960s	
and 1970s the Government of Alberta began planning for transportation utility 
corridors around the cities of Calgary and Edmonton. These facilities, now 
nearly complete, are examples of how stakeholders have worked together to 
meet their individual needs while minimizing land disturbance through the  
co-location of linear infrastructure. The Government of Alberta will continue 
this	efficient	and	progressive	land-use	planning	practice	as	opportunities	
arise.

13   Alberta Transportation 2012-2015 Business Plan

126



20

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Substantial investment in transportation infrastructure in the South 
Saskatchewan Region has contributed to the region’s economic and social 
prosperity. Continued investment will be required to support key industries 
such as forestry, agriculture, energy, and recreation and tourism, as well as 
to provide linkages between and within rural and urban communities. The 
Government of Alberta, through its transportation planning process, has 
identified	potential	future	capital	projects	totaling	in	the	order	of	 
$4 billion for the region. These projects include highway twinning, interchange 
development and bypasses (See Appendix A – Longer Term Transportation 
Initiatives). The development of these projects will be undertaken as needs 
arise and funding becomes available, demonstrating the Government of 
Alberta’s ongoing commitment to the needs and safety of the travelling public 
in the region.

Tourism
The region accounts for approximately 34 per cent of annual tourism 
expenditures14 and is an anchor for Alberta’s tourism industry. The economic 
impact associated with these tourism expenditures is $2.9 billion in  
value-added income, and includes $1 billion of direct income and  
$1.9 billion of indirect and induced income15. These tourism expenditure 
amounts represent new money into the region that would not have occurred 
had tourists chosen to visit other locations.

Motorized recreation is a growing activity in Alberta for residents and visitors 
and recreationists spend a substantial amount of money on their recreational 
activities. The number of off-highway vehicles (OHV, including ATV-tracked, 
quads, motorcycles, snowmobiles) registered in Alberta rose from 37,042 in 
1987 to 138,177 in 201016. Additionally, 316,998 recreational vehicles were 
registered in Alberta in 2010, a 23 per cent increase from 2005. Providing 
areas	for	people	to	recreate	is	linked	to	the	economic	diversification	of	the	
region. In 2009 snowmobiling enthusiasts spent $111.3 million on purchasing 
new snowmobiles, accessories, parts, and clothing and another  
$254.7 million was spent on operating and maintaining these vehicles  
and on tourism-related activities17.

Three UNESCO World Heritage Sites are found in the region: Dinosaur 
Provincial Park, the Head-Smashed-In Buffalo Jump complex, and  
Waterton-Glacier International Peace Park. Other major nature–based 
tourism attractions include Kananaskis Country, the Canadian Badlands, 
Crown of the Continent, Cypress Hills, Writing-on-Stone and Peter Lougheed 
Provincial parks. There are staffed interpretive programs in Beauvais Lakes, 
Bow Valley, Writing-On-Stone, and in Kananaskis Country. Similar programs 
are provided in Waterton-Glacier International Peace Park.

Through	tourism	activity	in	the	region,	communities	and	Albertans	benefit	
14 The Economic Impacts of Tourism Expenditures in the LUF Regions of Alberta.
15 The Economic Impacts of Tourism Expenditures in the LUF Regions of Alberta (2010 Data) 
16 Alberta Registries Registration System 1987 to 2010
17 Economic Impact of Snowmobiles in Alberta in 2009

127



21

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

from	a	range	of	economic,	social	and	environmental	benefits.	Additionally,	
recreation infrastructure and tourism investment have been shown to be key 
for	rural	areas	to	retain	residents	and	helps	support	economic	diversification.

The growth and sustainability of existing tourism operations and innovative 
development of new tourism products, experiences and destinations are 
needed to retain vacation dollars within Alberta, and ensure the continued 
appeal of the province to existing and emerging international markets. The 
tourism industry in the south requires access to Crown land to facilitate a 
range of tourism development activities, from recreational trail development 
to four-season destination resorts. Access to Crown land also needs to be 
enhanced with policies that provide tenures that are attractive for tourism 
investors and developers (that is, longer lease terms).

A provincial tourism framework is being developed that will serve to integrate 
tourism planning, development and marketing activities at both the provincial 
and	regional	levels.	The	goal	of	this	framework	is	to	support	significant	growth	
in tourism expenditures from domestic and international markets, and ensure 
Alberta can effectively compete with other destinations.

Ecosystems and Environment

Landscapes and Biodiversity
The South Saskatchewan Region contains diverse landforms, vegetation 
and species. The region spans four of Alberta’s six Natural Regions including 
the Grassland, Parkland, Foothills and Rocky Mountains. The Grasslands 
are dominated by a diverse and unique native prairie, extensive riparian 
cottonwood forests and broad plateaus within the Cypress Hills and Milk 
River Ridge. The Parkland region in the north represents the transition area 
between grasslands and forests. A small portion of the Foothills lies within 
the South Saskatchewan Region along the eastern edge of the Rocky 
Mountains. The Rocky Mountain region that runs along the Continental Divide 
is characterized by grasslands, shrubs, forests and alpine areas above the 
tree line.

A	wide	range	of	fish,	wildlife	and	plant	species	exist	in	the	region,	including:	
17	sport	fish	species;	over	700	vascular	plant	species;	numerous	songbirds,	
hawks,	owls,	waterfowl,	and	grouse;	and	mammals	such	as	moose,	deer,	
pronghorn, wolves, grizzly bears, cougars and lynx. The region also serves 
as breeding grounds and staging areas for birds during migration and  
over-wintering periods. The South Saskatchewan Region has more than  
80 per cent of the province’s species at risk as listed under the federal 
Species at Risk Act and the provincial Wildlife Act. Factors contributing to 
this high proportion include human settlement, disturbance from industrial, 
recreational and other uses, fragmentation, environmental contaminants, and 
introduction of invasive species.

128



22

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

So
ut

h 
Sa

sk
at

ch
ew

an
: N

at
ur

al
 R

eg
io

ns
 a

nd
 S

ub
-R

eg
io

ns

129



23

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

The	range	of	species	and	diversity	of	ecosystems	across	the	region	reflects	
the biodiversity found here, and means there is a broad range of ecosystem 
services provided. Biodiversity represents the assortment of life – including 
the variety of genetics and species, and the habitats in which they occur – 
all shaped by natural processes of change and adaptation. Biodiversity and 
ecosystem services are not the same thing but they are interdependent. 
Ecosystem	services	are	the	benefits	humans,	communities	and	society	as	
a whole receive from healthy, functioning ecosystems and the biodiversity 
within them. Biodiversity underpins the supply of ecosystem services, so 
changes in biodiversity will affect the type and amount of those services 
available to humans.

All ecosystem services contribute to sustaining a healthy and prosperous way 
of life for all Albertans. Fish, wildlife, traditional medicinal plants, berries and 
less-developed spaces are also important for the cultural practices of First 
Nations peoples.

Water and Watersheds
The region spans the catchment areas of two major river basins: the South 
Saskatchewan River Basin and the Milk River Basin. These water basins 
are	important	over-wintering,	spawning	and	rearing	grounds	for	fish	with	the	
associated riparian habitats being major wildlife corridors.

The South Saskatchewan River Basin consists of four sub-basins including 
the	Bow,	Oldman,	South	Saskatchewan	and	Red	Deer;	along	with	their	
tributaries, these sub-basins drain 120,000 km² of the province. The eastern 
slopes of the South Saskatchewan Region contain the headwaters of the 
Bow and Oldman rivers which are critical to water supply and water quality 
in the region. Most of the Red Deer River sub-basin is not included in the 
region, and the remaining portion of the South Saskatchewan River Basin in 
the planning region is about 73,000 km². 

The	confluence	of	the	Bow	and	Oldman	rivers	forms	the	South	Saskatchewan	
River	which	flows	east	through	the	region	eventually	draining	into	Lake	
Winnipeg in Manitoba. A transboundary agreement is in place to ensure there 
is appropriate water sharing between all the Prairie provinces. The South 
Saskatchewan River Basin contains all major urban centres, including the 
cities of Calgary, Lethbridge, and Medicine Hat, as well as all 13 of Alberta’s 
irrigation districts.

The	Milk	River	originates	in	Montana;	flows	eastward	through	the	southern	
portion of Alberta, and then loops back into Montana as part of the 
Missouri-Mississippi River Basin. A transboundary agreement with Montana 
establishes how much water must be shared for both the Milk River and the 
St. Mary River in Montana. The Alberta portion of the Milk River Basin is 
6,500 km² and is the smallest of Alberta’s river basins. There are no major 
urban	centres	or	irrigation	districts	in	the	Milk	River	Basin;	however,	the	
irrigation sector remains the largest water user in the basin.

Ecosystem Services

The following are examples of 
ecosystem services, the benefits 
that come from healthy functioning 
ecosystems and the biodiversity 
found in them:

• food, fiber, fresh water 
(“provisioning” services)

• flood control, water and air 
purification (“regulating” services)

• spiritual, recreational, cultural 
benefits (“cultural” services)

• nutrient cycling, soil formation 
(“supporting” services)

130



24

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

So
ut

h 
Sa

sk
at

ch
ew

an
: M

aj
or

 R
iv

er
 B

as
in

s

131



25

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Water	quality	is	influenced	in	each	basin	and	sub-basin	by	the	unique	
features and land and water uses. All sub-basins are faced with contributions 
from both point and non-point sources. Generally, non-point sources are key 
considerations for water quality management in southern Alberta.

Overall,	water	quality	in	the	Bow	River	is	considered	good;	however,	it	
is	influenced	by	urban	treated	wastewater	and	storm	runoff	and	often	
deteriorates downstream from Calgary. The Oldman River generally has 
good water quality with concentrations of nutrients, bacteria and pesticides 
only occasionally exceeding water quality guidelines. However, concerns 
exist regarding the health of riparian areas and the impact of withdrawals and 
altered	flow	regimes	on	aquatic	ecosystems.

The South Saskatchewan River similarly has good water quality with 
occasional exceedances of nutrients, but is affected by negative impacts on 
riparian areas. Water quality in the Milk River is reported to be generally good 
(with	the	exception	of	certain	tributaries)	with	the	largest	influence	on	water	
quality	coming	from	enhanced	water	flows	diverted	through	Alberta	from	the	
United States under the provisions of the Boundary Waters Treaty.

Pressures on water resources in the South Saskatchewan Region are 
significant.	There	are	currently	more	than	20,000	water	allocation	licences	
and registrations, serving approximately 1.6 million people and a mix of 
institutions and industries. Among the major users is the agriculture industry, 
notably irrigation, which accounts for 75 per cent of total water allocation 
volumes	in	the	region.	This	is	supported	by	significant	investments	in	water	
infrastructure. As actual water use accounts for only a portion of allocation  
(55 per cent and 66 per cent for the municipal and irrigation use, 
respectively), actual consumption can be expected to increase as existing 
allocations are more fully utilized to meet the demands of growth. This 
demand and the resulting pressure on water resources are compounded 
by	periods	of	natural	low	flow	and	drought	experienced	periodically	by	the	
region.

Historic and current land uses have placed pressures on the watersheds 
within the South Saskatchewan Region. Degradation of riparian lands and 
loss of wetlands across the Prairies have been widespread leading to altered 
flow	regimes	and	degraded	water	quality.	Watershed	planning	and	advisory	
councils and other stewardship groups have successfully undertaken 
collaborative work to improve watershed health.

Flooding of the major rivers and their tributaries in southern Alberta has 
resulted	in	large	economic	costs	in	recent	decades.	Major	floods	occurred	
in	1995,	2005,	2010	and	most	notably	in	2013.	Although	flooding	is	a	
natural	occurrence	that	can	provide	benefits	to	the	environment,	land-
use	development	and	infrastructure	in	flood	hazard	areas	has	resulted	in	
significant	damage	when	flooding	occurs.

Point sources

Pollution that originates from one, 
easily identifiable cause or location.

 
Non-point sources

Pollution from diffuse points with no 
single point of origin.

Riparian Areas

Riparian areas are the lands adjacent 
to streams, rivers, lakes and wetlands 
where the vegetation and soils are 
strongly influenced by the presence of 
water. They are the place where water 
and land meet and interact. Riparian 
areas are critical in reducing the 
negative effects of various land uses 
on adjacent waters.

Wetlands

Lands that are saturated with water 
long enough to promote wetland or 
aquatic processes are indicated by 
poorly drained soils, water-loving 
vegetation and various kinds of 
biological activity which are adapted 
to a wet environment. Wetland areas 
provide clean water, wildlife viewing 
opportunities and other outdoor 
recreation activities. They also 
conserve soil and control erosion, 
retain sediments, absorb nutrients, 
degrade pesticides, store water and 
moderate impacts of floods and 
droughts, recharge aquifers and help 
to moderate climate change.

132



26

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Compared to surface water, groundwater is presently not a major source of 
water	in	the	South	Saskatchewan	Region;	however,	there	may	be	growing	
pressure placed on groundwater resources in the Bow, Oldman and South 
Saskatchewan river sub-basins since new surface water allocations are no 
longer available. Pressures on groundwater quality exist in localized areas 
across the region, with the associated potential for contamination of the 
aquifers. Once an aquifer becomes contaminated, remediation is extremely 
difficult	and	expensive.	Consequently,	groundwater	must	be	treated	as	a	
valuable resource that requires protection. Understanding recharge areas 
and the connection between surface water and groundwater is important for 
water management in southern Alberta.

Air Quality
An air zone that aligns with the South Saskatchewan Region boundaries has 
been delineated as part of Alberta’s implementation of the national Air Quality 
Management System. Place-based management is central to the Air Quality 
Management System, and air zones for air quality reporting and management 
across the province have been delineated in alignment with the regional 
boundaries of the Land-use Framework.

Air	quality	in	the	region	is	influenced	by	climate	and	weather	systems	as	
well as activities occurring inside and outside of the region. Activities in the 
region – including those in the municipal, industrial and other sectors – are 
associated with emissions of a variety of substances, including greenhouse 
gases, volatile organic compounds, nitrogen oxides, sulphur dioxide, 
hydrogen	sulphide,	fine	particulate	matter,	substances	that	lead	to	 
ground-level ozone and others.

The air quality in southern Alberta is generally rated as “low health risk,” 
according to the Alberta Air Quality Health Index (AQHI). Implemented in 
Alberta in 2011, the index is a tool designed to help people understand 
what ambient air quality means to their health and the health of others. In 
the South Saskatchewan Region, there are three communities where the 
AQHI is reported: Calgary, Lethbridge and Medicine Hat. In each of these 
communities, the AQHI is reported in real time and forecasted for the current 
day, evening and the next day.

Currently the largest source of greenhouse gas emissions in the province is 
coal-fired	electrical	generation	facilities.	Although	the	South	Saskatchewan	
Region does not currently contain any of these facilities, the growing 
population of the region is contributing to the increased demand for electricity, 
much	of	which	is	generated	by	coal-fired	facilities.

Human-caused greenhouse gas emissions are also generated from natural 
gas-fired	electrical	generation	facilities	and	the	production	and	burning	of	
fossil fuels for activities such as transportation, heating and use by industry, 
all of which have increased with the rising population.

Air Quality

Volatile organic compound: 
 A large group of chemicals 

containing carbon and hydrogen 
atoms that can react quickly to form 
other chemicals in atmosphere.

Nitrogen oxides (NOx): 
 A general term pertaining to 

compounds of NO, NO2, and other 
oxides of nitrogen, typically created 
during combustion processes.

Sulphur dioxide (SO2): 
 A strong smelling, colourless gas that 

is formed when fossil fuels, such as 
coal and natural gas, are burned.

Hydrogen sulphide (H2S): 
 A colourless gas with a rotten egg 

odour emitted from both natural and 
industrial sources.

Fine particulate matter (PM2.5): 
 Tiny particles in the atmosphere 

that are smaller than 2.5 microns, 
derived from both solid matter and 
liquid aerosols, that may form in 
the atmosphere or be emitted by 
any combustion source including 
automobiles, industrial and wood 
burning

Ozone (O3): 

 A light blue gas with a sharp odour 
that is found in the upper atmosphere 
(ozone layer) and formed near the 
ground by a reaction involving oxides 
of nitrogen (NOx) and volatile organic 

compounds 
(VOCs) in 
warm, sunny 
conditions.

133



27

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Historic Resources
The South Saskatchewan Region possesses a remarkably diverse natural 
and cultural history. The historic resources that embody this heritage 
are inextricably tied to the landscape. The South Saskatchewan Region 
contains a wealth of archaeological sites, the greatest concentration of 
palaeontological sites in Canada, a vibrant First Nations heritage, and diverse 
historic	sites	that	define	its	unique	character.

Increasing development and recreation are impacting these important historic 
resources. In order to preserve and protect historic resources, developers 
are required to submit, for review, their land-based development proposals 
for evaluation. Ensuring the integrity of historic resources before, during 
and	after	development	allows	future	generations	to	continue	to	benefit	from	
Alberta’s rich past while realizing future potential.

Environmental Management
The cumulative effects of population growth and economic development in 
the region are placing increasing pressures on the region’s air, water, land 
and biodiversity. The Government of Alberta is committed to responsible 
development and the province’s current environmental management 
system is intended to reduce and minimize the impacts of development on 
the environment. This system is supported by provincial policy, legislation, 
regulations and codes of practice which are implemented using a full range of 
both regulatory and non-regulatory tools.

Provincial Legislation

•	 Environmental Protection and Enhancement Act – Provides for the 
assessment and regulation of activities to minimize their environmental 
impacts, based on principles that include continuous improvement and 
pollution prevention. Activities are designated based on their level of 
risk, with higher-risks activities subject to increasing levels of regulatory 
oversight.

•	 Water Act – Provides for the allocation and use of Alberta’s water 
resources and the protection of rivers, streams, lakes and wetlands.

•	 Climate Change and Emissions Management Act – Provides for the 
management and reporting of emissions of carbon dioxide, methane and 
other	specified	gases,	and	requires	measurable	reductions	in	greenhouse	
gas	emissions	for	specified	activities.

•	 Provincial parks legislation (Provincial Parks Act and Wilderness 
Areas, Ecological Reserves, Natural Areas and Heritage Rangelands 
Act) – Plays an important role in protecting natural diversity and intact 
habitat for supporting biodiversity, in addition to ensuring a wide range of 
recreation opportunities and tourism experiences.

134



28

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

•	 Public Lands Act and Public Lands Administration Regulation 
– Provides for the setting of land disturbance standards and land 
conservation tools in support of biodiversity management.

•	 Forests Act – Provides for the sustainable management of Alberta’s 
forests, including a legislated requirement for reforestation.

•	 Wildlife Act – Provides for restrictions to protect as well as manage 
harvests of wildlife, addressing possession, sale and movement of wildlife 
and controlled animals, and designation and recovery of species at risk. 
Adds	safety	provisions	addressing	use	of	firearms	and	other	weapons	in	
hunting.

•	 Fisheries (Alberta) Act	–	Provides	for	the	licensing	of	fishing	activities	as	
well	as	measures	to	protect	fish	health,	provides	licenses	for	aquaculture,	
fish	import,	fish	stocking,	research	and	commercial	fish	processing.

•	 General Fisheries (Alberta) Regulation	–	Provides	for	fish	harvest	
quotas,	fishing	seasons	and	fishing	methods,	and	addresses	fish	stocking	
and possession.

•	 Responsible Energy Development Act	–	Provides	for	a	more	efficient	
and effective system for landowners, industry and the environment 
through a single regulator for oil, gas, oil sands and coal development.

•	 Mines and Minerals Act – Governs the management of rights in  
Crown-owned minerals, including the levying and collecting of bonuses, 
rentals and royalties.

•	 Historical Resources Act – Responsible for the preservation, 
interpretation and promotion of the appreciation of Alberta’s historical 
resources, as well as contributing to the regulation and approval of land 
development.

•	 Soil Conservation Act – Provides a framework for encouraging sound 
soil conservation practices, to preserve Alberta’s agricultural land base 
and to ensure long-term productivity in the farming sector.

•	 Agricultural Operation Practices Act – Provides a process for 
managing nuisance complaints resulting from agricultural activities and 
establishes a system for regulating manure management and permitting 
of	Confined	Feeding	Operations	(CFOs).	Regulations	under	the	Act	
define	siting	and	construction	standards	for	CFOs	and	Seasonal	Feeding	
and Bedding Sites as well as manure management requirements for all 
agricultural operations that handle manure.

•	 Weed Control Act – Regulates noxious weeds, prohibited noxious weeds 
and weed seeds through various control measures, such as inspection 
and enforcement. Additionally, it mandates the licensing of seed cleaning 
plants and mechanisms.

•	 Irrigation Districts Act – Provides for the formation, dissolution and 
governance of irrigation districts in order that the management and 
delivery	of	water	in	the	districts	occur	in	an	efficient	manner	that	provides	
for the needs of the users.

135



29

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

•	 Alberta Land Stewardship Act – Provides the legislative foundation for 
land-use planning in Alberta.

•	 Municipal Government Act – Provides the legislative framework to 
guide the operations of municipalities.

Provincial Strategies
In addition to legislation, a number of provincial strategies provide high-level 
direction on air, water, land, biodiversity and historic resource management 
goals and how Alberta will achieve these goals. More detailed operational 
policies take their direction from these higher level strategies and legislation, 
and	translate	them	into	more	clearly	defined	expectations.

Alberta has a strong water management system in place. Since 2003, the 
Water for Life strategy has provided a roadmap to achieving provincial goals 
of a safe, secure drinking water supply, healthy aquatic ecosystems and 
reliable	quality	water	supplies	for	a	sustainable	economy.	To	fulfill	these	
goals, the strategy revolves around the three key directions of knowledge and 
research, partnerships and water conservation.

The Approved Water Management Plan for the South Saskatchewan River 
Basin (See Appendix B – Overview of the Approved Water Management Plan 
for the South Saskatchewan River Basin) recognizes that the limit of water 
resources has been reached in the Bow, Oldman and South Saskatchewan 
River sub-basins. This plan establishes water conservation objectives 
for the three sub-basins and prohibits new applications for surface water 
allocation;	however,	it	authorizes	the	use	of	water	allocation	transfers	to	
accommodate growth and development. In general, surface water allocations 
are also no longer available from the rest of the planning area (including 
the Milk River Basin, and the Many Island and Pakowki terminal basins). 
Water management and allocation in the South Saskatchewan Region must 
accommodate commitments made under water-sharing agreements.

The Clearing the Air: Alberta’s Renewed Clean Air Strategy	reaffirms	Alberta’s	
commitment	to	the	wise	management	of	Alberta’s	air	quality	for	the	benefit	
of all Albertans. The strategy and action plan outline the strategic directions 
needed for the Government of Alberta, its partners and the public over the 
next 10 years to enhance Alberta’s existing air quality management system 
and to achieve the outcomes of the strategy.

The	Government	of	Alberta	recognizes	the	benefits	and	value	of	biodiversity	
and has worked with other provinces, territories and the Government of 
Canada to complete the Canadian Biodiversity Strategy. The province and 
other Canadian jurisdictions agreed to use the strategy as a guide for actions 
to conserve biodiversity and to use biological resources in a sustainable 
manner. A provincial biodiversity strategy is under development, and will 
support these national and international outcomes. The province delivers and 
supports	many	existing	programs,	initiatives	and	tools	that	benefit	biodiversity	
and landscapes, often in partnership with individuals, organizations, the 

Water conservation objectives 

Established under the provisions 
of the Water Act. A designated 
official under the Act, a Director, can 
establish “the amount and quality of 
water necessary for the

(i) protection of a natural water 
body or its aquatic environment, 
or any part of them,

(ii) protection of tourism, 
recreational, transportation 
or waste assimilation uses of 
water, or

(iii) management of fish or wildlife.”

Generally, a water conservation 
objective can be expressed in 
relation to a rate of flow needed or a 
water level needed. 

Master Agreement on 
Apportionment

Establishes the terms and conditions 
regarding water sharing with 
Saskatchewan. The agreement 
covers both water quantity and water 
quality.

Boundary Waters Treaty

Establishes the terms and conditions 
regarding water sharing with 
Montana. The agreement covers 
water quantity.

136



30

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

private sector and other governments. Examples include species recovery 
plans, the Enhanced Approvals Process (EAP) which outlines oil and gas 
development requirements, the Landscape Analysis Tool, the Grazing 
Leaseholders Code of Practice, forest management plans, operating ground 
rules and existing Public Land Use Zones to manage public access and 
related impacts to biodiversity and ecosystem function. Wildland Provincial 
Parks and other conservation designations (Heritage Rangelands, Natural 
Areas) are tools for conserving key biodiversity components into the long 
term.

The Government of Alberta values its heritage and endeavours to protect 
these resources for future generations through a land-based regulatory 
system. Development proposals are assessed using a variety of criteria, 
such as the Listing of Historic Resources and professional review. The 
Listing of Historic Resources	identifies	lands,	both	public	and	private,	which	
contain or have a high potential to contain historic resources. The listing is 
issued twice a year and provides industry and other developers with advance 
notification	of	possible	historic	resource	concerns.	If	an	historic	resource	may	
be impacted, the developer may be required to conduct a study or develop an 
avoidance strategy. Any studies conducted are evaluated and the developer 
may then be required to avoid the historic resource, or conduct additional 
studies prior to development occurring. Lands that contain important 
historic resources may also be designated as Provincial/Municipal Historic 
Resources, which provides them with protection from undue impacts.

Environmental Management Frameworks
The development and implementation of environmental management 
frameworks is a new approach being used by the Government of Alberta 
to accomplish cumulative effects management. Management frameworks 
establish outcomes and objectives along with the strategies and actions to 
achieve them. The frameworks are intended to provide context within which 
decisions about future activities and management of existing activities should 
occur.	They	confirm	regional	objectives	and	establish	thresholds.	They	
are intended to add to and complement, not replace or duplicate, existing 
policies, legislation, regulation and management tools.

Monitoring, Evaluation and Reporting
In order to understand the effectiveness of Alberta’s environmental 
management tools, the region’s air, water, land and biodiversity conditions 
are monitored, evaluated and reported on. Responding to the need for more 
rigorous environmental monitoring, the Government of Alberta is establishing 
an arm’s-length environmental monitoring agency to oversee monitoring 
across the province. Its centrally coordinated system will integrate the 
monitoring, evaluation and reporting of air, land, water and biodiversity.

137



31

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Human Development
The	South	Saskatchewan	Region	has	experienced	significant	population	
growth in the past 10 years, especially in urban areas, where approximately 
93 per cent of the population resides. Continued population growth is 
expected to be spurred on by the region’s strong economic expansion in key 
sectors which will create employment opportunities for many Albertans. This 
growth, occurring in and around municipalities, is facilitated by a business-
friendly	environment	and	opportunities	that	benefit	residents	in	the	local	
jurisdictions.

Today and in the future, Alberta must compete in a rapidly changing global 
economy for resources, investment, markets and people.  We must take 
a more deliberate and intentional approach to leveraging our advantages 
so that we can continue to be successful, and we must start today to 
create those future conditions.  Success requires better collaboration and 
coordination between government, post-secondary institutions, the research, 
innovation and commercialization system and the province’s business sector.  
Government will strengthen and focus these relationships by setting common 
strategic objectives and outcomes that are aligned around key current and 
emerging economic sectors.  Success requires the right people with the right 
skills.		We	will	create	a	more	efficient	and	relevant	post-secondary	system	in	
which our institutions work together to graduate students with the knowledge 
and skills that they need to excel in the economy of today and tomorrow. 
Success requires that we identify and foster research that creates ideas and 
discoveries that can be transformed into products, services and processes.  
We will bring research, innovation and commercialization together by aligning 
the research and innovation system and agenda in support of government’s 
priorities. Finally, our success requires a climate where Alberta’s businesses 
and workers are prosperous and productive and our diverse products, 
services and expertise can compete in the local and global economies.  
Government will take a more intentional approach to economic development 
by providing more strategic and responsive policies and tools that better 
connect and leverage Alberta’s advantages. 

Municipalities are responsible for the planning and development processes 
that ensure land is available for developments such as residential, 
commercial and industrial lands, municipal roads, and water and wastewater 
treatment facilities to accommodate population growth. Other important social 
infrastructure that contributes to sustainable communities such as schools, 
hospitals, seniors’ facilities, and cultural facilities are also needed in order to 
contribute to the overall quality of life.

138



32

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Alberta’s Social Policy Framework’s vision focuses on the creation of 
inclusive and welcoming communities, where every resident has opportunities 
to	fulfill	their	potential	and	benefit	from	a	thriving	social,	economic	and	cultural	
life.18 Decision-makers in the region will need to deliberately cooperate 
and coordinate their planning to meet the physical and social infrastructure 
needs of their communities, and to ensure the quality of life for all residents 
is enhanced in thriving urban and rural communities. The provision of 
both physical and social infrastructure, in response to growth, will require 
thoughtful planning in terms of how much land is needed to accommodate the 
region’s needs over the lifespan of the regional plan. To this end, both local 
and provincial authorities, and other stakeholders, will have to consider how 
best	to	use	the	lands	efficiently	while	minimizing	conflicts,	thus	producing	
significant	savings	on	infrastructure	costs.

In the major metropolitan area surrounding Calgary, there are tremendous 
pressures as well as opportunities to balance the needs of population 
growth;	namely,	protecting	the	natural	environment,	regional	servicing	
and transportation, accommodating industrial and residential growth, etc. 
In response to these pressures and opportunities the Calgary Regional 
Partnership, a volunteer organization of a number of municipalities, has been 
working on the Calgary Metropolitan Plan with a common goal of creating a 
plan to guide sustainable growth in the region.

A small percentage (approximately seven per cent) of the region’s 
population is rural and small town. In response, resilient and sustainable 
rural communities need to be strengthened as population growth tends to 
be much greater in urban areas including Calgary (Rocky View County), 
Lethbridge (the County of Lethbridge), and Medicine Hat (Cypress County). 
The Government of Alberta supports rural strategies developed by local 
governments and rural community organizations that help build capacity, 
take advantage of new economic opportunities and enhance local innovation, 
connectivity and stewardship.

To enhance rural Alberta as a viable place to live, Government of Alberta 
programming helps to facilitate the supply of services such as high-speed 
Internet, electricity, and a safe, secure water supply to rural areas. Initiatives 
such as the Final Mile Rural Community Program provide funds for local 
government-led projects to provide access to high-speed Internet in 
unserviced areas. Helping to reduce the high cost of conveying electricity 
for agricultural purposes, cost-share programs such as the Rural Electric 
Program provides grant assistance to those in rural areas. 

18 Alberta’s Social Policy Framework, February 2013, p. 22.

139



33

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Long-term water supply is a growing concern for many rural residents in 
Alberta, particularly in areas where groundwater supplies are restricted. 
Building on the Water for Life strategy, water supply-related programs under 
federal-provincial-territorial shared funding arrangements provide and secure 
water supply for domestic use and future economic growth. Delivering such 
programs and services is a key requirement to a vibrant rural economy and 
population.

The continued vitality of rural Alberta is being affected by an aging farming 
population and a lack of young farmers and new entrants to the agriculture 
and agri-food industry. Young farmers and new entrants to the agriculture 
industry are often deterred by many factors such as high start-up costs, 
agricultural	market	risk,	difficulty	in	transferring	farm	assets,	and	competing	
career opportunities for both farm owners and potential employees. A 
consequence of more farmers retiring than entering the industry is the 
consolidation of farms through the purchase and/or lease of farms from 
retirees. There are 43,23419 reporting farms in Alberta which is 13 per cent 
fewer	than	in	2006;	this	trend	has	been	evident	for	a	number	of	years.	
Offering	a	variety	of	programs	and	services	such	as	financial	loans,	grants,	
and extension services to young farmers and new entrants may help attract 
new producers and decrease the growing gap between retirees and new 
entrants, as well as allow for succession and growth among agricultural 
producers, and lower the average age of producers.

Governed through the Agricultural Societies Act, Agricultural Societies also 
encourage improvements in both agriculture and in the quality of life of 
small agricultural communities throughout rural Alberta. These provincially 
funded societies operate approximately 700 facilities province-wide, including 
facilities such as riding arenas, hockey and curling rinks and local community 
halls, all in support of active and vibrant rural communities. As of 2012, there 
were	285	primary	Agricultural	Societies	in	Alberta	that	received	significant	
provincial	funding;	approximately	60	of	these	are	in	the	South	Saskatchewan	
Region. In addition to the smaller community societies scattered throughout 
the region, there are two regional agricultural societies (the Lethbridge and 
District Exhibition and the Medicine Hat Exhibition and Stampede Company 
Ltd.), and one major agricultural society (the Calgary Stampede) that receive 
annual provincial funding. Along with the smaller community societies, these 
larger societies showcase Alberta’s western and agricultural heritage and 
culture.

First Nations have a long relationship within the South Saskatchewan Region 
and	beyond.	Significant	sites	memorialize	a	way	of	life	that	continues	today	in	
songs and ceremony. Traditional alliances provide meaningful opportunities 
for the aboriginal peoples to continue their ways of life in an autonomous 
fashion. Treaty 7 is a foundation for relations between First Nations and 
governments.

19 2011 Census of Agriculture

140



34

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Along with all Albertans, climate, water and energy security are of 
particular concern for First Nations. On-going consultation, engagement 
and relationship building are needed to provide consistency and clarity 
on decisions. Alberta will work with First Nations to establish innovative 
outreach legacy programs and promote environmental education that is 
meaningful, relevant and sensitive to First Nations culture. Alberta will also 
explore mechanisms to allow the meaningful participation of First Nations 
communities in regional planning processes and implementation, with 
particular focus on input into the management frameworks.

Some urban communities, native grasslands and forested areas in the 
region	are	at	risk	from	wildfires.	Alberta	will	continue	its	program	of	wildfire	
prevention	and	Community	FireSmart	program	to	reduce	wildfire	hazards	
near communities. The FireSmart program includes education, vegetation 
management, legislation and planning, development considerations, 
interagency cooperation, cross-training and emergency planning.

Recreation, active living and sport are key components of the wellness of 
Albertans20, their families and communities. Research shows that active living 
can help people live longer and enjoy a better quality of life as they age. 
There is also a growing body of research supporting the idea that access 
to nature is essential for the physical and emotional health of children and 
adults21. The Government of Alberta works with partners in municipalities, 
the	not-for	profit	sector	and	the	education	system	to	provide	recreation,	
active living and sport opportunities where people learn, live and work. These 
organizations are supported through various grants and special projects 
to continue their work and the valuable role they play in Albertans’ lives. 
Thirteen provincial active living associations and 103 provincial sport and 
recreation associations are provided annual funding for this purpose.

The demand for outdoor recreational opportunities such as camping, hunting, 
fishing,	ski	touring,	paddling	and	trail	use	is	growing,	and	these	forms	of	
active	living	are	a	significant	aspect	of	the	quality	of	life	in	the	region.	The	
provincial parks system provides a wide variety of outdoor recreational and 
educational experiences to visitors and helps to conserve biodiversity of 
natural landscapes. Existing provincial park recreation amenities in the region 
are generally at or over capacity and demand will increase as the region’s 
population grows. 

The use of motorized recreation vehicles is popular within the region and 
ensures people of all ages and mobility can access the natural experiences 
the region offers. However, an increase in random use is contributing to 
environmental	impacts,	public	safety	issues	and	conflict	among	land	users.

20 Active Alberta, 2011 
21 Active Alberta, 2011

141



35

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Historic resources represent the natural and cultural history of a landscape 
that is valued for its ability to link Alberta’s past with its present. Careful 
management and protection of these fragile and non-renewable resources in 
land-use development planning ensures they retain their conservation value 
for future generations. As an example, the region is home to 220 protected 
historic places and thousands of archaeological/palaeontological sites. 
Researching these sites and interpreting their history enhances the quality of 
life for the region’s residents and all Albertans.

Governments and citizens share the important responsibility of safeguarding 
and enhancing culture for future generations. The restoration, preservation 
and protection of the tangible objects and intangible elements of our culture 
and identity are paramount to the sustainability of Alberta’s strong and vibrant 
cultural heritage. The Government of Alberta recognizes and encourages the 
important	role	played	by	volunteers	and	non-profit	organizations	in	governing,	
managing and supporting our cultural resources and continues to support 
provincial cultural facilities and its foundations.

The Future of the Region

Regional Vision
The	vision	for	the	South	Saskatchewan	Region	reflects	the	Land-use	
Framework’s vision of Albertans working together to respect and care for the 
land as the foundation of our economic, environmental and social well-being.

Vision for the South Saskatchewan Region

Southern Alberta is a diverse, healthy, vibrant and prosperous 
region where the natural beauty of the mountains, foothills, 

farmlands and prairies are managed so that citizens feel 
connected to the land and its history. The region is a thriving place 
that offers a wide range of opportunities to residents and visitors 
alike. Social, economic and environmental values are effectively 
achieved with shared stewardship and an integrated approach. 
The quality and integrity of the landscape is sustained through 

the use of science, innovative thinking, traditional aboriginal and 
community knowledge, recognizing the interests of all Albertans.

The South Saskatchewan Region has a diverse economy, with sectors 
including agriculture, energy production, manufacturing, forestry, tourism 
and recreation. It is one of the most populated regions in the province, 
containing approximately 45 per cent of Alberta’s population, as well as the 
province’s largest city, Calgary. The City of Calgary is home to a number of 
growing industries, including energy (conventional oil and gas as well as 
renewable	energy),	financial	services,	information	and	cultural	industries,	and	
transportation.

142



36

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

The region has consistently been a strong economic driver. Between 2000 
and 2010, the economy grew by more than 28 per cent, the number of 
workers in the region grew by 29 per cent, and the population climbed by 
more than 28 per cent. As of March 31, 2013, more than 280 new projects are 
proposed or under construction, including over 30 projects in the agriculture, 
energy, forestry and tourism sectors worth more than $21 billion dollars.

Effective management of water and watersheds will be critical to achieving 
a diverse, healthy, vibrant and prosperous region. The economy of southern 
Alberta will continue to rely on having secure water resources, as water is 
essential for human needs and ecosystem health, and directly supports 
quality of life. The effective management of biodiversity and sustainability 
of ecosystem health are also essential. While water will continue to be a 
centrepiece for the future of the region, entire watersheds must be managed 
through a cumulative effects management approach. This approach 
recognizes that airsheds, watersheds and landscapes have limited carrying 
capacity, and that air, water, land and biodiversity are all intimately connected.

It is also critical that Alberta attracts and retains a skilled workforce required 
to support the economic outcomes. By working together, governments and 
industry can go further to ensure the quality of life in the region meets the 
expectations of its residents. To support achieving this, deliberate steps must 
be taken to enhance recreation opportunities in the region.

Infrastructure to support economic development and sustainable communities 
also needs to be considered. In order to maximize the potential of the region, 
a new systematic and holistic way of looking at the impacts of development is 
required.

The successful development of a thriving community requires active 
volunteerism	and	a	strong	non-profit	sector,	solid	partnerships	and	sharing	
of responsibility among the Government of Alberta, the private sector, 
community organizations, other government agencies and the general public. 

Optimizing our human potential means cultivating Albertans’ knowledge 
and skills throughout their lives and developing, attracting and retaining the 
talented workforce our economy demands. Government will provide strategic 
direction to align our post-secondary education system with the needs of 
students, entrepreneurs, business and communities, and continue to attract 
and retain talented workers.

143



37

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

How We Will Achieve the Vision
Successfully achieving the regional vision requires new and improved 
approaches and tools for managing our lands and natural resources. These 
shifts are already underway, as shown by major Government of Alberta policy 
frameworks and strategies including the Provincial Energy Strategy;	Water for 
Life;	Clearing the Air: Alberta’s Renewed Clean Air Strategy;	and	the	Plan for 
Parks. The SSRP translates these to the regional context and builds on them 
by setting out strategic directions that will support achievement of the vision 
and outcomes.

Strategic Directions for the Region
Strategic directions include:

•	 Conserving	and	maintaining	the	benefits	of	biodiversity;

•	 Advancing	conservation	and	integrated	management	of	Crown	land;

•	 Supporting	and	enabling	stewardship	and	conservation	on	private	lands;

•	 Advancing	watershed	management;

•	 Managing	air	quality	through	continued	collaboration;

•	 Strengthening	communities;

•	 Providing	recreation	and	tourism	opportunities,	active	living	and	the	
preservation and promotion of the region’s unique cultural and natural 
heritage;	and

•	 Inclusion	of	aboriginal	peoples	in	land-use	planning.

The South Saskatchewan Region has a long history of strong economic 
growth, largely in the agriculture and oil and gas sectors, but with support 
from forestry, mining and tourism. It is expected that this trend will continue. 
The region’s major cities are home to a range of education, business and 
financial	services,	as	well	as	other	industries	that	continue	to	contribute	
significant	benefits	to	people	living	in	the	region	and	the	rest	of	Alberta.	

Economic growth is the key to future prosperity in the region, and a strong 
investment climate will allow for a productive and responsive economy. To 
support this, the Government of Alberta will enable a competitive marketplace 
through	support	for	innovation,	education,	infrastructure,	and	efficient	and	
effective regulation. Enhancing these factors will allow the region to diversify 
and develop employment opportunities across industry sectors.

The maintenance and enhancement of the region’s natural resources is the 
platform for continued economic growth and success, which brings with it 
tremendous	benefits	to	people	in	the	region,	the	rest	of	Alberta	and	Canada.

144



38

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

The Government of Alberta will continue implementation of:

•	 Focusing on What Matters,	the	final	report	of	the	Red	Tape	Reduction	
Task	Force;	

•	 The	Building and Educating Tomorrow’s Workforce Strategy to develop 
the knowledge and skills of Albertans, attract and retain workers in our 
labour	market,	and	improve	workplace	productivity;

•	 Energizing Investment: A Framework to Improve Alberta’s Natural Gas 
and Conventional Competitiveness, which positions the province as one 
of	the	most	competitive	destinations	for	energy	investment;	and

•	 Enhancing Assurance: Report and Recommendations of the Regulatory 
Enhancement Task Force to the Minister of Energy to create an energy 
regulatory system that provides clarity, predictability, certainty and 
efficiency	for	Alberta’s	energy	industry.

•	 The	Property	Rights	Advocate	Office.

Conserving and Maintaining the Benefits of Biodiversity
Understanding the complexity of biodiversity and functioning ecosystems 
across	the	different	landscapes	of	the	region	is	a	challenge.	The	benefits	
we receive from biodiversity and healthy functioning ecosystems are critical 
components to the ongoing prosperity of all Albertans. However, these natural 
features are sensitive to the impacts of human development. Biological 
responses to human-caused changes on the landscape are complex and 
difficult	to	predict,	monitor,	and	respond	to.	Alberta’s	historic	development	
and more recent, rapid growth is impacting the province’s natural biodiversity 
assets and ecosystems. The Government of Alberta is committed to using an 
integrated approach to address these changes and to manage the impacts of 
multiple land-use demands and pressures.

Objectives will be established for biodiversity in the region, and an 
appropriate suite of biodiversity indicators that can be measured to assess 
if	those	objectives	are	being	achieved	will	be	identified.	This	will	be	done	
under this regional plan through development of a biodiversity management 
framework. A secondary intent of the management framework will be to 
support assessment of the health of ecosystems and the ecosystem services 
they provide.

Cumulative effects are considered to be the combined effects of past, present 
and reasonably foreseeable future land-use activities on the environment. 
Although past cumulative effects are considered it is not the intention of 
the biodiversity management framework to return Alberta to the levels of 
biodiversity found prior to European settlement. Today’s Alberta includes 
working landscapes, and the Land-use Framework acknowledges the need 
to balance environmental, social and economic considerations. The focus of 
the framework is from today into the future, where information from modeled 
predictions of the past conditions could inform decision-making about desired 
future conditions.

145



39

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Linked to the maintenance of biodiversity is the conservation of landscapes. 
Conserving a range of landscape types representative of Alberta’s natural 
diversity provides for habitat that will support and maintain species and 
other aspects of biological diversity that depend on these landscapes. 
Alberta’s	Natural	Regions	Landscape	Classification	Framework	identifies	
natural landscapes found in the province. Targets are in place for all natural 
landscape types within each of the province’s six Natural Regions and 21 
Natural Sub-regions (see Appendix C – Alberta’s Natural Sub-regions).

Connectivity of wildlife habitat across landscapes is also an important 
factor in maintaining biodiversity. The southeast area of the region provides 
important connections for wildlife movement between Alberta, Montana and 
Saskatchewan. Additionally the southern Rocky Mountain areas are critical 
to the long-term survival of grizzly bears, wolverines and lynx which require 
habitat connectivity from Montana north and through Kananaskis.

Achieving the objectives for biodiversity, functioning ecosystems and natural 
landscapes will require a full range of management approaches and tools 
in order to address the complex mix of public lands and private land and 
how they can contribute to those objectives. This means further advancing 
conservation and integrated management of Crown land, and supporting and 
enabling voluntary stewardship and conservation on private land.

Advancing Conservation and Integrated Management of  
Crown Land

Conservation Areas

Conservation areas support the achievement of environmental objectives 
– especially those for biodiversity – by maintaining ecological systems and 
processes for biodiversity. They also provide benchmark areas for assessing 
ecological integrity. 

In the eastern slopes, protection of headwaters and water security is a 
management priority. Key areas focusing on the prime protection zone 
described in the Eastern Slopes Policy, with sensitive upper headwaters, 
will be legislatively protected as Wildland provincial parks and will support 
watershed management values, maintain healthy ecosystems and conserve 
important habitats (e.g., grizzly bear recovery).

The Castle area borders Waterton National Park and is located within 
the Crown of the Continent (the area of the Rocky Mountains where 
Alberta, British Columbia and Montana meet) and is valued for its diverse 
ecosystems. A variety of conservation management approaches will be 
used in this area. A Wildland Provincial Park will be established for the 
prime protection zone. A Public Land Use Zone for conservation purposes 
will be established under the Public Lands Act in the adjacent lower valley 
areas of the Castle, to be referred to as the Castle Conservation Area. 
The management intent of these areas will be maintaining biodiversity and 
headwaters protection. Forestry practices which support this management 

Conservation Areas

Definition:

A clearly defined geographical 
space dedicated and managed to 
achieve the long-term conservation 
of biological diversity and ecosystem 
process.

Management Intent: 

Legally protect areas that are 
relatively undisturbed. They retain 
their natural character and influence 
and are areas for measuring 
ecological performance in relation to 
human development.

Key Criteria for Conservation 
Areas

• Areas with little to no industrial 
activity;

• Areas that support aboriginal 
traditional uses;

• Areas that are representative 
of the biological diversity of the 
area (e.g., landforms, species, 
vegetation); and

• Areas of sufficient size. 

146



40

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

intent will be permitted in the Castle Conservation Area. Enhanced forestry 
practices may include winter only operations, restricted access, and 
enhanced buffer zones on riparian areas. Conservation of this area secures 
an important connection between the Alberta provincial parks system to the 
north, the British Columbia parks system to the west and Waterton-Glacier 
International Park to the south.

Currently, approximately 22 per cent of the region’s eastern slopes are 
protected as provincial conservation areas. The new and expanded 
conservation areas add an additional 11 per cent – to a total of more than  
33 per cent of the eastern slopes in the region to be managed as 
conservation areas (see Schedule C – SSRP Land Uses). 

A new conservation area will be established in the Pekisko area on public 
lands to preserve and protect the natural features representative of 
Alberta’s prairies, using grazing to maintain the grassland ecology. It will 
offer opportunities to provide important habitat and support maintenance of 
healthy ecosystems. Not only will the establishment of the Pekisko Heritage 
Rangeland double the legislative protection of the Foothills Parkland Sub-
region from 42 per cent to 84 per cent of the target (that is, Foothills Parkland 
Sub-region - See Appendix C - Alberta’s Natural Sub-region) it also responds 
to concerns about competing land-use impacts on important rangelands in 
the area and recognizes efforts of local stakeholders. Opportunities for further 
conservation management approaches will be explored with stakeholders 
in	areas	of	grasslands	where	there	are	significant	gaps	in	protection	for	
grasslands Natural Sub-regions, and where there is important habitat.

Conservation areas will be managed to minimize or prevent new land 
disturbance. This means the land disturbance associated with oil and gas, 
mining, cultivated agriculture and commercial forestry operations are not 
considered compatible with the management intent of conservation areas. 
However, those with freehold rights will not be subject to this restriction. 
Existing grazing activities will continue as carefully managed cattle grazing 
and traditional ranching practices on long-term grazing leases continue to 
contribute to the ecological health of large tracts of the remaining native 
grasslands.

Petroleum and natural gas tenure will be honoured, consistent with current 
policy. The Government of Alberta will work cooperatively with companies that 
have existing commitments to ensure surface access impacts are minimized 
while still honouring commitments. New petroleum and natural gas tenure 
sold in a conservation area will include a restriction that prohibits surface 
access.

Conservation areas will be managed to provide low-impact backcountry 
recreation opportunities and nature-based tourism products and services. 
Recreational leases will be considered based on the management intent of 
conservation areas, and existing recreational leases will be honoured.

147



41

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Hunting,	fishing	and	trapping	(including	by	aboriginal	peoples)	will	continue	
in accordance with existing provincial laws governing such activities 
as such laws may be amended or replaced from time to time. Hunting 
includes	commercial	guiding	and	outfitting	operations	where	wildlife	species	
management plans provide an allocation for that use. The reduction in land 
disturbance is expected to enhance opportunities for these activities.

Where it is permitted off-highway vehicle use in Wildland Provincial Parks 
and the Castle Conservation Area will be managed to designated trails and 
areas to mitigate potential impacts to biodiversity associated with random 
motorized access. The Government of Alberta will engage with First Nations 
and stakeholders on initiatives to designate motorized access such as 
identification	of	trails	or	areas	when	developing	the	regional	trail	system	plan.		

Off-highway vehicle use is permitted on existing trails and areas or where 
a	management	plan,	trails	plan	or	regulation	specifies.	In	areas	where	
designation of trails has not yet occurred, use of existing access can 
continue, but no new trails or routes or access may be developed without an 
access management plan. No motorized access is permitted in wetlands and 
water courses. Off-highway vehicle use will continue to be prohibited in the 
beds and shores of permanent water bodies.

Eastern Slopes – Green Area Public Land

In the Green Area, public land is managed for timber production, watershed, 
resource	development,	wildlife	and	fisheries,	recreation	and	other	uses.	
Agricultural use is limited to grazing where it is compatible with other uses. 
Grazing on public land in the Rocky Mountain Forest Reserve (headwaters of 
the North and South Saskatchewan rivers) is administered under the Forest 
Reserves Act. The remainder of grazing in the Green Area is administered 
under the Public Lands Act.

Significant	portions	of	the	Green	Area	public	lands	are	experiencing	
cumulative	impacts	on	land,	headwaters,	watersheds,	native	fisheries,	and	
important habitat that supports grizzly bear recovery and other aspects of 
biodiversity due to industrial development, recreation and other uses that 
increase linear footprint. Objectives for biodiversity and healthy ecosystem 
function will be incorporated as part of multiple objectives for the Green Area. 
A	specific	focus	is	on	grizzly	bear	recovery	–	the	priority	species	at	risk	in	this	
portion of the region. A combination of approaches will be used to achieve the 
objectives and address cumulative impacts on the landscape.

There will be enhanced management of human footprint. Linear footprint 
disturbance will be minimized through linear footprint management planning 
with an initial focus on key headwater areas and core grizzly bear habitat 
areas. In conjunction with this, there will also be accelerated recreation 
planning in priority areas to address needs for access to recreational 
opportunities. A focus will be to collaboratively develop an integrated trail 
system, appropriate access and staging opportunities and a range of facilities 
to meet the range of needs and desires for recreational experiences. Existing 

148



42

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

So
ut

h 
Sa

sk
at

ch
ew

an
: G

re
en

 a
nd

 W
hi

te
 A

re
as

149



43

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

access management plans will be expanded upon and stakeholder work used 
to support comprehensive and integrated recreation and access management 
planning. North Castle, Porcupine Hills, Livingstone and Willow Creek areas 
have	been	identified	as	priority	locations	for	creating	comprehensive	and	
integrated recreation and access management plans.

There are a number of Integrated Resource Plans, a number of Public Land 
Use Zones, surface requirements under the Public Lands Act;	subsurface	
restrictions	on	sales	of	mineral	rights;	and	voluntary	practices	such	as	
Integrated Land Management to support minimizing human footprint. An 
integrated planning approach is needed to meet multiple objectives and help 
reduce	conflicts	between	various	users.

The existing Integrated Resource Plans will be reviewed and incorporated as 
appropriate under the implementation strategies of this regional plan or future 
sub-regional	or	issues	specific	plans	developed	within	the	region.		Public	
Land Use Zones (PLUZ) will be consolidated and expanded to provide the 
ability to more effectively manage public land across the Green Area and 
address priority issues such as protection of watercourses and sensitive 
areas. Existing surface and subsurface requirements will be assessed to 
ensure clarity and consistency and alignment with the direction of the regional 
plan.  

Grasslands – White Area Public Land

In the White Area, public land is part of the agricultural landscape. It is 
managed for various uses including agriculture, recreation, soil and water 
conservation,	resource	development	and	fish	and	wildlife	habitat.	Some	
parts of the province have large tracts of public land while other parts have 
very few scattered parcels. Most of the public land in the White Area is under 
disposition or is otherwise committed. The unique aspect of the White Area in 
this region is that these lands contain native prairie which are grasslands with 
high ecological value for biodiversity and watershed protection. These lands 
are habitat for the majority of species currently designated at risk in Alberta. 
While the management intent for agriculture and infrastructure on these lands 
will	not	change,	there	will	be	additional	clarification	regarding	multiple	uses	of	
the White Area public land, which is maintaining intact native grasslands and 
habitat as a high priority.

Existing grazing activities will continue as carefully managed cattle grazing 
and traditional ranching practices on long-term grazing leases contribute 
to	the	ecological	health	of	large	tracts	of	the	continent’s	finest	remaining	
native grasslands. A combination of approaches will be used to achieve the 
objectives and address cumulative impacts on the landscape. There will be 
enhanced management of linear footprint. Linear footprint disturbance will be 
minimized through linear footprint management planning in the White Area 
public land with an initial focus on the southeast corner of the region. This 
will be coordinated with other initiatives in the area including conservation 
offset pilots and species at risk conservation programs. Existing surface 
and subsurface requirements will be assessed to ensure clarity, consistency 

150



44

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

and alignment with the direction of the regional plan. Conversion of native 
grasslands to other uses such as cultivation-based agriculture, tame 
pasture or facility developments will be minimized. Opportunities for further 
conservation in the future will be explored working with key stakeholders and 
the public. Through these collaborative efforts, gaps in the Grassland Natural 
Region	under	Alberta’s	Natural	Region	Landscape	Classification	Framework	
may	be	filled.

Partnerships

The Government of Alberta values and wants to strengthen the support and 
contributions it receives from partners in maintaining biodiversity on public 
land. Collaborative stewardship with many organizations such as grazing 
associations, conservation organizations, watershed planning and advisory 
councils, watershed stewardship groups, invasive plant management 
working groups and other local organizations and stewardship groups, as 
well as responsible individual users of provincial crown lands all contribute to 
maintaining the region’s rich biodiversity.

The management of provincial Crown lands in the South Saskatchewan 
Region also includes stewardship efforts to protect historic resource values. 
Integrated decision-making related to the environment and historic resources 
will support achievement of mutually supportive environmental and cultural 
outcomes.

Supporting and Enabling Stewardship and Conservation for Private 
Lands
Alberta farmers and ranchers have a strong tradition of land stewardship and 
conservation – whether working alone, or in partnership with the Government 
of Alberta, local authorities, producer groups, watershed stewardship groups, 
conservation groups and various land trust organizations. The landscapes 
many Albertans value today are a result of their efforts.

However, Alberta’s landscapes and the ecosystem services they provide 
are being strained from a combination of pressures such as population 
growth, climate change and industrial development which are impacting 
limited ecosystem resources. In addition, farmers and ranchers and their 
communities are dependent on the economic returns they earn from the land. 
Therefore, as part of a provincial approach for management of ecosystem 
services, new methods and strategies must be explored and developed to 
encourage the provision of a broad suite of ecosystem services by private 
landowners. These approaches may include voluntary opportunities that 
not only recognize the value of current contributions, but which explore 
opportunities that reward additional stewardship efforts by private landowners 
in the region. The Government of Alberta is committed to the exploration 
and	facilitation	of	economic	tools,	such	as	financial	incentives,	as	well	as	
the development of market-based instruments for ecosystem services that 
are voluntary in nature and which provide business opportunities for private 
landowners.

151



45

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

The biodiversity management framework for the region will identify objectives 
and some key indicators related to grasslands which could be a focus for 
voluntary private land conservation efforts. The framework will also provide 
guidance to the Land Trust Grant Program which contributes to private land 
conservation by providing grants to land trust organizations for purchase of 
conservation easements and the administration and management of new 
conservation projects on private land.

Advancing Watershed Management
Southern Alberta has rich and varied landscapes with water playing an 
essential role across the region. The complex relationship between the water, 
the land and all those that live on it has been recognized and our collective 
knowledge, understanding and appreciation of this complexity has grown and 
improved	significantly	over	time.	With	increasing	pressures	and	demands,	
we must continue to advance an integrated view across water supply, water 
quality and aquatic ecosystems in the region. The province’s existing system 
for management of water and watersheds will continue to be the foundation 
we work from, with enhancements made to support that integration. The 2013 
water conversations will inform provincial policy on water and watersheds and 
will result in enhanced water management in this region.

To the west in the region, the eastern slopes of the Rocky Mountains provide 
the major headwaters for the region and more than 75 per cent of the region’s 
water supplies. Recognizing the priority for headwaters management and 
protection, for both water supply and water quality, is a key element of this 
regional plan.

To the east and the south, southern Alberta must continue to meet its 
transboundary obligations under the Master Agreement on Apportionment 
and the Boundary Waters Treaty. Both of these transboundary water 
management agreements were developed in a spirit of cooperation which is 
the basis of our relationships with our neighbours.

It is important to continue to use collaborative approaches, and to maintain 
and build partnerships in the region. A key partnership under Water for Life 
strategy is with the watershed planning and advisory councils. These councils 
have demonstrated leadership in their contributions to watershed assessment 
and planning in the region, and the Government of Alberta is committed to 
enhancing its relationship with them.

The Approved Water Management Plan for the South Saskatchewan River 
Basin continues to provide important guidance for water management in the 
region. It establishes the limit of the water resource for the Bow, Oldman 
and	South	Saskatchewan	River	sub-basins;	recommends	an	interim	limit	
of	the	water	resource	for	the	Red	Deer	River	sub-basin;	and	establishes	
water	conservation	objectives	for	instream	flow.	The	Milk	River	does	not	
currently have an approved water management plan, but the international 

152



46

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Boundary Waters Treaty	has	a	significant	influence	on	this	basin	through	
the	identification	of	how	the	available	water	must	be	shared	for	both	the	Milk	
River and the St. Mary River in Montana.

Matching water supply and demand is a key challenge throughout the 
South Saskatchewan Region. Continued population growth and economic 
development	will	depend	on	using	the	existing	water	allocations	as	efficiently	
and effectively as possible. Alberta’s Water for Life strategy has established 
a	provincial	target	of	30	per	cent	improvement	in	water	use	efficiency	and	
productivity by 2015, based on 2005 levels. This target will continue to 
be pursued in the region through implementation of water conservation, 
efficiency	and	productivity	plans	development	by	the	seven	major	water-using	
sectors.

Significant	investment	in	water	management	infrastructure	has	been	made	
in the region. It is important that this investment continue to be protected so 
it can continue to provide a range of economic, environmental and social 
benefits	into	the	future.	On-and-off-stream	storage	that	is	part	of	the	public	
infrastructure is one of the management tools that can contribute to the goals 
of	conservation,	productivity	and	efficiency.	In	addition,	although	existing	
storage	infrastructure	is	not	designed	for	flood	attenuation,	there	can	be	
some capacity for dampening the severity when managed for this intent.

Compounding the challenge of matching water supply and demand in the 
region are other factors that will alter the amount of available water in the 
future, such as climatic conditions. Planning to support climate change 
adaptation,	and	ensure	preparedness	for	drought	management	and	flood	
response are all essential to ensuring the region can be resilient and adapt to 
changing conditions over time.

Appropriate	flood	management	contributes	to	long-term	community	
sustainability	and	resiliency.	Mitigating	impacts	from	flooding	reduces	risk	
to public safety, developments and infrastructure, provides environmental 
benefits	and	results	in	savings	in	tax	dollars	for	post-flood	recovery	
costs.	This	can	be	achieved	through	enhancements	to	the	existing	flood	
management systems used by both the Government of Alberta and 
municipalities. This includes improved development practices and use of 
flood	management	tools	and	infrastructure,	and	by	making	better	land-use	
decisions	in	flood	hazard	areas.

Currently water quality is managed in the region based on provincial policy, 
legislation and regulations, including ambient water quality guidelines and 
the	use	of	beneficial	management	practices	by	landowners.	The	emphasis	
has been on ensuring effective regulation of point-source discharges. Under 
this regional plan, a management framework for surface water quality for the 
main stems of the Bow, Milk, Oldman and South Saskatchewan rivers will be 
implemented to add to and complement, not replace or duplicate the existing 
policies, legislation, regulations and management tools. This new approach 
will support management of the cumulative effects of all development.

153



47

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

The framework is a proactive and dynamic management approach that will 
help	ensure	negative	trends	are	identified	and	assessed,	regional	limits	
are not exceeded and the environment remains healthy for the region’s 
residents and ecosystems. Management responses provide opportunities for 
collaborative	work	with	governments	and	stakeholders	in	the	region	to	find	
options and solutions. Understanding and managing non-point sources using 
a combination of both non-regulatory and regulatory tools will be important to 
achieving water quality objectives in this region. The watershed planning and 
advisory councils and associated stewardship groups will be key contributors 
to implementation of the framework.

Groundwater is important in some local areas in the region and they are 
experiencing increasing pressure within those basins that have water 
allocation restrictions. Priority areas for groundwater management are 
being	confirmed.	A	knowledge	base	is	needed	prior	to	selecting	the	most	
appropriate groundwater management approach to ensure groundwater 
quantity and quality are sustained.

The use of hydraulic fracturing is not new in Alberta. Currently oil and 
natural gas developments using hydraulic fracturing are regulated under the 
same regulatory framework as other oil and gas projects in the province. 
In recent years, advances in hydraulic fracturing technology have made it 
economical to produce oil and natural gas resources from formations which 
were previously unsuitable for development and this has introduced a new 
pressure on surface and groundwater in the region. 

In addition to water supply and the water quality, the Government of Alberta 
is looking at aquatic ecosystems including management needs for riparian 
lands, wetlands and watersheds. Cumulative impacts from agriculture, 
resource	development,	tourism	and	recreation,	forestry,	wildfire	and	urban	
development affect water supplies, water quality, aquatic ecosystems 
and	wildlife	habitat.	The	environmentally	significant	areas	assessment	
and	mapping	provides	information	on	areas	that	significantly	contribute	to	
maintaining healthy aquatic ecosystems.

Riparian lands are important as they are highly productive, rich and resilient 
parts of the landscape. The Alberta Water Council is currently leading 
a collaborative initiative with the purpose of enhancing knowledge and 
providing recommendations for effective conservation and management of 
riparian land in support of goals in Water for Life. The Government of Alberta 
will consider the recommendations when this work is completed. Existing 
initiatives such as the Alberta Riparian Habitat Management Society program 
(better known as “Cows and Fish”) highlight the stewardship commitment 
and positive contributions of landowners to riparian health. The continued 
implementation of voluntary approaches such as Stepping Back from the 
Water provide practices intended to assist local authorities and watershed 
groups with policy creation, decision-making and watershed management 
relative to structural development near water bodies.

154



48

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Wetlands are highly diverse and complex ecosystems and have long been 
recognized for the contributions they make to human and ecosystem health. 
They	provide	benefits	including	resiliency	to	drought	and	flood	conditions,	
water	purification,	groundwater	recharge,	and	recreational	opportunities,	and	
they are centres of high biodiversity. In southern Alberta approximately  
64 per cent of wetlands have disappeared since the beginning of settlement. 
The Government of Alberta has approved the Alberta Wetland Policy 
which will replace the current interim wetland policy, Wetland Management 
in the Settled Area of Alberta – An Interim Policy, as it is implemented. 
Implementation of the Alberta Wetland Policy will take into consideration the 
regional context including the past and current pressures on these areas. 
The Government of Alberta is also committed to increasing knowledge and 
mapping of wetlands, including standardizing and updating the existing 
wetland inventory and working with partners where appropriate.

Aquatic invasive species are of concern for maintaining healthy aquatic 
ecosystems. The current focus is on preventing the establishment of the 
three most noxious aquatic invasive species: zebra mussels, quagga mussels 
and Eurasian water-milfoil. In addition to aquatic ecosystem impacts, there 
are high economic costs associated with affected water infrastructure. The 
Government of Alberta is committed to continued prevention and control 
work with multi-jurisdictional organizations such as the Crown Managers 
Partnership (Crown of the Continent).

Managing Air Quality through Continued Collaboration
The Renewed Clean Air Strategy enhances the existing provincial air 
quality management system by incorporating direction from the national Air 
Quality Management System. Alberta has endorsed the national Air Quality 
Management System as a comprehensive approach for improving air quality 
in Canada. It is the product of unprecedented collaboration by the federal, 
provincial and territorial governments and stakeholders.

Collaborative approaches through the Clean Air Strategic Alliance (CASA) 
and local airshed groups have been important in the province and the region 
for effective air quality management. As the national Air Quality Management 
System continues to be implemented in Alberta, it is important to continue to 
support and maintain effective partnerships and collaborative approaches in 
the region.

Currently, air quality is managed in the region based on provincial policy, 
legislation and regulations including ambient air quality objectives. The 
emphasis has been on ensuring effective regulation of point source 
emissions. A management framework for air quality will be implemented 
to add to and complement, not replace or duplicate, the existing policies, 
legislation, regulations and management tools. The new approach will 
support management of the cumulative effects of all development.

Renewed Clean Air Strategy

Clearing the Air:  Alberta’s 
Renewed Clean Air Strategy 
articulates a shared Government of 
Alberta commitment to enhancing 
Alberta’s air quality management. 
It is an expression of the Integrated 
Resource Management System 
and sets the Government of 
Alberta’s focused agenda for air.

The strategy’s goals are to assure 
that:

• the well-being of Albertans is 
supported by effective air quality 
management; 

• air quality will maintain, protect 
and sustain healthy ecosystems; 
and 

• air quality management will 
continue to support economic 
sustainability. 

The four key areas for 
enhancements are:

1. regional air management 
including complementary 
management of point and  
non-point emission sources;

2. shared responsibility and 
partnerships;

3. integrated monitoring, evaluation 
and reporting; and

4. knowledge enhancement.

155



49

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

The framework is a proactive and dynamic management approach that will 
help	ensure	negative	trends	are	identified	and	assessed,	regional	limits	
are not exceeded and the environment remains healthy for the region’s 
residents and ecosystems. Management responses provide opportunities 
for	collaborative	work	with	government	and	stakeholders	in	the	region	to	find	
options and solutions. Understanding and managing non-point sources using 
a combination of both non-regulatory and regulatory tools will be important to 
achieving air quality objectives in this region. It is expected that local airshed 
groups in the region will be contributors to implementation of the air quality 
framework in the region.

While the management framework deals with key substances of concern in 
the region, there are also some air quality issues in the region that are more 
localized in nature. Regulatory requirements will continue to be applied to 
ensure protection of human and ecosystem health. There will also be a need 
to	use	collaborative	approaches	to	find	solutions	to	some	of	the	issues.

Specific	to	rural	areas	of	the	South	Saskatchewan	Region,	local	air	issues	
are	often	associated	with	odour	and	dust	from	confined	feeding	operations	
(CFOs)	and	cultivated	fields.	The	agricultural	industry,	as	well	as	all	levels	
of government, continues to collaborate on achieving effective air quality 
management in the region. There are regulations in place to deal with the 
management of manure and odour-related issues. Research continues 
to	inform	baselines	and	identify	beneficial	management	practices.	The	
implementation	of	many	beneficial	agricultural	management	practices	has	
contributed to the reduction in ammonia emissions from CFOs and dust from 
cultivated	fields.

Strengthening Communities
Alberta’s success starts at the community level, those places Albertans 
call home. Communities are where life happens. The projected population 
growth in the South Saskatchewan Region, particularly in the urban centres 
will require thoughtful and intentional management of the landscape. There 
is a need to explore ways to engage communities that will help improve 
collaboration and processes for decisions that make wise use of land, air and 
water. To effectively address the challenges that increased future growth will 
bring to the South Saskatchewan Region, all decision-makers will require 
collaboration with stakeholders in order to achieve the regional outcomes.

Land-use planning is both a municipal and provincial activity. The province’s 
responsibility, with certain exceptions, extends to managing air, water, and 
renewable and non-renewable natural and historic resources. Provincial 
legislation, policies and programs for land-use planning and resource 
management can affect municipal interests. Conversely, municipal decisions 
and actions affecting land-use and development can impact the success of 
provincial	objectives	designed	for	the	benefit	of	all	Albertans.	It	is	therefore	
important that municipal and provincial planning efforts pursue a high level 
of collaboration, coordination and integration. This cooperation extends to 

The National Air Quality 
Management System

The national Air Quality Management 
System includes:

• new Canadian Ambient Air Quality 
Standards for fine particulate 
matter and ground-level ozone; 

• industrial emission requirements 
that set a base level of 
performance for major industries in 
Canada; 

• a framework for air zone 
management within provinces 
and territories that enables action 
tailored to specific sources of air 
emissions in a given area; 

• regional airsheds that facilitate 
coordinated action where air 
pollution crosses a border; and

• improved intergovernmental 
collaboration to reduce emissions 
from the transportation sector. 

156



50

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

providing infrastructure linked to land use, such as transportation networks, 
municipal services, recreation, leisure and cultural facilities, and other 
institutional uses.

The Government of Alberta is committed to continuing to encourage and 
promote this collaborative approach in the South Saskatchewan Region. 
The Calgary Regional Partnership is an example of a voluntary partnership 
consisting of municipalities in the Calgary region working together to 
address issues of a regional nature in the Calgary Metropolitan area. In 
June 2012, the partnership submitted the Calgary Metropolitan Plan (CMP) 
to the Government of Alberta for approval. The Government of Alberta, 
upon reviewing the CMP, reinforced the importance of the participation of all 
municipalities (rural and urban) within the Calgary Metropolitan Region and 
therefore directed a process to do so. Other inter-municipal initiatives include 
inter-municipal development plans, regional services commissions, irrigation 
districts and watershed planning and advisory councils, to name a few.

Municipalities are considered to be in the forefront of building strong and 
sustainable communities. The Government of Alberta is committed to 
providing policy direction that:

•	 encourages	communication,	cooperation	and	collaboration	for	collective	
impact;

•	 gives	people	a	sense	of	belonging	through	shared	values;

•	 promotes	participation	and	mutual	responsibility;

•	 leverages	resources	from	both	inside	and	outside	the	community;

•	 fosters	a	stable,	innovative	local	economy	that	provides	employment	
opportunities	and	generates	wealth;	and

•	 protects	and	effectively	manages	the	local	environment.

In supporting the regional outcomes, municipal decisions in the region should 
aim to:

•	 make	efficient	use	of	land,	infrastructure,	public	services	and	public	
facilities	to	establish	land-use	patterns	that	influence	human	activity,	
facilitate health and well-being, and promote social interaction and 
inclusion;

•	 promote	resource	conservation;

•	 protect,	enhance	and	promote	the	historic	and	cultural	integrity	of	an	area;

•	 enhance	economic	development	activities;

•	 minimize	environmental	impacts	on	land,	air	and	water;

•	 protect	significant	natural	environments;

•	 contribute	to	the	development	of	healthy,	safe	and	viable	communities;	
and

•	 contribute	to	a	safe,	efficient	and	cost-effective	provincial	transportation	
network.

157



51

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

The cumulative footprint of communities will continue to grow to 
accommodate population increases as well as economic growth. There 
are	many	ways	to	use	land	efficiently;	all	require	foresight,	creativity	and	
good	planning.	Ultimately	the	goal	is	the	efficient	and	economical	use	of	
land by implementing the principles of best practice for planning, managing 
and minimizing the impacts of land-use on the environment and reducing 
the extent of the built environment, while utilizing our energy and natural 
resources wisely.

Regional planning is aimed at guiding and directing land-use decisions in 
Alberta, and the Government of Alberta recognizes there is a link between 
how land is used and the achievement of desired social and community 
outcomes. The Government of Alberta’s Social Policy Framework includes 
two key outcomes that the South Saskatchewan Regional Plan (SSRP) 
will help to achieve: “Albertans are healthy,” and “Albertans are active and 
engaged.”22 

The air and surface water quality frameworks for the South Saskatchewan 
Region add to the province’s existing environmental management system 
and will contribute to safeguarding the health of Albertans by helping to 
maintain air and water quality. In addition, by encouraging municipalities to 
coordinate land-use planning activities with health authorities on areas of 
mutual interest, SSRP will contribute to the provision of health care services 
in local communities. 

New and expanded outdoor recreational spaces and conservation areas on 
public lands provide places for Albertans to actively participate in recreational 
activities and cultural experiences such as camping, hiking, bird-watching, 
berry	picking,	hunting,	fishing	and	outdoor	photography.	Municipalities	are	
encouraged to work with the Government of Alberta and other partners on 
planning for future infrastructure needs, including accessible recreational 
spaces,	and	on	identifying	and	preserving	significant	historical	resources.	
This will help provide Albertans with new opportunities for rich cultural 
experiences and new ways to become active and engaged members of their 
communities.

Providing Recreation and Tourism Opportunities
Recreational opportunities are important for residents and visitors and 
provide areas for people to visit, play and enjoy the natural beauty of Alberta. 
Providing access to nature is essential for the physical and emotional health 
of children and adults, and nature-based recreation activities promote 
the appreciation of natural and cultural features. Increasing recreational 
opportunities throughout the region by enhancing recreational and outdoor 
spaces will increase quality of life and active living.

22 Alberta’s Social Policy Framework, February 2013

158



52

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Areas	on	Crown	land	have	been	identified	that	provide	diverse,	safe,	
sustainable and enjoyable outdoor recreation opportunities that contribute to 
healthy lifestyles and a diversity of recreational opportunities. These areas 
consist of a combination of physical, biological, cultural, constructed and/or 
geographical factors that can provide recreation and tourism opportunities. 
These areas are intended to provide quality recreational experiences, attract 
tourism investment and provide security of land tenure for private and not-for-
profit	investment.	Work	will	continue	to	occur	with	municipalities,	recreational	
communities and other key stakeholders, such as industry, to better manage 
the recreational pressures and activities in these areas. 

Existing recreational opportunities in the region were developed for a much 
smaller population and do not meet the full range of recreational experiences 
of today’s growing population. The long-term vision is to establish new 
and expanded recreational areas (see Appendix D – Overview of New 
Conservation and Recreation and Parks Areas in the South Saskatchewan). 

Over the next several decades, to meet growing demands, the focus will be 
on managing existing recreational areas and access management.  Additional 
camping opportunities will be developed and key recreational areas will be 
enhanced	through	facilities	re-investment.		The	flood	of	2013	damaged	a	
number of recreational areas in Kananaskis Country and along the Bow 
River. These areas will be reassessed and where appropriate re-developed 
to support recreational demand. Development and investment in recreational 
opportunities will occur over the next several decades as demand grows. 

For many areas of Crown land, there are existing access management plans 
(e.g. Ghost Waiparous and Castle areas). These plans will be expanded 
upon and the work that stakeholders have already done will be used to 
support comprehensive and integrated recreational land access management 
planning. This will contribute to ensuring these areas are available for 
Albertans now and in the future, and there is a range of quality recreational 
experiences and nature-based recreation and tourism opportunities through 
the creation of a sustainable recreational access system. The access system 
should be sensitive to the environment and work to mitigate potential impacts 
to biodiversity associated with the multitude of land-use demands including 
recreation activities.  

North Castle, Porcupine Hills, Livingstone and Willow Creek areas have been 
identified	as	priority	locations	for	creating	comprehensive	and	integrated	
recreation and access management plans. Areas will be managed to 
minimize impact of activities such as dumping of garbage and random 
campfires.	To	ensure	these	areas	meet	the	preferences,	diversity	and	
expectations of residents and visitors, infrastructure enhancements will be 
needed, such as camping, staging areas, trail systems, and access to and 
within recreation and tourism areas. 

159



53

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

  South Saskatchewan: Public Land Use Zones

160



54

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Continued formalization of motorized and non-motorized trails with 
improvement to existing trails and development where needed will occur 
collaboratively. Planning for new tourism development such as recreation 
trails and associated amenities needs to address environmental concerns, 
in	particular	near	watercourses,	wetlands,	and	lakes	with	sensitive	fisheries	
vulnerable to increased human access. Trails in sensitive source water or 
ecological areas will be assessed and may be relocated, closed or reclaimed. 
Designated staging areas will also play a role in the management of public 
lands and waters to enhance the recreation experience for users.

The Government of Alberta aims to provide a diversity of outdoor recreation 
and nature-based tourism opportunities for Albertans. Clustering use, 
improving safety for diverse users, reducing environmental damage and 
connecting to the surrounding designated trail system are important 
considerations. Some of the recreational activities that will be provided 
include serviced and unserviced campgrounds, day-use areas, boat 
launches, motorized and non-motorized staging areas, designated motorized, 
non-motorized and mixed-use trails, and special event and tourism 
opportunities.	More	specifically,	the	design	of	these	camping	areas	will	be	
in the spirit of coming together with family and friends in a natural setting. 
Intensively developed vehicle (motorized) access camping and  
day-use facilities will be expanded while keeping in mind the need to  
maintain the esthetics of the area and quality recreation and tourism 
experiences. Enhancements may need to occur across the region to help 
modernize existing facilities to better accommodate and manage increasing 
demands and changing expectations of visitors.

  South Saskatchewan: Priority Locations for Planning

161



55

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

New Public Land Recreation Areas will be established in the eastern slopes 
to support random camping and access to trails. These sites are highly 
popular areas of random camping on public lands. They will be developed 
to	include	basic	amenities	such	as	fire	rings	and	gravel	pad	and	no	fees	will	
be charged. A Guardian program will be established to provide outreach and 
education. A program will be established to provide “on the ground” outreach 
and education regarding responsible use of public lands.

The recreation and parks areas will be managed to minimize industrial land 
disturbance and ensure quality recreation experiences. Petroleum and 
natural gas tenure will be honoured, consistent with existing policy.  The 
Government of Alberta will work cooperatively with companies that have 
existing commitments to ensure surface access impacts are minimized while 
still honouring commitments.  New petroleum and natural gas tenure sold in 
a recreation and parks area will include a restriction that prohibits surface 
access.  

Hunting,	fishing	and	trapping	(including	by	aboriginal	peoples)	will	continue	
in accordance with existing provincial laws governing such activities 
as such laws may be amended or replaced from time to time. Hunting 
includes	commercial	guiding	and	outfitting	operations	where	wildlife	species	
management plans provide an allocation for that use.

Recreation, tourism and industry must co-exist on the landscape outside the 
designated camping areas, industrial activity will continue (that is, petroleum 
and	natural	gas;	coal,	metallic	and	industrial	minerals,	grazing,	and	forestry)	
and	new	industrial	tenures	will	continue	to	be	granted.	Impacts	to	identified	
recreation and tourism features and scenic values will need to be minimized 
where possible and practical. To contribute to tourism and recreational 
opportunities industrial access resource roads or developments and areas 
scheduled to be reclaimed may be deferred or amended for recreational 
uses.

Water-based recreation is highly valued within the region and the need 
to maintain or develop access to recreational water bodies is important 
for recreation and nature-based tourism opportunities. Support of current 
initiatives and other potential cooperative initiatives is needed to provide 
stable, long-term public access to these water bodies in order to enhance 
water-based recreational experiences. The Government of Alberta, irrigation 
districts, municipalities, communities and stakeholders will continue to work 
in collaboration to provide recreational opportunities while respecting the 
operation of water management infrastructure and the needs of other water 
users.

The region’s unique blend of cultural and aboriginal heritage, many attractive 
recreation and tourism features and an abundance of provincially unique and 
awe-inspiring areas have the potential to attract visitors and gain national 
and international recognition. One of these areas is Writing-on-Stone 
Provincial Park. The Government of Alberta has the intention of supporting 
the nomination of Writing-on-Stone Provincial Park for inscription on the 

162



56

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

UNESCO World Heritage site list. Writing-on-Stone is a site sacred to the 
Blackfoot and preserves native grasslands for future generations.

Work needs to occur with local communities to enhance and support 
current initiatives to offer a variety of quality, unique and appealing visitor 
experiences that contain a wide range of tourism opportunities in the form 
of accommodations, attractions, events, activities and amenities. The aim 
should be to develop areas to be attractive to tourism investors and help 
diversify the region’s economy. These areas should have a community driven 
plan	reflective	of	the	unique	features	that	fall	within	it.

Inclusion of Aboriginal Peoples in Land-use Planning
The Government of Alberta will continue to look for opportunities to engage 
aboriginal peoples and invite them to share their traditional knowledge to 
inform land and natural resource planning in this region. Aboriginal culture 
with its connection to the land and environment provides a unique opportunity 
for engagement in land-use planning, management and initiatives.

The Government of Alberta will look to collaborate with First Nations in the 
South Saskatchewan Region through the establishment of a Land Sub-Table 
as a mechanism for strategic consultation and continuing government-to-
government relations. The Government of Alberta will continue to work with 
First Nations through the previously established Treaty 7 Water Sub-Table 
process to provide input to government on water issues. This will include 
discussions related to on-reserve water needs.

The Sub-Table process is participant driven and adapted to the unique 
requirements of each aboriginal community. Priorities established at the 
regional level, with Chiefs and Ministers, will guide the aspects of a water 
sub-table and land-use sub-table, how they relate, how they differ, and 
whether they continue as one. Opportunities for First Nation involvement in 
the collaborative work of watershed planning and advisory councils in the 
region will continue to be encouraged.

The Treaty 7 Tourism Development Initiative will inform on-going work 
to identify tourism and cultural experiences that may provide economic 
opportunities to aboriginal communities. Participation in the regional economy 
will be encouraged as well as maintaining and seeking opportunities for 
aboriginal traditional land-uses within the region.

In accordance with applicable government policy as it may be from time 
to time, the Government of Alberta will continue to consult with aboriginal 
peoples when government decisions may adversely affect the continued 
exercise of their constitutionally protected rights, and the input from such 
consultations continues to be considered prior to the decision.

Water Sub-Table

At a Protocol Agreement meeting 
with the Premier of Alberta in 2009, 
the Grand Chiefs requested and 
later it was agreed that a Water 
Sub-Table be established to provide 
input on the province’s water 
allocation management system. 
The province is committed to 
having meaningful conversations 
with Albertans to hear their input 
and advice. Discussions through 
the Water Sub-Table can contribute 
to these water conversations.

Given the unique regional dynamics 
and differing water issues between 
the northern, central and southern 
regions the Water Sub-Table 
consists of three sub-tables – 
one for each Treaty Area.  The 
Government of Alberta and First 
Nations establish the strategic 
direction and identify the joint 
priorities for each water sub-table.

Treaty 7 was identified as the 
top priority largely due to issues 
of water scarcity in the South 
Saskatchewan River Basin. The 
joint priorities and goals of the 
Treaty 7 water sub-table include: 

• working together to understand 
current and future water needs of 
First Nations, and

• working towards water 
agreements between individual 

First Nations 
and Alberta to 
ensure First 
Nations water 
security.

163



57

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Implementation Plan

Strategies and Outcomes
The SSRP is designed to help achieve the three desired province-wide 
outcomes of the Land-use Framework. The regional vision describes the 
desired future state of the South Saskatchewan Region, and is consistent 
with the outcomes and principles of the Land-use Framework.

To support achievement of the three province-wide outcomes and the 
regional	vision,	the	SSRP	identifies	strategic	directions	and	regional	
outcomes. These qualitatively describe what is wished to be achieved at the 
regional level.

A	number	of	objectives	are	identified	for	each	regional	outcome	and	they	
describe what must be done to achieve the outcome. Strategies describe 
regulatory and non-regulatory approaches that will be used to achieve each 
objective.

As a means of assessing whether regional outcomes and objectives are 
being achieved, a series of economic, environmental and social indicators will 
be regularly monitored, evaluated and reported.

Various governments, ministries and agencies will work together in an 
integrated manner to develop the required system and tools to support 
implementation of the regional plan. While the following strategies and 
actions each fall primarily into the mandate of one or more ministries, it 
is important to note that a government-wide approach will be taken to 
implement the strategies. This is part of the shift to a cumulative effects 
management system as envisioned by the Land-use Framework.

Land-use Framework
Desired Provincial Outcomes

Vision for the
Region

Regional Outcomes

Objectives

Strategies

Land-use Framework –  
Provincial Outcomes

• Healthy economy supported by 
our land and natural resources;

• Healthy ecosystems and 
environment; and

• People-friendly communities with 
ample recreational and cultural 
opportunities.

164



58

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Vision for the Region

Southern Alberta is a diverse, healthy, vibrant and prosperous region 
where the natural beauty of the mountains, foothills, farmlands and prairies 
are managed so that citizens feel connected to the land and its history. 
The region is a thriving place that offers a wide range of opportunities to 
residents and visitors alike. Social, economic and environmental values are 
effectively achieved with shared stewardship and an integrated approach. 
The quality and integrity of the landscape is sustained through the use of 
science, innovative thinking, traditional aboriginal and community knowledge, 
recognizing the interests of all Albertans.

Strategic Directions:

•	 Conserving	and	maintaining	the	benefits	of	biodiversity;

•	 Advancing	conservation	and	integrated	management	of	Crown	Land;

•	 Supporting	and	enabling	conservation	and	stewardship	on	private	lands;

•	 Advancing	watershed	management;

•	 Managing	air	quality	through	continued	collaboration;

•	 Strengthening	communities;

•	 Providing	recreation	and	tourism	opportunities,	active	living	and	the	
preservation and promotion of the region’s unique cultural and natural 
heritage;	and

•	 Inclusion	of	aboriginal	peoples	in	land-use	planning.

Regional Outcomes

1.	 The	region’s	economy	is	growing	and	diversified;

2. Biodiversity and ecosystem function are sustained with shared 
stewardship;

3. Air quality is managed to support healthy ecosystems and human needs 
through	shared	stewardship;

4. Watersheds are managed to support healthy ecosystems and human 
needs	through	shared	stewardship;

5.	 Community	development	needs	are	anticipated	and	accommodated;

6. The quality of life of residents is enhanced through increased 
opportunities for recreation, active living and the preservation and 
promotion	of	the	region’s	unique	cultural	and	natural	heritage;	and	

7. Aboriginal peoples are included in land-use planning.

165



59

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Outcome 1: 
The region’s economy is growing and diversified

Energy (Petroleum and Natural Gas, Coal and Minerals)
Objective:

•	 Opportunities	for	the	responsible	exploration,	development	and	extraction	
of energy resources are maintained.

Strategies:

a) Ensure rules regarding access to energy and processing and 
transportation of energy resources are clear and ensure economic 
development opportunities are appropriately considered against other 
land uses and values.

b) Maintain physical access to freehold (that is, privately owned) 
petroleum and natural gas, coal and minerals.

Growth of all energy sectors is crucial for the regional and provincial 
economies, and maintaining a positive investment climate is critical to 
the success of these industries. Securing long-term opportunities for 
development of the region’s energy resources will support provincial and 
international sources of supply, and will help leverage our traditional energy 
commodities by accessing new and expanded markets for processed and 
refined	products.	This	must	be	supported	by	the	alignment	of	policy	direction	
across planning regions which will facilitate access to and distribution of 
these resources.

Provincial legislation governing the energy, mineral and coal sectors include 
the Responsible Energy Development Act, the Mines and Minerals Act, 
the Gas Resources Preservation Act, the Gas Utilities Act, the Oil and 
Gas Conservation Act, the Coal Conservation Act, the Coal Sales Act, 
the Environmental Protection and Enhancement Act, the Water Act, the 
Electric Utilities Act, the Hydro and Electric Energy Act, the Public Lands 
Act, the Surface Rights Act, the Freehold Mineral Rights Tax Act, provincial 
parks legislation, and the Alberta Land Stewardship Act. Various other 
regulatory and non-regulatory requirements including policies, strategies and 
frameworks also apply.

Renewable Energy
Objectives:

•	 Opportunities	for	the	responsible	development	of	the	region’s	renewable	
energy industry are maintained in support of Alberta’s commitment to 
greener energy production and economic development.

•	 Value-added	opportunities	that	enhance	the	sustainability	of	Alberta’s	
industries and communities are created.

166



60

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Strategies:

a) Ensure policies are in place to promote and remove barriers to new 
investments in renewable energy (that is, wind, biofuels, solar, hydro) 
production.

b) Invest in the development, demonstration and deployment of renewable 
and alternative energy technologies targeted to improve Alberta’s 
overall	energy	efficiency.	This	will	include	support	for	the	application	of	
new technologies and support on-going research and development in 
partnership with other institutions.

c) Ensure reinforcement of the transmission system to enable more 
renewable wind power in the region.

The South Saskatchewan Region has a natural advantage for renewables 
such	as	wind,	solar,	bio	and	hydro	energy;	exploring	opportunities	for	
renewable energy sources can contribute to reliability and security of the 
region’s energy supply. The Government of Alberta continues to support a 
focus on renewable energy research through Alberta Innovates – Energy 
and Environmental Solutions, among others, to promote the stimulation and 
delivery of renewable energy sources to move directionally towards clean 
energy sources.

Corridors for the Co-location of Linear Infrastructure
Objective:

•	 The	region’s	infrastructure	is	planned	to	facilitate	economic	and	
population	growth	and	efficient	use	of	land.

Strategies:

a) Ensure that opportunities for future routes and siting for pipeline 
gateways, transportation corridors and utility and electrical 
transmission corridors are maintained in the region and in 
consideration of the needs of adjacent Land-use Framework regions and 
provinces.

b) Work with municipalities, landowners and industry to explore multi-use 
corridors for co-location of linear infrastructure that supports critical 
economic linkages to markets for expanded access.

The Government of Alberta will continue to work with all stakeholders, 
including municipalities, First Nations, industry and other jurisdictions, to 
ensure long-range economic opportunities related to linear infrastructure 
continue.	Where	it	is	satisfied	that	it	is	in	the	public	interest,	the	Cabinet	may	
declare any area under its jurisdiction to be part of a multi-use corridor.

167



61

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Agriculture
Objective:

•	 The	region’s	agricultural	industry	is	maintained	and	diversified.

Strategies:

a) Maintain an agricultural land base by reducing the fragmentation and 
conversion of agricultural land.

•	 Municipalities	are	encouraged	to	identify areas where agricultural 
activities, including extensive and intensive agricultural and 
associated activities, should be the primary land use in the region.

•	 Municipalities	are	encouraged	to	limit the fragmentation of 
agricultural lands and their premature conversion to other  
non-agricultural uses, especially within areas where agricultural 
has	been	identified	as	a	primary	land	use	in	the	region.	Municipal	
planning,	policies	and	tools	that	promote	the	efficient	use	of	land	
should be used where appropriate to support this strategy.

•	 Where	possible,	municipalities	are	encouraged	to	employ	appropriate	
planning tools to direct non-agricultural subdivision and development 
to areas where such development will not constrain agricultural 
activities, or to areas of lower-quality agricultural lands.

•	 Municipalities	are	encouraged	to	minimize conflicts between 
intensive agricultural operations and incompatible land uses 
by using appropriate planning tools, setback distances and other 
mitigating measures.

b) Support a diverse, innovative and value-added agriculture and  
agri-food sector in the South Saskatchewan Region through 
implementation of Alberta’s Irrigation: A Strategy for the Future. Through 
research, programming (planning) and policy development, the roadmap 
will enhance both economic opportunities and contribute to vibrant rural 
communities in the region.

 Irrigated agriculture provides a reliable and high-quality product supply, 
attracting	first	stage	processing	as	well	as	secondary	and	tertiary	
industries	that	benefit	the	local	and	provincial	economy.	The	irrigation	
roadmap will ensure that Alberta’s irrigation industry continues to be seen 
as	a	global	leader	in	the	efficient	and	productive	use	of	water	resources.

c) Assist the agriculture and agri-food industry to maximize opportunities 
for value-added agricultural products by focusing on workforce 
development, investment attraction, and domestic and international 
market development.

 The Government of Alberta will position the province as a competitive 
global supplier of agricultural products and services by enhancing and 
promoting Alberta’s ability to provide safe and consistently dependable 
food in an environmentally and socially responsible manner. Toward 
achieving this goal, the Government of Alberta offers extension programs 

168



62

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

and services, research-based information and innovative business tools. 
Productivity enhancements, workforce development and new product 
development will be supported through federal-provincial-territorial 
funding programs.

d) Support a business climate, complementary production and marketing 
approach that recognize local, domestic and international market 
opportunities for Alberta’s agriculture, agri-food and agri-product 
sectors.

	 Marketing	is	typically	focused	on	international	buyers;	however,	consumer	
demand for local and domestic products has created opportunities for the 
agricultural	industry.	Continued	diversification	of	marketing	opportunities	
is	beneficial	for	the	long-term	sustainability	of	a	successful	agriculture,	
agri-food and agri-product sector in Alberta. Working with industry 
and non-governmental organizations, the Government of Alberta will 
continue to be engaged and collaborate across community and economic 
development, health, academic and agricultural supply chain disciplines 
to focus on multi-scale, commercially viable agricultural production.

e) Support and enhance the next generation of agricultural, food and 
rural entrepreneurs.

 Acting on advice from the 2013 “Next Generation Advisory Council,” 
the Government of Alberta will work with relevant stakeholders and 
organizations to support the attraction of new entrants to the agriculture 
and agri-food sector. This will be accomplished through the development 
of	programs	and	services	specific	to	their	needs,	including	initiatives	such	
as ensuring that government-funded loan programs remain competitive 
and effective, that training and enhanced extension services are provided, 
and also through the continued provision of federal-provincial-territorial 
shared funding opportunities in the areas of business planning, transition 
planning,	marketing,	accounting,	financial	analysis	and	leadership	
development provided through online tutorials, seminars and one-on-one 
coaching.

Relevant provincial legislation governing the agriculture industry includes the 
Municipal Government Act, the Agricultural Operation Practices Act (AOPA 
and its regulations), the Irrigation Districts Act (including Regulations), the 
Soil Conservation Act, and both the Forests Reserve Act and the Public 
Lands Act with respect to grazing leases. In addition, the Natural Resources 
Conservation Board (NRCB) administers Part 2 of AOPA which deals with 
livestock	and	manure	including	permits	for	confined	feeding	operations.

169



63

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Forestry
Objective:

•	 The	region’s	forest	industry	is	maintained	and	diversified.

Strategies:

a)	 Promote	diversification	of	the	forest	industry	through	implementation	
of The Alberta Forest Products Roadmap to 2020 which will identify 
opportunities to diversify the sector through new markets and products, 
including the bioenergy sector.

b) Deliver an effective forest health management program to mitigate 
risk to timber supply and forest health.

 Invasive species and other forest health issues impacting timber supplies 
and other forest values will be addressed through programs to mitigate 
or control infestations of highest risk. Of primary concern is the mountain 
pine beetle. Existing policy tools and programs will be used including 
implementing the Mountain Pine Beetle Action Plan and Mountain Pine 
Beetle	Management	Strategy.	Spruce	budworm	and	fir	defoliators	are	
also	significant	forest	health	issues	requiring	continuous	monitoring	and	
control action as necessary.

c) Incorporate wildfire management planning into forest management 
initiatives	including	the	development	of	landscape	wildfire	risk	
assessments, landscape disturbance planning and FireSmart strategies. 
Forest Management activities – such as prescribed burning, thinning, and 
timber harvesting – will support meeting community and landscape-level 
FireSmart objectives.

Planning	in	the	region	must	consider	wildfire	disturbances.	The	potential	
devastating	impacts	from	wildfire	can	be	reduced	by	increasing	landscape	
resiliency.	Although	not	all	wildfires	can	be	controlled	under	extreme	
conditions, integrated planning approaches can reduce the probability of 
large	landscape	fires	over	a	long-term	planning	timeline.	

Surface Materials
Objective:

•	 Opportunities	for	the	responsible	development	of	surface	materials	
resources are maintained on public lands.

Strategies:

a) Allocate the surface materials appropriately and monitor extraction 
operations to provide opportunities for sustainable development of the 
land.

b) Municipalities, in collaboration with industry, provincial government and 
other stakeholders are encouraged to identify areas of existing and 
future extraction of surface materials (e.g., sand and gravel) and 

170



64

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

mineral resources, and determine appropriate land use in the vicinity of 
these resources.

Surface materials are an essential component for development and 
maintenance of infrastructure throughout the region and province. 
Maintaining opportunities for surface materials resource extraction supports 
the increasing need for surface materials products to keep pace with the 
region and the province’s population growth. Maintaining opportunities for the 
development of these resources is critical to the success of surface materials 
industries.

The main provincial statute governing surface materials extraction on public 
lands is the Public Lands Act. The regulation grants approvals for surface 
materials extraction activities through an application and lease and licensing 
system. The Alberta Aggregate (Sand and Gravel) Allocation Policy for 
Commercial Use on Public Lands provides a management framework to 
ensure there is fair and equitable use of Alberta’s aggregate resources on 
public lands.

Tourism
Objective:

•	 The	region	is	positioned	as	a	world-class,	year-round,	tourism	destination.

Strategies:

a) Enhance iconic tourism destinations within the South Saskatchewan 
Region by engaging with aboriginal communities, municipalities and local 
stakeholders (See Appendix E – Iconic Tourism Destinations: Kananaskis, 
Canadian Badlands and Southern Rockies).

•	 Develop	destination management strategies that integrate 
planning, development, marketing and management, and implement 
destination management plans that provide direction for the 
sustainable development of tourism in the region in collaboration with 
all	stakeholders	for	the	identified	destinations.

•	 Identify	and	confirm	existing	and	potential	tourism development 
nodes in collaboration with all stakeholders, and designate and 
market nodes as appropriate.

•	 Work	collaboratively	with	local	aboriginal	communities,	the	private	
sector and provincial and local governments, interested private 
landowners and stakeholders to enhance and expand the supply 
of tourism products, experiences and infrastructure – including 
attractions, activities, amenities, accommodations and access.

b) Work with municipalities, private investors and landowners to identify 
areas of high value for recreation and tourism, and to encourage 
tourism investment and infrastructure development opportunities 
on	identified	lands.

Iconic Tourism Destination:

An Iconic Tourism Destination 
is a provincially unique and 
awe-inspiring area that has the 
potential to attract visitors and 
gain national and international 
recognition. These destinations 
offer a variety of quality, unique 
and appealing experiences 
that contain a wide range of 
tourism products in the form of 
accommodations, attractions, 
events, activities and amenities.

171



65

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

c) Work with municipal governments and other partners to identify, establish 
and promote scenic byways in and around areas with high-quality 
attractions and recreation and tourism features. This would include 
routes, trails and waterways to create distinctive travel experiences and 
showcase the region’s unique scenic resources and cultural landscapes.

d) Provide long-term security (that is, longer term leases) for tourism and 
recreation investment opportunities.

There is great potential for increased tourism development in the region, as 
it is home to diverse cultures, a rich heritage and other numerous tourism 
and recreation features. Additional tourism opportunities would increase the 
amount of tourism and recreational expenditures retained in Alberta, and 
would	support	economic	diversification	in	the	region.	A	competitive	tourism	
industry	depends	on	a	sufficient	supply	of	land	where	the	integrity	of	attractive	
features, settings and scenery are maintained and long-term access is 
provided. Highway and air transportation also contributes to and supports the 
tourism industry and enhanced transportation access will continue to facilitate 
tourism activity in the region.  

General Indicators:

•	 Gross	Domestic	Product

•	 Production	volumes

•	 Business	diversification

•	 Capital	investments

•	 Building	permits

•	 Employment

•	 Personal	income

•	 Agricultural	land	conversion

Energy:

•	 Energy	revenues

•	 Provincial	royalties

•	 Cost	of	production

Agriculture:

•	 Farm	cash	receipts	for	major	agricultural	products

•	 Fragmentation	and	conversion	of	agricultural	land	to	non-agricultural	land	
uses

•	 New	agricultural	products	to	market

•	 Number	of	Alberta-approved	farmers’	market	days

•	 Export-to-import	ratio	(trade	balance)	by	product	and	aggregate

•	 The	average	age	of	Alberta	farmers	from	the	Agricultural	Census

•	 Number	of	participants	in	beginning	farmer	loan	programs 172



66

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Forestry:

•	 Annual	allowable	cut	versus	timber	production

•	 Wildfire	risk

Tourism:

•	 Tourism	receipts	by	visitor	origin

•	 Tourism	visitation

•	 Tourism	visitor	expenditures

•	 Tourism	occupancy

Outcome 2:  
Biodiversity and ecosystem function are sustained with 
shared stewardship.
Objectives:

•	 Terrestrial	and	aquatic	biodiversity	are	maintained.

•	 Species	at	risk	are	recovered;	and	key	grasslands	habitat	is	sustained.

•	 Areas	are	added	to	the	regional	network	of	conservation	areas.

•	 Biodiversity	and	healthy	functioning	ecosystems	continue	to	provide	a	
range	of	benefits	to	communities	in	the	region	and	all	Albertans.

•	 Long-term	forest	ecosystem	health	and	resiliency	are	maintained.

Biodiversity and Ecosystems
Strategies:

a) Complete the South Saskatchewan Biodiversity Management 
Framework by the end of 2014. (See Appendix F – Overview of 
Biodiversity Management Framework.)

The biodiversity management framework is a new approach to support 
cumulative effects management of important elements of biodiversity that are 
affected by land uses in the region. It is not intended to address all aspects of 
biodiversity. 

The framework will focus on indicators based on key species that represent 
the	broad	range	of	biodiversity	in	the	region,	important	habitats	where	specific	
direction	is	provided	in	recovery	plans	(e.g.,	grizzly	bears);	and	maintaining	
key landscapes (protection of headwaters, retaining existing intact public 
land grassland areas) important to sustaining long-term ecosystem health. 
Biodiversity targets for these selected indicators will provide guidance for 

173



67

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

decisions about future and existing land-use activities. The framework 
will also provide guidance for integrated management approaches on 
public lands. While the objectives set in the framework will apply to the 
entire region (including private lands) it is recognized that any actions by 
landowners towards meeting objectives is voluntary and subject to availability 
and landowner interest to use tools such as conservation easements 
and other mechanisms described in the next section on Stewardship and 
Conservation on Private Lands. The biodiversity management framework will 
be implemented to add to and complement, not replace or duplicate, existing 
policies, legislation, regulations and management tools.

Monitoring of the indicators will be through the Alberta Biodiversity Monitoring 
Institute	and	other	finer	scale	monitoring	by	the	Government	of	Alberta	and	
partners. By focusing on management actions for these indicators, it is 
expected	that	other	indicators	of	biodiversity	will	benefit.	Monitoring	will	be	
essential to validate this assumption.

b) Manage existing conserved lands to achieve long-term conservation of 
biological diversity and ecosystem processes.

c) Create new conservation areas on provincial Crown land. (See 
Schedule C – SSRP Land Uses and Schedule D – SSRP Digital Map.)

d) Develop a linear footprint management plan for White and Green Area 
public lands in the region by the end of 2017. These plans will outline 
a system to minimize the extent, duration and rate of linear footprint 
development in order to meet objectives and targets established in the 
South Saskatchewan Biodiversity Management Framework. 

 Key features of this plan are listed below:
•	 Requirements	related	to	linear	footprint	intensity,	including	limits	

where	applicable,	in	specific	areas	such	as	species	at	risk	habitat	(for	
example, sage grouse habitat in the southeast portion of the region, 
areas of core grizzly habitat in eastern slopes).

•	 Required	use	of	Integrated	Land	Management	(ILM)	tools	to	minimize	
the extent and duration of linear footprint including coordinated 
industry planning of major access corridors and associated 
development	infrastructure;	re-use	of	existing	linear	disturbances;	and	
progressive and timely reclamation of linear disturbances. 

•	 A	practical	system	for	monitoring,	measuring	and	reporting	on	linear	
footprint.

 White Area Public Land:
•	 Integration	with	other	initiatives	such	as	the	Southeast	Conservation	

Offset Pilot and MULTISAR (Multiple Species at Risk – a voluntary 
species-at-risk conservation program).

•	 An	approach	to	voluntary	conservation	offsets	for	native	grasslands,	
where public land linear footprint could be voluntarily offset through 
agreements with landowners for conservation of intact grasslands on 
private land. The approach would build off principles established in 

Conservation Areas

Definition:

A clearly defined geographical 
space dedicated and managed to 
achieve the long-term conservation 
of biological diversity and ecosystem 
process.

Management Intent: 

Legally protect areas that are 
relatively undisturbed. They retain 
their natural character and influence 
and are areas for measuring 
ecological performance in relation to 
human development.

Key Criteria for Conservation 
Areas

• Areas with little to no industrial 
activity;

• Areas that support aboriginal 
traditional uses;

• Areas that are representative 
of the biological diversity of the 
area (e.g., land forms, species, 
vegetation); and

• Areas of sufficient size. 

174



68

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Information Letter 2002-1 of the Alberta Energy Regulator (formerly 
the Energy Resources Conservation Board) entitled Principles for 
Minimizing Surface Disturbance in Native Prairie and Parkland Areas.

Green Area Public Land:
•	 A	management	approach	for	motorized	access	or	“open	route	density”	

–	a	key	action	identified	in	Alberta’s	grizzly	bear	recovery	plan.

•	 Integration	with	other	planning	initiatives	such	as	the	regional	trail	
system plan for recreation, and initiatives led by partners such as 
watershed planning advisory councils. 

 Research and species recovery planning initiatives in the region (and 
other parts of Alberta) have shown that managing linear human footprint 
(linear	footprint)	is	one	of	the	most	significant	actions	that	can	be	taken	
to support biodiversity. The linear footprint management plan will have 
an initial focus on key headwaters, grizzly bear habitat and intact native 
prairie in the grasslands. 

e) Consolidate and expand Public Land Use Zones for Green Area public 
lands. (See Appendix G – Consolidation and Expansion of Public Land 
Use Zones.)

 These areas provide important recreational opportunities including 
off-highway vehicle recreation. Public Land Use Zones are being 
consolidated and expanded to improve the province’s ability to more 
effectively manage public land across the Green Area, manage 
undesirable impacts, address priority issues, and increase the safety and 
enjoyment of recreationists throughout these areas. The steps that will be 
used for the consolidation and expansion are described in Appendix G.

 The intention is to recognize Albertans’ wishes to have access for 
recreation including off-highway vehicle use and to provide opportunities 
for this while ensuring there is protection for watercourses, water bodies 
and wetland areas. Requirements in existing legislation continue and 
where necessary they have been reinforced through enhancements to 
regulations. Safety is also a priority. There are requirements to avoid 
camping and off-highway vehicle recreation on industrial facility areas, for 
example well sites.*

 The Public Land Use Zones will be used in the implementation of 
other strategies of the regional plan, including recreation and access 
management plans, the linear footprint management plan and the 
Regional Trail Systems Plan.

 * amendments will be made to the Public Lands Administration Regulation

f) Review and incorporate the region’s Integrated Resource Plans.

 Numerous sub-regional Integrated Resource Plans (IRPs) have been in 
place under the Eastern Slopes Policy, and new plans will be developed 
in this regional plan (linear footprint management, recreation and 
access management plans). A deliberate effort is needed to streamline 
and reduce the number of sub-regional-scale plans to ensure effective 
implementation of the regional plan. The review of IRPs will ensure that 

175



69

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

provisions that are still relevant will be maintained and ensure clarity and 
consistency with the regional plan. 

 The Majorville Land Management Framework, an on-going, collaborative 
initiative	to	conserve	significant	natural	and	cultural	resources	in	the	
Majorville area, will also be considered in this review. This collaborative 
initiative with external partners supports an area that is recognized for its 
heritage values, First Nations traditional use, and unique native prairie 
biodiversity within existing agricultural and industrial developments.

g) Engage in collaborative outreach and education programs to promote 
responsible land use and shared stewardship on the eastern slopes. An 
“on the ground” program will be established including seasonal outreach 
staff	with	a	field	presence.	Responsible	use	messaging	will	include	
providing information on requirements to avoid watercourses, water 
bodies and wetland areas as well as the need to avoid power line  
rights-of-way and other industrial facilities for safety purposes.  

h) Manage forests in the Green Area with headwaters protection and 
integrity (water storage, recharge, and release functions) as the highest 
management priority.

 Other values such as biodiversity (grizzly bear, limber pine and whitebark 
pine recovery), forest ecosystem resiliency (natural disturbance patterns), 
and timber supply will be key secondary management priorities. Practices 
to	manage	wildfire	risk	to	communities	will	be	equal	in	priority	to	
headwaters protection and integrity. This strategy for the region will form 
part of a provincial Alberta Forestry Strategy which is under development. 

 In the Green Area, forest management activities are guided by forest 
management plans and the timber harvest planning and operating ground 
rules. The plans for the Forest Management Unit C5 and Spray Lakes 
Sawmills Forest Management Agreement areas and associated ground 
rules will be adjusted to align with this strategy for the region.

i) Minimize conversion of intact native grasslands through guidelines 
to avoid new sales of surface public land in areas of intact native 
grasslands. (See Appendix H – Conversion of Grasslands – White Area 
Public Land – Policy Guidelines.)

 The native grasslands represent a diverse habitat containing many 
species not found elsewhere in Alberta. It is important to preserve this 
unique landscape. 

Public Land Use Zones (PLUZ) are 
designed to facilitate a wide range of 
recreation activities and ecosystem 
services provision which are 
compatible with managed industrial 
activity, primarily forest management, 
livestock grazing, and also oil and 
gas and surface materials extraction.

176



70

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

j) Continue to work with other government agencies, other levels of 
government, landholders, non-government organizations, industry, the 
research community, and other partners within and outside the province 
to manage risk associated with invasive species.

Invasive species already established will be controlled where environmental 
and economic impacts are at greatest risk. Invasive species not yet found 
in Alberta but with high environmental or economic risk will have programs 
developed and implemented to prevent establishment. In addition to 
terrestrial invasive species, a current focus is on the three most noxious 
aquatic invasive species: zebra mussels, quagga mussels and Eurasian 
water-milfoil. Preventing establishment of these species is important for 
both maintaining aquatic ecosystem health and to avoid the economic costs 
associated with affected water infrastructure.

177



71

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

 
Regulatory Details Plan:  Part 2 Conserved Land

Designated Minister

13 For the purposes of this Part, the Minister designated under section 16 of the 
Government Organization Act as the Minister responsible for the Surveys Act is 
the Designated Minister.

Definitions

14 In this Part,

 (a) “conservation purposes,” in respect of  land, means the purposes   
  referred to in section 29(1) of the Act, but does not include the   
	 	 following	agricultural	purposes:

  (i) cultivation;

  (ii) clearing; and

	 	 (iii)		 range	improvements	within	the	meaning	of	regulations	and	rules	 
   under the Public Lands Act. 

 (b) “conserved land” means

	 	 (i)	 wildland	provincial	parks	designated	under	the	Provincial Parks  
   Act;

	 	 (ii)	 wilderness	areas,	ecological	reserves,	natural	areas	and	heritage	 
   rangelands designated under the Wilderness Areas, Ecological   
   Reserves, Natural Areas and Heritage Rangelands Act; and

  (iii) Castle Conservation Area public land use zone designated under the  
   Public Lands Act.

Conserved land

15	The	Designated	Minister	shall	establish	and	maintain	programs

 (a) monitoring the total combined area of conserved land in the planning  
  region, and

 (b) evaluating the ratio of conserved land referred to in clause (a) to the total  
  area of land comprising the planning region.

178



72

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

 
Regulatory Details Plan:  Part 3 Conservation Areas

Definitions

16	In	this	Part,	“conservation	area”	means	the	lands	identified	as	conservation	
areas and labeled “A” through “K” on the SSRP Digital Map Schedule “D”.

Designated Minister in respect of conservation areas – Wildland Provincial 
Parks

17 For the purposes of this Part in respect of conservation areas “A” through “I” as 
shown	on	the	SSRP	Digital	Map,	the	Minister	designated	under	section16	of	the	
Government Organization Act as the Minister responsible for the Provincial Parks 
Act is the Designated Minister.

Designated Minister in respect of conservation areas – Heritage Rangeland

18	For	the	purposes	of	this	Part	in	respect	of	conservation	area	“J”	as	shown	on	
the SSRP Digital Map, the Minister designated under section16 of the Government 
Organization Act as the Minister responsible for the Public Lands Act is the 
Designated Minister.

Designated Minister in respect of conservation areas – Public Land Use Zone

19	For	the	purposes	of	this	Part	in	respect	of	conservation	area	“K”	as	shown	on	
the SSRP Digital Map, the Minister designated under section16 of the Government 
Organization Act as the Minister responsible for the Public Lands Act is the 
Designated Minister.

Conservation objectives

20(1)	The	Designated	Minister	may	take	whatever	steps	those	in	the	opinion	of	
the Designated Minister are desirable for achieving the conservation objectives 
of the SSRP Strategic Plan and SSRP Implementation Plan and for implementing 
Schedule “C” to the SSRP Implementation Plan in respect of conservation areas.

(2)	Subject	to	any	other	law,	a	statutory	consent	may	be	renewed	in	a	conservation	
area	if	the	statutory	consent	is,	at	the	effective	date	of	renewal,	in	good	standing	
under	the	provisions	of	the	enactment	or	enactments	applicable	to	the	statutory	
consent, and

	 (a)	 if	the	statutory	consent	is	consistent	with	this	regional	plan;	or

	 (b)	 if	the	statutory	consent	is	inconsistent	with	or	non-compliant	with	this	 
	 	 regional	plan,	within	the	meaning	of	section11(2),	but

  (i) is an agreement under the Mines and Minerals Act or a disposition  
   under the Public Lands Act that is valid and subsisting at the time  
   this regional plan comes in to force, or

  (ii) if it is not an agreement or disposition referred to in subclause (i),  
	 	 	 but	is,	within	the	meaning	of	section11(4),	incidental	to	an	 
   agreement or disposition referred to in subclause (i).

179



73

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

 
Programs to manage objectives

21 In respect of the land use in a conservation area, the Designated Minister shall 
establish and maintain programs evaluating the effectiveness of the conservation 
area in meeting the relevant conservation objectives in the SSRP Implementation 
Plan.

Castle Conservation Area Public Land Use Zone

22(1)	The	land	shown	as	“K”	on	the	SSRP	Digital	Map	Schedule	“D”	is	designated	
as the Castle Conservation Area. 

23(1) Subject to subsection (2), the Minister responsible for the Public Lands Act 
shall	not,	with	respect	to	land	that	is	included	in	the	Castle	Conservation	Area	
Public	Land	Use	Zone,

	 (a)	 grant	authority	to	construct	an	access	road,	or

 (b) grant a disposition under the Public Lands Act.

(2)	Notwithstanding	subsection	(1),	the	Minister	responsible	for	the	Public Lands 
Act	may	

	 (a)	 grant	an	authority	or	disposition	referred	to	in	subsection	(1)	for	the	 
	 	 purpose	of	the	working,	extraction	or	removal	of	subsurface	minerals	from	 
	 	 land	within	the	Castle	Conservation	Area	Public	Land	Use	Zone,	if	the	 
	 	 rights	to	the	subsurface	minerals	existed	on	the	coming	into	force	of	the	 
  regional plan, 

	 (b)	 grant	an	authority	or	disposition	referred	to	in	subsection	(1)	for	the	 
	 	 purpose	of	the	harvesting	of	timber	from	land	included	within	the	Castle	 
	 	 Conservation	Area	Public	Land	Use	Zone.	

	 (c)	 grant	an	authority	or	disposition	referred	to	in	subsection	(1)	if	the	 
	 	 authority	pertains	to	land	which	has	been	designated	as	Multi-use	Corridor.

24(1)	The	Minister	responsible	for	the	Forest Reserves Act,	may	grant	a	disposition	
allowing	the	grazing	of	livestock	on	land	included	in	the	Castle	Conservation	Area	
Public	Land	Use	Zone.

25(1)	The	Minister	responsible	for	the	Forests Act	may	issue	a	timber	license,	
timber	permit	or	grant	any	other	authority	to	harvest	timber	from	land	included	
within	the	Castle	Conservation	Area		Public	Land	Use	Zone.	

180



74

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Stewardship and Conservation on Private Lands
Objectives:

•	 The	contributions	of	landowners	for	their	stewardship	and	conservation	
efforts on private lands are recognized.

•	 The	contribution	and	value	of	private	land	in	supplying	ecosystem	
services is recognized, and opportunities to support ecosystem services 
on	private	land	are	identified.

•	 The	value	of	ecosystem	services	supplied	by	economic	sectors	reliant	on	
private lands is recognized.

Strategies:

a) Encourage and support the continued stewardship of Alberta’s private 
lands through the development and piloting of regionally appropriate 
conservation tools. These tools may include exploring market-based 
options, voluntary conservation easements, and the provision of other 
government and/or private sector incentives that assist in achieving 
environmental outcomes. This will be done within the provincial approach 
for management of ecosystem services.

•	 Acknowledge	the	voluntary	contributions	of	private	land	owners	in	
enhancing ecosystem services. Assess opportunities for achieving 
greater regional biodiversity on private agricultural lands through the 
development of new and/or expanded voluntary partnerships with 
private landowners.

•	 Consider	pilot	studies	with	the	goal	of	assisting	development	of	a	
voluntary, privately operated, market-based system for ecosystem 
services valuation and payment.

•	 Encourage	local	authorities	or	qualified	organizations	to	explore	the	
applicability and use of voluntary stewardship and conservation tools 
on private lands including conservation easements, conservation  
off-set programs and transfer of development credit schemes.

•	 Explore	innovative	funding	mechanisms	to	support	stewardship	and	
conservation on private lands.

b) Complete development and evaluation of the Southeast Conservation 
Offset Pilot by the end of 2015.

 The pilot will offset new industrial impacts on native prairie (such as oil 
and gas or power lines development) by contracting private landowners 
(through	a	third	party)	to	convert	fields	from	annual	cropland	to	native	
range. The pilot will test aspects of voluntary conservation offsets 
including:

•	 A	workable	approach	to	quantify	development	site	offset	
requirements;

•	 A	market-based	approach	to	target	offset	habitat	project	development	
on	privately	owned	agricultural	lands	with	the	greatest	benefit	for	
biodiversity	and	species	at	risk;

181



75

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

•	 An	open-price	discovery	approach	to	determine	agricultural	landowner	
costs;	and

•	 The	role	for	a	third	party	to	facilitate	habitat	development	and	
associated conservation offset obligations (including contracts, 
verification	and	monitoring).

 Experience gained through the pilot study will be used to educate and 
demonstrate the use of offsets to producers and to inform development of 
future market-based approaches for ecosystem services.

c) Develop and facilitate the continued adoption of environmentally 
beneficial management practices that demonstrate agriculture and 
agri-food sector commitment to environmental stewardship. 

	 Implementation	of	programs	will	help	encourage	adoption	of	beneficial	
management practices that contribute to environmental health.

d) Consider intact native grasslands as the highest priority under the 
Land Trust Grant Program.

Outcome 3: 
Air quality is managed to support healthy ecosystems 
and human needs through shared stewardship.

Air Quality
Objective:

•	 Releases	from	various	point	and	non-point	sources	are	managed	so	they	
do not collectively result in unacceptable air quality.

Strategy:

a) Implement the Air Quality Management Framework for the South 
Saskatchewan Region.

 Implementation of the Air Quality Management Framework will serve as 
one of the ways that the provincial commitment to a comprehensive Air 
Quality Management System and cumulative effects management will be 
delivered at a regional scale. The ambient air quality limits and triggers in 
the framework are based on Canadian Ambient Air Quality Standards for 
fine	particulate	matter	and	ground-level	ozone,	and	Alberta	Ambient	Air	
Quality Objectives for nitrogen dioxide.

 If monitoring indicates that a trigger or limit has been exceeded, there 
will be a management response. The framework describes the kinds of 
management actions that may be required, such as the preparation of 
management plans (individual or collective) and further modeling and/

Land trusts are non-profit charitable 
organizations that seek to enable 
conservation of private lands.

The Government of Alberta 
established the Land Trust Grant 
Program in 2011 whereby proceeds 
from the sales of public lands are 
directed to the Land Stewardship Fund 
which provides funding to Alberta land 
trusts for:

• The acquisition of conservation 
easements

• Administrative costs associated 
with obtaining and managing a new 
conservation easement or donated 
land (legal fees, baseline surveys 
and stewardship endowments).

To be eligible to receive funding, the 
land trust must demonstrate that it 
has two-to-one leveraging of funds 
and alignment to the Government of 
Alberta’s conservation initiatives  
(protecting large areas of intact native 
habitat, intact native grasslands).

From 2011 to 2013, the Land 
Trust Grant Program has granted 
approximately $20 million for the 
conservation of approximately 43,400 
acres of land.

Under a conservation easement, 
landowners can voluntarily restrict the 
use of their land to protect its natural, 
agricultural or cultural heritage. The 
landowner retains ownership of the 
land and the easement is registered 
on land title.

Conservation easements have been 
in place for over 15 years. Through 
the Alberta Land Stewardship Act, 
the provisions for easements were 
expanded to include agricultural lands.

182



76

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

or monitoring. Taking action to manage air quality in the region will 
involve the provincial government and a number of parties, including 
municipalities, partnership groups like local airshed groups, individual 
citizens and others. Finally, the framework establishes a commitment 
to ongoing monitoring, evaluation and reporting of ambient air quality 
conditions,	and	verification	if	triggers	or	limits	are	exceeded.	This	is	
described in more detail in the management framework.

 The Government of Alberta will continue to work with local airshed groups 
within the South Saskatchewan Region. The local airshed groups have 
made important contributions and will continue to serve an important role 
in contributing to management of air quality issues.

 There are some issues that are more local in nature in the region, 
including odour, dust, and issues related to emissions from individual 
industrial activities, such as sour gas plants, aggregate facilities and 
agricultural operations. As appropriate, the Government of Alberta 
will continue to monitor and assess these local issues and work 
collaboratively to determine appropriate place-based management 
actions and mitigation of effects. This will include the continued 
application of regulatory tools, such as regulation of industrial facilities 
under the Environmental Protection and Enhancement Act and 
requirements	for	Confined	Feeding	Operations	under	the	Agricultural 
Operation Practices Act, and use of non-regulatory approaches such as 
beneficial	management	practices.	

b) Continue to support the implementation of the Calgary Region Airshed  
Zone Particulate Matter and Ozone Management Plan in alignment 
with implementation of the national Air Quality Management System 
and the air quality management framework for the South Saskatchewan 
Region.

c) Encourage municipalities, industry and the public to be proactive 
in addressing air quality issues through voluntary programs and 
initiatives.

 The relevant legislation includes the Environmental Protection and 
Enhancement Act and the Agricultural Operation Practices Act and 
regulations.

Indicators:

•	 Fine	particulate	matter	(PM2.5).

•	 Ground-level	ozone	(ozone	or	O3).

•	 Nitrogen	dioxide	(NO2).

Limits:

•	 Based	on	existing	Canadian	Ambient	Air	Quality	Standards	for	fine	
particulate matter and ozone (see Schedule A – Air Quality Management 
Framework Limits and Triggers) and Alberta Ambient Air Quality 
Objectives for nitrogen dioxide.

183



77

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

•	 Apply	at	continuous	air	monitoring	stations	in	the	South	Saskatchewan	
Region as reported through the Clean Air Strategic Alliance Data 
Warehouse.

Triggers:

•	 Based	on	existing	Canadian	Ambient	Air	Quality	Standards	for	fine	
particulate matter and ozone, and the Alberta Ambient Air Quality 
Objectives for nitrogen dioxide. (See Schedule A – Air Quality 
Management Framework Limits and Triggers.)

•	 Apply	at	continuous	air	monitoring	stations	in	the	South	Saskatchewan	
Region as reported through the Clean Air Strategic Alliance Data 
Warehouse.

 

184



78

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

 
Regulatory Details Plan:  Part 4 Air Quality

Designated Minister

26 For the purposes of this Part, the Minister designated under section16 of the 
Government Organization Act as the Minister responsible for the Environmental 
Protection and Enhancement Act is the Designated Minister.

Definitions

27 In this Part,

	 (a)	 “framework”	means	the	document	referred	to	in	this	regional	plan	as	the		 
	 	 Air	Quality	Management	Framework	for	the	South	Saskatchewan	Region	 
  as amended or replaced from time to time;

	 (b)	 “limit”	means	the	applicable	limit	specified	in	Schedule	“A”	Tables	1	and	3	 
  of the SSRP Implementation Plan;  

	 (c)	 “person	responsible”	has	the	same	meaning	as	defined	in	the	 
  Environmental Protection and Enhancement Act;

	 (d)	 “trigger”	means	the	applicable	trigger	specified	in	Schedule	“A”	Tables	1,	 
  2 and 3 of the SSRP Implementation Plan.

Designated Minister’s decision final and binding

28(1)	The	Designated	Minister	in	the	exercise	of	the	Designated	Minister’s	powers	
and	duties	under	this	Part	may	determine

 (a) the measurements of substances of concern at monitoring stations  
  established and maintained under a program referred to in section 29;

	 (b)	 whether	a	trigger	or	limit	has	been	exceeded	for	the	purposes	of	this	Part;

	 (c)	 whether	a	trigger	or	limit	exceeded	in	respect	of	one	or	more	specific	areas	 
  in the planning region is of concerning other areas of the planning region  
	 	 or	the	whole	planning	region;	and

	 (d)	 the	duration	of	an	exceedance	of	a	trigger	or	limit	determined	by	the	 
  Designated Minister.

(2)	The	Designated	Minister’s	determination	is	final	and	binding	on	the	Crown,	
decision-makers, local government bodies, and, subject to section15.1 of the Act, all 
other persons.

Programs to manage effects

29	In	respect	of	the	framework,	the	Designated	Minister	shall	establish	and	maintain	
programs

	 (a)	 managing	ambient	air	quality	limits	and	triggers	for	substances	that	in	the	 
	 	 opinion	of	the	Designated	Minister	are	indicators	of	the	air	quality	effects	 
  of concern for the planning region;

	 (b)	 monitoring	and	evaluating	the	ambient	air	quality	in	the	planning	region;	and

185



79

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

  
	 (c)	 evaluating	the	effectiveness	of	the	framework	in	meeting	the	air	quality	 
  objective stated in the SSRP Implementation Plan.

Notice respecting limits

30(1) If in the opinion of the Designated Minister, a non-point source or non-point 
sources	are	reasonably	expected	to	have	a	significant	direct	or	indirect	effect	on	the	
limit	or	limits,	the	Designated	Minister	is	not	required	to	issue	a	notice	pursuant	to	
subsection (2).

(2) In respect of one or more limits that, in the opinion of the Designated Minister, 
has	been	exceeded,	the	Designated	Minister	shall	issue	a	notice	specifying:

	 (a)	 an	activity	or	activities	or	type,	types,	class	or	classes	of	activity	or	 
	 	 activities	that	in	the	opinion	of	the	Designated	Minister	are	reasonably	 
	 	 expected	to	have	a	direct	or	indirect	effect	on	the	limit	or	limits;

	 (b)	 the	applicable	limit	or	limits	in	respect	of	the	activity	or	activities	referred	 
  to in clause(a) that, in the opinion of the Designated Minister, has been  
	 	 exceeded;

	 (c)	 the	relevant	area	of	the	planning	region	affected	by	the	limit	or	limits;

	 (d)	 the	decision-maker	or	decision-makers	affected	by	the	notice;

	 (e)	 the	local	government	body	or	local	government	bodies	affected	by	the	 
  notice;

	 (f)	 the	anticipated	duration	of	the	effect	of	the	exceedance	of	the	limit	or	 
	 	 limits	on	the	activity,	type,	types,	class	or	classes	of	activity	or	activities,	 
	 	 area,	decision-maker,	decision-makers,	local	government	body	or	local	 
  government bodies;

	 (g)	 action	to	be	taken	by	affected	decision-makers	and	affected	local	 
	 	 government	bodies	in	response	to	the	exceedance	of	the	limit.

(3) All affected decision-makers and affected local government bodies referred to 
in	(2)(d)	and(e)	shall	be	served	with	the	notice	by	personal	service,	registered	mail,	
or	fax.

(4)	Upon	receiving	a	notice	referred	to	in	subsection	(2)	a	decision-maker	or	local	
government	body	is	bound	by	the	notice.

(5)	A	notice	referred	to	in	subsection	(2)	shall	be	publicly	available.

Management response

31(1) If the Designated Minister determines that a trigger or limit has been 
exceeded,	an	appropriate	official	or	officials	in	the	Designated	Minister’s	
government	department	must	initiate	a	management	response	consistent	with	the	
framework.

(2)	A	person	responsible	shall	comply	with	the	lawful	directions	of	an	official	in	
respect of a management response referred to in subsection (1).

186



80

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

 
(3)	An	official	responsible	for	initiating	a	management	response	under	this	section	
shall	as	soon	as	practicable	report	to	the	Designated	Minister	in	writing	the	details	
and the effect of the management response.

(4)	A	report	referred	to	in	subsection	(3)	shall	be	publicly	available.

Designated Minister’s considerations

32	For	greater	clarification,	in	reaching	an	opinion	under	sections	30	and	31,	
the	Designated	Minister	may	consider	such	information	as	in	the	Designated	
Minister’s	opinion	is	material	to

	 (a)	 a	particular	activity	or	activities	or	type	or	class	of	activity	or	types	or	 
  classes of activities;

	 (b)	 the	relevant	area	or	relevant	part	of	the	area	in	which	the	activity	is	to	 
  occur;

	 (c)	 the	relevant	area	or	relevant	part	of	the	area	in	which	an	effect	or	effects	of	 
	 	 the	activity	or	activities	are	reasonably	expected	to	occur;

	 (d)	 the	reasonably	expected,	relevant	period	or	duration	of	the	effect	or	effects	 
	 	 of	the	activity	or	activities;

	 (e)	 any	other	matter	that	in	the	Designated	Minister’s	opinion	is	advisable	 
  under a program referred to in Section 29.

187



81

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Outcome 4: 
Watersheds are managed to support healthy 
ecosystems and human needs through shared 
stewardship.

Surface Water Quality
Objective:

•	 Surface	water	quality	in	the	Bow,	Oldman,	South	Saskatchewan	and	Milk	
rivers is managed so current and future water uses are protected.

Strategies:

a) Implement the Surface Water Quality Management Framework for the 
South Saskatchewan Region.

 Implementation of the Surface Water Quality Management Framework will 
provide an important approach for the management of cumulative effects 
of development on ambient water quality. The surface water quality 
limits in the framework are based on provincially used water quality 
guidelines. They were chosen to protect the most sensitive water use 
such as agricultural, industrial, recreational and esthetics, drinking water 
and protection of aquatic life. The surface water quality triggers in the 
framework form an early warning system to signal change.

 If monitoring indicates that a trigger or limit has been exceeded, there will 
be a regional management response. The framework describes the kinds 
of management responses that may be required, such as the preparation 
of management plans (individual or collective), further modeling and/
or monitoring, development and the use of best management practices, 
and education and awareness programs. Taking action to manage 
surface water quality in the region will involve the provincial government 
and a number of parties, including the agricultural sector, municipalities, 
partnership groups and others. Finally, the framework establishes a 
commitment to ongoing monitoring, evaluation and reporting of ambient 
water	quality	conditions	and	verification	if	triggers	or	limits	are	exceeded.	

 A Phosphorus Management Plan for the Bow River has been initiated as 
a proactive management response to elevated phosphorus levels in the 
river. This multi-stakeholder collaborative project is a means to address 
point and non-point source phosphorus inputs using a cumulative effects 
management approach. As part of the implementation of the Surface 
Water Quality Management Framework for the South Saskatchewan 
Region, the work on the Phosphorus Management Plan will continue and 
will be ready for implementation by the end of 2013.

 The relevant legislation includes the Environmental Protection and 
Enhancement Act, the Water Act and the Agricultural Operations 
Practices Act.

188



82

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Indicators:

•	 Fifteen	general	water	quality	indicators	have	been	selected.	(See	
Schedule B – Surface Water Quality Management Framework Limits and 
Triggers);	and

•	 Two	metals	and	four	pesticides	have	been	selected	as	secondary	
indicators to be monitored, but triggers and limits are not yet established 
due	to	insufficient	data.

Limits:

•	 Established	from	existing	provincially	accepted	water	quality	guidelines	
where	applicable;	further	risk-based	limits	are	to	be	developed.	 
(See Schedule B – Surface Water Quality Management Framework Limits 
and Triggers.)

•	 Apply	at	nine	Long	Term	River	Network	monitoring	stations	as	indicated	in	
the management framework.

Triggers:

•	 Based	on	statistical	deviation	from	historical	ambient	concentrations.	 
(See Schedule B – Surface Water Quality Management Frameworks 
Limits.)

•	 Apply	at	nine	Long	Term	River	Network	monitoring	stations	as	indicated	in	
the management framework.

189



83

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

So
ut

h 
Sa

sk
at

ch
ew

an
: L

on
g 

Te
rm

 R
iv

er
 N

et
w

or
k 

M
on

ito
rin

g 
St

at
io

ns

190



84

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

 
Regulatory Details Plan:  Part 5 Surface Water Quality

Designated Minister

33 For the purposes of this Part, the Minister designated under section16 of the 
Government Organization Act as the Minister responsible for the Environmental 
Protection and Enhancement Act is the Designated Minister.

Definitions

34 In this Part,

	 (a)	 “framework”	means	the	document	referred	to	in	this	regional	plan	as	the	 
	 	 Surface	Water	Quality	Management	Framework	for	the	mainstem	Bow,	 
	 	 Milk,	Oldman	and	South	Saskatchewan	River	as	amended	or	replaced	 
  from time to time;

	 (b)	 “limit”	means	the	applicable	limit	specified	in	Schedule	“B”	Tables	1	and	 
  9 of  the SSRP Implementation Plan;

	 (c)	 “person	responsible”	has	the	same	meaning	as	defined	in	the	 
  Environmental Protection and Enhancement Act;

	 (d)	 “trigger”	means	the	applicable	trigger	specified	in	Schedule	“B”	Tables	1	 
  and 9 of the SSRP Implementation Plan;

	 (e)	 “water”	has	the	same	meaning	as	defined	in	the	Water Act.

Designated Minister’s decision final and binding

35(1)	The	Designated	Minister	in	the	exercise	of	the	Designated	Minister’s	powers	
and	duties	under	this	Part	may	determine

 (a) the measurements of substances of concern at monitoring stations  
  established and maintained under a program referred to in section 36;

	 (b)	 whether	a	trigger	or	limit	has	been	exceeded	for	the	purposes	of	this	Part;

	 (c)	 whether	a	trigger	or	limit	exceeded	in	respect	of	one	or	more	specific	areas	 
	 	 in	the	South	Saskatchewan	Region	is	of	concern,	or	its	tributaries	or	 
	 	 distributaries,	or	other	areas	of	the	planning	region	or	the	whole	planning	 
  region; and

	 (d)	 the	duration	of	an	exceedance	of	a	trigger	or	limit	determined	by	the	 
  Designated Minister.

(2)	The	Designated	Minister’s	determination	is	final	and	binding	on	the	Crown,	
decision-makers, local government bodies, and, subject to section15.1 of the Act, 
all other persons.

191



85

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

 
Programs to manage effects

36	In	respect	of	the	framework,	the	Designated	Minister	shall	establish	and	
maintain programs

	 (a)	 managing	water	quality	limits	and	triggers	for	substances	that	in	the	 
	 	 opinion	of	the	Designated	Minister	are	indicators	of	the	surface	water	 
	 	 quality	effects	of	concern	for	the	South	Saskatchewan	Region;

	 (b)	 monitoring	and	evaluating	the	water	quality	in	the	South	Saskatchewan	 
  Region; and

	 (c)	 evaluating	the	effectiveness	of	the	framework	in	meeting	the	water	quality	 
	 	 objective	for	the	South	Saskatchewan	Region	stated	in	the	SSRP	 
  Implementation Plan.

Notice respecting limits

37(1) If in the opinion of the Designated Minister, a non-point source or non-point 
sources	are	reasonably	expected	to	have	a	significant	direct	or	indirect	effect	on	the	
limit	or	limits,	the	Designated	Minister	is	not	required	to	issue	a	notice	pursuant	to	
subsection (2). 

(2) In respect of one or more limits that, in the opinion of the Designated Minister, 
have	been	exceeded,	the	Designated	Minister	shall	issue	a	notice	specifying:

	 (a)	 an	activity	or	activities	or	type,	types,	class	or	classes	of	activity	or	 
	 	 activities	that	in	the	opinion	of	the	Designated	Minister	are	reasonably	 
	 	 expected	to	have	a	direct	or	indirect	effect	on	the	limit	or	limits;

	 (b)		the	applicable	limit	or	limits	in	respect	of	the	activity	or	activities	referred	 
  to in clause(a) that, in the opinion of the Designated Minister, has been  
	 	 exceeded;

	 (c)	 the	relevant	area	of	the	planning	region	affected	by	the	limit	or	limits;

	 (d)	 the	decision-maker	or	decision-makers	affected	by	the	notice;

	 (e)	 the	local	government	body	or	local	government	bodies	affected	by	the	 
  notice;

	 (f)	 the	anticipated	duration	of	the	effect	of	the	exceedance	of	the	limit	or	 
	 	 limits	on	the	activity,	type,	types,	class	or	classes	of	activity	or	activities,	 
	 	 area,	decision-maker,	decision-makers,	local	government	body	or	local	 
  government bodies;

	 (g)	 action	to	be	taken	by	affected	decision-makers	and	affected	local	 
	 	 government	bodies	in	response	to	the	exceedance	of	the	limit.

(3) All affected decision-makers and affected local government bodies referred to 
in	subsection	(2)(d)	and	(e)	shall	be	served	with	the	notice	by	personal	service,	
registered	mail,	or	fax.

(4)	Upon	receiving	a	notice	referred	to	in	subsection	(2)	a	decision-maker	or	local	
government	body	is	bound	by	the	notice.

(5)	A	notice	referred	to	in	subsection	(2)	shall	be	publicly	available.

192



86

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

 
Management response

38(1) If the Designated Minister determines that a trigger or limit has been 
exceeded,	an	appropriate	official	or	officials	in	the	Designated	Minister’s	
government	department	must	initiate	a	management	response	consistent	with	the	
framework.

(2)	A	person	responsible	shall	comply	with	the	lawful	directions	of	an	official	in	
respect of a management response referred to in subsection (1).

(3)	An	official	responsible	for	initiating	a	management	response	under	this	section	
shall	as	soon	as	practicable	report	to	the	Designated	Minister	in	writing	the	details	
and the effect of the management response.

(4)	A	report	referred	to	in	subsection	(3)	shall	be	publicly	available.

Designated Minister’s considerations

39	For	greater	clarification,	in	reaching	an	opinion	under	sections	37	and	38,	
the	Designated	Minister	may	consider	such	information	as	in	the	Designated	
Minister’s	opinion	is	material	to

	 (a)	 a	particular	activity	or	activities	or	type	or	class	of	activity	or	types	or	 
  classes of activities, 

	 (b)	 the	relevant	area	or	relevant	part	of	the	area	in	which	the	activity	is	to	 
  occur,

	 (c)	 the	relevant	area	or	relevant	part	of	the	area	in	which	an	effect	or	effects	of	 
	 	 the	activity	or	activities	are	reasonably	expected	to	occur,

	 (d)	 the	reasonably	expected,	relevant	period	or	duration	of	the	effect	or	effects	 
	 	 of	the	activity	or	activities,	(e)	any	other	matter	that	in	the	Designated	 
	 	 Minister’s	opinion	is	advisable	under	a	program	referred	to	in	section	36.

193



87

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Enhanced Integrated Watershed Management
Objective:

•	 Regional	approaches	and	tools	support	integrated	management	of	water	
and aquatic ecosystems.

Strategies:

a) Develop a comprehensive approach for groundwater management.
•	 Confirm	priority	issues	and	areas	of	concern	and	accelerate	

monitoring at existing wells in the areas of concern in 2014.

•	 Develop	an	enhanced	regional	monitoring	strategy,	to	focus	on	priority	
issues, by the end of 2015.

•	 Continue	groundwater	mapping	in	Southern	Alberta	under	the	
Provincial Groundwater Inventory Program.

•	 Develop	policy	direction	related	to	the	connectivity	of	groundwater	to	
nearby surface water sources.

b) Continue to support the work of the watershed planning and advisory 
councils on watershed assessment and planning under the Water 
for Life strategy, in alignment with regional planning. All stakeholders are 
encouraged to support the work of the watershed planning and advisory 
councils. 

c) Continue to increase knowledge and improve management of wetland 
areas within the region.

•	 Establish	regional	wetland	management	objectives	under	the	Alberta 
Wetland Policy.

•	 Continue	to	facilitate	the	advancement	of	wetland	knowledge,	data	
systems, and science in the region. Current efforts in these areas 
include enhancement of the Alberta Wetland Inventory, development 
of	the	Alberta	Wetland	Classification	System,	and	refinement	of	
several wetland assessment tools.

d) Continue to increase knowledge and improve management of riparian 
areas within the region.

•	 Assess	the	feasibility	and	need	for	a	regional	riparian	management	
strategy, building on the work of the Alberta Water Council’s 
recommendations which are expected by the end of 2014.

•	 Encourage	municipalities	to	use	Stepping Back from the Water to 
establish	appropriate	setbacks	to	maintain	water	quality,	flood	water	
conveyance and storage, bank stability and habitat.

•	 Encourage	landowners	to	maintain	their	riparian	areas	following	
beneficial	management	practices	such	as	those	developed	by	the	
Alberta Riparian Habitat Management Society (also known as “Cows 
and Fish”).

194



88

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

•	 Continue	to	increase	knowledge	of	riparian	areas	including	
continued work on mapping and inventories and working with partner 
organizations and First Nations as appropriate.

e)	 Encourage	the	use	of	beneficial	management	practices	for	large	scale	
land disturbances to minimize sedimentation of waterways.

•	 Encourage	municipalities	to	work	with	land	developers	to	develop	and	
implement	beneficial	management	practices	and	establish	guidelines	
for erosion and sediment control.

f) Encourage the development of source water protection plans and the 
use of source water protection measures. Source water protection 
plans may be developed by municipal water utilities, watershed planning 
and advisory councils and upstream stakeholders and include aboriginal 
participation where appropriate as a collaborative effort which is important 
for successful implementation.

g) Continue to require the development of drinking water safety plans for 
all municipal waterworks systems as required under the current regulatory 
system. Municipalities are encouraged to work collaboratively with 
upstream stakeholders to identify and mitigate risks in watersheds.

h) Encourage decision-makers and land managers to use the available 
planning information, including: riparian and wetland mapping and 
inventories,	environmentally	significant	areas	mapping	and	groundwater	
vulnerability mapping.

The province continues to be committed to integrated management 
considering water supply, water quality and aquatic ecosystems. In order to 
support successful integrated management of water and aquatic ecosystems, 
ongoing work is needed to ensure innovation and development of tools 
and approaches. Shared stewardship and collaboration will continue to be 
underlying principles.

Efficient and Resilient Water Supply
Objective:

•	 Water	is	used	as	efficiently	as	possible	to	meet	the	current	and	future	
human and ecosystem needs.

•	 There	is	resiliency	in	the	ability	of	the	water	management	system	to	adapt	
to change over time.

Strategies:

a) Continue to develop an optimized water management infrastructure 
system in the region.

 The provincial water management infrastructure will continue to be 
assessed	for	optimization	and	efficiencies	to	address	periods	of	both	low	
flows	and	drought	conditions,	and	high	flows	and	flooding	conditions.	This	
will build on completed work including:

195



89

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

•	 The	Water Supply Study (2009) which assessed current and future 
water supply and demands.

•	 The	South	Saskatchewan	River	Basin	Adaptation	Project		which	takes	
a multi-stakeholder approach to identify opportunities for integrated 
management of the Bow, Oldman and South Saskatchewan river 
systems.

•	 The	Bow	River	Project	(2010)	which	will	be	used	to	determine	options	
for	managing	existing	flows	and	better	achieving	environmental,	
irrigation and municipal needs.

•	 A	water	storage	opportunities	study	for	the	South	Saskatchewan	
Region that will be complete by the end of 2015 to explore the 
potential to develop additional water storage in the region and assess 
on-stream and off-stream storage sites.

b) Continue to work towards the Water for Life outcome with all sectors 
demonstrating best management practices, ensuring overall water 
efficiency and productivity in Alberta improves by 30 per cent from 
2005 levels by 2015.

 All seven major water-using sectors will implement their water 
conservation,	efficiency	and	productivity	plans,	and	produce	regular	
progress reports to the Alberta Water Council. The irrigation and urban 
municipalities	sectors	were	the	first	to	complete	their	plans	and	are	
currently working on implementation. The Alberta Urban Municipalities 
Association is working with its members to improve water conservation 
measures and many of the urban municipalities in the region already have 
water saving programs in place.

 The Alberta Irrigation Projects Association developed the irrigation sector 
plan. They have already reported improvements and are on track to 
meet their targets. As the largest water user in the region, the irrigation 
industry recognizes the need to promote technologies and practices that 
conserve water resources and only utilize the amount of irrigation water 
required for crop growth. Looking forward, the Government of Alberta will 
continue to support water conservation targets through efforts such as 
implementation of Alberta’s Irrigation: A Strategy for the Future.

 Progress across all water sectors is being assessed and future direction 
will be considered in 2015. This may include development of regionally 
based	targets	and	other	additional	commitments	to	improve	efficiency	and	
productivity.

c) Continue to develop approaches to address the climate variability found 
in the region.

•	 Support	flood	management	planning	and	preparedness	including	
assessment	of	flood	risk	through:	

 - Continuing to develop and update flood hazard mapping in 
regions	where	flooding	puts	current	and	future	development	
and infrastructure at risk. Flood hazard mapping will be used in 
decision-making and to determine appropriate limitations for new 
developments and infrastructure.

On-farm irrigation efficiencies

Irrigation efficiency is the amount 
of water available for crop growth 
relative to the amount of water 
diverted. Highly efficient irrigation 
minimizes water losses that result 
from seepage, evaporation and 
return flows. On-farm efficiency is 
influenced by the relative uniformity 
of water application to the field 
which differs by the type of irrigation 
system used. For example, a low 
pressure pivot is more efficient than 
a side roll wheel move system as 
water is applied more uniformly and 
with less evaporative loss.

Flood Hazard Mapping

Flooding can cause damage to 
property, hardship to people and, in 
extreme events, loss of life. To assist 
Albertans in mitigating potential 
flood losses, the Government of 
Alberta manages the production of 
flood hazard studies and mapping 
under the provincial Flood Hazard 
Identification Program. Flood hazard 
mapping delineates flood hazard 
areas along streams and lakes using 
design flood levels established as 
part of flood hazard studies. Flood 
hazards have not been identified 
in all communities and may exist in 
areas without flood hazard studies or 
mapping.

196



90

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

 - Supporting development of municipal flood hazard mitigation 
plans	to	mitigate	the	threat	from	flooding	to	communities	in	the	
region. 

 - Continuing  to work on modeling and data management.

•	 Supporting	drought	management	planning	and	preparedness.

•	 Further	develop	climate	adaptation	tools	and	initiatives.

Indicators:

•	 Annual	reported	water	use	volumes	by	major	licence	holders.

•	 Water	conservation	holdback	volumes	through	licence	transfers	for	the	
Bow, Oldman and South Saskatchewan rivers.

•	 Annual	water	supply	volumes	for	the	Bow,	Milk,	Oldman	and	South	
Saskatchewan rivers.

•	 Percentage	of	time	the	water	conservation	objective	targets	are	achieved	
annually for key reaches of the Bow, Oldman and South Saskatchewan 
rivers.

•	 On-farm	irrigation	efficiencies	achieved	with	time.

Efficient	use	of	water	is	an	important	underlying	principle	everywhere,	but	
is especially important in the geographic and climatic setting of southern 
Alberta. This valuable resource cannot be wasted. Approaches and tools will 
vary	across	sectors	but	the	overall	conservation,	efficiency	and	productivity	
goals apply to all. Linked to this is the role that the established water 
management infrastructure in the region plays in achieving those goals. The 
region must also be able to adapt to the challenges related to current and 
projected climate variability. 

Headwaters
Objective:

•	 Headwaters	in	the	region	are	managed	to	maintain	recharge	capabilities	
and support critical water quality, quantity and aquatic ecosystem 
requirements.

Strategies:

a) Headwaters are protected through the establishment of conservation 
areas. (See Outcome 2.)

b) Continue collaboration with the watershed planning and advisory 
councils on headwaters management initiatives such as development 
of headwaters integrity indicators.

c) Review existing water conservation objectives for headwaters 
tributaries in support of the Approved Water Management Plan for the 
South Saskatchewan River Basin.

197



91

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

The aquatic environment and the water people in the region rely on cannot be 
sustained unless headwaters are protected. The importance of headwaters 
has been recognized in the unique geography of the eastern slopes. 
Headwaters in other parts of the region, although for smaller watersheds, are 
equally important. Collaboration and shared stewardship will be essential to 
achieving responsible management.

Outcome 5:  
Community Development Needs Are Anticipated and 
Accommodated

Planning Cooperation and Integration
Objectives:

•	 Cooperation	and	coordination	are	fostered	among	all	land-use	planners	
and decision-makers involved in preparing and implementing land plans 
and strategies.

•	 Knowledge	sharing	among	communities	is	encouraged	to	promote	the	
use	of	planning	tools	and	the	principles	of	efficient	use	of	land	to	address	
community development in the region.

Calgary Regional Partnership

•	 Municipalities	in	the	metropolitan	plan	areas	are	encouraged	to	work	
together to:

- Plan for future growth.

- Decide on the criteria and decision-making processes for local and 
regional development approvals to the collective satisfaction of all 
members within their mandate.

Strategies:

When making land-use decisions, municipalities, provincial departments, 
boards and agencies, and other partners are encouraged to:

a) Consider working together to achieve the shared environmental, 
economic and social outcomes in the South Saskatchewan Regional Plan 
and minimize negative environmental cumulative effects.

b) Address common planning issues, especially where valued natural 
features and historic resources are of interests to more than one 
stakeholder and where the possible effect of development transcends 
jurisdictional boundaries.

198



92

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

c) Coordinate and work with each other in their respective planning activities 
(such as in the development of plans and policies), and development 
approval processes to address issues of mutual interest.

d) Work together to anticipate, plan and set aside adequate land with the 
physical infrastructure and services required to accommodate future 
population growth and accompanying community development needs.

e) Utilize the minimum amount of land required for developments (new 
residential, commercial and industrial).

f) Plan, design, and locate future development in a manner that utilizes 
existing infrastructure and minimizes the need for new or expanded 
infrastructure.

g) Build awareness regarding the application of land-use planning tools that 
reduce the impact of residential, commercial, and industrial developments 
on the land, including approaches and best practices for promoting the 
efficient	use	of	private	and	public	lands.

h) Build awareness regarding the application of land-use planning tools that 
reduce the impact of residential, commercial and industrial developments 
on the land.

i) Pursue joint use agreements, regional service commissions and any 
other	joint	cooperative	arrangements	that	contribute	specifically	to	
intermunicipal land-use planning.

j) Consider the value of intermunicipal development planning to address 
land use on fringe areas, airport vicinity protection plans or other areas of 
mutual interest.

k) Coordinate land-use planning activities with First Nations, irrigation 
districts, school boards and health authorities on areas of mutual interest.  

Calgary Regional Partnership

a) Continue to assist the Calgary Regional Partnership and the 
municipalities	(rural	and	urban)	in	the	region	to	finalize	the	Calgary	
Metropolitan Plan.

Building Sustainable Communities
Objectives:

Ensure provincial guidance is provided to municipalities and other 
stakeholders to:

•	 Promote	healthy	and	sustainable	communities.

•	 Foster	the	establishment	of	land-use	patterns	for	an	orderly,	economical	
and	beneficial	development,	as	well	as	to	maintain	and	improve	the	
quality of the built environment.

•	 Support	timely	planning	and	provision	of	social	infrastructure.

Provincial Land-Use Policies

Land-use policies established 
by Lieutenant Governor In 
Council pursuant to Section 622 
of the Municipal Government 
Act Order in Council 522-96 
–  November 6, 1996, do not 
apply in any planning region 
within the meaning of the 
Alberta Land Stewardship 
Act (ALSA) where there is an 
ALSA regional plan in place. By 
incorporating updated broad 
land-use policy statements 
in the South Saskatchewan 
Regional Plan, the Province 
retains authority to provide 
guidelines to municipalities on 
expectations needed to promote 
cooperation and coordination in 
land-use planning to reflect the 
uniqueness of the region

199



93

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

•	 Contribute	to	the	“maintenance	and	enhancement”	of	a	healthy	natural	
environment.

•	 Foster	preservation	of	historic	resources	through	responsible	land-use	
management.

•	 Contribute	to	a	safe,	efficient,	and	cost-effective	transportation	network.	

•	 Minimize	risks	to	health,	safety	and	loss	to	property	damage	as	a	result	of	
land-use decisions.

While the following strategies are mainly provided to municipalities for 
consideration in their planning and decision-making, provincial departments, 
boards and agencies, and other partners are also encouraged to participate, 
cooperate and facilitate in this community development process.

Strategies:

Land-use Patterns

Municipalities are encouraged to establish land-use patterns which:

a) Provide an appropriate mix of agricultural, residential, commercial, 
industrial,	institutional,	public	and	recreational	land	uses;	developed	in	an	
orderly,	efficient,	compatible,	safe	and	economical	manner.

b) Contribute to a healthy environment, a healthy economy and a high 
quality of life.

c) Provide a wide range of economic development opportunities, stimulate 
local employment growth and promote a healthy and stable economy. 
Municipalities are also encouraged to complement regional and provincial 
economic development initiatives.

d) Feature innovative housing designs, range of densities and housing types 
such as mixed-use, cluster developments, secondary suites, seniors’ 
centres and affordable housing.

e)	 Minimize	potential	conflict	of	land	uses	adjacent	to	natural	resource	
extraction, manufacturing and other industrial developments.

f)	 Minimize	potential	conflict	of	land	uses	within	and	adjacent	to	areas	prone	
to	flooding,	erosion,	subsidence,	or	wildfire.

g)	 Complement	their	municipal	financial	management	strategies,	thereby	
contributing	to	the	financial	viability	of	the	municipality.

h) Locate school and health facilities, transportation and other amenities 
appropriately, to meet increased demand from a growing population.

200



94

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Water and Watersheds

Municipalities will:

a) Utilize or incorporate measures which minimize or mitigate possible 
negative impacts on important water resources or risks to health, safety 
and loss to property damage due to hazards associated with water, such 
as	flooding,	erosion	and	subsidence	due	to	bank	stability	issues,	etc.,	
within the scope of their jurisdiction.

b) Incorporate measures in land-use decisions to mitigate the impact of 
floods	through	appropriate	flood	hazard	area	management,	emergency	
response	planning	for	floods,	and	appropriate	development	in	the	flood	
hazard area in accordance with provincial policy on development within 
flood	hazard	areas.

Municipalities are encouraged to:

a)	 Identify	and	recognize	the	values	of	significant	water	resources	and	other	
water features, such as ravines, valleys, riparian areas, stream corridors, 
lakeshores,	wetlands	and	unique	environmentally	significant	landscapes,	
within their boundaries.

b)	 Determine	appropriate	land-use	patterns	in	the	vicinity	of	these	significant	
water resources and other water features.

c) Consider local impacts as well as impacts on the entire watershed.

d) Consider the protection of these water features, and protect sensitive 
aquatic habitat and other aquatic resources.

e)	 Assess	existing	developments	located	within	flood	hazard	areas	for	
long-term opportunities for re-development to reduce risk associated with 
flooding,	including	human	safety,	property	damage,	infrastructure	and	
economic loss.

f) Facilitate public access and enjoyment of water features, to the extent 
possible.

g) Use available guidance, where appropriate, from water and watershed 
planning initiatives in support of municipal planning.

Non-Renewable Resources

Municipalities are encouraged to:

a) In collaboration with industry, provincial government and other 
stakeholders, identify areas of existing and future extraction of surface 
materials (e.g., sand and gravel) and energy resources, and determine 
appropriate land uses in the vicinity of these resources.

b) Within the scope of their jurisdiction in regards to non-renewable 
resources development, utilize or incorporate measures which minimize 
or mitigate possible negative impacts, and minimize risks to health, safety 
and loss to property damage.

201



95

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

c) Municipalities, in collaboration with industry, the Government of Alberta 
and other stakeholders are encouraged to identify areas of existing and 
future extraction of energy resources, and determine appropriate land use 
in the vicinity of these resources.

Historic Resources

Municipalities, in consultation with the Minister responsible for the Historical 
Resources Act, are encouraged to:

a)	 Identify	significant	historic	resources	to	foster	their	preservation	and	
enhancement for use and enjoyment by present and future generations.

b) Work toward the designation of Municipal Historic Resources to preserve 
municipally	significant	historic	places.

c) Formulate agreements for development referrals to assist in the 
identification	and	protection	of	historic	resources	within	the	scope	of	their	
jurisdiction.

Transportation

a) Municipalities are encouraged to identify, in consultation with the Minister 
responsible for the Highways Development and Protection Act, the 
location, nature and purpose of key provincial transportation corridors and 
related facilities.

b) Municipalities are encouraged to work with Transportation to minimize 
negative interactions between the transportation corridors and related 
facilities	identified	in	accordance	with	(a)	above	and	the	surrounding	
areas and land uses through the establishment of compatible land-use 
patterns.

c) If subdivision and development is to be approved in the vicinity of 
the	areas	identified	in	accordance	with	(a)	above,	the	municipality	is	
encouraged to employ appropriate setback distances and other mitigating 
measures relating to noise, air pollution and safety to limit access and 
enter into highway vicinity agreements with the Minister’s department.

202



96

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Outcome 6:   
The quality of life of residents is enhanced through 
increased opportunities for recreation, active living, and 
the preservation and promotion of the region’s unique 
cultural and natural heritage.
Objectives:

•	 A	wide	range	of	recreation	experiences	and	tourism	opportunities	that	
meet the preferences of regional residents and visitors will be provided.

•	 The	artifacts,	fossils,	historic	places,	and	aboriginal	heritage	sites	that	
define	the	region’s	distinctive	character	are	identified	and	effectively	
managed.

Strategies:

a) Manage recreation and tourism opportunities to ensure quality 
outdoor recreation and nature-based tourism experiences while 
minimizing environmental impacts.

b) Continue to maintain locally, regionally and provincially significant 
recreation and tourism features, including sites, areas and corridors.

c) Address flood (2013) damaged recreation and parks areas.

d) Invest in existing parks facilities to enhance the experiences of users.

e) Expand and designate new provincial parks and provincial recreation 
areas to provide recreational opportunities, contribute to tourism growth 
and begin to address growing recreational demand in the region. (See 
Schedule C – SSRP Land Uses and Schedule D – SSRP Digital Map.)

 Some of the recreational activities that will be provided include serviced 
and un-serviced campgrounds, day-use areas, motorized and  
non-motorized staging areas and trails and tourism opportunities.

f) Create new public land recreation areas in the eastern slopes to 
provide managed random camping areas. (See Schedule C – SSRP Land 
Uses and Schedule D – SSRP Digital Map.)

g) Ensure all regional sites within the provincial parks system are 
appropriately classed and parks areas consolidated	to	gain	efficiencies	
in management approach. (See Appendix I – Consolidation Summary for 
Alberta Parks Sites in the South Saskatchewan Regional Planning Area.)

h) Continue to provide outreach, education and enforcement throughout 
the eastern slopes to promote stewardship.

i) Work with aboriginal and other communities, stakeholders and partners 
to develop comprehensive and integrated recreation and access 
management plans for lands in the Green Area.  Namely, the Castle, 
Porcupine Hills, Livingstone and Willow Creek areas by the end of 2017 
(see page 50). 203



97

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

j) Support current and future projects to identify, maintain and enhance 
sustainable long-term public access to recreational water bodies.

k) In collaboration with aboriginal and other communities, stakeholders and 
partners develop the South Saskatchewan Regional Trail System 
Plan to provide designated land and water trails for year-round recreation 
linking communities, parks and outdoor spaces. (See Appendix J – 
Overview of the South Saskatchewan Regional Trail System Plan.)

l) Develop the regional parks plan for the South Saskatchewan Region 
to direct the planning and management of new and existing parks within 
the	provincial	parks	system	by	the	end	of	2016.	This	plan	will	reflect	
the conservation, recreation and tourism values, growing demands and 
changing expectations of visitors.

m) Explore legislative tool options to help address liability concerns and 
facilitate continued work with trail groups and stewards in planning and 
managing trails.

n) In concert with developers, ensure that land-based development activities 
are assessed to identify and protect historic resources.

o) Ensure continued public accessibility to information regarding 
historic resources in the region.

p) Identify and designate important historic resources in the region with 
municipal partners.

q) Work with and support Parks Canada to inscribe Writing-on-Stone as a 
UNESCO World Heritage site.

A growing, prosperous and mobile population is changing the type of 
experiences people are looking for and putting more pressure on the 
landscape. More people are seeking outdoor recreation and nature-based 
tourism opportunities such as camping, picnic and day-use areas, or trail-
based recreation, as well as larger and more varied special events using 
Crown land and public facilities. In addition to identifying the three iconic 
tourism destinations, there is a need for diverse recreation and tourism 
opportunities close to urban centres, and for the maintenance of the values 
that make this region so attractive for recreational users and tourists alike.

Indicators:

•	 Area	per	capita	of	provincial	parks	or	designated	open	space	for	
recreation.

•	 Recreation	infrastructure	such	as	number	of	campsites	and	kilometres	of	
designated trails.

•	 Number	of	historic	resources	studies	conducted.

•	 Number	of	new	and	previously	identified	historic	resources	protected	and	
managed.

•	 Number	of	designated	historic	sites	in	the	region.

204



98

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

 
Regulatory Details Plan: Part 6 Recreation and  
Parks Areas

Definitions

40 In this Part,

	 (a)“provincial	parks”	means	lands	identified	as	provincial	parks	and	 
  labelled“1”through“9”on the SSRP Digital Map;

	 (b)	 “provincial	recreation	area”	means	lands	identified	as	a	provincial	 
  recreation area and labeled “10” through “12”on the SSRP Digital Map;

	 (c)	 “public	land	recreation	area	”means	lands	identified	as	a	public	land	 
  recreation areas and labelled “13”through“21”on the SSRP Digital Map;

	 (d)	 “water”	means	water	as	defined	in	the	Water Act.

Designated Minister for provincial parks and provincial recreation areas

41 For the purposes of this Part in respect of provincial parks and provincial 
recreation areas, the Minister designated under section 16 of the Government 
Organization Act as the Minister responsible for the Provincial Parks Act is the 
Designated Minister.

Designated Minister in respect of public land recreation areas

42 For the purposes of this Part in respect of public land recreation areas, the 
Minister designated under section 16 of the Government Organization Act as the 
Minister responsible for the Public Lands Act is the Designated Minister.

Recreation and tourism objectives

43 In respect of provincial parks, provincial recreation areas, and public land 
recreation	areas	the	Designated	Minister	may	take	whatever	steps	that	in	the	
opinion of the Designated Minister is desirable for achieving the recreation and 
tourism objectives of SSRP Strategic Plan and implementing Schedule “C” to the 
SSRP Implementation Plan.

Renewal of certain statutory consents in provincial recreation areas and 
public land recreation areas

44	Subject	to	any	other	law,	a	statutory	consent	may	be	renewed	in	a	provincial	
recreation	area	or	public	land	recreation	area	if	the	statutory	consent	is,	at	the	
effective	date	of	renewal,	in	good	standing	under	the	provisions	of	the	enactment	
or	enactments	applicable	to	the	statutory	consent,	and

	 (a)	 if	the	statutory	consent	is	consistent	with	this	regional	plan;	or

	 (b)	 if	the	statutory	consent	is	inconsistent	with	or	non-compliant	with	this	 
	 	 regional	plan,	within	the	meaning	of	section11(2),	but

  (i) is an agreement under the Mines and Minerals Act or a disposition  
   under the Public Lands Act that is valid and subsisting at the time  
   this regional plan comes into force, or

205



99

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

   
  (ii) if it is not an agreement or disposition referred to in  
	 	 	 subclause(i),but	is,	within	the	meaning	of	section11(4),	incidental	to	 
   an agreement or disposition referred to in subclause(i).

Access to water

45	Subject	to	any	other	law,	where	a	decision-maker	under	the	Environmental 
Protection and Enhancement Act or Water Act	issues	a	statutory	consent	
under	either	of	those	Acts	respecting	water	in	or	adjacent	to	a	provincial	
park,	provincial	recreation	area	or	public	land	recreation	area	identified	and	
labelled“1”through“21”on the SSRP Digital Map, the Designated Minister shall 
permit	access	to	the	water	through	the	provincial	parks,	provincial	recreation	area	
and	public	land	recreation	area	to	the	extent	necessary	for	the	holder	to	comply	
with	the	statutory	consent.

Programs to manage objectives

46 In respect of the land use in provincial parks, provincial recreation areas, and 
public land recreation areas, the Designated Minister shall establish and maintain 
programs evaluating the effectiveness of the provincial park, provincial recreation 
area or public land recreation area in meeting the recreation and tourism objectives 
in the SSRP Strategic Plan and SSRP Implementation Plan.

206



100

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Outcome 7:   
Aboriginal peoples are included in land-use planning
Objective:

•	 To	encourage	aboriginal	peoples’	participation	in	land-use	planning	
and input to decision-making in recognition of the cultural and 
economic importance of land use to those aboriginal communities 
with constitutionally protected rights. This will provide both aboriginal 
communities and the Government of Alberta with a basis for better 
addressing	current	and	potential	land-use	conflicts,	in	a	manner	
supportive of aboriginal traditional uses, such as the exercise of treaty 
rights. 

Strategies:

a) In accordance with applicable government policy as it may be from time to 
time, the Government of Alberta will continue to consult with aboriginal 
peoples in a meaningful way when government decisions may adversely 
affect the continued exercise of their constitutionally protected rights and 
the input from such consultations continues to be considered prior to the 
decision. 

b) Explore and present potential new approaches to draw on the rich 
cultural, ecological and traditional land-use knowledge and 
stewardship practices of aboriginal communities.

c) Establish a South Saskatchewan Regional Land Sub-Table with First 
Nations with an interest in the region. This initiative will consider:

•	 Development	of	a	mechanism	for	engagement	and	strategic	
consultation.

•	 Fish	and	wildlife	management,	access	management	and	economic/
business opportunities.

•	 Management	of	current	and	new	conservation	areas	and	public	land.

•	 Strategic	direction	and	joint	priorities.	

•	 Linkages	for	environmental	management	frameworks	and	sub-tables	
(e.g., land, water, biodiversity).

d) Continue First Nation involvement in the following watershed 
management planning initiatives:

•	 Treaty	7	First	Nations	Water	Sub-table.

•	 Encourage	First	Nation	participation	in	watershed	planning	and	
advisory councils.

•	 Encourage	First	Nation	involvement	in	headwaters	protection	and	
management.

207



101

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

e) Engage aboriginal peoples on initiatives to support tourism 
development including:

•	 Tourism	opportunity	assessments.

•	 The	promotion	of	cross-cultural	awareness	and	sharing	cultural	
experience through visitor-based activities.

•	 Opportunities	to	align	and	enhance	partnerships	at	the	provincial,	
regional and local levels to enhance Alberta’s range of products while 
promoting and protecting natural resources, cultural practices and 
heritage lifestyles.

•	 The	development	of	partnerships	based	on	the	provision	of	aboriginal-
recognized traditional tourism products, experiences, stories and 
imaginative	product	diversification.

•	 The	development	of	new	or	enhanced	existing	tourism	products	
and infrastructure – including attractions, activities, amenities and 
accommodations. 

•	 Invite	Treaty	7	First	Nations	to	be	involved	in	the	Treaty	7	–	Tourism	
Development Engagement Group Initiative to:

 - Consider opportunities to balance tourism product expansion with 
the needs of communities through business opportunities. 

 - Enhance development and delineation of tourism development 
nodes and iconic tourism destinations.

 - Consider the connection with Canada’s federal tourism strategy 
regarding Parks Canada and Aboriginal Affairs and Northern 
Development Canada who are conducting pilot projects for 
aboriginal cultural tourism businesses in or near Canada’s national 
parks and historic sites. 

f) Promoting the economic, social and cultural well-being of aboriginal 
communities.

•	 Strike	the	appropriate	balance	between	development	and	protection	
of the environment, with due regard to aboriginal peoples perspectives 
on such balance.

Indicators:

•	 Participation	of	First	Nations	in	the	First	Nation	Treaty	7	–	Tourism	
Development Engagement Group Initiative.

•	 Participation	of	First	Nations	in	the	First	Nation	South	Saskatchewan	
Regional Land Use Table Initiative.

•	 Participation	of	First	Nations	in	implementation	of	the	regional	plan.

208



102

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Monitoring, Evaluation and Reporting
Monitoring, evaluation and reporting are key activities for the success of 
the South Saskatchewan Regional Plan. To respond effectively to changing 
circumstances and new information, government must have a way to assess 
regional planning progress on objectives and outcomes and initiate corrective 
action where required. A system of monitoring, evaluation, reporting and 
improvement is needed to determine the effectiveness of the regional plan 
(that	is,	to	determine	if	land-use	strategies	and	actions	will	fulfill	the	regional	
plan’s objectives and outcomes).

Monitoring

On an ongoing basis, government 
will systematically collect and 
store data for indicators about the 
progress of achievement of the 
SSRP outcomes. The indicators 
identified	in	Table	1	show	the	
broad economic, environmental 
and social outcomes desired for 
the region. Government will be 
responsible for collecting data 
for these indicators over the 
span of the regional plan and 
for monitoring the data trends 
showing changes occurring in the region.

Evaluation

The monitoring data will undergo rigorous evaluation, analysis and 
interpretation of results within the context of government policies and 
strategies designed to achieve the regional objectives and ensure 
management actions are appropriate spatially and temporally.

This includes ministerial evaluation of monitoring data against the limits and 
triggers established for the region. Wherever possible, the contributions of 
subject matter experts within the stakeholder community will be encouraged 
as input into this process.

Reporting

Government will use various mechanisms to formally communicate on 
regional plan progress to the public, including the release of reports 
on an annual basis that speak directly to the plan, as well as ministry 
communications	that	address	more	specific	aspects	of	the	plan.	Websites	
like the Land-use Framework site (www.landuse.alberta.ca) and other 
government websites will also be sources for monitoring information and 
progress updates related to the SSRP.

Monitor

EvaluateReport

Improve

209



103

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

At	least	once	every	five	years,	an	audit	committee	will	be	appointed	to	
determine if regional objectives and policies are meeting the purposes of the 
Alberta Land Stewardship Act. The committee will make a public report to the 
Stewardship Minister. At least once every 10 years, a comprehensive review 
of the plan and a report on its effectiveness will be initiated by the Land Use 
Secretariat and submitted to the Stewardship Minister. This review may result 
in the plan being amended, replaced, renewed or repealed.

Continuously Improving

This on-going cycle of monitoring, evaluating and reporting encourages 
continuous improvements in decision-making and actions, so current 
and future generations achieve the balance desired between economic, 
environmental and social outcomes in South Saskatchewan Region.

210



104

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

 
Regulatory Details Plan:  Part 7 Monitoring  
and Reporting

Definitions

47 In this Part,

	 (a)	 “lead	ministry”	means	the	government	department	identified	in	the	 
	 	 columns	labeled	“Lead	Ministry”	in	Tables	1	and	2	of		the	SSRP	 
  Implementation Plan in respect of one or more supporting indicators,  
  strategies and outcomes of this regional plan;

	 (b)	 “strategy”	means	the	strategy	identified	in	the	columns	labelled		 
	 	 “Strategies”	in	Table	2	of	the	SSRP	Implementation	Plan;

	 (c)	 “regional	outcome”	means	the	outcome	identified	in	the	columns	labeled	 
	 	 “Provincial	and	Regional	Outcomes”	in	Tables	1	and	2	of	the	SSRP	 
  Implementation Plan;

	 (d)	 “supporting	indicator”	means	the	supporting	indicator	identified	in	the	 
	 	 columns	labeled	“Supporting	Indicators”	in	Table	1	of	the	SSRP	 
  Implementation Plan.

Designated Minister

48(1) For the purposes of this Part, the Minister responsible from time to time for 
a	lead	ministry	identified	for	the	purposes	of	a	supporting	indicator	or	strategy	in	
the	corresponding	row	in	Tables	1	and	2	of	the	SSRP	Implementation	Plan	is	the	
Designated Minister.

(2)	In	the	event	a	lead	ministry	is	amalgamated	with	another	lead	ministry,	is	
divided,	or	otherwise	ceases	to	exist,	the	Stewardship	Minister	may,	by	order,	
designate Designated Minister for the purposes this Part in respect of one or 
more	regional	outcomes	and	strategies	for	the	purposes	of	which	the	former	lead	
ministry	is	identified	in	Tables1	and	2	of	the	SSRP	Implementation	Plan.

Programs to manage objectives

49	In	respect	of	each	supporting	indicator	and	strategy	for	which	the	Designated	
Minister	is	responsible,	as	identified	in	Tables	1	and	2	of	the	SSRP	Implementation	
Plan, the Designated Minister shall establish and maintain programs monitoring 
and evaluating

 (a) the status of each supporting indicator, and

	 (b)	 the	effectiveness	of	each	strategy,

in	achieving	the	regional	outcome	identified	in	the	corresponding	row	in	those	
Tables.

211



105

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Table 1:  
Regional Outcomes and Supporting Indicators
The	indicators	identified	in	the	table	below	show	the	broad	economic,	environmental	and	social	outcomes	
desired for the region. Government will be responsible for collecting data for these indicators over the span 
of the regional plan and for monitoring and evaluating the data to understand the trends occurring in the 
region.

Provincial and Regional Supporting Indicators Lead Ministry 
Outcomes

Healthy economy supported by our land and natural resources

1. The region’s economy is Gross Domestic  Product Enterprise and Advanced
	 growing	and		diversified	 	 Education	 
  
  Production Volumes Energy/Environment and
   Sustainable Resource 
   Development/ Agriculture and
   Rural Development/Tourism, 
   Parks and Recreation

	 	 Business	Diversification	 Enterprise	and	Advanced	 
   Education

  Capital Investments Enterprise and Advanced  
   Education

  Building Permits Enterprise and Advanced  
   Education

  Employment Enterprise and Advanced  
   Education

  Personal Income Treasury Board and Finance

  Agricultural Land Fragmentation  Agriculture and Rural 
  and Conversion Development

212



106

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Provincial and Regional Supporting Indicators Lead Ministry 
Outcomes

Healthy ecosystems and environment

2. Biodiversity and ecosystem Biodiversity (to be determined as Environment and Sustainable 
 function are sustained with part of Biodiversity Management  Resource Development 
 shared stewardship  Framework)  

  Area of Conserved Land Environment and Sustainable  
   Resource Development

3. Air quality is managed to Air Quality Environment and Sustainable 
 support healthy ecosystems  Resource Development 
 and human needs through  
 shared stewardship

4. Watersheds are managed Water Quality Environment and Sustainable 
 to support healthy  Resource Development  
 ecosystems and human   
 needs through shared  Water Quantity Environment and Sustainable  
 stewardship  Resource Development

People friendly community with ample recreational and cultural opportunities

5. Community development  Population Treasury Board and Finance 
 needs are anticipated and  
 accommodated Housing Starts Enterprise and Advanced  
   Education

6. The quality of life of residents  Parks per Capita Tourism, Parks and 
 is enhanced through increased  Recreation 
 opportunities for recreation,  
 active living, and the  Recreation Infrastructure Tourism, Parks and 
 preservation and promotion of   Recreation 
 the region’s unique cultural and  
 natural heritage Historic Resources Culture

7. Aboriginal peoples are  Aboriginal peoples continue to Environment and Sustainable 
 included in land-use planning be consulted when Government  Resource Development/ 
  of Alberta decisions may adversely  Tourism, Parks and 
  affect their continued exercise of  Recreation/Energy/ 
  their constitutionally protected  Aboriginal Relations 
  rights, and the input from such  
  consultation continues to be  
  reviewed prior to the decision   

213



107

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Table 2: 
Regional Outcomes and Action Items
Strategies describe regulatory and non-regulatory approaches that will be used to achieve the objectives 
identified	for	each	regional	outcome.	While	some	strategies	identified	in	the	SSRP	are	already	implemented	
and	will	be	ongoing	over	the	span	of	the	regional	plan,	the	table	below	identifies	the	strategies	that	will	be	
implemented	within	an	identified	timeline.

Provincial and Strategies Lead Ministry Timeline 
Regional   (year end)  
Outcomes

Healthy Economy Supported by Our Land and Natural Resources

1. The region’s  Develop and implement destination Tourism, Parks and As soon as 
 economy is growing  management strategies and Recreation practicable 
	 and		diversified	 tourism	opportunity	plans
  
Healthy Ecosystems and Environment

2. Biodiversity and  Complete a Biodiversity Environment and 2014 
 ecosystem function  Management Framework for Crown Sustainable Resource 
 are sustained with  land (public lands and provincial Development 
 shared stewardship parks) in the region

  Establish or expand nine new  Tourism, Parks and As soon as 
  conservation areas on provincial  Recreation/Environment practicable 
  Crown land and Sustainable
   Resource  Development
 
  Develop a plan for management of  Environment and 2017 
  linear footprint on Crown land in the  Sustainable Resource 
  region, with an initial focus on grizzly  Development 
  bear habitat, key native prairie, and  
  species at risk habitats in the  
  grasslands  
 
  Complete development and  Agriculture and Rural 2015
  evaluation of a voluntary  Development
  conservation offset pilot on private 
  lands

  Consolidate and expand existing  Environment and As soon as
  Public Land Use Zones in the Green  Sustainable Resource practicable
  Area of the region Development

214



108

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Provincial and Strategies Lead Ministry Timeline 
Regional   (year end)  
Outcomes
  
  Review, streamline and incorporate  Environment and As soon as
  as necessary existing Integrated  Sustainable Resource practicable
  Resource Plans in the region into Development 
  the regional plan

3. Air quality is managed  Implement the Air Quality Environment  and April 1, 2014
 to support healthy  Management Framework for the Sustainable Resource
 ecosystems and  South Saskatchewan Region Development
 human needs through 
 shared stewardship

4. Watersheds are  Implement the Surface Water Environment and April 1, 2014
 managed to support  Quality Management Framework Sustainable Resource
 healthy ecosystems  for the South Saskatchewan Development
 and human needs  Region
 through shared 
 stewardship Develop a comprehensive approach  Environment and 2015 
  for groundwater management Sustainable Resource 
   Development

  Complete a Water Storage Agriculture and  2015
  Opportunities Report Rural Development 

People Friendly Communities with Ample Recreation and Culture Opportunities

5. Community  Strategies for this outcome are all
 development needs  ongoing
 are anticipated and 
 accommodated

6.	 The	quality	of	life	of		 Address	flood	(2013)	damaged	 Tourism,	Parks	and	 As	soon	as
 residents is  recreation and parks areas Recreation practicable
 enhanced through 
 increased  Expand and designate new Tourism, Parks  and As soon as
 opportunities for  Provincial Recreation Areas and Recreation practicable
 recreation, active  Provincial Parks
 living, and the 
 preservation and  Enhance facilities at key Provincial Tourism, Parks and As soon as
 promotion of the  Parks Recreation practicable
 region’s unique 
 cultural and natural 
 heritage

215



109

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Provincial and Strategies Lead Ministry Timeline 
Regional   (year end)  
Outcomes

  Develop comprehensive and  Environment and 2017
  integrated recreation and access  Sustainable Resource
  management plans for the north  Development
  Castle, Livingstone, Porcupine Hills 
  and Willow Creek areas

  Develop a South Saskatchewan Tourism, Parks and  As soon as
  Regional Trails System Plan Recreation practicable

  Develop a Regional Parks Plan Tourism, Parks and  2016
   Recreation

  Develop Public Lands Recreation  Environment and As soon as
  Areas Sustainable Resource  practicable
   Development

7. Aboriginal peoples  Establish a South Saskatchewan Environment and Ongoing
 are included in  Regional Land Sub - Table with Sustainable Resource
 land-use planning interested First Nations in the region Development

  Continue First Nation involvement in  Environment and Ongoing
  watershed management planning Sustainable Resource
  initiatives Development

  Engage aboriginal peoples on  Tourism, Parks and Ongoing
  initiatives to support tourism  Recreation
  development

216



110

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

A
pp

en
di

x 
A

: I
ni

tia
tiv

es
 fo

r C
on

si
de

ra
tio

n

217



111

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Appendix B: 
Overview of the Approved Water Management Plan for 
the South Saskatchewan River Basin
The South Saskatchewan River Basin (SSRB) includes the Red Deer, Bow, 
Oldman and South Saskatchewan River sub-basins and is one of the major 
basins	defined	in	Alberta’s	Water Act. It is managed as a single unit for 
meeting obligations to allow water to pass to Saskatchewan under the  
inter-provincial Master Agreement on Apportionment administered by the 
Prairie Provinces Water Board.

A water management plan for the SSRB was approved by the Lieutenant 
Governor in Council in 2006. The main outcome of the plan is the recognition 
that the limit of the water resource has been reached in the Bow, Oldman 
and South Saskatchewan River basins. This conclusion was reached in view 
of existing and potential reliability problems for licence holders as well as 
negative impacts on aquatic ecosystems. Alberta’s future ability to meet its 
water-sharing obligations with the other Prairie provinces was also a factor.

This plan has resulted in the following decisions:

•	 The	Bow,	Oldman	and	South	Saskatchewan	River	Basin	Water	
Allocation Order directs Alberta Environment and Sustainable Resource 
Development to consider applications for water allocations in the noted 
sub-basins for the following purposes only:

•	 First	Nations	(for	projects	on	reserves	and	other	land	controlled	by	a	First	
Nation).

•	 Water	conservation	objective	–	the	desired	flow	regime	instream	after	
diversions.

•	 Storage	–	for	both	the	protection	of	the	aquatic	environment	and	for	
improving availability of water to existing licence holders and registrants.

•	 Applications	filed	before	the	date	the	Order	was	filed	(August	4,	2007).

•	 Applications	relating	to	the	Little	Bow	Project/Highwood	Diversion	Plan	or	
the Pine Coulee Water Management Project.

•	 Establishment	of	water	conservation	objectives	for	the	Bow,	Oldman	and	
South	Saskatchewan	rivers	that	have	the	purpose	of	flow	restoration.

•	 Establishment	of	a	water	conservation	objective	for	the	Red	Deer	River	
that permits additional allocation.

•	 The	authorization	of	water	allocation	transfers	and	water	conservation	
holdbacks.

•	 Consequently,	a	market	for	water	allocations	(licences)	is	developing	and	
some	significant	transactions	have	taken	place.

218



112

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Water allocation transfers are simply a change to the location of a licenced 
water intake and/or point of use, providing a means by which reliable water 
allocations can be secured from existing licence holders through a private 
arrangement, by enterprises requiring new, additional, or more reliable water 
allocations in a new location. Alberta Environment and Sustainable Resource 
Development approval is required, including public review, notice and 
consideration of impacts on other water users and the aquatic environment. 
The water management plan prescribes matters and factors that must be 
considered in making decisions on applications for water allocation transfers, 
licences,	preliminary	certificates	and	approvals.

Water conservation holdbacks are taken from some water allocation transfers 
when doing so is deemed by Alberta Environment and Sustainable Resource 
Development to be in the public interest. Up to 10 per cent of the volume 
transferred can be withheld to remain in stream, for the purpose of helping to 
restore	flows	in	heavily	utilized	streams.

Water conservation objectives are established under Alberta’s Water Act to 
define	the	amount	and	quality	of	water	necessary	for	the:

•	 Protection	of	a	natural	water	body	or	its	aquatic	environment,	or	any	part	
of them.

•	 Protection	of	tourism,	recreational,	transportation	or	waste	assimilation	
uses of water.

•	 Management	of	fish	or	wildlife.

Appendix C:   
Alberta’s Natural Sub-regions
Parks are an important component of the retention of native landscapes, 
natural habitats, biodiversity, conservation of riparian areas and protection of 
headwaters and watershed areas. In Alberta the Natural Regions Landscape 
Classification	Framework	has	been	adopted	and	helps	determine	where	gaps	
in the protected areas network exist. 

Additionally, inclusion of unique or atypical elements of biological diversity 
identified	outside	this	framework	help	to	identify	the	best	landscapes	for	
conservation. Two Government of Alberta policies support this work: Alberta’s 
Plan for Parks and the Land-use Framework.

Currently,	there	are	significant	representation	gaps	in	three	of	the	natural	
Sub-regions within the Grassland Natural Region, as well as in the Foothills 
Parkland Sub-region within the Parkland Natural Region that are achievable 
within the South Saskatchewan Region. In addition, gaps in the Foothills 
Parkland, Foothills Fescue and Mixed grass natural Sub-regions can only be 

219



113

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Natural Region Subregion Subregion Total Area of % of Total # of # Natural Total Area # Sites Area Average % 
  Size (km2) Sites within Subregion Sites in Landscape of Targets Contributing Contributing of Targets 
   Subregion (km2)1 Protected Subregion1,2 Type Targets (km2) to Targets2 to Target (km2) Achieved 

Rocky Mountains Montane 8,768 2,404 27.4% 87 4  620  28  620  100%
 Subalpine 25,218 13,361 53.0% 49 5  645  31  645  100%
 Alpine 15,084 12,772 84.7% 21 5  645  21  645  100%
 Subtotal 49,070 28,538 58.2%  14  1,910    1,910  100%
          
Foothills Lower Foothills 44,899 341 0.8% 60 5  1,125  12  289  41%
 Upper Foothills 21,537 604 2.8% 55 5  710  19  554  71%
 Subtotal 66,436 945 1.4%  10  1,835    843  56%
          
Grassland Dry Mixedgrass 46,937 769 1.6% 12 10  1,250  9  714  65%
 Mixedgrass 20,072 208 1.0% 13 10  265  4  162  50%
 Northern Fescue 14,933 196 1.3% 9 11  450  4  173  41%
 Foothills Fescue 13,623 84 0.6% 13 9  270  5  48  32%
 Subtotal 95,565 1,258 1.3%  40  2,235    1,098  40%
          
Parkland Central Parkland 53,706 469 0.9% 35 12  1,415  20  390  49%
 Foothills Parkland 3,921 82 2.1% 14 8  230  8  76  42%
 Peace River Parkland 3,120 20 0.6% 5 6  130  4  21  18%
 Subtotal 60,747 570 0.9%  26  1,775    487  40%
          
Boreal Forest Dry Mixedwood 85,321 1,375 1.6% 80 11  2,000  38  955  57%
 Central Mixedwood 167,856 18,777 11.2% 80 11  3,500  35  3,500  100%
 Lower Boreal Highlands 55,615 3,245 5.8% 15 8  1,375  7  1,375  100%
 Upper Boreal Highlands 11,858 1,463 12.3% 4 4  325  3  325  100%
 Peace-Athabasca Delta 5,535 4,329 78.2% 3 3  300  3  300  100%
 Northern Mixedwood 29,513 13,216 44.8% 3 8  1,600  3  1,600  100%
 Boreal Subarctic 11,823 5,832 49.3% 2 5  450  2  450  100%
 Athabasca Plain 13,525 2,126 15.7% 8 7  385  7  385  100%
 Subtotal 381,046 50,364 13.2%  57  9,935    8,890  92%
          
Canadian Shield Kazan Upland 9,719 1,504 15.5% 5 6  360  5  360  100%
 Subtotal 9,719 1,504 15.5%  6  360    360  100%
          
ALL TOTAL 662,583 83,179 12.6%  153  18,050    13,589  70%

met in the South Saskatchewan Region as they do not occur anywhere else in 
the	province	in	any	significant	way.

The	table	below	illustrates	the	percentage	of	gaps	currently	filled	by	protected	
areas within the four Sub-regions in Alberta. (This chart does not include the 
proposed conservation areas in the DRAFT SSRP)

 Targets Progress Toward Targets3

1 - Sites include all classes of Provincial Parks and Protected Areas, National Parks and National Wildlife Areas 
2 - Individual Sites may contribute to more than one subregion and/or target
3 - Only sites with a primary objective of the conservation of nature are considered to contribute toward representation of  targets. Progress achieved through proposed SSRP  
     conservation areas are not reflected in this chart.

Representation of Natural Landscape Types by Natural Region and Subregion within Parks and Protected Areas in Alberta

220



114

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Appendix D:   
Overview of New Conservation Areas and Recreation 
and Parks Areas in the South Saskatchewan Region

New Conservation Areas 
(Management	of	the	following	areas	are	further	defined	in	Schedule	C)

Map Area Area Name Area  Legal 
  (added area) Size (ha) Designation

 A Don Getty Expansion 27,928 Wildland Provincial Park

 B Bow Valley Expansion 8,075 Wildland Provincial Park

 C Bluerock Expansion 453 Wildland Provincial Park

 D Mt. Livingstone 564 Wildland Provincial Park***

 E Beehive 6,734 Wildland Provincial Park***

 F High Rock 8,362 Wildland Provincial Park

 G Bob Creek Expansion 328 Wildland Provincial Park

 H Livingstone Range 4,614 Wildland Provincial Park

 I Castle 44,558 Wildland Provincial Park

 J Pekisko 33,050 Heritage Rangeland**

 K Castle 10,741 Conservation Area*

Total   134,666 
   10,741*

* Conservation Area being established as a Public Land Use Zone under 
the Alberta Public Lands Act – commercial forestry is permitted but the 
management priority is for maintaining biodiversity and headwaters protection. 
Enhanced best management practices for biodiversity and headwaters 
protection will be required such as: winter only operations to avoid critical active 
periods for grizzly bear, practices to restrict access, buffer zones that cover 
entire riparian areas and visual buffer screens to increase bear security for 
travel.

** Management will be undertaken by Environment and Sustainable Resource 
Development.  

*** Mount Livingstone and Beehive are currently Natural Areas and are being 
designated as Wildland Provincial Parks.

221



115

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Recreation and Parks Areas 
(Management	of	the	following	areas	are	further	defined	in	Schedule	C)

Map Area Area Type of Legal 
Area Name Size (ha) Change Designation

 1 West Bragg Creek 81 Expansion Provincial Park

 2 Gooseberry 56 Expansion Provincial Park

 3 Elbow River 107 Expansion Provincial Park

 4 Elbow Falls 43 Expansion Provincial Park

 5 Little Elbow 28 Expansion Provincial Park

 6 Sheep River 266 Expansion Provincial Park

 7 Chinook 217 Expansion Provincial Park

 8 Syncline 418 Expansion Provincial Park

 9 Cypress Hills 129 Expansion Provincial Park

 10 Sibbald Lake 83 Expansion Provincial  
     Recreation Area 
     (PRA)

 11 Crowsnest Lake 14 New PRA

 12 Coleman 32 New PRA

Public Land Recreation Areas 
(Management	of	the	following	areas	are	further	defined	in	Schedule	C)

Map Area Area Type of Legal 
Area Name Size (ha) Change Designation

 13 Speers Creek TBD New Public Land 
     Recreation Area 
     (PLRA)

 14 Trout Creek TBD New PLRA

 15 Ceasar’s Flat TBD New PLRA

 16 Beaver Creek TBD New PLRA

 17 Atlas TBD New PLRA

 18 McGillivray TBD New PLRA

 19 Tent Mountain TBD New PLRA

 20 Lynx Creek Flats TBD New PLRA

 21 Upper Castle Flats TBD New PLRA

The Public Land Recreation Areas 
boundaries will be determined based 
upon existing access, use and 
natural features and will be small in 
size.

222



116

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Appendix E:   
Iconic Tourism Destinations: Kananaskis, Canadian 
Badlands and Southern Rockies
The	three	identified	areas	will	be	developed	as	Iconic	Tourism	 
Destinations to:

•	 Diversify	the	regional	and	local	economy.

•	 Increase	tourism	visitation,	length	of	stay	and	visitor	expenditures.

•	 Offer	a	full	range	of	recreation	and	tourism,	experiences,	opportunities	
and activities.

•	 Provide	an	attractive	tourism	destination	for	local,	provincial,	national	and	
international visitors.

•	 Support	hunting,	fishing	and	trapping	(including	by	aboriginal	
communities).		Hunting	includes	commercial	guiding	and	outfitting	
operations where wildlife species management plans provide an 
allocation for that use.

•	 Protect	and	maintain	private	property	rights.

•	 Honour	existing	direction	regarding	statutory	consents	and	tenures	on	
public lands.

•	 Provide	for	the	continued	issuance	of	new	statutory	consents	and	tenures	
on public lands.

In developing the Iconic Tourism Destinations, the Government of Alberta 
will work with First Nations to consider how their constitutionally protected 
rights	to	hunt,	fish	and	trap	for	food	can	continue	to	occur	within	reasonable	
proximity of First Nations’ main population centres.

Destination Management Planning

Destination Management Planning provides the tourism industry with the 
tools to produce sustainable and competitive tourism in a destination. It is 
organized around a destination’s unique tourism assets and unique planning, 
development, marketing and management needs.

It represents a more integrated approach to understanding destination needs 
and	the	delivery	of	services	with	the	specific	planning	goals	to:

•	 Collate	research	and	baseline	data	to	document	current	tourism	supply	
and demand scenarios.

•	 Investigate	land-use	planning	and	natural	resource	management	
requirements.

- Identify recreation and tourism features, settings and scenery on 
public lands and ensure impacts to these features, settings and 
scenery are minimized.

223



117

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

- Identify approaches to ensure tourism development is sustainable and 
meets	any	regional	or	area-specific	environmental	thresholds.

•	 Gather	information	from	local	people,	community	leaders	and	industry	
stakeholders.

Tourism	nodes	already	identified	by	destination	planning	currently	occurring	
in these areas will be carried forward into the planning process and will be 
encouraged as locations for private and community investment. 

Destination Management Strategies 

Destination Management Strategies provides the framework to guide tourism 
industry development in the region by coordinating stakeholders in a common 
direction to maximize the tourism potential of the destination so as to achieve 
a balance of economic, social and environmental outcomes.

They focus regional development resources on growing and enhancing the 
supply of tourism products and services that develop the destinations.  The 
strategies will, in collaboration with communities and stakeholders:  

•	 Identify	tourism	business	investment	opportunities	for	the	public,	private	
and	not-for-profit	sectors.

•	 Identify	the	need	for	new	innovative	tourism	product	and	infrastructure	
development across the region. 

•	 Identify	the	region’s	significant	attractions	and	experiences.

•	 Identify	relevant	research	on	tourism	supply	and	demand	and	identify	new	
trends in recreation and tourism activities.

•	 Identify	current	target	markets	and	those	identified	for	development	to	
achieve the region’s long-term potential.

•	 Identify	an	agreed	focus	and	mechanism	for	engagement	with	the	tourism	
industry, infrastructure providers and private investors.

Destination Management Plans

Destination Management Plans are developed after a comprehensive 
process of research within the destination, consultation, feedback, 
planning and review where community-level participation from local tourism 
organizations, tourism boards, local government and operators is essential in 
their preparation.  

Their purpose is to grow destination appeal and provide direction for the 
sustainable development of tourism products and services in the three 
destinations over the next 10 years, and in consideration of other economic 
and social interests and values in the area. The plans will, in collaboration 
with communities and stakeholders:

•	 Identify	a	vision	for	each	of	the	destinations.

•	 Identify	key	enablers	that	will	encourage	tourism	growth	in	the	
destinations and surrounding region.

224



118

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

•	 Prioritize	product	development	and	visitor	experiences	that	address	
current expectations and future demand.

•	 Provide	direction	to	enhance	and	sustain	a	quality	land	base	to	support	
tourism product development.

•	 Prioritize	and	secure	new	tourism	business	investment	opportunities.

•	 Identify	specific	investment	needs	that	support	the	priority	development	of	
innovative tourism infrastructure projects.

•	 Facilitate	collaboration	amongst	key	tourism	industry	stakeholders	
(communities,	investors,	financiers	and	operators).

•	 Identify	a	destination	brand	and	establish	a	marketing	plan	for	each	of	the	
destinations.

•	 Provide	a	detailed	implementation	action	plan,	funding	priorities	and	
funding strategies.

Both the strategy and the plan will be developed as an Alberta Land 
Stewardship Act	issue-specific	plan	and	will	be	led	by	Tourism,	Parks	and	
Recreation, with engagement with other ministries, aboriginal communities, 
local governments, stakeholders and the public.

 
Appendix F: 
Overview of Biodiversity Management Framework
The following provides an overview of the proposed contents of a biodiversity 
management framework for the region. This is intended to illustrate the 
current	directions	for	proposed	content;	however	there	will	be	consultation	
and engagement during the development of the management framework 
which will be completed by the end of 2014.

Introduction and Purpose of the Management Framework

Biodiversity, short for “biological diversity,” represents the assortment of 
life – including the variety of genetics and species, and the habitats in which 
they occur – all shaped by natural processes of change and adaptation. For 
regional planning, the focus is on indicators of biodiversity at a regional scale 
that are affected by land-use activity.

Biodiversity and the services it provides are critical to the well-being of 
current and future generations of Albertans. Biodiversity and ecosystem 
services are not the same thing but they are interdependent. Ecosystem 
services	are	the	benefits	humans,	communities	and	society	as	a	whole	
receive from healthy functioning ecosystems and the biodiversity found in 
them.	Some	of	these	services	include	fresh	water,	crops,	forests,	fish	and	

225



119

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

wildlife,	and	cultural	and	recreational	opportunities	(e.g.	hunting,	fishing,	and	
esthetic values). Biodiversity underpins the supply of ecosystem services and 
so changes in biodiversity will affect the kind and amount of those services 
available. If biodiversity is not properly managed, species at risk designations 
can occur which further restrict industry access to resources, and impact 
Alberta’s reputation for environmental management. Collectively this impacts 
Alberta’s economy. Managing biodiversity is integral to continued economic 
prosperity. The conservation and sustainable use of biodiversity will be 
essential elements in an overall environmental management approach that 
supports the social licence for development and management of Alberta’s 
natural resources.

While cumulative effects are considered to be the combined effects of past, 
present and reasonably foreseeable land-use activities on the environment, 
it is not the intention of the biodiversity management framework to return 
Alberta to the levels of biodiversity found prior to European settlement. 
Today’s Alberta includes working landscapes, and the Land-use Framework 
policy acknowledges the need to balance environmental, social and 
economic considerations. The focus of the framework is from today into the 
future, where information from modelled predictions of the past conditions 
could inform decision-making about desired future conditions.

Policy Context

Alberta is a signatory to the Canadian Biodiversity Strategy, a commitment 
under the 1992 UN Convention on Biological Diversity. Alberta, along with 
other Canadian jurisdictions, agreed to use the Canadian Biodiversity 
Strategy as a guide for actions to conserve biodiversity and to use biological 
resources in a sustainable manner. Further, Alberta’s Land-use Framework 
establishes environmental outcomes, including maintenance of biodiversity, 
and that a cumulative effects approach will be taken in land-use planning to 
manage the long-term cumulative effects of development on the environment. 

Regional Objectives

•	 Terrestrial	and	aquatic	biodiversity	are	maintained.

•	 Species	at	risk	are	recovered	and	key	grasslands	habitat	is	sustained.

•	 Areas	are	added	to	the	regional	network	of	conservation	areas.

•	 Biodiversity	and	healthy	functioning	ecosystems	continue	to	provide	a	
range	of	benefits	to	communities	in	the	region	and	Albertans.

•	 Long-term	forest	ecosystem	health	and	resiliency	is	maintained

226



120

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Indicators and Targets for Biodiversity

Primary	indicators	will	be	identified	based	on	two	areas	of	focus:	the	Eastern	
Slopes/Parkland/Foothills Fescue area and a grasslands area encompassing 
the rest of the South Saskatchewan Region. The following are some possible 
examples that illustrate the types of indicators that may be used:

Eastern Slopes Sub-region Indicators
•	 Grizzly	bear	recovery

•	 Ecosystem	health

Grasslands Sub-region Indicators
•	 Native	grassland	

•	 Important/representative	species	habitats	

Secondary indicators will be monitored along with the primary indicators to 
ensure a broad representation of regional level biodiversity is being assessed 
over time. If such indicators are trending into areas of high or very high risk, 
management response planning or other land-use requirements (e.g. human 
footprint reduction) will be determined.

Methodology to Establish Targets for Biodiversity Indicators

The following existing information will be used for setting targets for selected 
indicators for regional plans: Species at Risk (SAR) Recovery Plans, 
Forest Management Plans (FMP), and monitoring reports from the Alberta 
Biodiversity Monitoring Institute (ABMI) will be used. Environment Canada 
data, and pertinent research information will also be considered.

Risk Bands

In addition to monitoring data and plans, setting of targets is informed by 
forecasting (that is, modeling) to assess potential levels of risk to selected 
biodiversity indicators over time based on regional scale projections of  
land-use development. 

A risk assessment protocol has been developed, based on risk-level 
breakpoints from the International Union for the Conservation of Nature 
(IUCN), which is used in assessing the status of species at risk. Although this 
isn’t the same process as designating a species at risk, it gives an indication 
of trends that need to be considered in development of targets for indicators 
(see	figure	on	the	next	page).		

Species in the high or very high risk levels are more likely to be assessed 
as a species at risk, which leads to restrictions on industry access to 
resources, and other public uses (e.g., recreation). The risk values represent 
the percentage of the indicator remaining relative to what would have been 
expected to be found in a landscape with little to no human disturbance 
impacts on the habitat or ecological function of biodiversity indicators.

227



121

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

 Figure – Biodiversity Risk Assessment

Biodiversity Indicator Implications  
Status

Stable – Low Risk Populations are healthy and self-sustaining

(70-100	per	cent		 Low	level	of	restrictions	on	hunting,	fishing, 
remaining) and industrial development

Moderate Risk Populations are mostly self-sustaining, but 
 some declines

(50-70	per	cent		 Increasing	restrictions	on	hunting,	fishing, 
remaining) and industrial development

High Risk Potential for species at risk designations if 
 projected trend realized through monitoring

(20-50 per cent  Negative attention/media within Alberta.  
remaining) Federal involvement

	 May	lose	hunting	and	fishing	opportunities

  Increased cost to industry and resource  
 development due to restrictions

Very High Risk High likelihood to result in species at risk 
 designations if projected trend realized 
(0-20 per cent through monitoring 
remaining) 
 Negative reputation for Alberta. Federal  
 intervention

 High cost for recovery while high potential for  
 species loss

 Industry access to resources restricted 
 Economic impacts

Management Approaches

Biodiversity targets for selected indicators will guide decisions about future 
and existing land-use activities. Meeting biodiversity targets established in the 
framework will depend on a number of actions related to minimizing human 
footprint on public lands. 

These strategies include:

•	 Minimizing	the	duration	and	extent	of	linear	disturbances.

•	 Managing	public	motorized	access	in	specific	locations.
228



122

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

•	 Maintaining	a	diverse	range	of	forest	seral	stages.	

•	 Maintaining	stream	continuity	(minimizing	fragmentation	of	watercourses	
due to barriers at stream crossings).

•	 Managing	wildfire	risk	in	key	species	at	risk	habitats	which	depend	on	
natural disturbance.

A range of tools and approaches will be used to achieve biodiversity 
objectives and targets 

1. The existing network of conservation areas with lands added as described 
under Outcome 2 – designating new areas in the region will support 
grizzly bear, grasslands, and other indicators.

2. Development of a linear footprint management plan in the Green Area 
and White Area – will reduce the extent, duration, and rate of total 
linear footprint development, through detailed planning, setting of limits 
and targets in favor of key biodiversity indicators such as grizzly bear 
exposure, and maintaining intact native prairie. 

3. Integrated Land Management (ILM) tools will be required including 
coordinated industry planning of major access corridors and associated 
development	infrastructure;	re-use	of	existing	linear	disturbance	and	
progressive and timely reclamation of linear disturbances and land not 
required for further development.

These new approaches and tools will build on, and be incorporated into, 
existing programs such as the Enhanced Approvals Process (EAP) which 
outlines	oil	and	gas	development	requirements;	the	Landscape	Analysis	
Tool;	the	Grazing	Leaseholders	Code	of	Practice,	forest	management	plans,	
and existing Public Land Use Zones to manage public access. In the case 
of	linear	footprint	targets	and	limits,	specific	plans	may	be	required,	and	
implemented through the Public Lands Administration Regulation which 
allows for disturbance standards.

The full compendium of tools under Integrated Land Management can be 
found on the website of the Ministry responsible for the Public Lands Act.

Proposed Monitoring Approach

Monitoring involves collecting quality information on the status of the 
biodiversity indicators and the amounts of the human disturbance footprint. 
The Alberta Biodiversity Monitoring Institute (ABMI) has a structured sampling 
program across the province which will be the main source of biodiversity 
monitoring in the region. In the future, the Alberta Environmental Monitoring, 
Evaluation and Reporting Agency will coordinate most of this monitoring 
work. This program will be linked to other biodiversity monitoring initiatives 
led by government or partners of government such as the Rangeland Health 
Monitoring Program, Forest Management Plan reporting, and the Species at 
Risk recovery plan reporting. Data also comes from existing monitoring done 
by	ESRD	(rare,	hunted,	fished	or	trapped	species)	or	other	organizations	 
(e.g., Alberta Conservation Association), academics, and the federal 
government if applicable. 229



123

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Appendix G:  
Consolidation and Expansion of Public Land Use Zones 
in Green Area Public Land
What is a Public Land Use Zone?

A Public Land Use Zone is a designated area of public land established under 
the Public Lands Act to assist in the management of industrial, commercial, 
and recreational land uses and resources. They are typically used in areas of 
high overlapping activity and contain conditions to manage access to reduce 
user	conflicts,	and	protect	sensitive	areas.	They	are	an	effective	tool	to	
conserve biodiversity on the working landscape.

Public Land Use Zones in the Eastern Slopes

Green Area public land within the South Saskatchewan Region will be 
managed by means of Public Land Use Zones. This will improve the 
province’s ability to effectively manage public land across the Green Area, 
manage undesirable impacts, address priority issues, and increase the safety 
and enjoyment of recreational users throughout these areas. 

The existing Public Land Use Zones will be consolidated and expanded as 
part of implementation of the regional plan. The intention is to standardize 
Public Land Use Zone conditions and add Public Land Use Zone to 
remaining Green Area public land.

Public Land Purpose Associated 
Use Zone  Plans

Allison/Chinook Designate separate areas for  Crowsnest 
 motorized and non-motorized  Corridor Local 
 recreational activities IRP

Castle Special  Restrict motorized access to Castle River 
Management Area certain areas, and protect  Sub-regional 
	 ecologically	sensitive		 IRP; 
 backcountry areas Castle Access  
  Management 
  Plan

Cataract Creek  Provide snowmobiling Eden Valley 
Snow Vehicle opportunities in the Cataract  Local IRP 
 Creek area 

Current State – Existing Public Land Use Zones and Associated Plans

230



124

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Public Land Purpose Associated 
Use Zone

Dormer Sheep Provide year-round access for  Nordegg/Red 
 non-motorized and equestrian  Deer Sub- 
	 use.	Access	for	off	highway		 regional	IRP; 
 vehicles (OHV) is permitted on  Bighorn 
 designated trails Backcountry   
  Access   
  Management   
  Plan  
  Recreation Trail  
  Monitoring

Ghost Address the growing demand for  Ghost River 
 recreation and the potential  Sub-regional 
	 conflicts	among	uses	in	the		 IRP;	 
 Ghost-Waiparous area Ghost- 
  Waiparous 
  Operational 
  Access  
  Management   
  Plan

McLean Creek  Provide an area for off-highway Kananaskis 
OHV vehicle (OHV) use Sub-regional  
  IRP

Panther Corners Provide a year-round network of  Nordegg/Red 
 trails for non-motorized and  Deer Sub- 
	 equestrian	use.	No	motorized	 regional	IRP; 
 access is permitted  Bighorn 
  Backcountry  
  Access  
  Management  
  Plan 
  Recreation Trail  
  Monitoring

Sibbald Snow  Provide snowmobiling Kananaskis 
Vehicle opportunities in this area Sub-regional  
  IRP

Kananaskis Country  Kananaskis  
  Sub-regional  
  IRP

Willow Creek Reduce environmental impacts  Livingstone- 
 from use of the area Porcupine Hills  
  Sub-regional  
  IRP 231



125

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Existing

Green Area public land

10 Public Land Use Zones

Allison/Chinook

Castle Special 
Management Area

Cataract Creek (Snow 
Vehicle)

Dormer Sheep

Ghost

Kananaskis Country

Mclean Creek (OHV)

Sibbald (Snow Vehicle)

Panther Corners

Willow Creek 
 
10 sets of conditions

Proposed

Public Land Use Zone coverage

Consolidation and expansion of Public 
Land Use Zones focused on the following 
areas:

1 Castle Special Management Area, 
Allison/Chinook, Cataract Creek 
(Snow	Vehicle)	and	Willow	Creek;	
adding north Castle, Livingstone, 
Porcupine Hills, and Poll Haven areas

2	 Ghost	and	Sheep	Dormer;	adding	
lands from Forest Reserve Boundary 
to Green Area public land boundary

3 Kananaskis including McLean Creek 
(OHV) and Sibbald (Snow Vehicle) 

4 Panther Corners
 
 
Consolidation	of	common	conditions;	
specific	conditions	for	areas	as	needed	
reflecting	access	management	and	linear	
footprint planning

Proposed Approach for Public Land Use Zones

New Area Descriptions

Poll Haven – Green Area public land bordering the United States and 
Waterton National Park. 

Livingstone – Green Area public land north of the Crowsnest Pass. Sensitive 
rough fescue grassland, headwaters, and Cutthroat Trout habitat. 

Porcupine Hills – Green Area public land in the foothills area near 
Livingstone.	Sensitive	rough	fescue	grassland,	conflicts	with	grazing	and	
recreation. 

North of Kananaskis – Green Area public land from Forest Reserve Boundary 
to Green Area public land boundary.

232



126

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Implementation Steps and Timing

On plan approval:

•	 Public	access	to	Green	Area	public	land	will	continue

•	 The	Public	Lands	Administration	Regulation.	These	apply	to	all	provincial	
land managed by Environment and Sustainable Resource Development 
under the Public Lands Act (including lands within Public Land Use 
Zones). There will be no change to the application of these requirements. 

•	 Regulations	will	be	amended	to	ensure	protection	of	watercourses,	water	
bodies and wetland areas.

•	 Regulations	will	be	amended	to	ensure	avoidance	of	camping	and	 
off-highway vehicle recreation on industrial facility areas (e.g. well sites) 
for safety reasons.

•	 The	existing	10	Public	Land	Use	Zones	will	stay	in	place.	Existing	access	
management plans (as listed above) will continue to apply.

Following Plan Approval (through plan implementation):

•	 Future	access	and	camping	management	will	be	determined	through	trail	
mapping, and through recreation and access management planning and 
linear footprint management planning with consultation. Priority areas are 
the area north of Castle, Livingstone, Porcupine Hills and Willow Creek. 
The Government of Alberta will work collaboratively with stakeholders and 
trail associations to determine the appropriate trail network.  

•	 New	public	land	recreation	areas	(low	infrastructure	camping	areas)	
will be established in conjunction with other strategies for enhancing 
recreation and tourism opportunities. 

•	 Expanded	Public	Land	Use	Zones	will	be	established	after	trails	are	
identified	through	mapping	and	posting	of	signs.

•	 As	recreation	and	access	management	plans,	the	linear	footprint	
management plan and the South Saskatchewan Regional Trail System 
Plan are completed, the Public Land Use Zones Schedule(s) will be 
updated as part of implementation of these plans. 

233



127

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Appendix H:  
Conversion of Grasslands – White Area Public Land – 
Policy Guidelines
The following policy guidelines are to be considered in review of an 
application for the sale of White Area public land in the South  
Saskatchewan Region:

•	 Intact	native	grasslands	–	No	new	sales	of	public	lands	will	be	permitted	
in areas of intact native grasslands (see maps – Intact Native Grassland 
and Irrigation Potential) where no irrigation potential exists based on map 
and	field	assessments.

 Where irrigation potential exists, applications will be reviewed on a 
case-by-case basis. Proposals that include an offsetting area of intact 
grassland from private land would have a higher potential for approval, 
if all other criteria are met. The preferred offset would be land exchange 
sponsored by the government where public land being sold would be 
exchanged for an appropriate ratio of intact private grassland to be held 
permanently by the provincial Crown. Second priority would be a private 
land offset held by a sponsoring agency such as a land trust or the 
Alberta Conservation Association.  

•	 Non-intact	native	grasslands	–	Regardless	of	irrigation	potential,	new	
sales of public land will be considered, subject to review for land suitability 
(e.g. soils) and whether needed for government programs (e.g., soil 
conservation, species at risk habitat).

234



128

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

So
ut

h 
Sa

sk
at

ch
ew

an
: I

nt
ac

t N
at

iv
e 

G
ra

ss
la

nd

235



129

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

So
ut

h 
Sa

sk
at

ch
ew

an
: I

rr
ig

at
io

n 
Po

te
nt

ia
l

236



130

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Appendix I: 
Proposed Reclassification and Consolidation for Alberta 
Parks Sites in the South Saskatchewan Regional 
Planning Area
As part of the Plan for Parks, the Government of Alberta has committed to 
providing quality park experiences for all Albertans. A part of that commitment 
is	clarifying	and	refining	the	parks	system	by	ensuring	that	all	sites	within	the	
provincial parks system are appropriately classed under the existing parks 
legislation. Currently there are several sites across the systems that are not 
classed properly, for example the size, uniqueness, or quality of experience 
indicates that they should be classed differently.  

Consolidations	and	re-classifications	would	help	to	clarify	the	existing	use	of	
the	sites	and	will	also	help	create	efficiencies	in	management,	operations	and	
costs so that resources can be allocated more effectively. Existing use would 
not	change	by	the	re-classification	and	consolidation	of	these	sites.

Sites	in	the	SSRP	will	be	reviewed	and	proposed	re-classifications	and	
consolidations will be recommended and consulted upon as part of 
implementation	of	the	regional	plan.	An	example	of	re-classifications	and	
consolidations	that	would	occur	is	the	re-classification	and	consolidation	of	
the Provincial Recreation Areas within the Elbow Valley into one Elbow Valley 
Provincial Park, as per the approved Kananaskis Provincial Recreation Areas 
and Bragg Creek Provincial Park Management Plan. 

Appendix J:   
Overview of the South Saskatchewan Regional Trail 
System Plan
Tourism, Parks and Recreation and Environment and Sustainable Resource 
Development will collaborate with and engage aboriginal communities, 
municipal governments, stakeholders and the public to plan and develop a 
regional trail system plan. The regional trail system plan will:

•	 Use	the	Alberta	Recreation	Corridor	and	Trails	Classification	System	
to identify and designate winter and summer motorized, non-motorized 
and mixed-use land- and water-based trails, routes and areas that link 
communities, neighbourhoods, destinations and other jurisdictions with 
the	region’s	parks,	outdoor	spaces	and	recreation	and	tourism	areas;

•	 Identify	and	designate	sustainable,	high-intensity	motorized	recreation	
areas;

237



131

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

•	 Identify	other	infrastructure	and	facilities	necessary	to	support	trails-based	
recreation;	and

•	 Be	planned,	developed	and	managed	in	accordance	with	the	standards	
and guides set out in the Provincial Trails System and other supporting 
documents.

The development of the regional trail system plan will include:

•	 The	identification	and	analysis	of	recreation	trail	demands,	supply	and	
gaps;

•	 An	inventory	and	assessment	of	the	sustainability	and	quality	of	existing	
pathways,	trails	and	user-created	travel	routes	and	areas;

•	 The	gathering	and	analysis	of	environmental,	resource,	land	use,	
heritage,	aboriginal	and	other	social	data	and	land-use	commitments;

•	 The	development,	assessment	and	discussion	of	options	and	scenarios	
for regional trail system design. This will include an assessment of the 
benefits	and	risks	of	these	options	and	scenarios	for	other	objectives	
in the SSRP, their consistency with other provisions in the SSRP and 
existing	land-use	commitments;

•	 In	accordance	with	the	Provincial	Trails	System,	establish	the	class,	
desired experience and explicit management objective statement for each 
trail,	route	or	area	in	the	system;

•	 Trail,	route	and	area	development,	maintenance	and	management	
priorities;	information	and	education	strategies	and	performance	
monitoring;

•	 Direction	on	enforcement,	including	plans	for	any	modifications	of	–	or	
enhancements to – the existing enforcement capability needed to achieve 
timely, fair and effective enforcement of restrictions on trail use, access 
and associated activities that support the objectives of the regional trail 
system;	and

•	 The	identification	of	industrial	access,	resource	roads	or	developments	
that could contribute to the regional trail system and where reclamation 
requirements	may	be	deferred	and/or	amended	to	reflect	their	contribution	
to the regional trail system.

238



132

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Schedule A:  
Air Quality Management Framework Limits and Triggers

Table A-1 Annual Ambient Air Quality Triggers and Limit 
for NO2

 Description  NO2

  Level 4

 Limit1  45 µg/m3 (24 ppb)

  Level 3

 Trigger for Level 3  30 µg/m3 (16 ppb)

  Level 2

 Trigger for Level 2  15 µg/m3 (8 ppb)

  Level 1

Table A-2: Interim Upper Range of Data (99th percentile) 
Ambient Air Quality Triggers for NO2 

Ambient air quality triggers and limits apply at continuous air monitoring 
stations, as described in this framework. Limits are based upon Alberta 
Ambient Air Quality Objectives.

 Description  NO2

  Level 4

 Trigger for Level 4*  196 µg/m3 (104 ppb)

  Level 3

 Trigger for Level 3  130 µg/m3 (69 ppb)

  Level 2

 Trigger for Level 2  66 µg/m3 (35 ppb)

  Level 1
* This is an ambient trigger and not a limit.

Ambient air quality triggers and limits apply at continuous air monitoring 
stations, as described in this framework.

239



133

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Table A-3: Action Levels, Triggers and Limits for Ozone 
and Fine Particulate Matter

Description 03(*)  PM2.5 PM2.5 
   24-hour (**) annual

  Level 4(iv)

Limit(i) 63 ppb  28 µg/m3 10 µg/m3

  Level 3(v)

Trigger for Level 3(ii) 56 ppb  19 µg/m3 6.4 µg/m3

  Level 2(vi)

Trigger for Level 2(iii) 50 ppb  10 µg/m3 4.0 µg/m3

  Level 1(vii)

*  8-hour averaging time, achievement to be based on 4th highest annual 
measurement, averaged over three consecutive years

**  24-hour averaging time, achievement to be based on 98th percentile 
annual value, averaged over three consecutive years

(i) CAAQS refers to this as Highest Threshold

(ii) CAAQS refers to this as Middle Threshold

(iii) CAAQS refers to this as Lowest Threshold

(iv) CAAQS refers to these as Actions for Achieving Air Zone CAAQS, or 
Red Management Level

(v) CAAQS refers to these as Actions for Preventing CAAQS exceedances, 
or Orange Management Level

(vi) CAAQS refers to these as Actions for Preventing AQ Deterioration, or 
Yellow Management Level

(vii) CAAQS refers to these as Actions for Keeping Clean Areas Clean, or 
Green Management Level

First reporting under the framework is anticipated be done in the year 
following the regional plan coming into force. This will be aligned with 
monitoring and reporting of progress and activities under the national Air 
Quality Management System. 

240



134

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Schedule B: 
Surface Water Quality Management Framework Limits and Triggers

Table B-1: Ambient Surface Water Quality Triggers and Limits for the Bow 
River at Cochrane.

Indicator Surface Water Quality Triggers Surface Water 
  Quality Limit

 Open Water (April to Oct.) Winter (Nov. to March)

 Median 90%ile Median 90%ile

Total Ammonia (NH3+4-N) mg/L 0.005 0.041 0.008 0.025 varies with pH 
     and temperaturea

Chloride (Cl-) mg/L 1.9 2.9 2.0 2.6 100b

Nitrate (N03-N) mg/L 0.074 0.108 0.109 0.130 3.0a

Total Nitrogen (TN) mg/L 0.18 0.40 0.17 0.23 -

Total Dissolved Phosphorus 0.002 0.004 0.002 0.004 - 
(TDP) mg/L

Total Phosphorus (TP) mg/L 0.005 0.009 0.003 0.006 -

Sulphate (SO4
-) mg/L 33.6 40.4 42.2 45.8 1000c,1

Sodium Adsorption Ratio (SAR) 0.07 0.12 0.07 0.10 5d

Specific	Conductivity	µS/cm	 289	 317	 330	 349	 1000d

Total Dissolved Solids mg/L 165 190 190 200 500b

Total Organic Carbon mg/L 1.0 1.6 0.8 0.9 -

Total Suspended Solids mg/L 2 8 1 2 -

Turbidity NTU 1.8 10.1 0.8 1.7 -

pH 8.23 8.38 8.17 8.30 <6.5 or >9.0a

Escherichia coli cfu per 100 mL 2 13 1 2 100b

a CCME Guidelines for the Protection of Aquatic Life
b CCME Guidelines for the Protection of Agricultural Water Uses - Irrigation Use
c CCME Guidelines for the Protection of Agricultural Water Uses - Livestock Use
d Alberta Agriculture and Rural Development Guidelines for Irrigation Water Quality - note is combination of 

SAR	and	Specific	Conductivity	limit	values	in	evaluating	water	suitability	for	use.
1 Sulphate guidelines related to livestock use presently under review
mg/L	=	milligram	per	litre;	µS/cm	=	microsiemens	per	centimetre;	NTU	=	Nephelometic	Turbidity	Unit;	cfu	=	colony	
forming units

241



135

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Table B-2: Ambient Surface Water Quality Triggers and Limits for the Bow 
River at Carseland

Indicator Surface Water Quality Triggers Surface Water 
  Quality Limit

 Open Water (April to Oct.) Winter (Nov. to March)

 Median 90%ile Median 90%ile

Total Ammonia (NH3+4-N) mg/L 0.045 0.160 0.250 0.472 varies with pH 
     and temperaturea

Chloride (Cl-) mg/L 7.6 13.1 12.7 20.4 100b

Nitrate (N03-N) mg/L 0.601 0.990 1.130 1.403 3.0a

Total Nitrogen (TN) mg/L 1.02 1.72 1.68 2.17 -

Total Dissolved Phosphorus 0.007 0.016 0.017 0.028 - 
(TDP) mg/L

Total Phosphorus (TP) mg/L 0.021 0.083 0.030 0.062 -

Sulphate (SO4
-) mg/L 42.9 51.5 53.9 58.0 1000c,1

Sodium Adsorption Ratio (SAR) 0.30 0.45 0.39 0.58 5d

Specific	Conductivity	µS/cm	 346	 398	 422	 443	 1000d

Total Dissolved Solids mg/L 201 232 246 260 500b

Total Organic Carbon mg/L 2.0 3.6 1.5 1.9 -

Total Suspended Solids mg/L 6 64 5 14 -

Turbidity NTU 4.0 48.4 2.6 9.3 -

pH 8.20 8.39 8.06 8.20 <6.5 or >9.0a

Escherichia coli cfu per 100 mL 28 144 10 25 100b

a CCME Guidelines for the Protection of Aquatic Life
b CCME Guidelines for the Protection of Agricultural Water Uses - Irrigation Use
c CCME Guidelines for the Protection of Agricultural Water Uses - Livestock Use
d Alberta Agriculture and Rural Development Guidelines for Irrigation Water Quality - note is combination of 

SAR	and	Specific	Conductivity	limit	values	in	evaluating	water	suitability	for	use.
1 Sulphate guidelines related to livestock use presently under review
mg/L	=	milligram	per	litre;	µS/cm	=	microsiemens	per	centimetre;	NTU	=	Nephelometic	Turbidity	Unit;	cfu	=	colony	
forming units

242



136

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Table B-3: Ambient Surface Water Quality Triggers and Limits for the Bow 
River at Cluny

Indicator Surface Water Quality Triggers Surface Water 
  Quality Limit

 Open Water (April to Oct.) Winter (Nov. to March)

 Median 90%ile Median 90%ile

Total Ammonia (NH3+4-N) mg/L 0.025 0.120 0.195 0.372 varies with pH 
     and temperaturea

Chloride (Cl-) mg/L 8.0 13.0 13.0 20.9 100b

Nitrate (N03-N) mg/L 0.520 0.837 1.195 1.455 3.0a

Total Nitrogen (TN) mg/L 0.94 1.52 1.68 2.07 -

Total Dissolved Phosphorus 0.005 0.014 0.012 0.020 - 
(TDP) mg/L

Total Phosphorus (TP) mg/L 0.017 0.128 0.017 0.025 -

Sulphate (SO4
-) mg/L 47.9 58.1 57.2 63.1 1000c,1

Sodium Adsorption Ratio (SAR) 0.35 0.60 0.42 0.72 5d

Specific	Conductivity	µS/cm	 360	 425	 441	 490	 1000d

Total Dissolved Solids mg/L 210 245 257 290 500b

Total Organic Carbon mg/L 2.2 4.3 1.3 1.8 -

Total Suspended Solids mg/L 11 80 4 9 -

Turbidity NTU 8.5 62.7 2.8 7.1 -

pH 8.30 8.46 8.00 8.23 <6.5 or >9.0a

Escherichia coli cfu per 100 mL 8 56 1 6 100b

a CCME Guidelines for the Protection of Aquatic Life
b CCME Guidelines for the Protection of Agricultural Water Uses - Irrigation Use
c CCME Guidelines for the Protection of Agricultural Water Uses - Livestock Use
d Alberta Agriculture and Rural Development Guidelines for Irrigation Water Quality - note is combination of 

SAR	and	Specific	Conductivity	limit	values	in	evaluating	water	suitability	for	use.
1 Sulphate guidelines related to livestock use presently under review
mg/L	=	milligram	per	litre;	µS/cm	=	microsiemens	per	centimetre;	NTU	=	Nephelometic	Turbidity	Unit;	cfu	=	colony	
forming units

243



137

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Table B-4: Ambient Surface Water Quality Triggers and Limits for the Bow 
River at Ronalane

Indicator Surface Water Quality Triggers Surface Water 
  Quality Limit

 Open Water (April to Oct.) Winter (Nov. to March)

 Median 90%ile Median 90%ile

Total Ammonia (NH3+4-N) mg/L 0.020 0.081 0.130 0.292 varies with pH 
     and temperaturea

Chloride (Cl-) mg/L 8.4 12.0 13.0 19.7 100b

Nitrate (N03-N) mg/L 0.302 0.747 1.190 1.440 3.0a

Total Nitrogen (TN) mg/L 0.68 1.26 1.58 1.91 -

Total Dissolved Phosphorus 0.005 0.010 0.005 0.017 - 
(TDP) mg/L

Total Phosphorus (TP) mg/L 0.025 0.138 0.012 0.027 -

Sulphate (SO4
-) mg/L 62.2 78.2 60.9 70.5 1000c,1

Sodium Adsorption Ratio (SAR) 0.55 0.80 0.48 0.67 5d

Specific	Conductivity	µS/cm	 386	 431	 448	 499	 1000d

Total Dissolved Solids mg/L 228 260 263 291 500b

Total Organic Carbon mg/L 3.0 4.8 1.5 2.5 -

Total Suspended Solids mg/L 12 72 6 18 -

Turbidity NTU 10.4 73.3 3.8 17.4 -

pH 8.32 8.58 8.06 8.30 <6.5 or >9.0a

Escherichia coli cfu per 100 mL 14 77 1 6 100b

a CCME Guidelines for the Protection of Aquatic Life
b CCME Guidelines for the Protection of Agricultural Water Uses - Irrigation Use
c CCME Guidelines for the Protection of Agricultural Water Uses - Livestock Use
d Alberta Agriculture and Rural Development Guidelines for Irrigation Water Quality - note is combination of 

SAR	and	Specific	Conductivity	limit	values	in	evaluating	water	suitability	for	use.
1 Sulphate guidelines related to livestock use presently under review
mg/L	=	milligram	per	litre;	µS/cm	=	microsiemens	per	centimetre;	NTU	=	Nephelometic	Turbidity	Unit;	cfu	=	colony	
forming units

244



138

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Table B-5: Ambient Surface Water Quality Triggers and Limits for the Milk 
River at Highway 880

Indicator Surface Water Quality Triggers Surface Water 
  Quality Limit

 Open Water (April to Oct.) Winter (Nov. to March)

 Median 90%ile Median 90%ile

Total Ammonia (NH3+4-N) mg/L 0.025 0.070 0.040 0.130 varies with pH 
     and temperaturea

Chloride (Cl-) mg/L 1.3 6.2 8.0 14.3 100b

Nitrate (N03-N) mg/L 0.031 0.123 0.382 0.807 3.0a

Total Nitrogen (TN) mg/L 0.31 0.59 0.82 1.22 -

Total Dissolved Phosphorus 0.003 0.006 0.003 0.010 - 
(TDP) mg/L

Total Phosphorus (TP) mg/L 0.079 0.193 0.007 0.039 -

Sulphate (SO4
-) mg/L 22.3 170.0 197.0 316.0 1000c,1

Sodium Adsorption Ratio (SAR) 0.43 2.26 2.54 3.80 5d

Specific	Conductivity	µS/cm	 248	 733	 916	 1380	 1000d

Total Dissolved Solids mg/L 140 488 606 900 500b

Total Organic Carbon mg/L 2.1 4.2 3.7 4.8 -

Total Suspended Solids mg/L 107 304 3 12 -

Turbidity NTU 60.0 170.0 3.7 17.5 -

pH 8.23 8.43 8.30 8.41 <6.5 or >9.0a

Escherichia coli cfu per 100 mL 57 230 1 9 100b

a CCME Guidelines for the Protection of Aquatic Life
b CCME Guidelines for the Protection of Agricultural Water Uses - Irrigation Use
c CCME Guidelines for the Protection of Agricultural Water Uses - Livestock Use
d Alberta Agriculture and Rural Development Guidelines for Irrigation Water Quality - note is combination of 

SAR	and	Specific	Conductivity	limit	values	in	evaluating	water	suitability	for	use.
1 Sulphate guidelines related to livestock use presently under review
mg/L	=	milligram	per	litre;	µS/cm	=	microsiemens	per	centimetre;	NTU	=	Nephelometic	Turbidity	Unit;	cfu	=	colony	
forming units

245



139

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Table B-6: Ambient Surface Water Quality Triggers and Limits for the Oldman 
River at Brocket

Indicator Surface Water Quality Triggers Surface Water 
  Quality Limit

 Open Water (April to Oct.) Winter (Nov. to March)

 Median 90%ile Median 90%ile

Total Ammonia (NH3+4-N) mg/L 0.010 0.030 0.010 0.030 varies with pH 
     and temperaturea

Chloride (Cl-) mg/L 0.9 1.8 1.2 1.9 100b

Nitrate (N03-N) mg/L 0.078 0.126 0.093 0.132 3.0a

Total Nitrogen (TN) mg/L 0.23 0.35 0.19 0.32 -

Total Dissolved Phosphorus 0.003 0.006 0.003 0.005 - 
(TDP) mg/L

Total Phosphorus (TP) mg/L 0.007 0.018 0.005 0.010 -

Sulphate (SO4
-) mg/L 22.1 29.4 29.6 36.0 1000c,1

Sodium Adsorption Ratio (SAR) 0.16 0.22 0.18 0.20 5d

Specific	Conductivity	µS/cm	 275	 311	 307	 342	 1000d

Total Dissolved Solids mg/L 156 181 179 202 500b

Total Organic Carbon mg/L 2.0 3.7 1.6 2.2 -

Total Suspended Solids mg/L 4 10 1 6 -

Turbidity NTU 5.0 18.8 2.3 8.0 -

pH 8.26 8.35 8.25 8.34 <6.5 or >9.0a

Escherichia coli cfu per 100 mL 3 14 2 27 100b

a CCME Guidelines for the Protection of Aquatic Life
b CCME Guidelines for the Protection of Agricultural Water Uses - Irrigation Use
c CCME Guidelines for the Protection of Agricultural Water Uses - Livestock Use
d Alberta Agriculture and Rural Development Guidelines for Irrigation Water Quality - note is combination of 

SAR	and	Specific	Conductivity	limit	values	in	evaluating	water	suitability	for	use.
1 Sulphate guidelines related to livestock use presently under review
mg/L	=	milligram	per	litre;	µS/cm	=	microsiemens	per	centimetre;	NTU	=	Nephelometic	Turbidity	Unit;	cfu	=	colony	
forming units

246



140

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Table B-7: Ambient Surface Water Quality Triggers and Limits for the Oldman 
River at Highway 3

Indicator Surface Water Quality Triggers Surface Water 
  Quality Limit

 Open Water (April to Oct.) Winter (Nov. to March)

 Median 90%ile Median 90%ile

Total Ammonia (NH3+4-N) mg/L 0.020 0.070 0.020 0.060 varies with pH 
     and temperaturea

Chloride (Cl-) mg/L 1.5 3.2 2.1 3.0 100b

Nitrate (N03-N) mg/L 0.022 0.110 0.221 0.349 3.0a

Total Nitrogen (TN) mg/L 0.25 0.64 0.40 0.59 -

Total Dissolved Phosphorus 0.003 0.009 0.003 0.006 - 
(TDP) mg/L

Total Phosphorus (TP) mg/L 0.013 0.147 0.008 0.022 -

Sulphate (SO4
-) mg/L 35.8 52.1 45.0 58.0 1000c,1

Sodium Adsorption Ratio (SAR) 0.42 0.59 0.46 0.60 5d

Specific	Conductivity	µS/cm	 323	 391	 358	 437	 1000d

Total Dissolved Solids mg/L 182 224 217 256 500b

Total Organic Carbon mg/L 2.4 3.9 1.7 2.5 -

Total Suspended Solids mg/L 10 163 6 34 -

Turbidity NTU 10.0 143.9 6.2 26.2 -

pH 8.33 8.53 8.19 8.27 <6.5 or >9.0a

Escherichia coli cfu per 100 mL 13 77 2 13 100b

a CCME Guidelines for the Protection of Aquatic Life
b CCME Guidelines for the Protection of Agricultural Water Uses - Irrigation Use
c CCME Guidelines for the Protection of Agricultural Water Uses - Livestock Use
d Alberta Agriculture and Rural Development Guidelines for Irrigation Water Quality - note is combination of 

SAR	and	Specific	Conductivity	limit	values	in	evaluating	water	suitability	for	use.
1 Sulphate guidelines related to livestock use presently under review
mg/L	=	milligram	per	litre;	µS/cm	=	microsiemens	per	centimetre;	NTU	=	Nephelometic	Turbidity	Unit;	cfu	=	colony	
forming units

247



141

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Table B-8: Ambient Surface Water Quality Triggers and Limits for the Oldman 
River at Highway 36

Indicator Surface Water Quality Triggers Surface Water 
  Quality Limit

 Open Water (April to Oct.) Winter (Nov. to March)

 Median 90%ile Median 90%ile

Total Ammonia (NH3+4-N) mg/L 0.020 0.090 0.040 0.135 varies with pH 
     and temperaturea

Chloride (Cl-) mg/L 4.0 6.1 6.0 8.1 100b

Nitrate (N03-N) mg/L 0.006 0.127 0.318 0.502 3.0a

Total Nitrogen (TN) mg/L 0.31 0.75 0.59 0.96 -

Total Dissolved Phosphorus 0.003 0.011 0.003 0.007 - 
(TDP) mg/L

Total Phosphorus (TP) mg/L 0.015 0.160 0.009 0.018 -

Sulphate (SO4
-) mg/L 44.8 61.4 58.1 77.4 1000c,1

Sodium Adsorption Ratio (SAR) 0.56 0.78 0.65 0.80 5d

Specific	Conductivity	µS/cm	 355	 422	 416	 502	 1000d

Total Dissolved Solids mg/L 200 243 246 296 500b

Total Organic Carbon mg/L 2.9 4.4 2.2 3.0 -

Total Suspended Solids mg/L 11 190 3 15 -

Turbidity NTU 10.0 173.0 4.8 17.3 -

pH 8.36 8.53 8.21 8.32 <6.5 or >9.0a

Escherichia coli cfu per 100 mL 14 151 3 17 100b

a CCME Guidelines for the Protection of Aquatic Life
b CCME Guidelines for the Protection of Agricultural Water Uses - Irrigation Use
c CCME Guidelines for the Protection of Agricultural Water Uses - Livestock Use
d Alberta Agriculture and Rural Development Guidelines for Irrigation Water Quality - note is combination of 

SAR	and	Specific	Conductivity	limit	values	in	evaluating	water	suitability	for	use.
1 Sulphate guidelines related to livestock use presently under review
mg/L	=	milligram	per	litre;	µS/cm	=	microsiemens	per	centimetre;	NTU	=	Nephelometic	Turbidity	Unit;	cfu	=	colony	
forming units

248



142

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Table B-9: Ambient Surface Water Quality Triggers and Limits for the South 
Saskatchewan River at Medicine Hat – Highway 1

Indicator Surface Water Quality Triggers Surface Water 
  Quality Limit

 Open Water (April to Oct.) Winter (Nov. to March)

 Median 90%ile Median 90%ile

Total Ammonia (NH3+4-N) mg/L 0.020 0.060 0.090 0.253 varies with pH 
     and temperaturea

Chloride (Cl-) mg/L 6.4 9.8 12.6 19.9 100b

Nitrate (N03-N) mg/L 0.103 0.497 1.015 1.258 3.0a

Total Nitrogen (TN) mg/L 0.55 1.01 1.33 1.72 -

Total Dissolved Phosphorus 0.004 0.009 0.004 0.010 - 
(TDP) mg/L

Total Phosphorus (TP) mg/L 0.023 0.098 0.011 0.042 -

Sulphate (SO4
-) mg/L 56.5 76.9 62.4 77.6 1000c,1

Sodium Adsorption Ratio (SAR) 0.60 0.79 0.59 0.88 5d

Specific	Conductivity	µS/cm	 369	 436	 462	 519	 1000d

Total Dissolved Solids mg/L 221 252 268 316 500b

Total Organic Carbon mg/L 2.7 4.0 1.7 3.0 -

Total Suspended Solids mg/L 19 105 5 32 -

Turbidity NTU 16.4 80.5 4.0 28.3 -

pH 8.32 8.47 8.14 8.27 <6.5 or >9.0a

Escherichia coli cfu per 100 mL 13 99 1 7 100b

a CCME Guidelines for the Protection of Aquatic Life
b CCME Guidelines for the Protection of Agricultural Water Uses - Irrigation Use
c CCME Guidelines for the Protection of Agricultural Water Uses - Livestock Use
d Alberta Agriculture and Rural Development Guidelines for Irrigation Water Quality - note is combination of 

SAR	and	Specific	Conductivity	limit	values	in	evaluating	water	suitability	for	use.
1 Sulphate guidelines related to livestock use presently under review
mg/L	=	milligram	per	litre;	µS/cm	=	microsiemens	per	centimetre;	NTU	=	Nephelometic	Turbidity	Unit;	cfu	=	colony	
forming units

249



143

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Sc
he

du
le 

C:
 S

SR
P 

La
nd

 U
se

s

G
h

o
s
t 
R

iv
e
r

K
e

n
n
e
d
y
 C

o
u
le

e

P
la

te
a
u
 M

o
u
n
ta

in

W
e
s
t 
C

a
s
tl
e
 

W
e
tl
a
n
d
s

B
e

e
h
iv

e
 (

N
o
te

 6
)

B
lu

e
ro

c
k
 (

N
o
te

 6
)

B
o

b
 C

re
e
k
 

(N
o

te
 6

)

B
o

w
 V

a
lle

y
 

(N
o

te
 6

)

C
a

s
tl
e
 (

N
o
te

 6
)

C
a

s
tl
e
 

C
o

n
s
e
rv

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a
 

(N
o

te
 6

)

D
o

n
 G

e
tt
y
 

(N
o

te
 6

)

E
lb

o
w

 S
h
e
e
p

H
ig

h
 R

o
c
k
 (

N
o
te

 6
)

W
ild

e
rn

e
s
s
 

A
re

a

E
c
o
lo

g
ic

a
l 

R
e
s
e
rv

e

E
c
o
lo

g
ic

a
l 

R
e
s
e
rv

e

E
c
o
lo

g
ic

a
l 

R
e
s
e
rv

e

W
ild

la
n
d

 

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 
P

a
rk

W
ild

la
n
d

 

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 
P

a
rk

W
ild

la
n
d

 

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 
P

a
rk

W
ild

la
n
d

 

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 
P

a
rk

W
ild

la
n
d

 

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 
P

a
rk

P
u
b
lic

 L
a
n

d
 

U
s
e
 Z

o
n
e

W
ild

la
n
d

 

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 
P

a
rk

W
ild

la
n
d

 

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 
P

a
rk

W
ild

la
n
d

 

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 
P

a
rk

R
e
c
la

s
s
 f
ro

m

N
a
tu

ra
l 
A

re
a

E
x
p
a
n
s
io

n

E
x
p
a
n
s
io

n

E
x
p
a
n
s
io

n

N
e
w

N
e
w

E
x
p
a
n
s
io

n

N
e
w

1
5
.3

1
7

1
,0

6
8

2
,3

2
3

9
4

6
,7

3
4

1
2
,7

2
0

+
4
5
3

2
0
,7

7
8

+
3
2
8

3
7
,3

7
0

+
8
,0

7
5

4
4
,5

5
8

1
0
,7

4
1

6
2
,7

7
5

+
2
7
,9

2
8

7
9
,9

9
8

8
,3

6
2

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

√
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

√
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

√
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

 
√
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

 
√
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

X
 

√

√

(s
n
o
w

m
o
b
ile

 

o
n
ly

)

√

(s
n
o
w

m
o
b
ile

 

o
n
ly

)

C
o

n
s

e
r
v
a
ti

o
n

 A
r
e
a

s

A
re

a
 N

a
m

e
A

re
a

S
iz

e

(h
a
) 

L
e
g
a
l 

D
e
s
ig

n
a
ti
o
n

G
ra

z
in

g

(N
o
te

 5
)

O
ff
-H

ig
h
w

a
y

V
e
h
ic

le
s

(N
o
te

 7
)

H
u
n
ti
n
g
,

T
ra

p
p
in

g

(N
o
te

 8
)

F
is

h
in

g

(N
o
te

 8
)

L
in

e
a
r

In
fr

a
-

s
tr

u
c
tu

re

(N
o
te

 9
)

M
U

C

(N
o
te

 1
0
)

T
y
p
e
 o

f

C
h
a
n
g
e

M
a
p

A
re

a

P
e
tr

o
le

u
m

 a
n
d

N
a
tu

ra
l 
G

a
s

(N
o
te

 1
, 
2
)

M
e
ta

lli
c
 a

n
d

In
d
u
s
tr

ia
l

M
in

e
ra

ls
, 
C

o
a
l,
 a

n
d

O
th

e
r 

C
ro

w
n

M
in

e
ra

ls
 (

N
o
te

 1
, 
2

)

S
u
rf

a
c
e

M
a
te

ri
a
ls

(N
o
te

 3
)

C
o
m

m
e
rc

ia
l

F
o
re

s
tr

y

(N
o
te

 4
)

E C G B I K A F

250



144

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

L
iv

in
g
s
to

n
e
 R

a
n
g
e

(N
o

te
 6

)

M
t.

 L
iv

in
g
s
to

n
e

(N
o

te
 6

)

B
la

c
k
 C

re
e
k

O
H

 R
a
n
c
h

P
e

k
is

k
o
 (

N
o
te

 6
)

E
m

e
rs

o
n
 C

re
e
k

H
ig

h
w

o
o
d
 R

iv
e
r

M
ilk

 R
iv

e
r

O
le

 B
u
c
k
 M

o
u
n
ta

in

O
n

e
fo

u
r 

H
e
ri
ta

g
e

 

R
a

n
g
e
la

n
d

O
u

tp
o
s
t 
W

e
tl
a
n
d
s

P
ra

ir
ie

 C
o
u
le

e
s

R
e

d
 R

o
c
k
 C

o
u
le

e

R
o

s
s
 L

a
k
e

S
h

e
e
p
 C

re
e

k

T
h

re
e
p
o
in

t 
C

re
e
k

T
w

in
 R

iv
e
r 

H
e
ri
ta

g
e
 

R
a

n
g
e
la

n
d

W
ild

c
a
t 
Is

la
n
d

W
ild

la
n

d
 

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 
P

a
rk

W
ild

la
n

d
 

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 
P

a
rk

H
e
ri
ta

g
e
 

R
a
n
g
e
la

n
d

s

H
e
ri
ta

g
e
 

R
a
n
g
e
la

n
d

s

H
e
ri
ta

g
e
 

R
a
n
g
e
la

n
d

s

N
a
tu

ra
l 
A

re
a

N
a
tu

ra
l 
A

re
a

N
a
tu

ra
l 
A

re
a

N
a
tu

ra
l 
A

re
a

N
a
tu

ra
l 
A

re
a

N
a
tu

ra
l 
A

re
a

N
a
tu

ra
l 
A

re
a

N
a
tu

ra
l 
A

re
a

N
a
tu

ra
l 
A

re
a

N
a
tu

ra
l 
A

re
a

N
a
tu

ra
l 
A

re
a

N
a
tu

ra
l 
A

re
a

N
a
tu

ra
l 
A

re
a

N
e
w

R
e
c
la

s
s
 f
ro

m

N
a
tu

ra
l 
A

re
a

N
e
w

4
,6

1
4

5
6
4

7
,7

3
3

4
,2

7
7

3
3
,0

5
0

1
9
4

1
0

5
,3

4
4

3
5
7

1
1
,1

6
5

7
2

1
,7

8
8

3
2
4

1
,9

4
3

5 5
2

1
9
,0

2
8

8

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

√
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

√
 

√
 

X
 

√
 

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

 
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

 
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

 
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

√
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

√
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

√
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

√
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

√
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

X
 

√

√
 (

b
y
 

le
a
s
e
h
o
ld

e
r 

p
e
rm

is
s
io

n
)

√
 (

b
y
 

le
a
s
e
h
o
ld

e
r 

p
e
rm

is
s
io

n
)

√
 (

b
y
 

le
a
s
e
h
o
ld

e
r 

p
e
rm

is
s
io

n
)

X
 (

g
ra

z
in

g
 

le
a
s
e
 h

o
ld

e
r 

u
s
e

 

p
e
rm

it
te

d
)

X
 (

g
ra

z
in

g
 

le
a
s
e
 h

o
ld

e
r 

u
s
e

 

p
e
rm

it
te

d
)

X
 (

g
ra

z
in

g
 

le
a
s
e
 h

o
ld

e
r 

u
s
e

 

p
e
rm

it
te

d
)

C
o

n
s

e
r
v
a
ti

o
n

 A
r
e
a
s

A
re

a
 N

a
m

e
A

re
a

S
iz

e

(h
a
) 

L
e
g
a
l 

D
e
s
ig

n
a
ti
o
n

G
ra

z
in

g

(N
o
te

 5
)

O
ff
-H

ig
h
w

a
y

V
e
h
ic

le
s

(N
o
te

 7
)

H
u
n
ti
n
g
,

T
ra

p
p
in

g

(N
o
te

 8
)

F
is

h
in

g

(N
o
te

 8
)

L
in

e
a
r

In
fr

a
-

s
tr

u
c
tu

re

(N
o
te

 9
)

M
U

C

(N
o
te

 1
0
)

T
y
p
e
 o

f

C
h
a
n
g
e

M
a
p

A
re

a

P
e
tr

o
le

u
m

 a
n
d

N
a
tu

ra
l 
G

a
s

(N
o
te

 1
, 
2
)

M
e
ta

lli
c
 a

n
d

In
d
u
s
tr

ia
l

M
in

e
ra

ls
, 
C

o
a
l,
 a

n
d

O
th

e
r 

C
ro

w
n

M
in

e
ra

ls
 (

N
o
te

 1
, 
2

)

S
u
rf

a
c
e

M
a
te

ri
a
ls

(N
o
te

 3
)

C
o
m

m
e
rc

ia
l

F
o
re

s
tr

y

(N
o
te

 4
)

H D �

251



145

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√
 

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

 
√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

X
 (

E
lk

 
M

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

H
u
n
t 

o
n
ly

)

7 9 4 3 2 5

B
e
a
u
v
a
is

 L
a
k
e

B
ig

 H
ill

 S
p
ri
n
g
s

B
o
w

 V
a
lle

y

B
ra

g
g
 C

re
e
k

B
ro

w
n
-L

o
w

e
ry

C
a
n
m

o
re

 N
o
rd

ic
 

C
e
n
tr

e

C
h
a
in

 L
a
k
e
s

C
h
in

o
o
k

C
y
p
re

s
s
 H

ill
s

D
in

o
s
a
u

r

E
lb

o
w

 F
a
lls

E
lb

o
w

 R
iv

e
r

E
lb

o
w

 R
iv

e
r 

L
a
u
n
c
h

F
is

h
 C

re
e
k

G
le

n
b
o
w

 R
a
n
c
h

G
o
o
s
e
b
e
rr

y

K
in

b
ro

o
k
 I
s
la

n
d

L
it
tl
e
 B

o
w

L
it
tl
e
 E

lb
o

w

P
a
rk

 L
a
k
e

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 
P

a
rk

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 
P

a
rk

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 
P

a
rk

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 
P

a
rk

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 
P

a
rk

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 
P

a
rk

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 
P

a
rk

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 
P

a
rk

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 
P

a
rk

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 
P

a
rk

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 
P

a
rk

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 
P

a
rk

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 
P

a
rk

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 
P

a
rk

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 
P

a
rk

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 
P

a
rk

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 
P

a
rk

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 
P

a
rk

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 
P

a
rk

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 
P

a
rk

E
x
p
a
n
s
io

n

E
x
p
a
n
s
io

n

E
x
p
a
n
s
io

n

E
x
p
a
n
s
io

n

E
x
p
a
n
s
io

n

E
x
p
a
n
s
io

n

1
,1

6
1

3
2

3
,1

2
9

1
2
8

2
7
8

8
0
5

4
0
9

4
5

+
2
1
7

2
0
,4

5
0

+
1
2
9

8
,0

8
6

8
4

+
4
3

2
3
6

+
1
0
7

1
5

1
,3

5
6

1
,3

3
4

4
2

+
5
6

5
4
0

1
1
0

2
1
5

+
2
8

2
2
4

R
e

c
r
e

a
ti

o
n

 a
n

d
 P

a
r
k
s
 A

r
e
a

s

A
re

a
 N

a
m

e
A

re
a

S
iz

e

(h
a
) 

L
e
g
a
l 

D
e
s
ig

n
a
ti
o

n

G
ra

z
in

g

(N
o
te

 5
)

O
ff
-H

ig
h
w

a
y

V
e
h
ic

le
s

(N
o
te

 7
)

H
u
n
ti
n
g
,

T
ra

p
p
in

g

(N
o
te

 8
)

F
is

h
in

g

(N
o
te

 8
)

L
in

e
a
r

In
fr

a
-

s
tr

u
c
tu

re

(N
o
te

 9
)

M
U

C

(N
o
te

 1
0
)

T
y
p
e
 o

f

C
h
a
n
g
e

M
a
p

A
re

a

P
e
tr

o
le

u
m

 a
n
d

N
a
tu

ra
l 
G

a
s

(N
o
te

 1
, 
2
)

M
e
ta

lli
c
 a

n
d

In
d
u
s
tr

ia
l

M
in

e
ra

ls
, 
C

o
a
l,
 a

n
d

O
th

e
r 

C
ro

w
n

M
in

e
ra

ls
 (

N
o
te

 1
, 
2

)

S
u
rf

a
c
e

M
a
te

ri
a
ls

(N
o
te

 3
)

C
o
m

m
e
rc

ia
l

F
o
re

s
tr

y

(N
o
te

 4
)

252



146

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√
 

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

√
 (

O
H

V
 

s
ta

g
in

g
)

√
 (

O
H

V
 

s
ta

g
in

g
)

√
 (

O
H

V
 

s
ta

g
in

g
)

6 8 1

P
e

te
r 

L
o
u
g
h
e
e
d

P
o

lic
e
 O

u
tp

o
s
t

S
h

e
e
p
 R

iv
e
r

S
p

ra
y
 V

a
lle

y

S
y
n

c
lin

e

T
ill

e
b
ro

o
k

W
e
s
t 
B

ra
g
g
 C

re
e
k

W
ill

o
w

 C
re

e
k

W
o
o
lf
o
rd

W
ri
ti
n
g
-o

n
-S

to
n
e

W
y
n
d
h
a
m

-

C
a

rs
e
la

n
d

B
e

a
v
e
r 

M
in

e
s
 L

a
k
e

B
o

w
 V

a
lle

y

B
u

lls
h
e
a
d
 R

e
s
e
rv

o
ir

B
u

rn
t 
T

im
b
e
r

C
a

rt
ie

r 
C

re
e
k

C
a

s
tl
e
 F

a
lls

C
a

s
tl
e
 R

iv
e
r 

B
ri
d
g

e

C
a

t 
C

re
e
k

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 
P

a
rk

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 
P

a
rk

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 
P

a
rk

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 
P

a
rk

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 
P

a
rk

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 
P

a
rk

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 
P

a
rk

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 
P

a
rk

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 
P

a
rk

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 
P

a
rk

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 
P

a
rk

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

E
x
p
a
n
s
io

n

E
x
p
a
n
s
io

n

E
x
p
a
n
s
io

n

5
0
,1

4
2

2
2
3

6
,1

9
2

+
2
6
6

2
7
,4

7
2

1
5

+
4
1
8

1
4
0

2
5

+
8
1

7
9

3
5

2
,6

8
9

1
7
8

1
1
3

4 4 3
3

4
4

3
0

1
5

1
0

R
e

c
r
e

a
ti

o
n

 a
n

d
 P

a
r
k
s
 A

r
e
a

s

A
re

a
 N

a
m

e
A

re
a

S
iz

e

(h
a
) 

L
e
g
a
l 

D
e
s
ig

n
a
ti
o
n

G
ra

z
in

g

(N
o
te

 5
)

O
ff
-H

ig
h
w

a
y

V
e
h
ic

le
s

(N
o
te

 7
)

H
u
n
ti
n
g
,

T
ra

p
p
in

g

(N
o
te

 8
)

F
is

h
in

g

(N
o
te

 8
)

L
in

e
a
r

In
fr

a
-

s
tr

u
c
tu

re

(N
o
te

 9
)

M
U

C

(N
o
te

 1
0
)

T
y
p
e
 o

f

C
h
a
n
g
e

M
a
p

A
re

a

P
e
tr

o
le

u
m

 a
n
d

N
a
tu

ra
l 
G

a
s

(N
o
te

 1
, 
2
)

M
e
ta

lli
c
 a

n
d

In
d
u
s
tr

ia
l

M
in

e
ra

ls
, 
C

o
a
l,
 a

n
d

O
th

e
r 

C
ro

w
n

M
in

e
ra

ls
 (

N
o
te

 1
, 
2

)

S
u
rf

a
c
e

M
a
te

ri
a
ls

(N
o
te

 3
)

C
o
m

m
e
rc

ia
l

F
o
re

s
tr

y

(N
o
te

 4
)

253



147

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√
 

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

√
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

√
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

 
√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

√

√
 (

s
n
o
w

m
o
b
ile

 

s
ta

g
in

g
 

√
 

(O
H

V
 s

ta
g
in

g
)

√
 (

s
n
o
w

m
o
b
ile

 

s
ta

g
in

g
 

√
 (

s
n
o
w

m
o
b
ile

 

s
ta

g
in

g
 

√
 

(O
H

V
 s

ta
g
in

g
)

√
 

(O
H

V
 s

ta
g
in

g
)

√
 

(O
H

V
 s

ta
g
in

g
)

√
 (

In
 W

M
U

 
4
0
8
 M

a
rm

o
t 

B
a
s
in

 a
re

a
)

1
2

1
1

C
a
ta

ra
c
t 
C

re
e
k

C
h
in

 C
o
u
le

e

C
o
b
b
le

 F
la

ts

C
o
le

m
a
n

C
ro

w
s
n
e
s
t 
L
a
k
e

D
a
w

s
o
n

D
u
tc

h
 C

re
e
k

E
lb

o
w

 R
iv

e
r 

C
re

e
k

E
lb

o
w

 R
iv

e
r 

L
a
u
n
c
h

E
th

e
ri
n
g
to

n
 C

re
e
k

E
v
a
n
-T

h
o
m

a
s

F
a
lle

n
 T

im
b
e
r

F
a
lle

n
 T

im
b
e
r 

S
o
u
th

F
is

h
e
r 

C
re

e
k

F
it
z
s
im

m
o
n
s
 C

re
e
k

G
h
o
s
t 
A

ir
s
tr

ip

G
h
o
s
t 
R

e
s
e
rv

o
ir

G
re

e
n
fo

rd

H
e
a
rt

 C
re

e
k

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

N
e
w

N
e
w

5
3 1 9
1

3
2

1
4 2 1
6

1
5

1
5

4
6

2
,5

7
1

3 5
0

1
1 2

1
5
7

2
4 2 1
0

R
e

c
r
e

a
ti

o
n

 a
n

d
 P

a
r
k
s
 A

r
e
a

s

A
re

a
 N

a
m

e
A

re
a

S
iz

e

(h
a
) 

L
e
g
a
l 

D
e
s
ig

n
a
ti
o
n

G
ra

z
in

g

(N
o
te

 5
)

O
ff
-H

ig
h
w

a
y

V
e
h
ic

le
s

(N
o
te

 7
)

H
u
n
ti
n
g
,

T
ra

p
p
in

g

(N
o
te

 8
)

F
is

h
in

g

(N
o
te

 8
)

L
in

e
a
r

In
fr

a
-

s
tr

u
c
tu

re

(N
o
te

 9
)

M
U

C

(N
o
te

 1
0
)

T
y
p
e
 o

f

C
h
a
n
g
e

M
a
p

A
re

a

P
e
tr

o
le

u
m

 a
n
d

N
a
tu

ra
l 
G

a
s

(N
o
te

 1
, 
2
)

M
e
ta

lli
c
 a

n
d

In
d
u
s
tr

ia
l

M
in

e
ra

ls
, 
C

o
a
l,
 a

n
d

O
th

e
r 

C
ro

w
n

M
in

e
ra

ls
 (

N
o
te

 1
, 
2

)

S
u
rf

a
c
e

M
a
te

ri
a
ls

(N
o
te

 3
)

C
o
m

m
e
rc

ia
l

F
o
re

s
tr

y

(N
o
te

 4
)

254



148

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√
 

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

√
 

(O
H

V
 s

ta
g
in

g
)

√
 

(O
H

V
 s

ta
g
in

g
)

H
ig

h
w

o
o
d

H
ig

h
w

o
o
d
 J

u
n
c
ti
o
n

H
o
n
e
y
m

o
o
n
 C

re
e
k

In
d
ia

n
 G

ra
v
e
s

In
g
's

 M
in

e

Is
la

n
d
 L

a
k
e

J
e
n
s
e
n
 R

e
s
e
rv

o
ir

J
u
m

p
in

g
p
o
u
n
d
 

C
re

e
k

L
a
k
e
 M

c
G

re
g
o

r

L
a
n
te

rn
 C

re
e
k

L
in

e
h
a
m

L
it
tl
e
 B

o
w

 R
e
s
e
rv

o
ir

L
iv

in
g
s
to

n
e
 F

a
lls

L
u
n
d
b
re

c
k
 F

a
lls

L
u
s
k
 C

re
e

k

L
y
n
x
 C

re
e
k

M
a
y
c
ro

ft

M
c
L
e
a
n
 C

re
e

k

M
e
s
a
 B

u
tt
e

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

3
1 6 7 1
5

2
7 3 9 1
3

1
4
0

1
1 7 7
0

2
4 9 1
4

2
6 6

2
4
5

1
0

R
e

c
r
e

a
ti

o
n

 a
n

d
 P

a
r
k
s
 A

r
e
a
s

A
re

a
 N

a
m

e
A

re
a

S
iz

e

(h
a
) 

L
e
g
a
l 

D
e
s
ig

n
a
ti
o
n

G
ra

z
in

g

(N
o
te

 5
)

O
ff
-H

ig
h
w

a
y

V
e
h
ic

le
s

(N
o
te

 7
)

H
u
n
ti
n
g
,

T
ra

p
p
in

g

(N
o
te

 8
)

F
is

h
in

g

(N
o
te

 8
)

L
in

e
a
r

In
fr

a
-

s
tr

u
c
tu

re

(N
o
te

 9
)

M
U

C

(N
o
te

 1
0
)

T
y
p
e
 o

f

C
h
a
n
g
e

M
a
p

A
re

a

P
e
tr

o
le

u
m

 a
n
d

N
a
tu

ra
l 
G

a
s

(N
o
te

 1
, 
2
)

M
e
ta

lli
c
 a

n
d

In
d
u
s
tr

ia
l

M
in

e
ra

ls
, 
C

o
a
l,
 a

n
d

O
th

e
r 

C
ro

w
n

M
in

e
ra

ls
 (

N
o
te

 1
, 
2

)

S
u
rf

a
c
e

M
a
te

ri
a
ls

(N
o
te

 3
)

C
o
m

m
e
rc

ia
l

F
o
re

s
tr

y

(N
o
te

 4
)

255



149

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√
 

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

√
 

(O
H

V
 s

ta
g
in

g
)

√
 

(O
H

V
 s

ta
g
in

g
)

√
 

(O
H

V
 s

ta
g
in

g
)

1
0

M
ic

h
e
lle

 R
e
s
e
rv

o
ir

M
is

t 
C

re
e
k

M
o
o
s
e
 M

o
u
n
ta

in
 

T
ra

ilh
e
a
d

N
o
rt

h
 F

o
rk

O
ld

 B
a
ld

y
 P

a
s
s
 T

ra
il

O
ld

m
a
n
 D

a
m

O
ld

m
a
n
 R

iv
e
r

O
ld

m
a
n
 R

iv
e
r 

N
o
rt

h

P
a
y
n
e
 L

a
k
e

P
ic

k
le

ja
r

P
in

e
 G

ro
v
e

P
in

e
to

p

R
a
c
e
h
o
rs

e

S
e
n
ti
n
e
l

S
ib

b
a
ld

 L
a
k
e

S
ib

b
a
ld

 M
e
a
d
o
w

s
 

P
o
n
d

S
ib

b
a
ld

 V
ie

w
p
o
in

t

S
o
u
th

 G
h
o
s
t

S
t.
 M

a
ry

 R
e
s
e
rv

o
ir

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

E
x
p
a
n
s
io

n

9 1
6

1
5

1
7

2
8

4
,8

4
6

2 3
9

3
7 8 2
7 5 1
4

1
5

7
3

+
8
3

1
0

1
6 7

1
7
3

R
e

c
r
e

a
ti

o
n

 a
n

d
 P

a
r
k
s
 A

r
e
a

s

A
re

a
 N

a
m

e
A

re
a

S
iz

e

(h
a
) 

L
e
g
a
l 

D
e
s
ig

n
a
ti
o
n

G
ra

z
in

g

(N
o
te

 5
)

O
ff
-H

ig
h
w

a
y

V
e
h
ic

le
s

(N
o
te

 7
)

H
u
n
ti
n
g
,

T
ra

p
p
in

g

(N
o
te

 8
)

F
is

h
in

g

(N
o
te

 8
)

L
in

e
a
r

In
fr

a
-

s
tr

u
c
tu

re

(N
o
te

 9
)

M
U

C

(N
o
te

 1
0
)

T
y
p
e
 o

f

C
h
a
n
g
e

M
a
p

A
re

a

P
e
tr

o
le

u
m

 a
n
d

N
a
tu

ra
l 
G

a
s

(N
o
te

 1
, 
2
)

M
e
ta

lli
c
 a

n
d

In
d
u
s
tr

ia
l

M
in

e
ra

ls
, 
C

o
a
l,
 a

n
d

O
th

e
r 

C
ro

w
n

M
in

e
ra

ls
 (

N
o
te

 1
, 
2

)

S
u
rf

a
c
e

M
a
te

ri
a
ls

(N
o
te

 3
)

C
o
m

m
e
rc

ia
l

F
o
re

s
tr

y

(N
o
te

 4
)

256



150

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√
 

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

√
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

√
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
X

 
√
 

X
 

X
 

√
 

X
 

√

S
to

n
e
y
  
C

re
e
k

S
tr

a
w

b
e
rr

y

T
ro

u
t 
P

o
n
d

W
a
ip

a
ro

u
s
 C

re
e

k

W
a
ip

a
ro

u
s
 C

re
e
k
 

G
ro

u
p
 C

a
m

p

W
a
ip

a
ro

u
s
 V

a
lle

y
 

V
ie

w
p
o
in

t

W
a
re

 C
re

e
k

W
a
te

rt
o
n
 R

e
s
e
rv

o
ir

W
ild

h
o
rs

e

W
o
lf
 C

re
e
k

E
y
ri
e
 G

a
p

C
ra

n
e
 M

e
a
d
o

w

F
ir
 C

re
e
k

H
ig

h
w

o
o
d

 

C
o
m

p
o
u
n

d

T
ra

v
e
rs

 R
e
s
e
rv

o
ir

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
ro

v
in

c
ia

l 

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

D
is

e
s
ta

b
lis

h
 a

s
 p

e
r 

a
p
p
ro

v
e
d
 M

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

P
la

n

D
is

e
s
ta

b
lis

h
 a

s
 p

e
r 

a
p
p
ro

v
e
d
 M

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

P
la

n

D
is

e
s
ta

b
lis

h
 a

s
 p

e
r 

a
p
p
ro

v
e
d
 M

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

P
la

n

D
is

e
s
ta

b
lis

h
 a

s
 p

e
r 

a
p
p
ro

v
e
d
 M

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

P
la

n

D
is

e
s
ta

b
lis

h
 a

s
 p

e
r 

a
p
p
ro

v
e
d
 M

a
n
a
g
e
m

e
n
t 

P
la

n

1
3

4
6 2

1
0
3

1
7 3 4 2
2

1
6 4

3
.9

4

3
.5

6

6
.6

4

1
0
.8

5

1
.2

8

R
e

c
r
e

a
ti

o
n

 a
n

d
 P

a
r
k
s
 A

r
e
a

s

A
re

a
 N

a
m

e
A

re
a

S
iz

e

(h
a
) 

L
e
g
a
l 

D
e
s
ig

n
a
ti
o
n

G
ra

z
in

g

(N
o
te

 5
)

O
ff
-H

ig
h
w

a
y

V
e
h
ic

le
s

(N
o
te

 7
)

H
u
n
ti
n
g
,

T
ra

p
p
in

g

(N
o
te

 8
)

F
is

h
in

g

(N
o
te

 8
)

L
in

e
a
r

In
fr

a
-

s
tr

u
c
tu

re

(N
o
te

 9
)

M
U

C

(N
o
te

 1
0
)

T
y
p
e
 o

f

C
h
a
n
g
e

M
a
p

A
re

a

P
e
tr

o
le

u
m

 a
n
d

N
a
tu

ra
l 
G

a
s

(N
o
te

 1
, 
2
)

M
e
ta

lli
c
 a

n
d

In
d
u
s
tr

ia
l

M
in

e
ra

ls
, 
C

o
a
l,
 a

n
d

O
th

e
r 

C
ro

w
n

M
in

e
ra

ls
 (

N
o
te

 1
, 
2

)

S
u
rf

a
c
e

M
a
te

ri
a
ls

(N
o
te

 3
)

C
o
m

m
e
rc

ia
l

F
o
re

s
tr

y

(N
o
te

 4
)

257



151

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

 
√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√

 
√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√

 
√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√

 
√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√

 
√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√

 
√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√

 
√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√

 
√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√

 
√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√

1
7

1
6

1
5

2
0

1
8

1
3

1
9

1
4

2
1

A
tl
a
s

B
e
a
v
e
r 

C
re

e
k

C
e
a
s
a
r’
s
 F

la
t

L
y
n
x
 C

re
e
k
 F

la
ts

M
c
G

ill
iv

ra
y

S
p
e
e
rs

 C
re

e
k

T
e
n
t 
M

o
u
n
ta

in

T
ro

u
t 
C

re
e
k

U
p
p
e
r 

C
a
s
tl
e
 F

la
ts

P
u
b
lic

 L
a
n

d

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
u
b
lic

 L
a
n

d

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
u
b
lic

 L
a
n

d

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
u
b
lic

 L
a
n

d

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
u
b
lic

 L
a
n

d

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
u
b
lic

 L
a
n

d

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
u
b
lic

 L
a
n

d

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
u
b
lic

 L
a
n

d

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

P
u
b
lic

 L
a
n

d

R
e
c
re

a
ti
o
n
 A

re
a

E
s
ta

b
lis

h

E
s
ta

b
lis

h

E
s
ta

b
lis

h

E
s
ta

b
lis

h

E
s
ta

b
lis

h

E
s
ta

b
lis

h

E
s
ta

b
lis

h

E
s
ta

b
lis

h

E
s
ta

b
lis

h

T
B

D

T
B

D

T
B

D

T
B

D

T
B

D

T
B

D

T
B

D

T
B

D

T
B

D

P
u

b
li
c

 L
a
n

d
 R

e
c
r
e
a
ti

o
n

 A
r
e
a

A
re

a
 N

a
m

e
A

re
a

S
iz

e

(h
a
) 

L
e
g
a
l 

D
e
s
ig

n
a
ti
o
n

G
ra

z
in

g
O

ff
-H

ig
h
w

a
y

V
e
h
ic

le
s

H
u
n
ti
n
g
,

T
ra

p
p
in

g

(N
o
te

 8
)

F
is

h
in

g

(N
o
te

 8
)

L
in

e
a
r

In
fr

a
-

s
tr

u
c
tu

re

M
U

C

(N
o
te

 1
0
)

T
y
p
e
 o

f

C
h
a
n
g
e

M
a
p

A
re

a

P
e
tr

o
le

u
m

 a
n
d

N
a
tu

ra
l 
G

a
s

M
e
ta

lli
c
 a

n
d

In
d
u
s
tr

ia
l

M
in

e
ra

ls
, 
C

o
a
l,
 a

n
d

O
th

e
r 

C
ro

w
n

M
in

e
ra

ls

S
u
rf

a
c
e

M
a
te

ri
a
ls

C
o
m

m
e
rc

ia
l

F
o
re

s
tr

y

258



152

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

 
√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√

F
o
r 

g
ra

z
in

g
 

le
a
s
e
 

p
e
rm

is
s
io

n
 o

f 

le
a
s
e
 h

o
ld

e
r 

is
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
d
 f

o
r 

re
c
re

a
ti
o
n
a
l 

a
c
c
e
s
s

A
c
c
e
s
s
 w

ill
 b

e
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
d
 

p
u
rs

u
a
n
t 

to
 

th
e
 P

u
b
lic

 

L
a
n
d
 

A
d
m

in
is

tr
a
ti
o
n
 

R
e
g
u
la

ti
o

n
 

a
n
d
 i
ts

 

s
c
h
e
d
u
le

s

G
r
e
e
n

 A
r
e
a
 -

 P
u

b
li
c
 L

a
n

d

G
ra

z
in

g
O

ff
-H

ig
h
w

a
y

V
e
h
ic

le
s

F
is

h
in

g
,

H
u
n
ti
n
g
,

T
ra

p
p
in

g

(N
o
te

 8
)

L
in

e
a
r

In
fr

a
-

s
tr

u
c
tu

re

M
U

C

(N
o
te

 1
0
)

P
e
tr

o
le

u
m

 a
n
d

N
a
tu

ra
l 
G

a
s

M
e
ta

lli
c
 a

n
d

In
d
u
s
tr

ia
l

M
in

e
ra

ls
, 
C

o
a
l,
 a

n
d

O
th

e
r 

C
ro

w
n

M
in

e
ra

ls

S
u
rf

a
c
e

M
a
te

ri
a
ls

C
o
m

m
e
rc

ia
l

F
o
re

s
tr

y

 
√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√
 

√

F
o
r 

g
ra

z
in

g
 

le
a
s
e
 

p
e
rm

is
s
io

n
 o

f 

le
a
s
e
 h

o
ld

e
r 

is
 r

e
q
u
ir
e
d
 f

o
r 

re
c
re

a
ti
o
n
a
l 

a
c
c
e
s
s

A
c
c
e
s
s
 w

ill
 b

e
 

m
a
n
a
g
e
d
 

p
u
rs

u
a
n
t 

to
 

th
e
 P

u
b
lic

 

L
a
n
d
 

A
d
m

in
is

tr
a
ti
o
n
 

R
e
g
u
la

ti
o
n

 
a
n
d
 i
ts

 

s
c
h
e
d
u
le

s

W
h

it
e
 A

r
e
a
 -

 P
u

b
li
c
 L

a
n

d

G
ra

z
in

g

(N
o
te

 5
)

O
ff
-H

ig
h
w

a
y

V
e
h
ic

le
s

F
is

h
in

g
,

H
u
n
ti
n
g
,

T
ra

p
p
in

g

(N
o
te

 8
)

L
in

e
a
r

In
fr

a
-

s
tr

u
c
tu

re

M
U

C

(N
o
te

 1
0
)

P
e
tr

o
le

u
m

 a
n
d

N
a
tu

ra
l 
G

a
s

M
e
ta

lli
c
 a

n
d

In
d
u
s
tr

ia
l

M
in

e
ra

ls
, 
C

o
a
l,
 a

n
d

O
th

e
r 

C
ro

w
n

M
in

e
ra

ls

S
u
rf

a
c
e

M
a
te

ri
a
ls

C
o
m

m
e
rc

ia
l

F
o
re

s
tr

y

Pr
iv

at
e 

la
nd

s 
– 

P
riv

at
e 

la
nd

ow
ne

rs
 m

ak
e 

de
ci

si
on

s 
ab

ou
t h

ow
 to

 u
se

 a
nd

 
m

an
ag

e 
th

ei
r l

an
d 

co
ns

is
te

nt
 

w
ith

 e
xi

st
in

g 
pr

ov
in

ci
al

 a
nd

 
m

un
ic

ip
al

 le
gi

sl
at

io
n 

– 
th

e 
S

ou
th

 S
as

ka
tc

he
w

an
 R

eg
io

na
l 

P
la

n 
do

es
 n

ot
 c

ha
ng

e 
th

is
 o

r 
al

te
r p

ro
pe

rty
 ri

gh
ts

.

Fe
de

ra
lly

 c
on

tr
ol

le
d 

la
nd

s 
- A

pp
ro

xi
m

at
el

y 
ei

gh
t p

er
 c

en
t o

f t
he

 re
gi

on
 

in
cl

ud
es

 C
an

ad
ia

n 
Fo

rc
es

 
B
as
e 	
S
uf
fie
ld
,	F
irs
t	N

at
io
ns
	

R
es

er
ve

s 
an

d 
N

at
io

na
l P

ar
ks

.

259



153

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Note 1: Petroleum and Natural Gas Exploration and Development – 
Existing Commitments

Existing petroleum and natural gas tenure will be honoured in conservation 
areas and recreation and parks areas, in accordance with existing policy.

This includes all subsurface and surface activities needed to explore for, 
develop	and	extract	the	resource	defined	in	the	existing	agreement.	Care	
must be taken when exploring, developing and extracting the resource in 
order to minimize impacts of activities on the natural landscape, historic 
resources,	wildlife,	fish	and	vegetation.

•	 This	also	includes	renewing	subsurface	and	surface	dispositions,	
approvals and agreements for existing activities.

•	 Applications	for	new surface dispositions (e.g., a new disposition 
for a well, road, pipeline or facility, etc.) required to access an existing 
subsurface commitment would also be honoured as necessary extensions 
to an existing commitment, subject to review through the current 
application and approval process.

•	 Applications	for	seismic programs associated with existing subsurface 
commitments will be reviewed through the current application and 
approval process.

•	 Limitations:	Existing	surface	or	subsurface	commitments	related	to	
petroleum and natural gas within a protected area cannot be used as a 
basis to access new subsurface rights within a protected area

 (e.g., whether to access new subsurface deeper rights, new lateral 
subsurface	rights	or	additional	new	rights).	By	definition,	any	new	
subsurface disposition or subsurface right does not qualify as an 
existing commitment, as it came into effect after the protected area was 
established.

For greater clarity, this Note 1 does not apply to metallic and industrial 
minerals, coal, or other Crown minerals.

Note 2: Freehold Minerals

Freehold minerals (petroleum and natural gas, coal, metallic and industrial 
minerals, other minerals) are exempt from the restrictions associated with any 
part of this plan including conservation areas and recreation and parks areas.

Note 3: Surface Materials (sand, gravel, clay, marl, silt and peat)

Existing surface materials leases will be honoured in conservation areas and 
recreation and parks areas, in accordance with the Alberta Aggregate (Sand 
and Gravel) Allocation Policy for Commercial Use on Public Land.

260



154

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Note 4: Commercial Forestry

Management	for	wildfire,	insect	and	disease	control	will	be	allowed	in	areas	
where commercial forestry activities are not permitted. This may include 
prescribed burns and limited tree removal.

In the Conservation Area commercial forestry is permitted but the 
management priority is for maintaining biodiversity and headwaters 
protection. Enhanced best management practices for biodiversity and 
headwaters protection will be required such as: winter only operations to 
avoid critical active periods for grizzly bear, practices to restrict access, buffer 
zones that cover entire riparian areas and visual buffer screens to increase 
bear security for travel.

Note 5: Grazing

Existing grazing activities will continue. Approvals for new grazing 
dispositions are subject to a grazing suitability assessment. 

Note 6: Access to Water

There are a number of known corridors and key routes that are used for 
access to water resources and associated infrastructure. This access to 
surface water and ground water is related to various activities.

At the time when the new conservation areas are established, these known 
corridors	and	key	access	routes	will	be	identified.	Following	the	establishment	
of the new conservation areas, any further access for water would have to 
be compatible with the management intent for the area. Activities such as 
monitoring may be considered compatible, while permanent infrastructure for 
private purposes would not.

Note 7: Off-highway vehicles (motorized-recreation):

Where it is a permitted use, off-highway vehicle use will be managed to 
designated trails and areas, subject to the following:

•	 Off-highway	vehicle	use	is	permitted	on	existing	trails	and	areas	or	where	
a	management	plan,	trails	plan	or	regulation	specifies.	

	•	 In	areas	where	designation	of	trails	has	not	yet	occurred,	use	of	existing	
access can continue but no new trails or routes or access may be 
developed without an access management plan.

•	 Regardless	of	whether	or	not	there	is	a	management	plan	or	trails	plan	
in place, off-highway vehicle use shall not occur in the beds and shores 
of permanent water bodies. Furthermore, off-highway vehicle use shall 
not	occur	on	industrial	facility	areas	(e.g.,	wellsites),	unless	specifically	
authorized to do so. 

•	 In	areas	designated	as	Heritage	Rangelands,	grazing	lease	holders	are	
permitted to use off-highway vehicles in connection with the exercise of 
holders’ rights under the grazing lease.

261



155

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

Note 8: Hunting, Fishing and Trapping (including by aboriginal peoples)

With the exception of new public motorized access management 
requirements,	hunting,	fishing	and	trapping	will	continue	in	accordance	
with existing provincial laws governing such activities as such laws may be 
amended or replaced from time to time. Hunting includes commercial guiding 
and	outfitting	operations	where	wildlife	species	management	plans	provide	an	
allocation for that use. Existing trapping will be honoured.

Note 9: Linear infrastructure

Linear infrastructure (roads, electric transmission, pipelines, water 
management,	telecommunication	towers	and	underground	fibre-optic	cables)	
are generally prohibited within conservation areas and recreation and parks 
areas. There are three exceptions to this general rule: 

1) Linear infrastructure developed in accordance with activities, approvals 
and agreements or their renewal that is part of honouring existing 
petroleum	and	natural	gas	tenure	as	explained	by	Note	1;

2) Linear infrastructure developed in accordance with activities, approvals 
and agreements or their renewal that is part of honouring freehold 
minerals	as	explained	by	Note	2;	or

3) Linear infrastructure developed in accordance with activities, approvals 
and agreements or their renewal that is part of honouring existing surface 
material	tenure	as	explained	by	Note	3;	or	

4) Cabinet has designated and approved a Multi-Use Corridor.  

Note 10:  Multi-use Corridors

A	multi-use	corridor	is	a	dedicated	land	area	identified	by	Cabinet	for	 
co-location of linear infrastructure that supports critical economic linkages 
and is in the public interest. A multi-use corridor may include one or more of 
the following:

•	 public	highways	and	roads

•	 electric	transmission

•	 high-speed	rail	and	rail	

•	 pipelines

•	 water	management	

•	 telecommunication	towers	and	underground	fibre-optic	cables

•	 recreation	trails.

262



156

Draft  South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan 2014-2024

263



DRAFT South Saskatchewan Regional  Plan

Schedule D: South Saskatchewan Digital Map

157264



265



266



267



268



269



270



271



272



273



274



275



276



277



278



279



280



281



282



283



284



285



286



287



288



289



290


	Council Agenda November 25, 2013
	Item 1 C_November 25 Accounts Payable List for Council
	Item 2 A 1_Redcliff Curling Club Presentation
	Item 2 A 2 1_Redcliff Curling Club Presention_Budget
	Item 2 A 2 2_Redcliff Curling Club Presentation Income & Expenses
	Item 2 A 3_Redcliff Curling Club Presentation_Income Statement Nov 2013
	Item 3 A_2013_November 12_Council Minutes
	Item 3 B_2013 November 16 Council Minutes
	Item 3 C_2013 November 18 Council Minutes
	Item 3 D_2013_November 18_Special Council Minutes (530 pm)
	Item 3 E_RPB meeting minutes November 19, 2013
	Item 3 F_MPC Minutes November 20 2013
	Item 4 A_Bylaw 1758 temporary borrowing bylaw (2014)
	Item 4 B_Bylaw 1759_Rates Fees Charges Bylaw 2014 (draft)
	Item 4 C_Bylaw 1761_Water Rate Bylaw 2014 (draft)
	Item 4 D_Bylaw 1762_sanitary sewer rate bylaw 2014 (draft)
	Item 4 E_Bylaw 1763_Garbage Rate Bylaw 2014 (draft)
	Item 4 F 1_Bylaw 1760_luc_amending 1698_lot 3 block 3 plan 7911064 (from h to I1)
	Item 4 F 2_Land Use Amendment Application_Lot 3, Block 3, Plan 7911064
	Item 5 A 1_RFD_Policy 58 Display of Flags
	Item 5 A 2_Policy_058 (2008) Display of Flags DRAFT
	Item 5 B_Policy_122 (2013) Firefighter Residency Requirement
	Item 6 A_Monthly Economic Summary - October 2013
	Item 7 A_Manager's Reports to November 25 2013
	Item 7 B_Council's Reports to November 25 2013
	Item 7 C 1 - SSRP Phase 3 Join the Conversation Consultation Dates Poster_2013-10-10
	Item 7 C 2 - SSRP Draft SSRP 2014-2024_2013-10-10
	Item 7 D_Alberta Wetlands Policy scanned copy



